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Official So.: A. 13. 1930. VI. 

Geneva, June nth., 1930. 

LEAGUE OF NATIONS 

Slavery Convention 

ANNUAL REPORT BY THE COUNCIL 

Note by the Secretary- General. 

On September 25th, 1926, the Assembly adopted a resolution in which the Council was 
requested to prepare every year, for communication to the Assembly, a document mentioning 
the laws and regulations forwarded to the Secretary-General in accordance with Article 7 of the 
Slavery Convention. The Council was also requested to include in this document any supplementary 
information with which the States Members of the League might furnish it in regard to the measures 
taken to secure the progressive abolition of slavery and conditions analogous thereto. 

On May 13th, 1930, the Council adopted the following resolution: 

" In view of the resolution adopted by the Assembly on September 25th, 1926, the 
Council decides to forward to the Assembly the communications regarding slavery received 
from the Governments of Persia and of the Sudan. 

" It further authorises the Secretary-General to communicate to the Assembly, three 
weeks before the opening of its eleventh ordinary session, a list of such laws and regulations 
as may be forwarded to him in accordance with Article 7 of the Slavery Convention, as well 
as any supplementary information furnished by the different Governments in regard to 
measures taken to secure the progressive abolition of slavery and conditions analogous 
thereto." · 

Acting upon the ·first paragraph of this resolution, the Secretary-General has the honour 
to communicate the following documents to the Assembly: 

I. Letter from the Persian Government, dated September 24th, 1929. 
2. Letter from the Government of the Sudan, dated March 27th, .IQ30. . . 

The information contained in these documents is, of course, separate from that received 
as a result of the resolution adopted at the last session of the Assembly, in which the Secretary­
General was instructed to collect from the States Members of the League, and from those non­
Member States which are parties to the Slavery Convention, all possible information on the present 
position of slavery. A special report on this subject will be communicated to the Assembly later. 

LETTER FROM THE PERSIAN GOVERNMENT TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL 
OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS. 

[Translation.] Teheran, September 24th, 1929. 
I have the honour to communicate to you, together with a French translation, the Persian 

text of the Law of x8 Bahman, 1307 (solar) (February 7th, 1929), concerning the suppression of 
the slave trade in Persia and the liberation of slaves on entry into Persian territory. I should 
be grateful if you would bring this communication to the knowledge of the States Members of the 
League of Nations. 

(Signed) H. GAFFARY, 

Director-General of the Political Department. 

LAW CONCERNING THE SUPPRESSION OF THE SLAVE TRADE IN PERSIA AND THE LIBERATION OF 

' SLAVES ON ENTRY INTO THE CoUNTRY. •. 
. . "' 

Single Article.- No person ma;Y be h~ld ~ a slave in the. Persi~ .Empire, and any slave 
entering Persian territory or Pers1an temtorial waters shall lffiffiediately become free. Any 

. . . . 
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be' as a slave or treats a human being as if he were 
person who purchases or sell~ a humJ.n ~n~he trade in, or transport of, slaves shall be liable 
his owner, or who acts as an n~te~e Iary m 
to a term of three years' penal Impnsonment. 

ffi · a1s learning through the party concerned, or by other means, 
N.B. -All Government ° Cl or'i~nbein treated as a slave, shall immediately take. steps to· 

that a person has becodmehaallsJ:~~em the nea~est magistrates' court in order that proceedmgs may 
liberate that person an s m o 
be taken against t.he. offenf de~. gle article was passed by the Madjlesse at its sitting on r8 Bahman, 

This Ia w, consisting o a sm • 
1307 (solar). (Signed) DADGAR, 

Presidmt of the M adflesse. 

LETTER FROM THE GOVERNMENT OF THE SUDAN TO THE SECRET~RY-GENERAL 
OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS. 

Khartoum, March 27th, 1930. 

In accordance with Resolution III, adopted in connection with Article 7. of ~he Slav~ry 
Convention of September zsth, rgz6, I have the honour to furnish the followmg Information 
supplementary to that contained in my despatch No. M.24 of April rsth, I.929 1

• •. 

2. In the second and third paragraphs of that despatch, I drew attention to action that had 
been taken to put an end to the slave traffic carried on between the "Watawit" living on the 
Abyssinian border and certain Arab tribes of the Sudan. I am happy to. state that there has been 
no revival of this traffic during the past year, and those who took part m the trade seem fully to 
have realised the steps that would be taken if any such revival were to occur. · 

· 3· In the Fung Province, particular attention has been paid to the Berta population who had 
been living in servile or semi-servile conditions under " Watawit " masters on our side of the . 
border, and meetings of the leading " Watawit " were called, at which it was pointed out that any 
attempt at interference with the personal liberty of the Berta would meet with severe punishment,.. 

In the Kurmuk and Roseires districts, 239 cases of formal manumission have been recorded, 
and the eighty children recovered from the Arabs and referred to in paragraph 6 of the above­
mentioned despatch have settled down in the Gezira. 

4· A full registration of persons of servile origin was being made in the White Nile Province 
when. I .wrote my last report, and 6,~oo negroids had already been listed. I am now able to report 
the l1Stmg of a further 7,000 negrmds. Of the total of 13,000, 3,ooo have been given freedom 
papers. The remaining Io,ooo were either free or in a state of semi-independence which needed 
no further strengthening. 

Over 200 freed slaves of Berta origin have been quite happily settled in three villages among 
the Ara~s u~der the personal protection of the head sheikhs, to whom it is found they willingly 
refer their disputes for settlement. A careful check is kept upon their numbers and condition. 

5· In Kordofan and D~fur, no importation from Abyssinia has been traced. A normal 
n~mber of freedom papers w.as Issue~ •. but the majority of the recipients have returned to the tribes 
With whom they were previously hvmg and have suffered no molestation at the hands of their 
former masters. 

6. In other provinces, the situation remains as defined in paragraph ro of my last report and 
calls for no further comment. 

• (Signed) J. L. MAFFEY, 

Governor-General of the Sudan. 

• See Official ]oMrMI, May 19>9. page 833. 
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RESOLUTION OF SEPTEMBER 21st, 1929. 

On September 21st, 1929, the Assembly adopted the following resolution : 

" The Assembly, 

" Being extremely anxious to achieve the complete and final abolition of slavery 
and of the slave trade ; 

" Considering the importance, in order to attain these results, of the general 
. ratification of the Convention on Slavery ; 

" Having considered the British Government's proposal for the creation of a new 
Temporary Commission on Slavery ; 

· " Being of opinion that an urgent appeal should first be addressed to the States 
which have not already done so to ratify or accede to the Convention on Slavery, and 
that it is necessary above all to collect information on the present position of the question ; 

" Postpones, therefore, further consideration of the British Government's proposal ; .. 
" Urgently requests the States which have not already done so to ratify or accede 

to the Convention of September 25th, 1926, relative to slavery ; 

" Instructs the Secretary-General to collect from the States Members of the League, 
- and from those non-Member States which are parties to the Convention, all possible 

information on the present position of slavery, and to report to the next Assembly." 

On November 1st, 1929, Circular Letter 292,1929.VI was despatched to all States 
Members of the League and to those non-Member States which are parties to the Slavery 
Convention of 1926. In this letter, the Secretary-General quoted the Assembly resolution, 
forwarded a copy of the Sixth Committee's report to the Assembly on the question (document 
A.71.1929.VI) and called attention to the fact that the discussions in the Sixth Committee 
showed that the Assembly would welcome, not only official information, but also any 
information from private sources that the different Governments might think fit to forward. 

The Secretary-General also expressed the hope that any information furnished by the 
various Governments might reach the Secretariat before the end of May 1930. A letter of 
reminder (C.L.IJ2.19JO.VI) was sent out on June 30th, 1930. 

S.d. N. 1.5co(P.). J.us (A.). ll/3o. Imp. du J. do G. 
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The information received up to the present (August nth, 1930) may be summarised as 

follows : 
I. 

RATIFICATIONS OF, AND ACCESSIONS TO, THE CONVENTION ON SLAVERY OF 
SEPTEMBER 25TH, 1926. 

Since the end of the tenth session o~ the Assembly, the following ratifications or accessions 
have been deposited with the Secretanat : 

Yugoslavia: September 28th, 1929 ; 
Liberia: May 17th, 1930 ; 
Greece: July 4th, 1930; 
Irish Free State: July 18th, 1930. 

The Polish Government has notified .the ~ecretary-General .(Aug11;st 7th, 1930) t~at 
the instrument of ratification of the Convention will shortly be depos1ted With the Secretanat. 

Moreover, Cuba (July 18th, 1930), Czechoslovakia (March 14th, 1930), Japan (January 4th, 
1930), Lithuania (July 8th, 1930), Switzerland (May zoth, 1930) and Uruguay. (December 12th, 
1929) have intimated that they hope shortly to rati~y or ll:ccede to t~e C~mvent10~. Th~ Govern­
ments of Switzerland, Czechoslovakia and Uruguay, m the1rcommumcations on th1s subJect, state 
that the question of slavery is of no practical or direct interest to them, but that they are 
willing to consider ratification or accession in order to give a moral support to the efforts 
made under the auspices of the League. On the other hand, the Government of Luxemburg, 
in a letter dated November 21st, 1929, states that it has decided not to ratify the Convention 
on Slavery, as the Convention could not be applied by it. 

The total number of ratifications or definitive accessions on August nth, 1930, was 33 ; 
the number of signatures or accessions not yet perfected by ratification was 14 ; while the 
Convention is open to accession by 24 other States. · 

The accessions by Hungary (April 16th, 1927) and by the United States of America (March 
21st, 1929) were given with certain reservations, which have been submitted for acceptance 
to the parties to the Convention. Fourteen States have not yet replied as regards the Hungarian 
reservations; ten replies have still to be received regarding the United States reservations. 

II. 

COLLECTION OF INFORMATION CONCERNING THE PRESENT 
POSITION OF SLAVERY. 

The communications received from the following countries are reproduced as appendices : 
Australia, Belgium, Colombia, Hungary, India, Portugal and Salvador. 

The following countries in their replies indicate that they have no information to furnish · 
~hat no slayery exists in the territories under their authority ; or that they are not directly 
mter~sted. m th.e question : Austria, Czechoslovakia, Finland, Haiti, Irish Free State, Italy, 
Japan, L•thuanJa, Monaco, Nell! Zealand, Norway, Poland, South Africa and Sweden . 

. The Govern~ents of Eston.a and Germany state that they have no information either from 
offic1al or from pnvate s.ourc~s. The Government of Yugoslavia states that it conforms strictly 
to the Slavery ~onvenhon; 1t has, for the moment, no information to furnish but would be 
glad to commumcate ~o the Lea~e any information that may come to its kn'owledge. The 
Gove.rnments of SpaJn,1 the Un•ted States of America and Uruguay 1 state that they have 
nothmg to ad.d to previous communications on the subject. 

T~e Dan.sh Government stat~s ~hat it. has no ~pecial information in its possession. The 
C:ana~•an Government says that It IS not m a pos1tion to supply any details on the present 
s1tuat~on ~s ~egards sla~ery: The Government of the 'Sudan refers to the information 
conta1led m 1ts commumcab.on of March 27th, 1930, which has been reproduced in the 
annua report to th~ ~ouncll (document A.I3.193o.VI). The Government of E 1 
refers to the aforesaid m'formation furnished directly by the Government of th!Y~~:a~~ 

Appendix 1. 

SLAVERY CONVENTION. 

(Signed at Geneva on September 25th, 1926.) 

STA:E 0~ THE SIGNATURES, RATIFICATIONS OR ACCESSIONS (AUGUST liTH, 1930.) 
Rahficahons or s· t . definitive Ace . •gna ures or AccessiOns not 

essiOns yet perfected by Ratification 
UNITED StATES OF AMERICA 1 ABYSSINIA 
AUSTRIA ALBANIA 
BRITISH EMPIRE CHINA 
CANADA COLOMBIA 

1 See document A.1 7.1929.v1. 

The Convention is open 
to Accession by 

AFGHANISTAN 
ARGENTINE REPUBLIC 
BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 

1 See document C.6zs.M.zz4.1924.v1. 
• Subject to a reservation which has been submitted to th . . 

e ••gnatory States for acceptance. 



Ratifications or 
definitive Accessions 

AUSTRALIA 
UNION OF SOUTH AFRICA 
NEW ZEALAND 
INDIA 
IRISH FREE STATE 
BELGIUM 
BULGARIA 
DENMARK 
ECUADOR 
EGYPT 
ESTONIA 
FINLAND 
GERMANY 
GREECE 
HAITI 
HuNGARY 1 

IRAQ 
ITALY 
LATVIA 
LIBERIA 
MONACO 
THE NETHERLANDS (including 

Netherlands Indies, Surinam 
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Signatures or Accessions not 
yet perfected by Ratification 
CUBA 
CZECHOSLOVAKIA 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
FRANCE 
LITHUANIA 
PANAMA 
PERSIA 
POLAND 
ROUMANIA 
URUGUAY 

and Curapo) ' 
NICARAGUA 
NoRWAY 
PORTUGAL 
SPAIN 
SUDAN 
SWEDEN 
YUGOSLAVIA 

Appendix 2. 

AUSTRALIA. 

The Convt'ntion is open 
to Accession by 

CHILE 
COSTA RICA . 
FREE CITY Olo DANZIG 
GUATEMALA 
HEJAZ 
HONDURAS 
ICELAND 
jAPAN 
LIECHTENSTEIN 
LUXEMBURG 
MEXICO 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
SALVADOR 
SAN MARINO 
SIAM 
UNION OF SoVIET SociALIST 

REPUBLICS 
SWITZERLAND 
TURKEY 
VENEZUELA 

LETTER FROM THE PRIME MINISTER AND MINISTER FOR EXTERNAL AFFAIRS OF AUSTRALIA 
TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE. 

Canberra, May 29th, 1930. 
· With reference to your letter of November xst (C.L.292.1929), communicating the 

resolution adopted by the Tenth Assembly of the League of Nations on the subject of slavery, 
I have the honour to inform you that slavery does not exist in the Commonwealth of Australta 
or its territories. In Papua, natives may be compelled to undertake porterage for Government 
purposes only, subject to adequate remuneration therefor and other protective conditions. · 
In Norfolk Island, residents may be required to maintain roads, etc., or to make payment in 
lieu thereof. • 

Slavery and forced labour are prohibited in the mandated territories of New Guinea and 
Nauru. · 

It may be mentioned that certain regulations are in force in New Guinea and Papua under 
which natives may be compelled for their own benefit to cultivate food and other crops. 

Appendix 3. 

BELGIUM. 

(Signed) J. A. ScULLIN, 
Prime Minister and 

Minister for External Affairs. 

NoTE ON THE PRESENT PosiTION OF SLAVERY IN THE CONGO AND IN THE TERRITORIES OF 

RUANDA-URUNDI. 

Communicated by the Belgian Government on June 23rd, 1930. 
[Translation.] 

In 1924, the Belgian Government submitted a Note of some length to the League of Nations 
(document A.25.1924.VIjAugust 4th, 1924) containing detailed information with regard to 
the slave trade and slavery generally in the territories of the Belgian Congo, as also on forced 
labour, the control of the traffic in arms and munitions, and of the traffic in alcoholic beverages. 

1 Subject to a reservation which has been submitted to the signatory States for acceptance. 
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As re ards the slave trade and slavery, which are the only two questions dealt ~i~h in 
the resotufion adopted by the Tenth Assembly, the Note of 1924 stated m?st exphcttly : 

I. That the slave trade had long since disappeared from 'the Belgian Congo, both 
in law and in fact ; 

2 • That the only slavery known to exist was domestic slavery, 'Yhich was only 
practised among the natives, and t~a~, though such slavery was not pumsha~le by law, 
1t had not been given legal recogm~to~, so that slav~-owners co~d not obtam any help 
from the authorities in asserting thetr nghts over thetr slaves, while slaves were legally 
entitled to full personal liberty. 

Since the Belgian Government submitted its Note in 1924, the position with regard to 
the slave trade has undergone no change in the.B;lgian Congo. No act has ~een.observed which 
could come under this head and the extreme Vtgilance of the Government m thts matter makes 
it practically impossible fo; any such acts to be committed in the Belgian Congo. . 

Moreover the industrial and agricultural development of the colony has encouraged a 
rapid evolutio'n, both as rega~ds the native communit.ie~ an~ the natives themselves, which 
has for some time past contnbuted to the gradual elimmatton of slavery ; the number of 
domestic slaves is diminishing from day to day, although the Administration is not, it will 
be readily understood, in a position to give exact figures. · · 

The Note sent to the League in 1924 described the position of domestic slaves in the 
Belgian Congo as follows : 

"Domestic slaves are, as a rule, well treated. All travellers agree in declaring that 
there is nothing in his external aspect to distinguish the slave from the free man. No 
restriction or sign marks his servile condition and nothing in the villages distinguishes 
his living-quarters from those of the other natives. 

" The docility of the slaves does not appear to be due to fear, but rather to constitute 
a free acceptance of a situation consecrated by traditional practice. All who have closely 
studied native life are unanimous in declaring that, in the great majority of cases, the 
slaves have nothing to complain of in their conditions of life and that their master treats 
them as members of his family." 

Was it necessary to proceed to the immediate and forcible abolition of a social practice 
so little open to abuse ? 

The Belgian Government did not think so, and explained as follows, in its Note of 1924, 
the reasons which had determined its policy : 

" The radical and immediate suppression of domestic slavery would have given rise 
to vehement protest and would even have provoked the armed resistance of those whose 
rights of ownership had been infringed. Nor could it be hoped that, from one day to 
another, slaves would become wage-earners. The immediate emancipation of the domestic 
slaves would have exposed the country to great dangers. It would have imperilled the 
food supply of the population, which is mainly provided by servile labour. It would, for 
the moment at any rate, have been just as harmful to the slaves themselves, who would 
have been deprived of the means of subsistence with which their masters supplied them. 

"There is therefore no reason for·astonishment in the fact that the signatory Powers 
of the Act of Berlin and the Act of Brussels preferred, hi the light of experience, a policy 
based on the gradual transformation of servile labour into free labour as a result of the 
evolution of ideas and economic conditions, rather than action designed to effect the radical 
and immediate disappearance of domestic slavery. 

" The Congo Free State adopted the former policy. It has always been careful to 
refrain from intervening in cases in which the slaves voluntarily accepted their work 
and raised no objections to their state of servitude. 

"This system of toleration did not, however, cause it to relax the st~ict application· 
of the law. 

" It has never .given legal recognition to the status of slavery. It has never 
countena~ced the ~l~tms of a master to keep a person against his will in a state of slavery. 
The pubhc aut~onttes have always refused to help natives who sought, on the strength 
of the customs m force, to regain possession of fugitive slaves. In short, the Free State 
~egarde~ dom;stic slavery as contrary to principles which the Civil Law declares to be 
mternattonal m character and, consequently, it refused to regard it as having any legal 
force." 

Th!s is the doctrin': which. ha~ also be.en a]>plied by the Gover.nment of the Belgian Congo • 
. Fatthful to the pohcy whtch tt ha~ httherto followed and whtch has proved its value, the 

Belgtan Governme~t has not t~o!-l~ht tt nece~sary, or even expedient, to push its efforts to a 
premature con~luston by prohtbthng domeshc slavery under threats of punishment. Any 
advantages ~enved from s':'ch !Rethods c:>f constrai~t would not~ in its opinic:>n, co~nterbalance 
the grave dtsturbance whtch tt would mtroduce mto the native communtty Without really· 
benefiting those concerned. 
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Domestic slavery is in process of dying out, and its sources of supply have dried up. 

The natives are more and more tending to obtain employment in concerns managed 
by Europeans and being brought into contact with civilising agencies, and are thus becoming 
imbued with a sense of their rights as men . 

• • • 
Since the Note of 1924 was written, Belgium has, in virtue of a Law of October 2oth, 

1924, accepted the mandate offered to her for the administration of the African territories 
of Ruanda-Urundi, so that the position in regard to slavery in those territories also calls for 
report. 

The slave trade is utterly unknown in these two mandated territories. 
· Domestic slavery has completely disappeared. Even before the acct'ptance of the mandate, 
the Royal Commissioner, representing the. occupying authorities, had abolished this form 
of slavery by a Decree-law of March 28th, 1923. This decree-law, a copy of which is attached, 
visits infringements of its provisions with a penalty not exceeding five years' imprisonment. 

In Ruanda-Urundi, domestic slaves had become extremely rare. Moreover, the Commis­
sioner found the native communities more highly developed, and could rely on the influence 
of the powerful chiefs to do away with the last vestiges of an institution which had already 
begun to fall into desuetude. He was thus able to proclaim a definite prohibition, which would 
be a premature measure in the case of the Congo. · 

Sub-Appendix. 

DECREE-LAW No. 28/128 ABOLISHING DOMESTIC SLAVERY.' 

Arlicle I. - Domestic slavery is hereby abolished throughout the territory of Ruanda­
Urundi. 

Arlicle 2. - Any person who shall reduce a native to a state of slavery in any way what­
soever, or keep him in that state, shall be liable to a term of penal servitude of from one to 
five years. 

Article 3· -The residents of Ruanda and Urundi are responsible for the execution of the 
present Decree, which shall come into force immediately. 

Appendix 4. 

COLOMBIA. 

LETTER FROM THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF COLOMBIA TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL 
OF THE LEAGUE. 

[Translation.] Bogota, January gth, 1930. 

With reference to your communication C.L.zgz.xgzg.VI of November Ist, in which you 
brought to the attention of the Colombian Government the resolution on the abolition of 
slavery adopted by the Tenth Assembly of the League, and instructing the Secretary-General 
to collect information on the present position of slavery in the different countries and to 
report to the next Assembly, I have the honour to inform you that this problem does not 
arise in Colombia, as not only is slavery forbidden there, but all persons entering Colombian 
territory are regarded as free. This is expressly stated in Article 22 of the National Constitution 
voted in 1886 : 

" Arlicle 22. - There shall be no slaves in Colombia. 
" Whosoever, being a slave, enters the territory of the Republic shall become free." 

Slavery has been entirely abolished in Colombia since January xst, 1852, in virtue of the 
Law of May zxst, xBsx. 

The text of this law is reproduced in Volume XIV, page 415, of the " Codificaci6n 
Nacional ". This work contains information on the steps taken in this connection, and a copy 
of it has been sent to the League library. 

(Signed) Carlos URIBE. 

1 Oflicial Bulleli11 of Ruanda-Uruodi, Jst Year, No. •· Supplement, page 29. 
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Appendix 15. 

HUNGARY. 

LETTER fROM THE HUNGARIAN DELEGATION ACCREDITED TO THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS TO THE 
SECRETARY-GENERAL Of THE LEAGUE. 

[TraJJslation.] 

In reply to your Circular Letter 292.1929.VI 
inform you that : 

Geneva, June 1oth, 1930, 

of November xst, I have the honour to 

(a) The Hungarian Government has no observations to offer in regard to the creation · 
of a new Temporary Commission on Slavery, in accordance with the British Government's 
proposal; · 

(b) · The Hungarian Government has already ~ade kn~wn it_s accession to ~he 
Convention on Slavery of September 25th, 1926. Th1s accessiOn will become effective 
as soon as the Governments of the following countries have declared their acceptance 
of the reservation made by Hungary at the time of her accession : New Zealand, Colombia, 
Spain, Abyssinia, Greece, Panama, Persia, Ecuador, Haiti, Monaco and Nicaragua. 

(c) As regardsthe present position of slavery in Hungary, I have the honour to 
inform you that the institution of slavery is utterly unknown in the territory of Hungary, 
as is also every kind of compulsory labour which could give rise to anything resembling 
slavery. No compulsory labour within the meaning of Article 5, paragraph 2, sub­
paragraph I, of the Convention on Slavery is exacted in Hungarian territory, save for 
public purposes, or as part of a sentence of imprisonment, or irr virtue .of a judicial 
or administrative measure to ensure the execution of short-term contracts freely entered 
into, or to compel persons to observe the legal periods of notice. · 

(Signed) HEVESY. 

Appendix 8. 

INDIA. 

LETTER fROM THE ECONOMIC AND OVERSEAS DEPARTMENT OF THE INDIA OFFICE TO THE 
SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE. 

London, May 31st, 1930. 

· In reply to your lett.er of November xst, 1929 (C.L.292.1929.VI), I am directed by the 
Secretary of State for lnd1a to forward a copy of a memorandum which has been prepared by 
the Government of Burma, and which is supplied in compliance with the resolution of the 
Assembly of the. League at its tenth session on the subject of slavery. 

For Secretary, 
Economic and Overseas Department : 

(Signed) CROFT. 

Sub-Appendix. 

MEMORANDUM ON MEASURES FOR THE ABOLITIO)!i OF SLAVERY IN BU.RMA. 

. ~e memora~da communicated to the League of Nations in the years 1927, 1928 and 1929 1 

explamed the pohcy and the r~sults achieved in those years, which were briefly that nearly 
9,000 slaves had been released m the Hukawng Valley and the " Triangle " at a cost of over 
five lakhs of ~ll:pees, and that each year enquiries were being made by the officers in command 
of the expedthons to these areas as to the condition of the released slaves. 

In the. present open season of 1929-30, expeditions have again gone out under' the same 
officers as m 1928-29, name.ly, Cap~ain V. G. Robert, M.B.E., M.C. ; . Mr. P. M. R. Leonard, 
O.B.~ .• ~f the Burma Fronher Serv1ce in the Triangle; and Mr. A. W. Porter, Burma Frontier 
~rv1ce m. ~he Huk~wng Valley, each expedition being accompanied by a British officer of the 
. urma Mthtary Pohce and an escort of at least xoo men. At every village visited the officer­
m-charge has made personal enquiries about all released slaves. The only detailed report 

1 See documents A.37.19Z7.VI, A.z-.(a).J9Z8.VI, A.17(a).19Z9.VI. 
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received up to date is from Captain Robert of the North Triangle Expedition, who had, up 
to February 19th, checked 2,134 out of 2,6'Jo slaves released in the area visited by him. Of 
these, he found the following: 

I . Residing in their own houses in the village of release . . 
2. Residing with relations in other villages in the Triangle 
3. Gone to relations in administered territory 
4· Gone to relations in the Hukawng Valley 
5. Untraced • . . . . . . . . 
6. Dead . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . 

1,018 
56o 
428 
47 
33 
48 

Detailed figures for other areas are not yet available, but from notes in the diaries of the 
officers it appears that the figures are much the same elsewhere ; that is to say, about half 
the released slaves are still living in the same villages, where they have in most cases built 
their own houses, about 20 to 25 per cent have gone to other villages in unadministered 
territory and about the same proportion to administered territory. 

No more slaves have been discovered by Captain Robert and, as far as is known, none 
by the other officers, and no reports have been received of oppression of ex-slaves by their 
former owners. A small amount of money has been distributed as free gifts to pauper ex-slaves 
and as loans to others. 

Captain Robert is of opinion that the former owners have in many cases assisted ex-slaves 
to build houses in their·own villages in order to keep them there and use them as labourers, 
often no doubt with a lingering hope that they will relapse into slavery if we do not shortly 
administer the country. On the other hand, there is no actual oppression and the ex-slaves 
realise more each year that they are free; and, though large numbers cannot leave thl'ir former 
villages because they have lost all touch with their original homes and relations, they know 
that they can obtain redress for any ill-treatment on complaint to the officer in command 
of the expeditions. Economic conditions have naturally been upset to a certain extent, but 
apparently not very seriously. 

In the previous memoranda, -'flo mention was made of the Naga Hills on the Burma Assam 
border. A report has been received from Mr. H. J. Mitchell, O.B.E., of the Burma Frontier 
Service, who has been in command of expeditions there for the last three years. Slavery did 
not exist in this area for purposes of labour, but there were a small number of slaves who 
were mostly kept to supply victims for human sacrifice. Mr. Mitchell discovered and liberated 
59 such slaves in 1929 and has heard of a few more this year, whom he is also liberating. No 
compensation has been paid, because the chiefs, when questioned in 1927 and 1928, denied the 
existence of any slaves. Those liberated in 1929 were checked this year and found to be 
contented, and no cases of oppression were reported. 

Appendix 7. 

PORTUGAL. 

LETTER FROM THE HEAD OF THE PORTUGUESE DELEGATION ACCREDITED TO THE LEAGUE 

OF NATIONS TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE. 

[Translation.] Geneva, June 18th, 1930. 

In pursuance of instructions from my Government, I have the honour to acknowledge 
the receipt of your Circular Letter 292 of November 1st, 1929, in which you brought to_ the 
attention of the States signatories of the Slavery Convention a resolution adopted by .the 
Assembly at its tenth session "instructing the Secretary-General to collect from the States 
Members of the League, which are parties to the Convention, all possible information on the 
present position of slavery, and to report to the next Assembly". . 

In order to give effect to this resolution of the Assembly, the Government of the Republic 
instructed the authorities of the territories under its sovereignty to collect and transmit to it 
all information on the present position of slavery in these territories. 

I am happy to be able to inform you that the Portuguese Government is in a position to 
assure you that no ca:se of slavery in the territories of the Republic has come to its knowledge, 
whether from official or from private sources. 

It is hardly necessary to remind you that, for a long time prior to the Convention of 
September 25th, 1926, slavery had been entirely abolished by the Portuguese Government . 

• 
(Signed) A. M. FERRAZ DE ANDRADE, 

Head of the Porluguese Otfice 
accredited to the League of Nations. 
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SALVADOR. 

LETTER FROM THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SALVADOR TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL' 
OF THE LEAGU_E. 

[TrtutslatiOIJ.] San Salvador, January 21st, 1930. 

In reply to your communication C.L.292.1929.VI dated November zst,' 1929, relating 
to the present position of slavery in this country, I have the honour to inform you that slavery 
was abolished in the Republic of Salvador by the Decree issued on April 17th, 1824, by the 
Constituent Assembly of the United Provinces of Central America. , · 

We therefore cannot provide any of the particulars regarding this question which the ' 
Secretariat asks us to give. . 

(Signed) F. Martinez SUAREZ. 



[Distributed to the Council, 
the Members of the League and 
the Delegates at the Assembly.) 

Official No.: A.13 (a). 1930. VI. 

Geneva, August 20th, 1930. 

LEAGUE OF NATIONS 

Slavery Convention 

ANNUAL REPORT BY THE COUNCIL 

Note by the Secretary- General: 

The Secretary-General has the honour to circulate to the Assembly, in accordance with the 
second paragraph of the Council's resolution of May 13th, 1930, which is reprcduced in document 
A.1J.I9JO.VI, the following communications from the Governments of Persia and Portugal. 

I. NOTE DATED JULY xsT, 1930, FROM THE PERSIAN DELEGATION ACCREDITED 
TO THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS. 

[Translation.] 

The Permanent Persian Delegation accredited to the League of Nations has the honour to 
inform the League Secretariat that, on two occasions (on March r8th and April 12th, 1930), two 
parties of four slaves, having escaped from the port of Sharja, took refuge in Persian ports on 
the Persian Gulf and gained their freedom. 

The Persian Delegation has the honour to submit to the League Secretariat herewith their 
names and descriptions: 

March x8th, 1930: 

x. Zobeyr, son of Faradj, slave of Abdullah-ebn-Nasser, pearl merchant. 
2. Khamis, son of Anbar, slave of Ahmad-ebn-Darvish. 
J. Aman, son of Ben Messu, slave of Mejd-Ebn-Fares. 
4· Masrur, slave of Ahmad-Ebn Sagu, brother of the Governor of Sharja. 

April 12th, 1930: 

x. Marzugh, son of Salemin, slave of Admad, son of Ebrahim. 
2. Mobarak, son of Saleh, slave of Ahmad-Ebn-Zayed. 
J. Reyhan, son of Abdullah. 
4· Nessib, slave of Halfan-Ebn-Seham. 

II. LETTER DATED JULY 25TH, 1930, FROM THE PORTUGUESE DELEGATION 
ACCREDITED TO THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS. 

I ; 
I am instructed by my Government to forwatd to you herewith a copy of the Portuguese 

Official Journal, Didrio do Govlrno, No. xs6, First Series, July 8th, which contains Decree No. 
x8570, approving the recently drawn up Colonial Statute designed to replace Part V of the political 
Constitution of the Portuguese Republic. 

I venture to draw your particular attention to Chapter II of the Preamble, entitled 
"Indigenas " (Natives), and to Part II of the document, entitled "Dos lndigena' " (Natives), 
which clearly indicate the very liberal nature of the native policy constantly pursued by Portugal. 

My Government would be very glad if a reference to this document, and in particular to these 
two chapters, could be included in the report to the next Assembly on the execution by the 
various Governments of the Geneva Convention of 1926. 

S.d.N. I·SSO (F.) 1.375 (A.) 8/JO.Imp. Kuadic. 

(Signed) A. }1. FERRAZ DE ANDRADE, 

Head of the Portuguese Office 
accredited to the League of Nat ions. 

Series of League of Nations Public 

VI.B. SLAVERY 
1930. VI.B. 3. 
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Extracts from the Portuguese Official Journal (Diario do Gov~rno), No. 156, First Series, 
/ttly 8111, 1930· 

[TraHSlation.] 

PREAMBLF. 

II. Natives. 

Portugal's sove~eignty ove~ ~er o~e~~as.possessions has, throughout her ~story, been based 
on the highest princtp!es of Chmban ctvthsabon. Her acts have always been ~tded and go~erned 
by a genuine consideration for the world at large. Her laws a~d her rulers have altke been dommated 
by the ideal of the equality of man and by a constant destre to defend, protect and educate the 
natives. That is a fact which cannot be gainsaid, despite any usages to the contrary or abuses 
or compromises imposed upon the public authorities ~y the press~.e of circ~stances. 

Portugal is still in the van of progress, and her tdeal of realtsmg an achteve~ent together 
with those of all other peoples of the world does not fall. sh?rt of th":t of any nabo~. · Her laws 
and her administration are based on the highest legal prtnctples. It ts therefore fittmg that she 
should choose the highest of these principles. and should per~ect .them wh~r~ necessary and utilise 
them in preparing the Colonial Statute, subject to the !lppltcabon of ext~tmg and als? of. !uture 
international conventions. The measures taken for this purpose are bnefiy summansed m the 
following paragraph. . 

The State protects and defends the natives of its colonies. It lays down that the colonial 
authorities must prevent or punish any abuse of the natives. It establishes or gives its support 
to institutions designed to protect or help them. It rewards those who are employed in its service. · 
It prohibits systems whereby the State undertakes to provide native labour for private enterprise. -
Apart from the enforcement of penal sentences or the fulfilment of lawful fiscal liabilities, the State 
cannot force natives to work, except at such occupations as are considered essential and profitable 
to themselves. Under its supervision, labour contracts are drawn up on the principle of individual 
freedom and with a guarantee both of equitable pay and of social benefits. . 

On behalf of natives who are still in a primitive state, the State is promulgating special 
statutes, based on Portuguese public and private law, but taking into account such usages and 
customs as are not contrary to morality and humanitarian principles. It recognises and assists 
Portuguese religious missions as effective agents of civilisation and of Portuguese sovereignty, 
and the establishments for training missionaries; it recognises the legal personality of these missions 
and institutions, and allows the free exercise of the various creeds, subject to the restrictions 
imposed by the exercise of Portuguese sovereignty and by considerations of public policy. As 
re~ards the first~point, the Colonial Statute merely perpetuates what already exists in fact and is 
latd down by the laws of the Republic; on the second point, the Statute is in accordance with the 
provisions and principles of international law. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . 

COLONIAL STATUTE. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Part II. - Natives. 

. Article 15. -. The Stat~ sh.all guarantee the protection and defence of natives of the colonies, 
t~ accordance. ~tth humamtanan principles and the principle of sovereignty and in conformity 
Wtth the provtstons of t~e present Part, and of such international Conventions as are now in force 
or may hereafter come mto force. . 

T~e colon!al authorities shall prevent or punish, in accordance with the law, all abuses 
corrurutted agamst the person or property of natives. 

1rticle 16. -The State shall establish Portuguese public institutions and shall encourage the 
creation of Port!lguese private institutions intended to safeguard the rights of the natives or to 
render them assistance. 

A!ticle 17. - The Ia~ sha.ll ~xpressly secure the natives in the ownership and possession 
of thetr land and crops; this prmciple shall be respected in all concessions granted by the State. 

Artic!e 18. - Natiyes employed in the service of the State or of the public administrations 
shall receive remuneration for their work. 

Article 19.- The following shall be prohibited: 

I. A~ system~ w~ereby the State undertakes to supply native labourers to undertakings 
for econonuc explOitation of whatever nature. 

2. All systems where~y the natives in any area are compelled, on whatever grounds, 
to work for such undertakings. 
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Article 20. - The State may not compel the natives to work, except on public works of 
general concern to the community, or on work which will be profitable to the natives themselves, 
or in execution of judicial sentences of a penal character, or for the fulfilment of fiscal liabilities. 

Article 2I. -The system of native labour contracts shall be based on the principle of individual 
freedom and the right to an equitable wage and social benefits; the public authorities shall not 
intervene except for purposes of supervision. 

Article 22. -Due account shall be taken of the state of evolution of the native peoples in the 
colonies. Special statutes shall be provided for them, establishing a legal system based on 
Portuguese public and private law, but taking duly into account their individual, domestic and 
social usages and customs, provided that such are not contrary to public morality or to humanitarian 
principles. 

Article 23. - The State shall guarantee, in its oversea territories, freedom of conscience and 
the free exercise of religious creeds, subject to the restrictions required by the rights and interests 
of Portuguese sovereignty and for the maintenance of public order, and with due regard to 
international treaties and Conventions. 

Article 24. - The religious missions overseas, which are an instrument of civilisation and 
national influence, and also the establishments for the training of staff for their services and for 
those of the Portuguese Patronage (Padroado), shall possess legal personality and shall be 
protected and assisted by the State as educational institutions. 



[Distributed to the Council, 
the Members of the League and 
the Delegates at the Assembly.) 

Official No.: A. 17 (a). 1930. VI. 

Geneva, September 8th, 1930. 

LEAGUE OF NATIONS 

SLAVERY 

Report by the Secretary-General, presented in accordance 

with the Assembly Resolution of September 21st, 1929. 

Note by the Secretary- General: 

The Secretary-General has the honour to circulate to the Assembly as a supplement to 
document A.I7.I930.VI, and in conformity with paragraph 7 of the Assembly resolution 

(')dated September 21st, 1929, reproduced in the said document, the following letters from the' 
permanent delegates of th_e Liberian Republic and of Siam, dated August 25th, 1930, and 
August 28th, 1930, respectively. 

I. LETTER FROM THE PERMANENT DELEGATE OF LIBERIA. 

[Translation.] 

By your letters of November 1st, 1929 (C.L.292.1929.VI), and June 30th, 1930 (C.L.132. 
1930.VI), you drew my Government's attention to the resolution adopted by the Tenth 
Assembly of the League concerning : 

I, The ratification of the Slavery Convention ; 
2. The supply of information concerning slavery. 

In reply, I would point out that : 

I. The Slavery Conventiort; signed on September 25th, 1926, was ratified by my 
Government on November 8th, 1929, and the instrument of ratification was deposited at 
the Secretariat by myself on May 17th, 1930. 

2. In conformity with my letter of September 21st, 1929, to the President of the Council 
of the League (documents A.81.1929.VI, C.446.1929.VI, and Official Journal, November 
1929, page x682), the Government of the Liberian Republic, having spontaneously and of 
its own accord decided to lay before an international Commission of Enquiry the question of 
slavery and forced labour in Liberia, set up this Commission of three members: one appointed 
by the Council of the League, one appointed by the Government of the United States of 
America and a third appointed by the Liberian Government. • 

At the request of my Government, the Council having appointed its representative, the 
Commission, composed of Dr. Cuthbert Christy (member appointed by the Council of the 
League), Dr. Charles Johnson (member appointed by the United States of America 
Government), and the Honourable Sir Arthur Barclay (ex-President of Liberia), began its 
work on April 8th last, under the chairmanship of Dr. Christy. In accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the Commission's duties, however, this enquiry will last four or five 
months (document C.5IO.M.170.1929.VI and Official Journal, December 1929, page 1870), 
and, unless anything unforeseen occurs, its work will only come to an end during the first 
fortnight in September, when the Commission will lay its final report before my Government. 

- As soon as I receive a copy of this report I will, of course, submit it to you. 
I would ask you to bring this letter to the notice of the Council, the Members of the 

League and the coming Assembly. -

S.d. N. t.Soo iF.). t.miA.).~Imp. J.d< G. 

(Signed) Antoine SoTTILE, 

Charge d' A If aires, Permanent Delegate of the 
Liberian Republic accredited to the League of Nations. 

Series of bague of Natlon1 PabllcatJ6n• 

VI.B. SLAVERY.; 
1930 VI.B. 4. 
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II. LETTER FROM THE PERMANENT DELEGATE OF SIAM. 

With reference to your letters (C.L.:29:2.19:29.VI and C.L.IJ:2.I9JO.VI), dated November 
nt, 1929, and June 30th, 1930, respectively, addressed to His Highness the Minister for 
Foreign Affairs at Bangkok concerning the Slavery Convention, I have the honour to inform 
you, under instructions from my Government, that the provisions of this Convention in fact 
do not affect Siam. His Majesty's Government is, however, in sympathy with the principles 
underlying the Convention, and its adhesion is being considered. As regards the position 
of Slavery in Siam, His Majesty's Government has no further information to give in addition 
to that already communicated to the League of Nations in its report dated May 23rd, 1924 
and in a letter dated July 8th, 1926. (See document A.1o(b).1926.VI.) ' 

(Signed) VARNVAIDYA, 

Siamese Minister, 
Permanent Delegate to the League of Nations. 



{Distributed to the Members of the League, 
the Assembly and the Council,.] Ogi&itU No: A.13 (C)•I9JO.VI. 

Geneva, September :rsth, 1930. 

LEAGUE OF NATIONS 

SLAVERY CONVENTION 

ANNUAL REPORT BY THE COUNCIL 

Note by the Sectetary-Gmwal. 

The Secretary-General has the honour to circulate to the Assembly, in conformity with 
paragraph 2 of the Council resolution dated May 13th, 1930, reproduced in document A. IJ. 1930. VI., 
a further communication from the Abyssinian Government. 

UTTER FROM THE DELEGATE OF THE ABYSSINIAN EMPIRE DATED SEPTEMBER liTH, 1930. 

The imperial delegation of Abyssinia has the honour to annex the Amharic text,l together 
with a French translation, of the latest detailed statistics drawn up by the Central Office 
of Addis-Abeba, on the basis of the reports from the provinces relating to the suppression of the 
illicit slave trade. · 

We should be grateful if you would communicate these statistics to the Council and the 
Members of the League for their information. 

MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR 
OF THE 

ABYSSINIAN GOVERNMENT 
ADDIS-ABEBA 

. . 

Annex. 

(Signed) N. MAKONNEN, 

First Dele gal~. 

The Central Office responsible for the application of the Edict and Regulations promulgated 
by the Imperial Government of Abyssinia for the progressive abolition of slavery begs to submit 
the following statistics: 

I. - I.ISTE DES ESCLAVES LIBERES. -LIST OF LIBERATED SLAVES. 

Noma Sen lJeo 
Article do ll .. lement oPI>IJqul 

oa caUM de libentioo 
Name Sa i'l..a Article of tho II.,.W•Uom applied Date 

CW CIUII of Uben.Uon 
1922 

(1929-30) 0 

1. MBRBBB Fem. ADDI&-ABBBA Art. 5 11 septembre 
2. GoULBNE • • Maitre tr.Uiquant- Mastel a trafficker 
3· WAJUTOU • • • • 
4· KECHI Masc. • • • 
S· WBLDB SENBBTB • • • • 
6. ZoULA • • Origine libre - Free origin 20 septembre 
1· BEDlCRO • • Libh6 par""" maitre - Liberated by master 
8. APFERl< Fem. • Par testament de oa maltresse- By mistreu'a 

will 6 octobre 
g. DoRTA Mast. • • • 

10. HELENGB • • Art. 32 14 octobre 
II. ALTO • • Art. 6 23d6cembre 
12. W.MAiuAJI Fem. • • • 
'3· MAD IE • • Art. 7 
14. .IILu.ulo • • Art. 6 

• Conserve dans les archiws dn Secletariat. - Kept in tbe archives of tbe Secretariat. 
• L'annee ethiopienne a nne difference de quatre mois our le nouveau style. -The Abyuinian year dillera by four 

months from tbe new Style. Annee ethiopienne 1922 (nouveau style 1929-30). Abyuinian year 1922 (new style 1927). 
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15· W. MAK~AM Fem. 

• r6. ,Au&LBJ'BCB& 

17· HADBLON'J&· • 
ra. GABRB MAK!AM Male. 

19· OI.DOU • 
20o AYALKBBBB • 

SBTBGK& • 21· Fem. DBNOKU ••• Male. Auaou •3· 
SanoN& • .... 

• •5· Aaaaaa 
.6. S&TBGN& • 

KABTHIMKR • •1· 
• a. S&TIIGK& Mauo • 

CKAM&KO FeJD; 29· 
D&NGUBTI& • 30· 

3'· Eozaa Banc.u>ov Masc. 

3•· OI.&T& Fem. 

33· I<AaneHMBR • 
34· SMBNIB • 
35· MAMITI& • 
36. DJBOT& avec oeo z en· 

fants • 
39· 0RKITOU • 
40· Gorou Male. 

4'· DBGOU • 
4•· BERBTB Fem. 

43· GABRB MARIAM Male. 

••• STBLO • • 

45· K&NTO • 
46. 0LLIITB SADEK Fem, 
47• , BoURAGUB • 
.S, Y ALBWMB KOUI( Male. 
49• KABADB • 
so. GBLBNB Fem. 
51. SBTBGIIB • 
5•· BBXBLB Maoc. 

53· CoRAHOU Fem. 

54· Swurde 
Sister of CoRAHOU • 

55· Fils de 
Son of CoRAHOU Masc. 

56. WBNDEMOJ • 
57· Ot.ltTBYitSSB Fem. 
,a. ROB I • 
59· Mm-e de 

Mother of Roar • 
6o. WBLBTB GUIOROUII • 
61. M~re de 

Mother of W, GUIOROUII • 
62. S<l!urdo 

Sister of GUIOROUII • 
63. Fr~re de 

Brother of GUIOROUIS Male. 
64. YAOULBO B&XGNE • 
65. 0LDBSSBN8BTB • 
66. Fan& • 
67. AMLAKTBR.BDA. Fem, 
68. Co ana Ma.sc. 
69. BOO III Fem. 
70· GABRBSSBLASSB Masc, 
7'· DoLIIIII& • 
7•· GOUDBTA • 
73o TBMBSGOIIN Fem. 
74· GUIIBU MARIAM Masc. 
75· Maca.u. Fem. 
76. DBMBKBCH& • 
11· GUIIBRII MARIAM Maoc. 
78. KABTJCHMBR Fem, 
79· BooALBCHII • 8o, FroA • 
81. FuiD)G . • 
82. GUIIIIIITB • 
83. AIIIBTB MARIAM • 
8 •• NKOATOI • a,. GUlLo\ TO • 
86. SaNDON • 
87. AIII&TB MA.IUAM • 88, Yauou MBKBR.A. Masc. 
89. Maou&RSA • 

Lloa 
~ 

.o\DDIS-ABBB& 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
I 

• 
• 
• • 

• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
I 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

SIDAMO 

• 
• 
• 

BoUNO 

• 
SIDAMO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• • • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
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Art. 14 
Ori · libre - Free origin 

gme Art. 6 . 

• • 
Art. 7· 
Art. 6 
Art. 5 
Art. 6 

Li~paracnmaltre-Libemted by master 
Art. 6 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • • • 
• • 

Date 

1922 
(1929-30)• 

• 5 d6cembre 
17 janvier 

20 janvier 
15 f~vrier 

n f~vrier 

4avril 

10 avril 
17 avril 

20 avril 

Art. 8 1 mai 
Art. 7 . 

Lib~ avec sa mere - Liberated with her 
mother 

Art. 3 
Art. 6 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Li~ parson maitre.-Liberated by master 
Art; 6 
• • 
• • 

Li~r~ par son maitre.- Liberated by master 

• • • • • 
• • • • 
I I J. I I 

8 mai 
14 mai 

•7mai 

7juin 

II juillet 

Art. 7 15 j uillet 
Li~ avecsamere.-Liberatedwithher mother • 

Art. 2 

N~ d'un per. libre a 6t6li~ avec sa faznil. 
le: mere, scour, trere. -Born of a free father 
and liberated with family: mother, mster, 

brother. 

Art. 6 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Lib6~ par son maitre.- Liberated by master 

1 septembre 

Art. 6 16 octobre 

• • 
• • • 

Trafic a pres 1'6dit. -5la~ealing after the Edict 
Art. 6 18 octobre 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art. 2 
. Art. 6 

Trafi.c apres 1'6dit. - Slave-dealing after the 
Edict, 

Art. 1 
Art. 6 

I . -1 

• • 
• L'anu6e 6thiopienne a une dift6rence de quatre mois sur le nouveau style. - The Abyssinian year differs by four 

montha from the new style. . 

Ann6e 6thiopieDQe 1922 (nouveau style 1929-30). - Abyssinian year 1922 (new style 1929-30). 



'· I. 

J2. 
93· 
94· 
95· 
96. 
97· 
98. 
99· 

100. 

101. 

102. 

103. 
104· 
105· 
106. 
107· 
108. 
109. 
ItO. 
Ill. 
112. 

llJ. 
114-
115. 
116. 

"7· 
118. 
119-
120. 

121. 
122. 

123· 
124. 
125. 
126. 

127-
128. 

129. 
1)0. 
IJI. 
1)2. 
IJJ. 
134· 
135· 
Ij6. 

137· 
13"8. 
139· 
qo. 
I,p, 

'4•· 
143. 
144. 
145· 
146. 
14]. 
q8. 
149· 
150. 
151. 
151. 

153· 
154· 

'55· 
1;6. 
157· 
158. 
159· 
160 .. 
161. 
16-.l:. 

163. 
164. 
t65. 
106. 
167. 
168. 
169. 
170. 

FEILLO 
BALOt~Gl!E 

AREGACHE 
DEMA.ME 
BtCROC:.SE 
A''CHE 
B'EKELE 
YDOTE 
AMETEIS 
SELF AGO 
SEMEN I 
l\IEKA 
GA. ME 
DESTA 
BIHON 
SEMTO 1\IECHAL 
lENEBECHE 
l<ABTHIMER 
CHENE 
SALASBO 
0LDESSENBET 
GUEBREISS 
Gu&nREHJOT 
SEW MAMENE 
GoUTEMO 
TEKLE0LDE 
DE BABE 
AscALE 
\VEVENA 

TOMANO 
DEGA 
AROUSSt 
ACHITO 
ABAY 
EMAMNO 
1\IEKOURIA 
AssEDE 
EHTE GABRIEL 
JIIAMITE 
OLETlt KlDAN 
ANTONE 
l\lALM1 
A MET£ 

GUEBRE SENBETE 
0LETEISS 
0LETE 1\!ICJJAEL 
ALEDO 
GuEBRE MARIAM 

KELETCHO 
BANTE 
LENKTE 
A ZEN ETCH 
WooE 
WEKE 

ALEMIE 
ARlloUE 
BATCHO 
DEMO 
DoztTI 
TOLA 
GUEBRE MICHAEL 
GUEBRE MARIAM 
As so 
YETEMOREK 
AMETE MICHAEL 

TAREKE 
AMDE 
JIIECHEDO 
WECHA 

EBEAU 
GUERIERO 
AGAFARI 
LEDE 
DouLCHINJ 
0LKABAIS 
ToucHER 
MASKINO 
AsRESSA 
MERCHA 
TEWCHINNA 
Bn~DER 

Jllasc. 
Fern. 

• 
• 
• 
• 

lllase. 
Fern. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Jllasc. 
Fem. 

• 
lllasc. 
Fem. 
Ill as e. 

• 
• 
• 

Fem. 
Mase. 

• 
• 

Fern. 
• 

lllasc. 
Fem. 
lllasc. 

• 
• 

Fern. 
lllase. 
Fern. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
Fern. 

• 
Masc. 

• 
• 

Fern. 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Jllasc. 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Fern. 
• 

Jllasc. 
• 
• 
• 

Fcm. 
!\lase. 

• 
Fern. 

• 
• 

lllasc. 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Fem. 

StDA:V:O 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

\\'OLAMO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

GUEMO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

J3ouNO 

• 
• 

GOFF A 

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Arti<l• du R'«...._l o...,liqud 
ou ca.uw dt' bb«'atA'III 

Artick of tM R~alJuns •t"Pbed 
or ca~ ot hbcnbo."to 

Art. 6 
Trafic apr~ l'l ... lit. - Slav~~dt·almg a£tt.•t the 

Edict. 
• 

Art. 6 
• • 

Art. 5 
Art. 6 
• 
• 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

• 

Libere parson maitre.- Liberalt·d by ma.<ter 
Art. 6 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Libt're par son maitre- Liberatcd by ma.,ter 
Art. 7 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art.2 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art.6 
Art. 7 
Art. 4 
• • 
• • 

Art. 2 

Art.4 
Art. 7 
• • 
• • 

Art. 6 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art.s 
Art. 7 
Art. 2 

Art. 4 
Origint.• librc- Free origin 

• • 
• • 

Origine lihre- Fwe origin 
• • • 

Art.2 
• • 
• • 

Art.6 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Origjne lihre- Free origin 
• • • • 
• I I I 

Uber~c par Ia ju•tice - Liberated by the 
judicial authorities 

Art.7 
• • 

Art.6 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Liber~ par son maitre- Liberated by ma.•ter 
Art.7 

Liberl-e par son maitre- Liberated by ma.•ter 
» I • I I I 

Origioe libre- Free origin 
Lib<:re par son maitre- Liberated by !1Witer 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 
Art.2 

• • 

• • • 
• • • 

19.12 
(l9Z\)"JO)* 

6 DU\t'S 

15 mal 

3 juin 

2-t octubra 

1 M:ptemhre 

1 srptcmbro 

6 nuvcmhre 

u di-cembre 

5 janvier 

20 l~vrier 

3 man 

1 avrU 

• L"annee ethiopienne a une difterence de quatre mois sur le nouveau style. -The Aby .. inian year d:.::n by 
four months from the new style. 

Annee ethiopienne 19H (nouveau style 1929"19)0. -Abyssinian year 1922 (new atyle 1'1"9-JO). 



'1'· 172. 
173· 
174· 
175· 
176. 
171· 
178. 
179 .. 
r8o. 
r8r. 
r8z. 
183. 
184, ,a,. 
r86. 
187. 
r88. 
189. 
190· 
19lo 
192. 

193· 
194· 
195· 
19&. 
197· 
rgS. 
199· 

200, 

:aar. 
202. 

20J. 
204· 
205, 
206, 

207, 
208, 
209, 
:no. 
211, 
212, 

Soaaa 
GUIZ&RO 
GACHAOU BIIZA 
EMAMN&OU 
MBKOURIA 
Assanaa 
OLIITO 
BliTCH II 
KAD]A 
ALPIITO 
GUISTO 
OLIITII GUIORGUII 
TIEGOTIIII 
EDJO 
GURBIIII MARIAM 
HouLOuM Issaur:. 
ASBARER 
CHAGUII 
I<ABTICHIIB;R 
DKSSIII 
AYITOU 
BAL&AU 

ALIIIUNKAU 
ABIAXO 
SIBLII 
DIIMAMIB 
ANDARGUB 
LIIHONO 
CHILKIB 

KaRACHI& 
SlEDBAU 
SIIA 

GurKA 
GOMERO 
TOUXA 
AIIBTII SELASSIII 

TCHBTCHBFIB 
WBDBGUINB 
BRBTII 
MANCHB 
AIIBTB MARIAM 
Mor:..o 

113. MoLALIIY 
114, AYIILII 
215. AYATOU 
216, FIILIIIINB 
117. EDIBNA 
uS. WKLIITII GABRiBr:. 
119. Gou 
220. Zouaau 
2:U. AUKTB 
:il:iJ:li, GUBZilTil 

223. 
224· .. ,. 
u6. 
227. 
us. 
129. 
230, 
231, 
232, 
233· 
234· 
2)5. 
236. 
237· 
238. 
239· 
240· 
241. 
242. 

243· 
244. 
245· 
246. 
247· 

WBLBTB GUIORGUIS 
BEOARB 
WBLBTB SADIX 
BBNB 
DADIII 
ADAtLLO 
BII)OUCHII 
WBODO 
WKCHBR 
AIIIDO 
Yuso 
AYATIB 
MBSXBLO 
Mouna 
ATT!RO 
GBOLKTBTB.A.U 
MINOTL\U 
ATCHU. 
ETA.GUBGNBHOU 
GOMBNI& 
Arouwo 
TaXA 
COTYII 
s ... 
GASSIBBAU 

Masc. 
Fem. 
Muc. 

• 
• 

Fem. 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
• 

Fem. 
• 

Masc •. 
• 

Pem. 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
• 
• 
• 

Fem. 
• 
• 

Masc. 
• 
• 

Fem. 
•• 

Masc. 

• 
Fem. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 

• 
• 
• 

Fem. 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 

Fem: 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
Fem. 

• 
Masc. 
• 
• 

Fem. 
Masc. 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Fem. 
• 
• 

Masc. 
• 

Fem. 
lllasc. 
Fem. 

GoPFA 

• 
• 

WoLAMo 

• 
• 

GoPFA 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
I 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• •• 
• 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Artlde c1u JUslemml appliqlW 
011 cause de libintioll 

Article of lbe Jleoulalioao applied 
or eaute of llbaaUoD 

Art. 7 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art.? 
Liber~ par son maitre -Liberated by master 

• • 
Art. 2 

• • 
• • 

• • • 
Art. 7 

Libert!e par son maitre- Liberated by master 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• • 

• • 
Libre d'origine - Free origin 

Lib~re par Ia justice - Liberated by the 
judicial authorities 

• • 
Libert!e par son maitre- Liberated by master 

J • 

Art. 6 
• • 
• • 

Lib6rtl par, Ia justice Liberated by the 
judicial authorities 

J I 

• • 
Trafic apr~ !'&lit - Slave-dealing after the 

Edict 
• 
• 

• 
I .. . . 

Lib6r~ par Ia justice - Liberated by the 
judicial authorities 

• • 
Origine libre - Free origin 

• • 
• • 
• • 

Trafic apr~ !'&lit Slave-dealing after 
the Edict 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Date 

1922 
(1929·30). 

7 avril 

z6novembre 

r6 decembre 

s janvier 

zo fevner 

20 mars 

20 Dlc'U'S 

gmars 

I avril 

Art. rS 7 mai 
• • 
• • 

Liber6 par Ia justice Liberated by the 
judicial authorities 

• • 
Libert!e par son maitre -Liberated by master 
Lib6rt!e par son maitre - Liberated by master · 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• ·­• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• • • 

Trafic aprlis !'&lit -Slave-dealing after the Edict 
• • 

LiWr6 par son maitre -Liberated by master 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• • • 

Trafic a pres I' &lit-Slave-dealing after the Edict 
• • • • 

Art.r8 
• • 

?mai. 

• L'annt!e ~tbiopienne a une difl~rence de quatre mois sur le nouveau style.- The Abyssinian year differs by four 
months from the new style. 

Annt!e ~~~~nne ~9>2 (nouveau style 1929-30).- Abyssinian year 1922 (new style 1929-30). . 

' 



248. 
2-JC). 

.zso. 
251. 

25.!'. 

253· 
254· 
z;;. 
2j6. 

257· 
258. 
259· 
z6o. 
2()[, 

262. 

263. 
26~. 
265. 
266. 

267. 
268. 
269. 
270. 
271. 
272. 
273· 
2]4. 

'75· 
276. 
277· 
278. 
279· 
z8o. 
28I. 
28z. 
28J. 
284. 
28;. 
286. 
287. 
288. 
28'). 
2go. 
2t)l. 

292. 

293· 
294· 
29.). 
~1)6. 

297· 
298. 

MESKELO 

EssATOU 

TESFA GUIORGt-"lS 
Dont 

l\IETOOI 

ERBICHE 

\\'ELETE :\hCIIAEL 
TsEGA)l 

DAMENA 

EDJTELATIE 
\VELETEIS 
ASPAOU 
GACHOO 

TCHOUBETl 

YEtNEBERCH2 

00AKESDO 
jA)ADIE 

WEKERBECHE 
GutERSA:"i'l 

CHECHE.NIE 

SAOORO 
D!:NGHETIB 

GOUNBARO 
KABTICH)fER 

FRLEKETCH 

BELETTECHE 

!\·hACHE 

\\'ELETE SENDETE 

AYSSESSA?ol lDJOU 

\VELETE MARIAM 
Ssw TE:\tAMENE 

AMETE MARIAM 

DJEMANETCHE 
GUEBRE MARIAM 

KABTICHMRR 

MAMETTA 
TtBIEGNE 

B&LAINECHE 

GUETIE 

HEDP.SSA 

DJOTTOU 
WF.J.ETE MESKEL 
TcHAKA 
KABTICHMER 

AssEBKOU ZEMnvE 
lGDI 

YWANIE 
ZEFREGA 

CHIDOUTE 

Gue.t-ETA 
WELETE )!r.SKEL 

Suo 
S.s 

• 
• 

• 
Fern. 

• 
~lase. 
Fcm. 

• 
• 

1\la.'iC, 
Fern. 

• 
• 

Masc. 
• 
• 

Fern. 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
Fem. 

• 
• 

Masc. 

Ft·m. 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

l\bsc, 
Fern. 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Masc. 
Fern. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

!\lase. 
Fern. 

GOFF.-\ 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

AN KOBER 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

TCHITOU 

• 
• 
• 

• 
Sooo 

• 

• 

5 

.-\rt1d• du R·'~k'nk"nt 3.1'1'ti'lU~ 
!.'ltl c.~u~ ttC" hl.:Of""h'm 

.'\rlldll' <Jf (h(o i{t"J(llio\tMlS o\p}'li...J: 
or c.au"' of b~nb.lO. 

Art. IS 
Liht.'n5 ft'\.t ~~ln maitrt"- Lil~·r.\lt"l. hv ma.-..h•r 
Trarit· apn"-:-..1\\ht- Stl.vt··~h·.\hn~ ~lfit•r tht• Elllt.·t 
Jj\k·r(- p.a l.\ ju!«oh("e -l.iht·utnl hr tht.• ju~til-i.,l 

auth~.,,ritil':::. 

• • 

• 
Ori,!dnt•lihn•- Fn-c nrig:in 

• • 
• 

• 
• • 

Li!J~rCe p.1r la. ju-;tke- l.ilwr .th'tl hy tlw jlh.lki.ll 
authoritit•s 

• • 
• • 

Trafic apr~ l'l·,tit- Sl>l.'\·c·<lt·.:,hn~ ,,u~·r the El\ict 
LibCn.~ par son modtrc - l.iht•r-.lh'd by tna.'\tt.•r 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• • 
Liber~ p;.r Ia justice - Libcr.1ll·d by tin• 

jtulkial authoritit•s 
Art. (, 

P,u testament By will 

ltU! 

( l ll~9· JO) • 

.zo ~·plt•mhrt.• 
fc~vrh.:r 

• 

• 
' • 
• • 

Art. (> 

• • 
• • 
• • 

Art. 7 
• • 
• • 

Art. (, 
• 

• 
• 

• 

II. - LISTE DES ESCLAVES LIBERES com!U~IQU~;E TlcLE!;RAPIIIQUIDIE~T AU BUREAU CENTitAI. 
D'ADDIS-ABEBA PAR LES TRIBUNAUX SPECIAUX DE QlJELCJl'ES I'J(OVISCES. - LIST OF 
LIBERATED SLAVES CO~BIUNJCATED TELEGRAPHICALLY TO THE CESTRAL O~!'ICE 01' 
ADDIS-ABEBA BY THE SPECIAL CoURTS OF CERTA!l< PROVDICEs. 

WELLO 

Li('u, 
Place 

WELEGA GouoRou 
• • 

AROUSSI 

WELEGA ARD)O 

• • 
KAMBATA 

• 
ENE~IER 

• 
Lntou 
CHEIOU 
'VELtSSO 
KouLo 

Nombrc 
Number 

JI 
27 
40 
H 
Jd 
4' 
45 
>I 

17 
IS 

7 
I 
2 

24 

:\rtide du Rioclt'tnf"nt ~ppliqu~ 
oU C.."Ul'ie de libflratum 

Article of thf" l<f'JCHI.Iti•Jn.~ af'(•W:tl 
or cause of b!.w:r;.t, .. u 

LibCrL-s par ju~ticc - Liberatt:d by the judl(hl a.uth'lriti<:!t 

• 
~l.tltrcs condamne, - .Ma.stcrs scnt(:nct·d 

• 
• • 

Lil>Cn~ par ju.'iticc Liberated by the judicial authoritit·!f 

• • 
M.1itrcs condanmCs ~lasters Y.'nh:nccd 

• • 
LibCrL's par ju.;ticc - Liberated by the judici<il authfJrihi•!>J 

• 
• • 

• • 

11)22 

(I'Jl'J·JOJ• 

17 ~:ptcmhrc 

• L·annee Hhiopienne a une difference de quatre mois sur le n()uvcau style. -The Aby,...,ini< y~~ar tlifft"n by loor 
months from the new style. 

Annee ethiopienne 1922 (nou,reau style 1929-30), - Abyssinian )·ear 192.1 (nt:w dyle ,, 



IJea 
,_ 

n-· )1-

KoULO 4 
Goaa 3 
WaLJ:o.o Ano.oa 4 

• • 20 
L&OIITZ 16 
No110 18 
Gorr.o 51 

I • 45 
Kouoo 8 
CoNTA 30 
BIITCHO 2 

• 25 
Sooo 6 
DJIMA 45 
• 25 

Kar.o 45 

693 

-6-

Maltrel condamnis - Maoten sentenced 

• • 
I I 

LiWris par justice - Liberated by the judicial authorities 
• • 

Art. 6 
• • 

LiWris par justice - Liberated by the judicial authorities 
Art. 6 

Libo!ri!e par justice - Liberated by the judicial authorities 
I 

Art. 6 
I I 

I I 

• 

LiWri!e par justice - Liberated by the judicial authorities 
• • 

Date 

1922 
(1929-30)0 

III. LISTE DES DELINQUANTS CONDAMNES. - LIST OF OFFENDERS SENTENCED • 

• Artlcle cia R~lemeat appllqu6 ,., .... Lieu OQ cau• de cxmd•mnatioo Dale ,., .... l'laco Article ol the Reoulations applied 
m caUM of coovictke 

1922 

I, GRAZMATCHII REDia ADDIS-ABaBA' Art. 3t 
(1929-30) e 

•• WBLDB TcHBRKoa I • 32 
3· DBMBNA I • I 

4· GUIIBRIBR • • 31 
5· HAlLa MARIAM • • • 6. KABTHIMIIR • • • 1· LBTA et • • • 8. WIIOARJ • • • 9· WIILDJI SBLASSII • • 32 10. GUBBRII SADIIK • • • II, DOUBII W AKA • • • 12, WIILDII SBMAY AT • • • 13, BIIYIINJI • • • 14· SNOCORA • • • 15. WIILDBII I • I 16. DBITA I • 31 17. ABA Til • • 32 18. KIIBIIDII • • • 19. GUBBRII MARIAM • • • 20, MBNGHBBTIB • u. N ARB.\ DBST.l • • • 31 23. WBLDOU • • 2J. BBLATCHBOU • • • • •4· BADIBBO • 

I I 25. FaLBKII • 
26. MOHAMIIDII • • • • 27. AROAOU • • 
28. YZIINGAOU et • • • • • 8 29. GoUDBTA • 30, DIMO • • • Jl. BAJJtBDAGNB • 31 • 32· WAKAILLO • 32 • 33· WIILIITII Gu1oaouts • • • 8 34· CHAIIO • • 35· BZOUNBCHB • 32 
36. WBLDB GUJORGUJS • • 8 
37· A YBL& DJtRBSSBHB • • 32 
38. BIILIITTJIU • • 31 
39· GUBBRJI KtDAN • • • 
40· TIISSJIMA • • 32 
4'· MBSBQUIAOU • • I 

4•· TCHJIW BBLLA • • • 
43· ASSIIN • • • 
44· GUBBitll WIILDII • • • 
45· TIIBIIGII • • • 
46. TillS liMA • • • 
47· WORDOFA • • • 
48. DtLBO • • • 
49· Bousat • • 8 
50· BBRHANOU • • 31 
51· SVOUM • • 32 
5•· BIIRHANOU • • 8 
53· Kaa110a • • 32 • • • 

• L'annis 6thioplenne a une difl6~e~~ d . 
months from the new style ce • quat.e mOJS sur Je nouveau style. _ The Aby . • . 

Annis 6thio · ' SSllllan year dtffers by four 
paelUle 1922 (IIOUveau style 19•9-Jo), _ Abyssinian 

~ 1922 (new style 1929-JO). 



-7 

N""'" Lieq 
ArtXIe c1oa a.-t aPI'Iiqoof 

ou came de oarub-0' boa. Do .. N..,_ - ArtXIe .. U.O R.WO- applied 
- ... ol Cllavicliaa 

1902 

54· YHONB lDJOU ADDI5-AUB& 
(19•9-30) • 

Art. 32 
55· ABE BE • • • 56. WELETE GABRIEL • • • 
57· MExomrEN • • • 5a. BEYENB • • • 
59· YSIIAOU • • a 
6o. DBBELA • • 32 
61. BoULCHOU • • 31 
6z. TAFFESSE • • • 63. NEGATOU • • 32 
64. KEBBDB • • • 6s. ENDECHAOU • • 8 
66 ABBBB • • 32 
67. WELXB SIDAKO Conmovenant - Ollender 
68. ELEMA • Art. 33 et analogue - and similar 

articles 
6g. GUEBU 5ELASSB • • ~ 

70. WELDB 5ADIK • • • 
71. BBKELB • • • 
72. LEGUESSK • • • 
'13· WI!I'FISSA • • • 
'14· FOTTA • • • 
'lS· MITCHO • • • 
.,6. DoliiEKACHI • • • 
77· Bonxsso • • • 
.,a. TIEFPO • • • 
'19· KEBEDE • Art. 32 
So. ENDECHAOU • • 8 
81. ABBBB • • 32 
82. GUEBRE MARIAM • • • 
83. GUEBRE SELASSB • • • 
8 •. FATTOUIIA • • • 
as. ABRATESSBIIA • • 31 
a6. AREI!OU • • 12 
a.,. YEDIIIA • • 32 
88. TESSEIIA • • • 
a g. KIEDO • • 31 
90· ALBMA YEHOU • • • 
91. METRKOU • • 32 
92. ANKIBBO WELAMO • 31 
93· MEKONNBN • • • 
94· MEDELTCHO • Contrevenant - Ollender 

95· DwaNA • • • 
g6. BoULTCHA • • • 
97· YTCHA • • • 
g8. Boxo • • • 
99· KBBBDB • • • 

100. GUEBI!IBR • • • 
101. MBNltNIBR • • • 
toa. ZELIIKB • • • 
103. BBZA • • • 
104. ANIBBO • • • 
IOS. BALTCHA • • • 
to6. W.BRKOU • • • 
107. DELBEBIB • Art. 31 
roB. ADIBBO • • • 
tog. IMAM • • • 
110. DJOTBNA • • • 
III. BEZOU • •• • 
112. CBALBIIO • • • 
113. WALBMO • • • 
11-f. ALBMOV • • • 
us. MADIEBO • • • 
116. GUBBRB MARIAM • • • 
117. FBNTCHELIB WoLAMU • 32 
118. GALIBBAU • • • 
119. DJERSO • • • 
120. KoUTA • • • 
121..- AMA • • • 
122 .. DEBIB • • • 
123. DBGADO • • • 
124. LALI • • • 
us. MEDBLTCBO • • 31 
126. BLATIB • • • 
127. ABBBB • • • 
us. DJOTONIB • • • 
129. YAYA • • • 
130. BoUNARB • • • 
1:31. Soaaou • • • 
I32. BouaKIE • • • 

• L'~ ~thiopienne a nne dillmnce de qoatre mois sur 1e nonvean style. -l'be Abyssinian year dillen by fonr 
months from the new style. 

Ann~ ~thiopienne 1922 (nonvean style 1929-30). - Abyssinian year 1922 (new style 1929-.30). 
~ 



1)3· KABTNIIIIER 
134· BABIISO 
135. Ass au& 
136. MacRARIII 
137· ADIBO 
138. TADUOII 
139• YooTIII 
140· WATJIIO 
141· DJIPATIII 
142. ABIIBB 

143. SEBOU 
144. BovntE 
14,. DErnaSA 

146. HaNDlE 
147• WAYEISA 
148, EalfA 
149. NaMABA 
150. LallA 
1,1. AWAJI 
152. ABAIIOURAIIIID 
153• BITTAIIA 
154• SIWIIA 
155• FJTTJBB 
156. TcHEIIIIDII 
157• SIWBA 
158. RIISA' 
159· KENO 
16o. KoUNII 
161. BELATCHO 
162. WERKENIIH 
163. BIRKKA 
164. TCHEIIIIDII 
165. MIIKOURIA 
166. MEDEKSA 
167. FEIISA 
168. WIIRGU118A 
169. CHIRO 
170. Doun11R 
171, WRRKENIIH 
172· AlfNIIIBO 
173• BIITAIIIII 
174• Mouu.Tou 
175• WELDII MARIAM 
176, BIIKLO 
177• ADAMO 
178, GoUNDIII 
179· ILALIII 
18o, SIRA 
181, WIITIIPPO 
182, LoRITII 
183, TCHALIITD 
184. ANIIIBO 
185. BIIZoUNIICH 
186, DIISSALIIGNII 
187, GUIIBRIIIS 
188, TIILA 
r89, Douu. 
190. KIILBARIII 
191. Curro 
192, AGBTCHBR 
193· ARCHER 
194. Kou11ao 
195· BoUifARIE 
196, GUIINII:BQ 
197· TaoAILLo 
198. HoUNDIIISSA 
199, ABAILLO 
'100. BBRGATOU 
101. Aaoxta 
202. MOUKA 
:ZOJ. BALIINGUII 
204, GoTTA 
105, DJDP111 
lo6, SoNA 
207. l.ABENIB 
2o8, 0BOGODA 
209. GuaBRI: SBLASSa 
21o. TaaDAII. 
211. Avi:LB 
212, FJTTA 
213. EUArov 
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WOLAIIO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

NoNO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

WIILAMO 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
I 

I 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Contrevenant - Offender 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art. J:Z 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Contrevenanb aux r~lem~nts et 
aux 6dits -Offences agamst the 
Regulations and Edicts 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Art. 31 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• 
• • 
I • 

• • • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

Contrevenant - Offender 

• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 
• • 

• 
TCHIITTOV 

• • 
Art. 32 

• Art. 31 

• • • 
• • • 
• • • 
• • • 
• • • 
• • .. 

GoPPA • • 

Date 

1922 
(1929-30) • 

· • L'ann"' 6thiopienne a une dill6rence de quatre moD sur le nouveau style. -Tho Abyssinian year differs by four 
months from the new style. . 

Ann6e 6tbiopien11e 1912 (nouveau style 192!r30). - Abyssinian year 1912 (new style 192!rJO). . 
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IV. - USTE DES Dlh.JNQUANTS CONDAMNES COMMUNIQUtE TtJ.tGRAPHIQUEMENT AU BuREAU 
CENTRAL D'ADDI5-ABEBA PAR LES TluBUNAUX SPtCIAUX DE QUELQUES PROVINCES. -
LIST OF OFFENDERS SENTENCED, COMMUNICATED TELEGRAPHICAllY TO THE CENTRAL 
OFFICE OF ADDI5-ABEBA BY THE SPECIAL COURTS OF CERTAIN PROVINCES. 

WKL&GA CoUDitOU 
AltOUSSl 
KmiBAT. 
Ln<ou 
TCBJITTOU 
WBLIS 
KoULO 
Goltll 
WBLJIG• AliiJI 
UKIIJIITJI 
Co no 

23 
14 
68 

' 3 

' 42 
4 
7 

13 
2 

186 

Articlo .., R.,._t al'!'ilqa6 
OQ ~de 1 Mbaa 

Articlo .. 1M R-- appllool .... aea.vic:Uoa 

Contnownant - Offender 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• • 
• 
• 
• • 
• 
• 
• • 

Data 

1922' 
(•9•9-30) • 

Pour traduction conforme: 
(Sip/) C. A. SEBHAT. 

• L'ann~ ethiopie1111e a UJJe diBmuce de qnatno mois nr Je ~e:au otyle.- Tla(Abyoohliau year dill'en by four 
months from the DeW style. ,, 

Ann~ ethiopielme 1922 (nouveau otyle 1929-30); - AbyuiDiaD year 'l922 (DeW otyle 1929-301• 
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The Secretary-General has the honour to communicate to the Council and Members of 
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mitted to the Secretary-General on the instructions of his Government. 
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LETTER FROM THE PERMANENT DELEGATE 
OF THE REPUBLIC OF LffiERIA TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL 

OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS. 

(TrtJnslation.) 

Permanent Delegation 
of the Republic of Liberia 

Accredited to the League of Nations. 
LL1o7z 

Sir, 
Geneva, December 15th, 1930. 

With reference to my letters of September 16th and October 14th, 1929, February 8th 
and I5th and October 14th, 1930 ', I have the honour to submit herewith copy of the report 
on slavery and forced labour in the Republic of Liberia, which the International Commission 
of Enquiry, ~efore which the matter was laid by my Government on April 8th, 1930, has 
presented to 1t after five months' work. It will be seen from the report that the Commission 
of Enquiry finds : 

(1) That, although classic slavery carrying the idea of slave-markets and slave­
dealers no longer exists as such in the Republic of Liberia, there are cases of inter- and 
intra-tribal domestic slavery and cases of the pawn system; 

(2) That domestic slavery has always been disapproved of and discouraged by my 
Government, and that any slave who appeals to the courts for release or brings proceedings 
against his master for ill-treatment has always been declared free and emancipated ; 

(3) That there has been no evidence that leading citizens of the country have 
participated in domestic slavery, but that there is evidence that some Americo-Liberians 
have taken natives as pawns and have often criminally abused the system ; 

(4) That forced or compulsory labour has been made use of in the Republic of 
Liberia for public utility works (road construction, building of barracks, etc) ; but that, 
in certain cases, labour recruited by County Superintendents and District Commissioners 
for public purposes has been diverted to private use on the farms and plantations of high 
Government officials and private citizens ; · 

(5) That some of the contract labourers shipped to Fernando Po and French Gabun 
have occasionally been recruited under conditions of compulsion, bearing, in the view 
of the Commission, some slight resemblance to the slave-trade ; 

(6) That labour employed for private purposes on privately owned plantations has 
been impressed for this service on the authority of high Government offic1als ; 

(7) That the Vice-President of the Republic, the Honourable Allen N. Yancy, and 
other high Government officials, as well as County Superintendents and District 
Commissioners, have given their sanction for the compulsory recruitment of labour for 
road construction, for shipment abroad and for other work. 

In accordance with its terms of reference as laid down by my Government, which I 
previously submitted to you •, the International Commission of Enquiry has formulated 
suggestions and recommendations to which my Government has devoted close attention. 
On receiving the report, my Government promptly issued decrees and a presidential 
proclamation dated October ISt last, introducing a number of measures and effecting certain 
reforms, among which I may for the moment mention the following : 

{I) Recasting of native policy, complete reorganisation of the administration of 
the interior of the country with the assistance and cooperation of foreign specialist officials. 

(2) Introduction of the policy of" the open door " ; abolition of the barriers between 
civilised and uncivilised citizens, and institution of absolute freedom of trade. 

(3) My Government has just asked the United States Government to appoint 
two special commissioners to assist and co-operate in reorganising the administration 
of the interior of the country. 

(4) All domestic slaves in native tribes have been declared permanently free tJnl 
emtJnciptJtetl, domestic slavery in every form being abolished, declared illegal and prohibited 
under severe penalties. 

• Official Nos. C.446.19Z9.VI ; C.sto.M.170.1929.VI ; C.613.M.239-1930.VI ; Officilll ]t1fWfl4l 
of the League of Nations, NovembeJ 1929, pageo 168z, 1683 ; 1766, 1767 ; December 1929, 
pageo 1870, 1871; Augnst 1930, pageo 975, 976. 

I See my letter of October 14th. 19Z9, Official No. c.,Jo.M.I70,1929·VI, Officilll ,_fllll of the League 
of Nations, DecembeJ 1929, pageo 1870, 1871. 
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h b Pletely abolished, declared illegal and prohibited 
(5) The pawn ~ystem as een com 

under severe penalties. 

f 
h · . ·ng labour abroad has been completely stopped and abolished, 

(6) The system o s 1pp1 If 
declared illegal and prohibited under severe pena les. 

(7) My Government has introduced a number of health measures. 

· t · aged 1·n devising a plan for giving effect to the other 
(8) My Governmen lS eng . 1 C · · f E · 

d t . nd suggestions made by the Internabona ommJss1on o nquuy. recommen a 10ns a 

I shall have the honour of submitting to you copies of the laws, decrees and proclamations 
of my Government regarding these measures. . . . . 

I may state incidentally, that certain high Governm~nt offic1als, mcluding the Pres1dent, 

S .. c D B King and Vice-President Yancy, have res1gned. 
If • • • • 

Further measures will doubtless be taken, for my Government is.firmly resolved: (~)to 
take account as far as possible, of all the recommendations and suggestions of t~e Internahon:U 
Commission ~f Enquiry; (b) to make every effort to stamp out every vestige of ,dom~tic 
slavery the pawn system and forced labour, except for public works allowed bf the Convention 
abolishlng forced labour' adopted by the Inter~ational Labou~ Conference m 1930 ; (c) to 
take steps to promote the intellectual, moral, soc1al and economiC development of the country. 

It may also be worth while to recall that my Government has l~mg sine~ r~tified the Slavery 
Convention of 1926, and has unreservedly accepted: the Convention abohshmg forced lab~ur 
adopted by the International Labour Conference m June 1930, although that Convention 
was not accepted by all the members represented at the Conference. 

I may be permitted to allude here to what other Governments have sai~ ~t the Ass.embly 
of the League and at the last two International Labour Confere~c~s : (a). 1t IS very difficult 
to uproot in a brief perio.d of ~ime.imme_morial customs. and ~radit1<?ns wh1ch have been part 
of the social ~ystem of nat1ve tnbes m Africa; (b) ~>n certam Afncan tnbes forced '?r compulsory 
labour seems in many cases to have an educative effect, and, generally speakmg, forced or 
compulsory labour is sometimes indispensable for public works-as was indeed admitted by 
the last International Labour Conference. 

By hearing a number of witnesses, the Commission of Enquiry learned of isolated fa~ts, 
chiefly referring to the years 1919 to 1928 ; but these facts cannot be taken as representmg 
a general rule, and seem to have only a relative value, because, as .the Commission admits, it 
was working at an unfavourable period, when the subject uppermost in the public mind was the 
presidential election campa1gn ; for at such a time the most insignificant fact in any country 
may become an electoral weapon for one political party or another. The Commission has referred 
in its report to the extraordinary power of rumours, the existence of intrigues and secret 
manceuvres, the forging of documents, etc. Is the Commission quite sure that none of the 
witnesses it heard was swayed by political motives or influenced by the election campaign ? 

Furthermore, as the Commission's difficulties were aggravated during three months by 
the rainy season, it is to be feared .that difficulties were also encountered in ensuring the 
impartiality of witnesses. Far be it from me, however, to depreciate the great merits, the 
remarkable value of the Commission's work, and my Government's appreciation ; on the 
contrary, I desire to offer a tribute to the Commission and to ,express once again my 
Government's appreciation and profound gratitude to its members, especially Dr. Christy, 
the ~ember appointe~ by the Council of the League, and Dr. Charles Johnson, the member 
appomted by the Umted States Government, for the often difficult and delicate work they 
so successfully accomplished. 

. On the. other han.d, I am compelled to point out that a certain section of the Press, which 
1s s>:stematJcally ho.stile to the ~epublic of Liberia and is always on the lookout for sensational 
stones, ~as not hesitated to se1ze upon this present enquiry as an opportunity for misleading 
the pubhc by statements contrary to the truth. . · 

Out of .a large n~mber o~ cases I will mention only one. Several great dailies, which have 
the reputatiOn of be1nl? well mf?rmed and enjoy a certain degree of authority, have gone so 
~a~ ~s .to tell the ~~bhc thiU th1s Commission was set up in Liberia at the request and on the 
JniJJattve of the Bnt1sh Government. I have no idea where and when the British Government 
took the initiative in the matter, but I do know that that same British Government has 
always been, in the co!"munity o! nations, one of the Governments that have displayed most 
respect for the sovere~gnty ~nd mdependence of other countries, especially small countries. 
As I ha~ the honour of domg during the discussions in the Sixth Committee of several 
~ssembh~ of the. League of Nations, I would pay tribute here to the British Government for 
1ts c~mpa.Jgn aga.Jnst ~lavery,, a campaign which has earned the sympathy, appreciation and 
gratitude o_f ~ll mankind .. It 1s a pleasure to me to take this opportunity of again expressing 
my appr~clahon an~ grahtude to the Rapp?rteur at the Council Session of September 1929 
on m~ ~overnment s request for the appomtment of a representative to serve on the 
CGommiSSion. The Rapporteur was, in fact, the distinguished representative of the British 

overnment. 
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I would e~phas~e '!hat are matters of common knowledge : (a) it was the Legislature 
?f the Repubhc of L1~na and ~y Government that spottlatUOtiSly and voluttJarily decided, 
m June 1929, to submit th~ quest•on to '"' lttJmsational Commission of Enquiry; (b) in July 
1929, my Government dec1ded tha.t the Commission should consist of three members; (c) in 
August 1929, my Government dec1ded to ask the United States Government and the Council 
?f the Le~gue of ~ations each. to appoint one member of the Commission, my Government 
Itself havmg .appomted the thtrd member; 1 (d) in a letter of September 16th, 1929, my 
Government mformed the Council of the League of Nations of its decision to refer the matter 
to an ~n~ernational Commission of Enquiry,.and asked it to appoint its representative on the 
Comm1ss1on ; (e~ my Governm~nt spontaneously and volunJarily laid down the programme, 
terms and condih~ns of the enqutry; 1 U) on April 8th, 1930, the President of the Republic, 
the Honourable S1r C. D. B. King, set up the International Commission of Enquiry at the 
Executive Mansion in Monrovia. 

The facts can be readily ascertained by even superficially consulting the attached report, 
the Official] ournal of the League of Nations, or any impartial newspaper. 

Certain great daily papers have not merely ignored these facts, but forget what the 
impartial section of the Press has not forgotten-namely, that, notwithstanding the facts 
establi~h~d by the ~ommission, my Government is deserving of the sincerest gratitude and 
appree~atton for havmg been the first, and as yet the only, Government which, not contettJ with 
merely sending information written on paper to the League regarding the application of the 
Slavery Convention, has set an tmprecedented example of courage, and one worthy of imitation, 
and decided, on its own initiative and of its own free will, with frankness and honesty carried to 
excess, to refer to an International Commission of Enquiry, and even to empower that 
Commission to submit recommendations and suggestions. 

Again, certain lecturers have not hesitated to start a campaign to arouse public opinion 
against the Republic of Liberia by denouncing and cleverly exaggerating the cases of slavery, 
the pawn system, etc., established by the International Commission of Enquiry, as if such 
conditions existed in Liberia alone. 

Far be it from me to excuse Liberia by accusing other countries, but I should like to point 
out that, according to reliable information, it is common knowledge that in other countries 
than Liberia, not only do domestic slavery and the pawn system flourish, but there is also the 
system of selling children, in the strict sense of the word "selling", like ordinary goods on the 
market. It is common knowledge that in other countries than Liberia forced labour is in full 
force, and in one region unhappy wretches are forced to swim from the harbour to a vessel anchored 
in the open sea, carrying hundredweights of goods or heavy luggage on their backs. It is common 
knowledge that, in one region with a population of some ten millions, domestic slavery is not 
merely in full force, but is tolerated by the Government. It is likewise common knowledge 
that-as the distinguished representative of the British Empire at the last Assembly of the 
League, Lord Cecil, himself said-there are still no fewer than five million slaves in the world. 
I may add that, according to reliable information, there are no fewer than two million slaves, 
in the traditional sense of the word, in one single country which has signed the Slavery 
Convention. 

Certain newspapers, in particular, nave estimated the number of domestic slaves in Liberia 
up to September 1930 at 400,000, Even if this arbitrary and paradoxical estimate could be 
accepted, there would be no cause for surprise after what I have just said, especially when 
it is remembered that the population of Liberia is two million five hundred thousand, and 
that the absence of railways makes Government control difficult. 

In conclusion, I desire to emphasise the fact that almost the whole of the attached report 
deals only with conditions from. 1919 to 1928, and that these conditions no .longer exist ; 
in other words, the present report u not a contemporary report, but a report belongmg to the past. 

I have the honour once more on behalf of my Government to offer my thanks to the 
Council of the League of Nations, to yourself and to the members of the International 
Commission of Enquiry. 

(Signed Antoine SOTTILE. 

Charge d' Ad aires, Per~an.ent Dele~ate 
of the Republic of L•bma accredded 
to the League of NatioM. 

I See my letter to you of September 16th, 1929, official number C.446.1929.VI. 
I See my letter to you of October lofth, 1929. 
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INCEPTION OF THE COMMISSION. 

I~ 1922, t~e Third; Assem~ly of the League of Nations, on the proposal of the Sixth 
Comnuttee, dec1_ded to mclude 1!1 the agenda of the next Assembly the question of slavery, 
and by ~ resolution of U~:e ~ouncil steps were taken to study the question. Out of the interest 
the Anh-?lavery CommiSSIOn was formed, with the view of continuing the investigation of 
the question. On June 12th, 1924, the Commission was constituted by the Council with 
the following membership: M. DELAFOSSE (France), M. FREIRE d' ANDRADE (Portugal), M. GOHR 
(Chairman), (Belgium), Sir Frederick LuGARD (Great Britain), M. VAN REES (Netherlands), 
Commander RONCAGLI (Italy) and Mr. H. A. GRIMSHAW (International Labour Organisation). 
Its object, among others, was " to bring about, as soon as possible, the abolition of slavery 
in all its forms," and " to take all necessary measures to prevent compulsory labour from 
developing into conditions analogous to slavery ". 

All States Members of the League of Nations and non-member St~tes specified by the Council 
of tile League were invited to make observations regarding the programme of the Commission, 
appoint plenipotentiaries to the Assembly, make effort to adopt at once all possible measures 
in conformity with the provisions of the Draft Convention, and" to assist one another forthwith 
in the abolition of tile slave trade, slavery and conditions analogous thereto, by all practicable 
means, and in particular, by the conclusion of special agreements and arrangements". 

' ' 

In 1926, after the passing by the Seventh Assembly of resolutions approving the Slavery 
Convention drafted by its Sixtll Committee, all States Members and non-member States were 
invited to ratify the Convention. The opinion was at the same time expressed that any resort 
to forced labour for public purposes should be limited to the minimum, and the Assembly 
referred to the International Labour Organization the matter of studying the best means of 
preventing forced or compulsory labour from developing into conditions analogous to slavery. 
One prompt effect of the discussion and signing of the Slavery Convention was the promulgation 
of new legislation by a number of Governments, such as Abyssinia, Sierra Leone and the 
Portuguese African Colonies, with regard to slavery and forced labour. 

In course of the discussions of the Anti-Slavery Commission, the Government of Liberia 
had been cited as one of the countries in which conditions of a highly questionable nature 
existed. Most of the information was drawn from fragmentary evidence of participating 
members, from books and other accounts of travellers and students coming to their attention. 
REEVES, in " The Black Republic ", published in 1923, is a notable example of the open 
charges, although it should· be stated that the conditions described were founded upon 
observations made about 25 years ago. Lady Simons' " Slavery " deals at length with Liberia, 
alleging slavery as cited from second-hand accounts. In recent years the most notable reference 
is that which appears in Raymond BuELL's" The Native Problem in Africa", Awakening 
public interest in the question was noted in the frequency of discussions in botll tile American 
and European press regarding the existence of slavery or analogous conditions in the Republic of 
Liberia. The fact that this Republic had been founded as a refuge for American Negroes 
from this condition gave especial importance to the persistent charges, which assumed graver 
proportions during the year 1929. In keeping with the traditional policy of friendliness of the 
United States Government towards this Republic, the American State Department, on June 8th 
1929, directed a dispatch to the American Minister to be transmitted to the Secretary of 
State of Liberia. The Minister's memorandum, in part was as follows : 

" I am directed by tile Secretary of State to advise your Excellency that there have 
come to the attention of the Government of the United States from several sources 
reports bearing reliable evidence of authenticity which definitely in~cate that existing 
conditions incident to the so-called ' export ' of labour from Libena to Fernando Po 
have resulted in the development of a system which seems hardly distinguis~able from 
organized slave trade, and that in the enforcement of tiJis system the serVIces of the 
Liberian Frontier Force, and the services and influence of certain high Government 
officials are constantly and systematically used." : ·c 
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In his reply to the above dispatch the Secretary of State, Republic of Liberia, on June nth, 
1929, wrote as follows : 

"With regard to the specific allegations which haye been ma~e. I de~m it my dut_y 
to record my Government's solemn aJ?-d c_ategorical derual .of t~e eXIs~ence m the Repu~bc 
of such labour conditions as would JUShfy the charactenzahon which has been appb~d 
to these conditions in your dispatch, and to declare that the Government of the Repubbc 
will have no objection to this question being investigated on the spot by a competent, 
impartial and unprejudiced commission." 

In reply to this the American Department of State informed the Liberian Government 
that ; " The Government of the United States is gratified to learn that its friendly offices have 
been met by the offer on the part of Liberia to have this question investigated on the spot by 
a competent, impartial and unprejudiced. col!~ mission." . . . . . . . 

The Liberian Government's offer to mshtute a Comm1ss1on of mveshgahon havmg been 
accepted b7 the United States Government, .M. A. Sottile, Charge d'Affaires, Permanent 
Delegate o the Liberian Republic accredited to the League of Nations, in a letter to the 
President of the CotJncil of the League, on September 16th, 1929, wrote as follows : 

"As this campaign and these publications may influence the public, and especially 
members of the League of Nations, I have the honour to inform you that, in order to dispel 
once and for all even the slightest doubts, and in order to enlighten the League of Nations 
and the public, my Government has decided to put the matter into the hands of an 
International Inquiry Commission, which shall meet on the spot and, by means of an 
impartial, serious and detailed investigation, find out whether slavery or forced labour 
is or is not practised in Liberia. 

. . ;, The Libe~i;n G~v~.m~nt proi>o~e~ t~ f~r~ ~n .Inte~~ti~n~ .lnq~iry Co~~i~i~n: t~ 
be composed of three members : one member to be appointed by the Government of 
the United States; one member, as my Government hopes, to be appointed by the 
Council of the League of Nations; one member to be appointed by the Liberian Government. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

" .•. In order that the members of this Commission may be completely independent of 
the Li~eria~ Government, my Government has the honour to propose that the League 
of Nations Itself should pay the expenses entailed in the appointment and mission of the 
member appointed by the Council." 

This proposal having been accepted by the League Council, President King instructed the 
Se~retary of State to draw up Terms of Reference, and to arrange that the Commission should 
be mdependent. in character and international in its composition. · 

The Amencan Member, Dr. Charles S. Johnson; reached .Monrovia on March 8th the 
League of ~ations Member, Dr. Cuthbert Christy, arrived on .March 22nd. The Li~rian 
repres~n~ahve, ex-President Arthur Barclay, of Monrovia, was already in the country. The 
Comm15~10n was f?rmally constituted by President C. D. B. King at the Executive Mansion, 
Monrov1a, on April 7th, 1930. 
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INTRODUCTION. 

The constitution of the Commission by the President on April 7th empowered it to 
ascertain : 

(a) Whether slavery as defined in the Anti-Slavery Convention in fact exists in 
the Republic. 

(b). Whether this system is participated in or encouraged by the Government of the 
Repubhc. • 

(c) Whether and what leading citizens of the Country participate therein. 

(d) To what extent compulsory labour exists as a factor in the social and industrial 
econom:y: of the State, eit~er for[ublic or private purposes, and, if it does exist, in what 
manner 1t has been recrwted an employed whether for public or private purposes. 

(e) Whether shipment of contract labourers to Fernando Po under the terms of 
arrang.ement with Spain, or shipment of such labourers to the Congo or any other foreign 
parts 1s associated with slavery, and whether the method employed in recruiting such 
labourers carries any compulsion. 

(/) Whether the labour employed for private purposes on privately owned or leased 
plantations is recruited by voluntary enlistments or is forcibly Impressed for this service 
by the Liberian Government or by its authority. 

(g) Whether the Liberian Government has at any time given sanction or approval 
to the recruiting of labour with the aid and assistance of the Liberian Frontier Force 
or other persons holding official positions or in Government employ, or private individuals 
have been implicated in such recruiting with or without Government's approval. 

Under special provisions of the law (1926) of the Republic defining the powers of 
a Commission of Inquiry this Commission was authorised to issue summonses to witnesses 
and, if necessary, to enforce their attendance. At the wish of President King, with the 
full concurrence of the American and Liberian members, the League of Nations member was 
requested to serve as Chairman. Because of the peculiar nature of the Commission and its 
international composition, it was decided that only with full freedom of action could it carry 
out its investigation and make its findings. The particular instructions, therefore, with which 
it had been supplied were waived by the President, although accepted in many particulars 
as aids to carrying out that procedure which the Commissioners felt would be most effective 
to adopt. A proclamation was issued by the President embodying the Terms of Reference and 

' explaining the purpose of the inquiry. At the same time announcements that the sittings of 
the Commission would commence forthwith were dispatched to the principal towns and stations 
of the Republic. 

Sittings were held in chambers set apart in the Department of State, Monrovia. A st~ff 
was provided consisting of a Secretary, two stenographers, two messengers and two Frontier 
F~rce guards. These latter were deemed unnecessary and a possible in.timidat~on to native 
Wltnesses, and were shortly withdrawn. The role of secretary could not,m the Circumstances, 
be completely fulfilled. The stenographic record of the proceedings proved to be of value 
to the Commissioners in keeping before them a reasonably accurate account of the numerous 
depositions, and additional accuracy in this respect was assured by the Secretary to 
the American member. . . 

The first meeting of the Comrnissioa was held on April 8th, and the su'b!lequent three 
d~ys: sittings were occupied witll matters of procedure. Briefly it was agreed that persons 
w1sbmg to give evidence withia t}le limits of the Terms of Refef"ence should be :asked to do 10, 
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. . mons for a s ecified time. Persons thought or known to be acquainted 
each rece~vmg a sum. t h' h tle Commission was inquiring were summoned to appear and 
with particular facts m o w IC 
were questioned on oath. 

· f ·1· 'th English were permitted to bring their own interpreters. Official 
Natives un am1 Jar WI t b · on incidents under ents and in numerous instances private documen s, eanng up . . 

~~~~ion 'were made available when their existence was _known, and resp~ns_1ble <?ab~net 
officers and heads of Departments of Government were, m cou~se of the SJttm~, mv1ted 
to give evidence direct upon items o~ the T~rms of Refer~nce wh1ch concerned the1r sphere, 
as well as to offer clarification of vanous evidence otherwiSe presented. . 

The first sittings in Monrovia continued from April 14th to April 29t_h; af~er which the 
Lea ue of Nations and American members proceeded to Kakata som~ s1xty miles. from t~e 
M01frovia Coast, where, with a portion of the ~taff they heard the testrmony of natives, the1~ 
chiefs and sub-chiefs, who came in from sections nearby and ~ far. removed as four days 
walk. The Liberian member, Mr. Arthur Barclay, out of consideration .f?r advance~ yea_rs, 
though active in sessions in Monrovia, preferred not to undertake the VISits to the mtenor 
sections. 

On May 1oth the two Commissioners proceeded to Cape Palmas in Maryland County, from 
which point, at the other extremity of the Republic, they could r~ach .or be reache~ b;Y ~er~ons 
from both District 4 and 5 of the Hinterland, and Maryland and Smoe m the county JunsdJctlons 
on the coast. From Cape Palmas. they visited ~h~ee nath;e t~wns '?n the coast .. At Garraway, 
due to difficulties of transportation and the hm1ted penod ~n wh1ch observations were t? be 
made, they decided upon separate routes in order to cover a Wider area. The Lea~e of Nations 
Commissioner proceeded to Webbo by way of Gydetabo and Plebo, the Amencan ~ember 
taking a course from Grand Cess through .the Wedabo, Trempo~ a_nd Barrobo Sect10ns to 
the same point. They returned to Monrovia. on July 7th, and. s1ttmgs were. resumed and 
continued to the end of the four months' penod, August 8th, stipulated for th1s phase o~ the 
work. 

In the conduct of the hearings special effort was made to provide an atmosphere for 
giving testimony on all sides unhindered. The witnesses were carefully questioned, their 
statements further checked by such documentary evidence, official and otherwise, as was 
available to the Commission, and, so far as indicated in the itinerary of the Commission, 
through personal examination of the evidence in the sections in question. Although interpreters 
were selected with greatest care, and depositions in the native languages interpreted by 
sentences to ensure most faithful rendering, it is inevitable that a certain colouring should 
appear in the verbatim reports traceable to this difficulty. 

Both at Kakata and in Maryland County, natives were met in council with the chiefs and 
elders of the village. They selected their spokesman, gave assent to the statement of facts 
as given, and promptly interjected corrections where there was disagreement. At Kakata 
there more were than Boo in attendance. For the various meetings in Maryland County the 
number exceeded 3,000. 

In making its findings the Commission has had before it the recorded testimony of 109 
witnesses summoned before it in its Monrovia hearings ; 39 spokesmen for sections and towns 
at Kakata and u6 such spokesmen in Maryland County. Of these witnesses 20 were native 
Para.mount Chiefs, 82 sub-chiefs, 103 natives, 3 Cabinet Members, 26 public officials, including 
Justices of the Supreme Court, Senators, County Superintendents, District Commissioner 
etc., 18 Americo-Liberians, 9 Africo-Liberians, and others totalling 264 depositions. Of further 
help to the Commission were the informal interviews with a large number of persons in various 
parts of the country. These do not appear in the list of witnesses. 

. ~n giving proper significance to the content of this report several factors should be kept 
m_mmd. T.he la~ter.three months of the period of the inquiry fell within the season of the 
rams: . Wh1le th1s did not prevent movement it impeded it considerably as a result of the 
condition of the ~oads and path.s, and the co-inc~de~t fact of the farming season which occupied 
ma11:y of the natives at. some d1st~nce fr?m the1r villages_. !h~ road. programme was in many 
~echons suspend~d durmg the entire penod of the Comm1ss1on s sess10n, and, except in special 
mstances noted m the report, full observation of operations could not be made on the spot. 

The Commissioners ha~e ~een aware _that the _signifiance of their presence in any section 
would tend. to prompt restnchon of spec1al practices likely to be criticised. Again, the state 
of records. m many of the bureaux, made it very difficult to confirm or amplify testimony 
and the Virtual absence of records and statistics for any of the towns made it difficult t~ 
carry out any study of native social conditions. ' · 

~n the evidence presented there is a good deal which, though a related part of the testimony 
s~ugC t un~e~ t~e ~e~ms of. Ref~rence, might yet be considered an unwarranted extension of \J ohmmJ~on s lim1t~ of mqwry .. In meeting this an attempt has been made to incorporate 
o Y t a~ eVIdence wh1ch seems VItally related to the major issues under concern Another 
Tht less rm.po~tant and som~what unique factor has been the extraordinary force of rumours . 

. e h'ommJSSJon feels tha~ 1t s~ould a~ the very outset indicate its awareness of frequently 
miSC 1evous currents of discuSSion, which on occasion reached the embarrassing extreme of 



forge~ doc~ments p~rt~~g to be ?fficial papers of the. Gove,rnments represented in the inquiry 
and unputmg spec1al political des1gn. In the Comm1ssion s effort to avoid these intangible 
entangleme.nt~ stress has been placed throughout upon the direct experience of the deponents. 
The Coi_Dm1ss1on, !urther •. ~as found some difficulty in disentangling evidence of fundamental 
economiC ~d social conditions from an extravagant emphasis upon politics in the Republic, 
an emphasiS accentuated by the nearness of the Presidential election, with numerous factions 
active. 

A problem has been presented regarding the use of names in the report. The material 
for the first section dealing with slavery and analogous practices, represents in large part the 
following up, in different parts of the country, of conditions mentioned together with names in 
testimony given in Monrovia. . 

Although the sittings were held in camera, the names of those testifying and of those 
mentioned in the testimony was known. Moreover, in other aspects of the cases considered 
many of these names have come to attention in complaints officially registered. Consequently 
it bas not been thought necessary to delete these names from the Report. In the forced labour 
section, however, the material for which was gathered from villages along the coast and in the 
interior, when the Commissioners travelled unaccompanied by any Government officials, it 
is a different matter. It would obviously be an injustice to disclose the names of those who 
testified. Names have accordingly not been mentioned in the latter section. The keynote of the 
inquiry has been throughout the future welfare of the country. 

Acknowledgements are due to President C. D. B. King for personal assistance and 
consideration; and both to officials of the Government and citizens of the Republic who have 
facilitated the work of the Commission by affording information, access to records, and by 
suggesting names of those who could testify before it or who could contribute to an 
understanding of special conditions. The CommillSion has also to thank Mr. W. D. Hines 
and the Firestone Company for valuable transport and other facilities much appreciated by 
the Commissioners. 

The form which this report takes falls into two major divisions : (a) Slavery and analogous 
practices, and (b) forced labour for public and private purposes. And because of our Terms 
of Reference they are so grouped. It is within the competence of the Com.mission to ma~e 
recommendations. These fo~:Iow t.he fact~al outlay an~ represent ~he best_Ju~gment of th1s 
Commission upon the facts gtven, 1n sufficient deta1l, to md1cate the1r own s1gn1ficance. 
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SLAVERY AND ANALOGOUS PRACTICES. 

Terms of Reference: 

(a) Whether slavery as defined in the Anti-Slavery Convention in fact exists in 
the Republic. 

(b) Whether this system is participated in or encouraged by the Government of 
the Republic. 

(c) Whether and what leading citizens of the Country participate therein . 

• < • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 0 0 • • 0 • • • • • 0 • • • • • • • • 

(e) Whether shipment of contract labourers to Fernando Po under the terms of 
arrangement with Spain, or shipment of such labourers to the Congo or any other foreign 
parts is associated with slavery, and whether the method employed in recruiting such 
labourers carries any compulsion. 

o o o o o o 0 0 o 0 o o I 0 0 o o o o 0 o 0 o 0 o o 0 0 o 0 0 0 o 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

The definition of slavery as formulated by the Anti-Slavery Convention admittedly avoids 
detailed description for a comprehensive formula. In its present form it leaves little room 
for distinguishing between degrees of restrictive freedom, a circumstance common in Africa, 
and as between various tribes in Liberia. The difference has great importance to the present 
inquiry for the reason that it becomes extremely tedious to distinguish certain forms of 
restrictive freedom in the European sense, from phases of characteristic social systems in 
Africa. The status in which " any or all of th. e powers attaching to the right of ownership are 
exercised ",becomes, thus, as a definition against which to make judgment in a given condition 
in Liberia, too inadequate in one sense and too comprehensive in another. Powers attaching 
to the right of ownership, for example, are as much involved in customary recognition of the 
authority of the chiefs, and of native marriage as in adoption or in milder forms of domestic 
slavery generally. The concept of slavery most commol). in the literature of abolition is that 
of an institution, involving a commercialized traffic, slave raiding, transfer by sale, inheritance 
or gift, and characterized by exercise of all rights of ownership. The fact, however, that forms 
of domestic and predial slavery, and even compulsory labour, are associated with the definition 
and with the discussions of slavery tends to confirm the importance given by the Convention 
to these forms of slavery in status while calling them at times by other names. For, whereas 
slavery in its most.rigid aspect with inhuman methods of capture and trade is admittedly 
tending to disappear in Africa, as between certain forms of domestic slavery as practiced by 
some tribes and compulsory labour as a sequel to more civilized measures of dtrect exploitation, 
the grosser features are more often now to be found attached to the latter. But here, however, 
the temporal feature is not noted in the definition. It becomes a question whether raiding, 
capture and exchange for money according to the will of the master, and constituting a 
condition exactly analogous to slave raiding, slave dealing and slave trading, but usually 

· for a limited period, rather than for the life time of the subject, are to be classed with domestic 
slavery as practiced among tribes, which, in its present commonest forms, does not appear 
to be as inhumanely exacting. There is the further question whether practices restnctive 
of the liberty of persons and analogous to slavery, which are apparently temporary but tend 
to become permanent in practice, from lack of power of legal redress on the part of the person 
involved, are reasonably to be viewed as slavery proper. . 

The Rapporteur of the Assembly Committee responsible for the drafting of the Convention 
has explained that reference to domestic slavery and similar conditions are omitted because 
it was believed that such conditions came within the definition of slavery contained in the 
first article and that no further publication of them in expressed terms was necessary. This 

• 
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all those conditions mentioned by the Temporary 
applies not onl,y t.o do~eshc slav~ry ut t slaving of persons disguised as payment of dues, 
Slavery CommiSSion, J.e., debt s avery, en . 

etc. · 'fi f 
L'be · h s recently had occasion to classify a spec! c set o 

The Attorney General of 1 r!a ~f a re rted raiding of villages and forcible capture 
acts as slaye tra~ling .. On ~e occasJO~ for shi~ment out of the country, he gave instructions 
of natives m the mtenor of _moet oun ~e labourers must be apprehended and prosecuted for 
that the "_persons endeavl obrmg o ~oe~ibly detained and deprived of their liberty must be 
slave tradmg, and that a ourers or.. . . 
released upon a writ of habeas corpus. 

· · · f the Anti-Slavery Convention as signed by 36 Governments Two 1mportant prov1sos o .. . ' bo n s 'bl · · d s t Government, were to bnng a ut . . . as soo as po Sl e 
and ratified by the_l}'mte ta es 'n all its forms" and "to take all necessary measures to 
the complete albohhon fof sladvrl ~r from developing into conditions analogous to slavery". 
prevent compu sory or orce a o _ . 

The Commission, after carefully considering many sets of evide~c~,embo.diedin d?cuments, 
· d d f 1'ndividual observations of the CommiSSIOners m the hmterland, 

testimony an recor s 0 · f th c fon And while it 
finds itself, in point of its findings, betwee!l t~e two pr?vJsofs oh de fi o_~yen ~ : 1 d 1 
feels that it would be quite justifiable, w1thm the h~1ts o. t e e m JO~, ? me u e ~ a~ge 

t . f 't d ta and observations under item (a) m the mterest of ach1evmg the objective 
por Jon o 1 s a 1. · 'f 1 · 11 't f s " it has decided f th Convention " to bring about the abo 1hon o s avery m a 1 s orm • . . .. 

-~o gr~up its evide~ce which shall be the basis of its findings under the followrng dJVJsJons : 

A: Common Slavery. 

I. Oppressive forms of slavery involving. a co!Dmercialized traffic, and transfer 
of slaves and their offspring ~y sale, gift or mhentance. 

2. Domestic slavery as practised inter-tribally ll;nd intra-tribal~y in. Liberia, 
involving full proprietary rights, and related to the socml system of tnbes mvolved .. 

3· Pawning. 

B. Oppressive practices restrictive of the freedom of persons, constit~ting conditions 
analogous to slavery and tending to acquire the status of common or classic slavery. 

The Commission is convinced that the " definition " of slavery is not so important to the 
welfare of Liberia and all of its people, as the study of the conditions themselves, with a vi~w 
to their ultimate correction, and is therefore content to let the facts both speak for and class1fy 
themselves. 

A. CoMMON SLAVERY. 

A constitutional provision in the Government of the Republic of Liberia prohibitsslavecy 
and the recognition of the status of slavery. ' 

Domestic Slavery. 

The constitution of Liberia and the Government, it appears, have until recently .applied 
effectively only to the civilized elements of the population, living near the coast and numbering 
about xo,ooo. Jurisdiction over the interior began only about 25 years ago and only with this 
jurisdiction came any measure of regulation or even important knowledge of the customs of 
tribes living within the boundaries of the country. Moreover, captives in inter-tribal wars 
have been the chief source of slaves and many of them continue in their status as captive 
slaves. No estimate of the number, however, is possible. There is in the country neither 
registration nor census of free or dependent classes of the population. Whereas slavery as such 
has no legal status in Liberia, so long as pawning has, the substitution is easily effected and the 
result essentially the same. 

The only methods discerned by which the practice of inter-tribal and intra-tribal domestic 
slavery has been dealt with by the Government have been : 

(a) Statements by the President at various Conferences with chiefs in which 
he empha~ized the c~nstitutional provision against slavery, acknowledged the need of servants 
and. perm1tt~d pawnmg.as a substitute. This statement at best could only discourage further 
taki~g. bu.ru~g and selling of slaves and not release those already held. The decision of the 
Pre_SJdent, ~t IS held by the Attorney General of the Republic, has not the validity of legislative 
action and JS only a temporary expedient pending legislation. Such legislation has been strongly 

:.Article I, seetion 4- Constituti_on o~ the Rep~hlic of Liberia. 
. There shall he no slavery w1thm th1s Repubbc; nor shall any citizen of this Republic or any person 

re .. <lent therem, deal in slaves either within or without this Republic, directly or ind1rectly." 
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recommended and with some popular support, but, on the objection of chiefs, the issue was not 
pressed: .. As a consequen~e .there has .been no statute enacted which abolishes the status, 
unless 1t IS as~umed that 1t.1S covered m the constitutional provision. In this case it would 
appe3:r that smce the fr.ammg ~f. the .Constitution the Government either could not or was 
not d1sposed to enforce 1ts provisions m the interior. 

(b) ~he £eleasi~g of slaves when.brc;mght to court. A certain meagreness appears in this 
provisiOn, m the t~shmonY: of th~ ~ffic1~ m charge of the court of Native Appeals, to the effect 
that tl~e only. gu1de to his .dec1s1ons m such cases was the verbal instruction to release 
complamants 1f there was evidence of cruel treatment ; that few cases reach his court. 

. It ap~ears to the ~ommissio~ quite unnecessary to elaborate extensively upon the existence 
of mter-tn~al domeshc slavery, m view of the recognition of this in the official documents of 
the Rep~blic. ~n 1923 the Attorney General of the Republic (Grimes) made the following 
observation, wh1ch he repeated before the Commission in 1930 as a situation unchanged. 1 

The tribes :~:mong whom dom~stic slavery was most common were the Vais, Kpellis 
(Kpessehs), Boos1es, and to a certam extent, the Bassas, and it is not unknown among the 
otliers with the exception of the Krus and the Grebos. These captive slaves may be redeemed 
by relatives or others on payment of specific sums. Between 1912 and 1920 the redemption 
price for women was £4.0.0. and for men £3.0.0. Since 1920 the price for women has been 
£6.o.o. and for men £3.0.0. 

The Secretary of the Departmen~ of the Interior has testified that only when cases are 
brought to attention through a complaint, is the prohibition given force. The judge in charge 
of the Court of Native Appeals testified that the only guide to action in the matter of handling 
cases of domestic slavery was the verbal instruction of the Secretary of the Department of the 
Interior and his knowledge of the statement made by the President at the Suehn Conference. 

That cases of domestic slavery are current and come to the attention of the Court in 
Monrovia which handles matters only within the County Jurisdiction, is supported by the 
fact that a case of a Vai seeking release from a Gollah was presented during the month in 
which this testimony was given. · 

1 Reporl and Opinions of L.A. Gri~s, Attorney-General of Liberia. 1923; page 9. 

" For several years there has been a growing agitation in favour of a strict enforcement of the 
Constitutional provision that : 

" 'There shall be no slavery within this Republic ; nor shall any citizen of this Republic, or anr, 
~rson resident therein, deal in slaves either within or without this Republic, directly or indirectly. ' ' 
(:See Constitution of Liberia, Article I, section 4.) 

" In "justice to everybody concerned I must state (1) that the system of domestic servitude in vogue 
is- not confined to Liberia, but is more or less prevalent throughout West Africa. (2) That it ill radically 
different from slavery of the kind that existed in Europe and the Western Hemisphere up to the middle 
of the 19th century. Independently of the horrors which in the United States followed in the wake of this 

· • curse of curses ' the effect even in Western Africa was that : 

" • Clan feeling and clan hospitality becoming weakened began to decay . . . The solitary 
traveller was no longer safe. The hunter w~o had wandered too far from home in pursuit of game, 
the farmer on his secluded farm, women gomg to market or to the sprmg were ruthlessly captured 
and sold into foreign slavery. Then it was that parents spurning all hofy impulses and dead to natural 
Jove and affection, sold their very offspring into foreign ~?ondage. B~t. through lire and sword and 
bloodshed, which desolated many a prosperous village, am1d all the wa1bngs of the unhappy caphves 
the distinction between the alien slaves and native bondsmen was well marked, and never once do we 
hear any native in bondage called a slave, a Bokor. ' (See F. C. L., pagee 7-8.) 

" Domestic servitude in Africa is, and always was, of an entirely different character. Here the servile 
relationship may arise from one of three reasons; either :where unprotected.peasant.•, or perso'!s.whoa~e 
Impoverished commend themselves to a more powerful neighbour forprotechon or aostena!'ce, gJVIng their 
services in return ; or (2) where persons burdened with debt pledge themselves and the1r belongmgs to 
one who could and would pay ; or (3) those who in return for some: great service rendered them, the1r 
relations or ancestors are bound to serve their benefactor and his fam1ly. 

" Though the services of these persons are transferrable from master to master still the relationship 
was more akin to that of lord and vassal in feudal times; all of them havmg been treated as members of 
their master's household and not a few have succeeded as heir to their master's estate. 

"Still there are so.:.e of our people who contended in previous administra~ions .that all involuntary 
restraint should be immediately prohibited ; and as they were legally correct m sa1d contention ~~uld 
have forced the measure through but for the determined opposition of most of the leadmg abongmal 
chieftains of all the principal aboriginal tribes. 
. "What we now suggest as a means of gradually educating.o~r a~>?riginal people.o_p to the ideal~~: 
m our Constitution is that inasmuch as all of that class of our c1tuens t11 rapidly acqmnng property, 
personal and real, of constantly increasing value, a statute J>c: passed fo~bidding them t? pawn any human 
being, and the officials of our Interior administration be directed to mstruc;t them •. 1n. cas~. of need, to 
pledge their goods and chattels, or should they be insufficient, to mortgage the1r lands m heu, 
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Individuals were brought to the notice ~f the Commissioners, one in Monrovia and one in 
District No. 1, who brought young person~ from the hinterland and received in return for the 
sale of their indefinite services sums varymg from [4.0.0. to £6.o.o. One of these men was 
recently appointed paramount chief. · 

There is in present customary law recognition of two classes of persons who may be 
pawned: slaves and free born. The Message of President King for the year 1929 in commenting 
upon the charges of slavery in Liberia, makes the observation that" traffic in human beings 
has disappeared except in isolat~d cas~s ~hich hav~ been c~m~emned ~~ the Govemme~t 
and punished when brought to 1ts notice , and pomts to s1milar conditions of slavery m 
adjacent territories to Liberia. The disappearance of this form of slavery is thus made contingent 
upon the extension of jurisdiction in the hinterland, which at present is handicapped by the 
financial condition of the country as well as by the type of officials available for service in the 
hinterland. ' 

The Commission has no evidence that there is traffic in slaves or slaveholding by Americo­
Liberians in the classic sense involving all of the rights of ownership, but there is evidence 
that they have taken natives as pawns, certain extreme cases in which the system of pawning 
has been excessively abused ; and, by certain individuals of important position in the 
Government, forcible deprivation of the liberty of native subjects under conditions hardly 
distinguishable from slavery of the most oppressive type, hereinafter to be described. 

Pawning. 

Pawning is recognized by the Government of Liberia as an old native custom. In substance 
it is an a~ang~ment .by which, in. retur~ for m.oney, .a human being, usually a child relative, 
may b.e g1ven '!I ~erv1tude for an mdefimte penod, Without compensation to the person held, 
and Without pnvilege. ~oth slave an~ free born may be·pawned, the distinction being in the 
characte~ of the to.ken g~ven, a leopard. s toot~ for free born, a piece of metal or mat for a slave 
paw!!• ~!tho~t wh1ch .the transaction, m the JUdgment of the Government of Liberia, is" slave 
dealing . W1th or ~th~ut the token the effect upon the person held, is, of course, the same, 
A form of contract IS g~ven. 

" Gbowah Compound 
Bharzon Dist - 4 

May 25th, 1928. 

" This is to certify that I Sidi Weah at Gbowah Section have pawned one girl and 
on~ .boy to ?ergea~t Johnny Williams until the amount [13.10 thirteen pounds ten 
shillings sterling whtch I due him be pay to him at any time. 

Witness 
Moses : S. Weah 

Approved 

Principal 
Side Weah 

J. C. Phillips 
. D. C. Coast 
District L. F. F. 
23, May, 1928" 

INTERIOR DEPARTMENT 
Liberian Hinterland 

Bharzon Station 
August 24, 1928. 

" This is to certify that one Mynabe f th B t S . . 
presence pledge his daughter b name f 0 e a u echon, District No. 4, did in my· 
full and just sum of (£s.o.o.) F!ve poun~s ~eni? t~ l~t Sergt. John!ly .Williams, for the 
the date the amount was paid, or al ally ot::~i~~. 0 e redeemed w1thm two weeks from 

(Signed) 
District Commissioner 

Acting." 



-15-

Because of the customary and necessary intermediation of a third person, it is not 
customary or usual that pawns redeem themselves although in 1923 the President decreed th t 
"pawns may_ redeem themse~ves :·. 1 The stipulation that the pawn must give his consent ~s 
~urther questtonable as. a~eliorahon of the status, since most of the pawns are children and 
mcapable bot~ under Civilized and native law of giving consent. 

The relation of the system of pawning as practi~ed in Liberia to the Convention's deli 't" 
of slavery may be recounted as follows ; m Ion 

. (I) The person pawned cannot be redeemed except through the intermt>diation of a 
thtrd party. 

(2) All the labour of the person pawned belongs to the holder of the pawn. 

(3) The duration of the contract is indefinite. 

(4) In practice it is impossible foc a person pawned to redeem himself. 

(5) The only distinction between pawning and slave dealing in the view of the 
government itself, is the passing of a token. · 

(6) Holders may have female pawns to wife. 

(7) The price of a pawn is the price of a slave. 

(8) If a pawn run away or die the holder is entitled to the money given for him or 
the replacing of the pawn. ' 

(9) A pawn may be repawned by the holder. 

(10) If a woman in pawn is taken to wife by any other than the holder of the pawn 
such holder is entitled to compensation of £J.O.o. 

In practice, persons may be sold under the guise of pawning by the simple secret agreement 
that the pawn will never be redeemed. It has been competently testified before the Commission 
that when the natives who require slaves as a part of their social economy learned that the 
Government did not recognize slavery, the form of transfer was changed without affecting 
the result of the deal. Later tribal pawning lessens the chance of redemption. Instances are 
noted of persons remaining in pawn for a period of 10, 40 years and for a life time. A 
pawned woman was presented to the Commissioners at Kakata who had been held in pawn 
for six years for the sum of fi.o.o., repawned by the holder and unable to secure her release. 
One of the Commissioners was presented with a case of a man of forty who had been pawned 
as a child, the pawner dead and no hope of redemption remaining for him. 

Direct evidence of the current practice of pawning and of its effects, If required, may be 
drawn from the following sworn instances : 

(a) Jadgua, a headman from· Kanga, living near Royesville, fined [18.0.2 for road 
delinquencies, pawned his wife and child for £7.0.0 to one Kankawah. They have been in 
pawn five years without prospect of redemption. 1 

· (b)· Johnny Carr, town chief of Bengonow, fined £17.12.6 for road delinquencies, pa~ned 
his son to one Kamapu, and a coffee farm, two years ago without prospect of redemption. 1 

(c) Varnai Quai, a headman from Baimeh, fined for road delinqueJ?cies and for failur~ 
to provide carriers, £17-5-0., pawned two sons for £8.o.o and £,7.0.0 respectively to one Karpah 
in Weijo two years ago without much prospect of redemption.' 

(d) Jallah, of Teh Section, fined £5.o.o· for road delinquencies, pawned his .son to one 
Mr. Law, an Americo-Liberian for £s.o.o., two years and four months from April 21, 19,30. 
The boy ran away after four months, and court costs for returning him increasedhisredempt10n 
fee by £7-IJ.O. For each day the boy was away the court decided he had to pay to the holder 
one shilling. • • 

(e) Varnie, from Teh Section, fined [14.0.0 for road delinquencies, pawned his sister 
to one Vombo in Zodie for £J.O.o. She has been a pawn for two years.' 

1 See Departmental Regulations, page S· 
1 A 160 Testimony of J adgua before the Commission in Monrovia April zsth, 1930. 
1 Testimony of Johnny Carr before the Commission in Monrovia April zsth, 1930. 
• Iestimony of Varnai Quai before tbe Commission in Monrovia, April zznd, 1930. 
• Testimony of Jallah before the Commission in Monrovia, Aprilzut, 1930. 
• Testimony of Varnie before the Commission in Monrovia, April zut, 1930. 
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C t Attorney in Sinoe County acknowledged to having 
(/) Judge Witherspoon when oun Y . , . 

released 14 pawned children at Nana Kru by wnt. _ . · 

. f 5 beh pawned his child to pay fine of £2o.o.o imposed . 
(g) Paramount Ch1ef Nyola o eng . 

by President King. • . 

h
. f d h admen of Sengbeh pawned their children to pay fine of 8412.00 

(h) Ten town c 1e san e . 
for road delinquencies. • 

h" f f Boporo fined S317.00 testified to pawning to secure 
(i) Chief Yarkpazeur, town c 1e 0 • ' 

money for fines and taxes. ' 

h. f · th K k ta Section testified to· pawning his children and others of (j) A town c 1e m e a a • . 
his people pawning their children to pay fines. 

(k) A witness, before the Commission at Kakata, testified to having pawned his child 

for tax money. 

(l) A town chief o! Kakata, before the Commission at Kakata testified to his people's 
placing their children in pawn to Vais to get money for food and fines. 

(m) In Bassa County there were frequent citations of. pawning, one J?-Otable example 
of which was an abuse of the system for profit involving civilized persons m the f~lloWlng 
manner : A man will take a number of women in pawn _an? place the_m at 'York on h1s farm. 
They in turn are encouraged to entice young men into mhmate relattons wtth them and the 
young men are immediately seized, fined and made to work out the amount of the fine on 
the farm. 

Again, although Justices of the Peace are appealed to by pawns il;nd if they have served a 
considerable period and show evidence of cruel treatment are sometimes released on general 
principles by the Justice, though without the_ strict support of the law. There h~ve been 
instances reported, however, of the holder of a pawn turning over a pawn to the Justice of the 
Peace to pay the cost of court litigation and if the pawn should rWl away he has recourse 
to a fine upon the family of the pawn. · · 

A bill introduced by D. Twe to curb the practices of pawning was passed by the House 
but killed in the Senate in 1928. 

B. OPPRESSIVE PRACTICES RESTRICTIVE OF THE FREEDOM OF PERSONS, CONSTITUTING 

CONDITIONS ANALOGOUS TO SLAVERY AND TENDING TO ACQUIRE THE STATUS OF CLASSIC 

SLAVERY. 

Sinoe. 

I. Forcible recruiting and shipment of native labour to Fernando Po from the County 
of Sinoe, with the aid of Fron_tier Force soldiers, armed messengers and certain Liberian· 
Government officials proceeded under Samuel Ross of Greenville as late as 1928, when he was 
appointed Postmaster General of Liberia. After his transfer to the Capital, and as Postmaster 
General, he continued his recruiting in Monrovia and Montserrado County, sending native 
boys to Sinoe for transhipment, despite, or in evasion of the law prohibiting exportation of 
labour out of the country from Montserrado County. There is convincing evidence that forced 
shipments were made from Sinoe County as early as 1924 when boys were sent down to Mr. 
Ross by Captain Howard under armed guard, with rice ostensibly for sale, kept under guard 
until the arr~val of the Spanish steamer for Fernando Po and shipped. The incident 
was reported m that year to the Secretary of the Interior and to the President by P. C. 
Lemand!ne, then. J?istrict Comrnissione~ for Sinoe County, stationed at Sikon. The raiding 
and forctble recruiting were repeated dunng the same year until a number estimated as between 
6oo and Boo had been: ~o del~vered. The District, Commissioner -who protested alleges that 
he was recalled from his station and eventually relieved of office. 

2. Some time betw~n. August 1st . and September 21st, 1927, Ed. H. Blackett, 
a Quarterm~ter for ~omm1ss10~er Watson of District No. 4• was ordered by D. C. Watson 
to capture Wit~ the atd of soldters a large number of natives from the towns in his section, 
secure and del~ver them to Mr. Sammy Ross in Greenville, Sinoe. Each native was to carry 
a ~amper of nee to be sold, and, in addit~on, his own food. Blackett caught 330 men and 
delivered them.to Mr. Ross. The~ were earned across the river, confined in a special compound 
reserved for thts pu~i><?se, and shtpped on the S.S. San Carlos the following day. The evidence 
heard by the Comm1ss10n leaves httle doubt of the truth of this incident. 

:Testimony of H~n. J. J. Witherspoon before the Commission, Monrovia, Apri115, 1930. 

1 
Test1mo_ny of Chief Nyola ":fo~e the Commission April 25th, 1930. 

1 
See teshmony before Commission, Monrovia, April 25, 1930. 
Teshmony of Chief Yarkpazeur before the Commission. 
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It is cited by D. Twe, whose boy, Ganta by name, was one of the group tied and carried 
aboard the San Cf!rlos and ~hipped. A passenger on th~ Salt Carlos, J. R. D. Padmore, seeking 
to go ashore at Smoe was mformed by one of the shi~s officers that their stop would be only 
long enough to take on " some labourers for Fernando Po." He observed Ross and the 
Honorable Phillip F. Simpson, a member of the House of Representatives with police and 
these labourers, " some of whom had to be pushed on." Senator Roberts ~f Sinoe observed 
these boys en route to the compound of Ross under the escort of soldiers " two soldiers after 
every_ ten boys." Mr. Cass Pelham, a son-in-law of Ross, escorted the'm on board. Jacob 
DennlS, employed by Ross as a guard, gave similar testimony to which was added the fact that 
despite vigilance ten of the boys escaped during the night from the compound. Further 
witnesses of this fact were Justice Grigsby, of Sinoe, then Superintendent of the County, and 
Blackett, the Quartermaster who, armed with instructions, captured, tied and brought the 
boys to Greenville presenting them to Ross. 1 

On the 21st of September, 1927, Blackett was again ordered by D. C. Watson to take 
soldiers and capture as many male natives as he could, not exceeding 2jo, and deliver them to 
~ammy R?ss for sh~pme~t to Fernando Po. Eac~ man was to take one hamper of cleaned 
nee ostensibly for h1s rahons. Blackett took sold1ers and caught 250 men who were in turn 
delivered to Ross. 

Chief Nomeh, of Sikon in Sinoe interior, confirms the visit and forcible capture of his 
men, stating that Blackett flogged and tied all who refused to go with him and took away about 
" four boat loads " ; and that his people ran into the bush. Later, the chief himself deserted 
his section and came to live with Mr. James Roberts in Greenville for protection from further 
raids. 1 

Senator J. W. Roberts, it happens, encountered Blackett en route with the men and asked 
"why they wei:e being sent to Fernando Po." Blackett told him that he was only carrying out 
orders. • 

They arrived in Greenville on the sth of October. 
then Postmaster General, arrived in Greenville, Sinoe, on the 
M~surado to inspect the local postal service. • 

Mr. Reginald A. Sherman, 
4th of October on the S.S. 

The ship was demonstrating the advantages of radio communication with points on the 
coast. Sammy Ross brought a radiogram to him aboard ship with the request that he forward 
it, for him, to the Secretary of State. This message asked that Mr. Ross be allowed to send 
some boys whom he had on hand, by a German steamer instead of the usual Spanish 
steamer, since there was involved the expense of feeding them. • 

The message was sent but, on Mr. Sherman's return to shore, a second message was 
presented by Ross with an offer of £25.0.0 and payment of a back personal debt of £17.0.0 for 
his approval of the shipment of the boys. Sherman refused and inquired of C. D. Majors, then 
local Postmaster, the meaning of the bribe. It was explained that the boys were being" forced 
out of the country ". •. 

' 
The impression current was that Ross had powerful influences behind him in Monrovia 

and any interference .would be politically unwise. He had thus not been molested in the former 
shipments. Postmaster-General Sherman then, in company with C. D. Majors, crossed the river 
to the compound. 7 

He found these natives closely guarded by soldiers of the Liberian Frontier Force and by 
armed messengers belonging to District Commissioner Watson. Bla~kett objected to his 
interference with " a matter that did not concern him " and referred h1m to Mr. Ross. 1 

Sherman returned to the S.S. Mesurado and sent an indignant radiogram to the Attorney 
General of Liberia and to Secretary of State Barclay, then actin~ Pres!dent in t~e abse~ce ?f 
President King, ·and received the reply that if the men were bemg sh1pped agamst their Will 
it was slave trading and it should be stopped. • · 

The interrupted shipment aroused the interest of Greenville town and many of its leading 
citizens were led to inquire into the matter and finally to institute court action "· 

1 See sworn Testimony before Commission sitting in Monrovia, as given by D. Twe, J. R. D. Pad more, 
Senator Roberts, Jacob Dennis, Justice Grigsby and Ed. Blackett. • 

I See Nomeh Testimony before the Commission in Monrovia. 
I See Testimony of E. H. Blackett before the Commission in Monrovia, and of Senator Roberta before 

the Commission in Monrovia. / 
• See Testimony of Hon. Reginald A. Sherman before the Commission. 
• See Sherman Testimony, also (Documents) Radiograms to Secretary of State. (Appendix.) 
'See Sherman Testimony; C. D. Majors Testimony. 
7 Idem. 
1 See Testimony-Blackett ; Bedell ; Majors. 
' See Radiogram message (Documents) ; Sherman Testimony ; also testimony of Hon. L. A. Grimes, 

Attorney General, Liberia . 
.. See Hon. J. J. Witherspoon, Testimony. 
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al · esti ation by County Superintendent Grigsby 
Talks with the labourers and the actud md e~e being forced to leave the country for 
al d that the men had been capture an w 

reve e h . ill 1 ' 
Fernando Po against t etr w · . · rtant It was currently 

One detail on which there was di~:rencet~~ v~:;_ea~t:ta~o~~p~y Dis.trict Commissioner 
understood that the men, as had been e ~u~hat Blackett connived with Ross to ship them. 
Watson with rice to sell for tax m?ne{;; a~ 11 wing letter the signed original of which was 
The contrary, however, appears m e 0 0 

• 
presented to the Commission by Blackett : 

Interior Department, 

Liberian Hinterland. 

Reff : " Instruction " 
" Mr. Ed. H. A. Blackett, 
District Quarter-Master 
District Number Four L. H. 

Sir: 

Tchien H. Q, Dist. No. 4· 
September 21, 1927. 

You are hereby ordered to proceed immedia!ely wit~ t.hese soldiers, upon the receipt 
of this Jetter by the instruction of the Honourable Comm1ssloner General John W. Cooper, 
of the Liberian Hinterland, R. L. down to Greenville, Sinoe, with as many men labourers 
as you possibly can, not exceeding 250, and there deliver them t? the Hon. Samuel A. ~oss, 
for the purpose of being shipped to Fernando Po, per orders ofh1s Excell.ency, the ~res1~ent 
c. D. B. King: each man is to take with him one hampe~ of cleaned nee for the1r ratiOn, 
and after the shipment, whatever i~ le~t you _are to sell 1t out and report the cash here 
at this office on your return, to ass1st 1n paymg off the staff. 

Fail not : observing the above I remain, 

Yours, 
. Faithfully, 

(Sgd) J. B. Watson, 
District Commissioner. 

P.S. - You are to make a general list of the names of the men shipped, and from each 
section they are from. ' 

Idem. 

Note. -In a special session of the Commission requested by the President he disclaimed 
having given orders as quoted in the letter, but offered no further suggestion of the spuriousness 
of the letter. 

Question. - That leaves the letter, as far as its immediate source is concerned, 
as it stands, Mr. President, or do you suggest the spuriousness of the entire letter ? 

President King. - No, not the spuriousness, but I have reference to the suggestion 
of orders of the President. It was not done by my orders at all. 

(Testimony of His Excellency, President Charles D. B. King, R. L., July 31, 1930.) 

Blackett testified that the rice was sold by him and the money given to Watson. Further, 
that on the second errand he carried back £47.0.0 from Mr. Ross to D. C. Watson, as his part 
of the payment for the boys. 

'An attempt was made to secure an indictment against Blackett solely, but the Grand 
Jury refused unless Ross was also indicted. The case was pending for the February term 
of ~ourt, 192~, when Ross was appointed Postmaster General to succeed Sherman, the com­
plamant ; Witherspoon, the young County Attorney in charge of the case and Grigsby, the 
County Superintendent, who investigated the case, were relieved of their offices. 1 District 
Commissioner Watson is now stationed in District No. 2 of the Liberian Hinterland . 

• 
1 See Testimony of :"-SS<?Ciate Justice Grigsby, then County Superintendent of Sinoe, Hon. J. J. 

Wttherspoon. Judge of CtrcUit Court, Hon. J. N. Lewis, Hon. A. G. Monger, now Superintendent of the 
County, and of Mr. C. D. Majors, Greenville Postmaster. 

I See A 176, 
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Wedabo. 

In the. instance of the recruitment and shipment of natives to the island of Fernando 
Po to ~ c1ted the~e ha~ been ~epriv~tion of the liberty of persons not merely through the 
compuls1on of phys1cal v10lence, mvolvmg capture, flogging and tying by soldiers of the Frontier 
Force ai?-d a~m~d _mes~enger~ ; but through indirect compulsion exercised in excessive fines 
upon ch1efs, mtlm1da~10n, bnbery, extortion, the creating or reviving of old tribal differences 
over land, together wlth the exploitation of intimate phases of tribal custom. The Commission 
feels that to un~erstand. this situatio~ properly it is necessary to keep in mind the present 
~emnant au~honty of. chiefs, and particularly, paramount chiefs, over their people, stronger 
m some ~ecbons than m others of course ; th~ ~omm~nality of a large amount of the property 
and earrungs of those able to work; the tradihonal nght, and frequently the present power 
of the chief to levy upon these in the interest of the tribe ; tbe respect ~f the tribe for their 
old peol?le and for tradition itself ; the custom of young men of the Grebo and Kro tribes in 
the sect10n of Maryland County in question, to seek a period of service on the English Coast 
as a means of earrung dowry money for the purchase of their wives ; the religious significance 
attached to the augury of the gods, _through their medicine men, regarding their safe voyage 
and return ; and, unfortunately, the Ignorance of natives and native chiefs of the technicalities 
of legal practice in the " civilized " courts in which they so frequently find themselves. The 
opportunities for exploitation are frequent and in the section in question it appears that few 
opportunities have been neglected to extract from the natives, through their chiefs, their 
communal funds, as well as much of their food, rice, fowls and cattle. 

The Poo River people are a small tribe wedged in, on the beach, between the Garroway 
people, who are of Grebo stock, and the beach section of the Wedabo people, also a related 
group. 1 

· There have been, at various times in the past, flares of tribal difference, but some 25 years 
or more ago they settled their differences and agreed mutually to keep the peace. One condition 
of this was that the Wedabos, a larger people, might be permitted to pass, unmolested through 
their country, en route to Cape Palmas, a seaport. In 1908 the peace was confirmed with 
the legal sanction of the civilized courts and again peace was confirmed in the country fashion 
known to the tribes. At various times afterwards, however, Wedabo people passing through 
were set upon, without warning, and killed. The number killed between 1908 and 1923 totalled 
seven. 

Mr. Allen N. Yancy, who was Superintendent of Maryland County from 1920 to 1928 
was appealed to at various times by the Wedabo people and, apparently having slight interest 
then in these tribal bickerings, is reported to have remarked on one occasion: " You Wedabo 
people are damn fools. When you see people are killing you why don't you do something 
to them instead of always complaining?" 1 

In 1923 a dispute arose between the two tribes over the capture of a fish which eventuated 
in a tribal fight in which three Poo River people were killed. Frank Harris was then Commis­
sioner of the Kro Coast, stationed at Grand Cess, and, hearing of the affair, summoned Para­
mount Chief Tuweley Jeh, who had been at his home in Soloken (interior) during the fight, 
and Togby, and their chiefs and sub-chiefs to the number of sixty. These chiefs were first 
stripped on the road, tied and flogged. The chiefs were held and Paramount Chief Jeh sent 
home to collect £1oo.o.o. Thi!r was done. Superintendent Yancy then heard of the matter 
and ordered the case turned over to him. Commissioner Harris sent out and caught seven 
Wedabo boys as probable culprits, but without asking the chiefs who were guilty. 

On reporting to Superintendent Yancy, Chief Jeh was told he needed lawyers and knowin~ 
no Americo-Liberian lawyers in Cape Palmas, Supt. Yancy recommended Senators W. V. S. 
Tubman and Dossen and County Attorney Dominy Cooper. But lawyers must be paid, so 
the Superintendent told Jeh to " go back and bring lawyers £Ioo.o.o." This was done. The 
matter reached Court and Supt. Yancy said: "This is not enough for lawyers." Jeh went 
back to his people with this word and they advised him to borrow the amount requ1red from 

1 These Poo River people are Krus who migrated down the coast in search of land many years ago and 
probably before the Wedabo tribes settled on the land next to them and to the rear of them. They :ore 
related to the Krus above Grand Cess but now speak a dialect which is Kru at ~he base bu.t employtng 
many Grebo words. The Wedabo beach is used merely as an outlet to the sea and 15 under Chi.ef Wamplu. 
The farming country, the largest towns and the capital, Soloken, where the Paramount Chief Tuwelcy 
Jeh resides, are one day or two days back in the interior. 

1 Testimony of Paramount Chief Tuweley J eh, Wedabo Section. A.pr. See also decision of Hie 
Excellency on" The Matter of the Webado People killing three men of the Poo River People, Rendered 
at the Executive Mansion, Monrovia, on October 23, 1924. " 

' 
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H b d £300 o o giving the entire amount to Supt. Yancy. 
the Cavalla Ri~er. C?.m~~~f'ht e c~~~~fshed.". And the Court'said: " You ~re free.;· 
The lawyers satd .h ld gCh.' f J h. "I am one who set you free. You must g~ve me thank 

Supt. Yancy t en to te e · . 
you'." h 11- t d £6o 0 0 and sent it to Supt. Yancy by Karpeh, a headman and Jeh went orne, co ec e . . . 

conlit~~t~~~tTe~~~~g~~ !~~ t;!e~h~~~ever, was. not satisfa~tory to. the
1 
Poo Riv~r people and 

the followin year, 1924, they sent a delegatiOn to Prestde~t Kmg. . . . 
The Pr!sident ordered Paramount Chief Jeh to MonroVIa and With the Chtef went hts 

Sub-Chief Tarplah and his messenger Karpeh. Funds fo~ travel had to be borrowed. Jeh 
was authorized by the Wedabo people to appr~ach Woodm Company for a loa~~; of £xoo.o.o. 
In Cape Palmas he met Supt. Yancy and told him ~e had been calle.d t? !",,onrovta 9:nd would 
h to borrow £xoo o o from Woodins. The Supermtendent told him . No. I wtll borrow 
it'fo~ you." He did this and returned. Instead of giving him the £xoo.o.o he deducted [40.0.0 
more for Senator Tubman who had served as lawyer, [25.0.0 for John Delaney who had 
served as interpreter, and of the original amount handed to Jeh [2o.o.o. Jeh proceeded to 

Monrovia. 'd . h 'd " J~ t d p R' According to the testimony of Jeh the Prest ent t en sat : , s an up. oo tver 
people say you are killing them." · · . 

Jeh replied: "True. Yes. Poo River people .kill us-seven people. So I kill these two 
people. But not one man. A crowd beat them to death." . 

The President then told him that was why he had called him to Monrov1a and that he 
would detain him there until Tarplah and Karpeh went back to the Wedabo people and col­
lected an executive fine of [3oo.o.o imposed for his release. Jeh instructed Tarplah and Karpeh 

1 to go home, call the people together and get their permission to try to borrow, it from the white 
traders of Cape Palmas. 1 -

The actual decision of the President, after naming John Delaney as interpreter and 
rehearing the case and finding the Wedabo people guilty of the double crime of retaliating 
with murder for murder, and of killing the messengers sent to them, was as follows: 

.. 
" {I) The Wedabo people must produce the persons who killed the three men of the 

Poo River Tribe. 

" (2) That the Wedabo people also pay, for allowing the act to be committed in 
their towns, a fine of Three Hundred Pounds Sterling. 

" {3) That on failure to produce the men who killed the persons in question by the 
Wedabo people, their towns on the beach in which the act was committed will be broken 
up by the Government and their inhabitants sent. back into the interior to some spot 
selected by the government. This cogeny (sic) will happen if after the expiration of two 
months the parties are not produced who killed the three Poo River people. 

"The Government will hold the Paramount Chief of the,.Wedabo people up here 
until the persons who killed the Poo River people have been produced. If these people 
are not produced within 20 years, 40 years, or indefinitely, he will remain in the hands 
of the Government for such a period of time ; but if they find the persons within two 
months or so, he will be set at liberty. It must be understood that whether or not the 
persons are produced, the fine of Three Hundred Pounds is to be paid by the Wedabo 
tribe ; but they must produce the people, the Paramount Chief remaining here until 
they are produced, and that failing the production, the towns on the beach will be des­
troyed. " 1 

· Karpeh and Tarplah reached Cape Palmas with the instructions of Jeh and were met 
by Su~t. Yancy who asked and w~ ~old the result of the Monrovia hearing. He advised them 
that smce they had no sure cred1t m Cape Palmas they let him advance the money and in 
return let him h~ve a number of men for Fernando ?o. The messengers protested that they 
were not the Chtef and could only carry out the Chtef's orders, and they proceeded to their 
country. Then Supt. Yancy called a meeting of all the chiefs of the Wedabo Country at 
Wedabo Beach, and placed the matter again before them .. Chief Martin of Gbanken spoke 
up saying that Karpeh had given the message to them about Fernando Po but that they 
w~mld get the mone:y otherwise. Supt. Yancy then is reported to have said : " If I say you 
will go there, you will go. The people seem to agree. If you dissuade them I will make your 
to~n pay t.he full ~JOO.o.o for Jeh's release and in addition a fine of £2oo.o.o. " Thereafter 
Chief !llartm was stlent, and when the other Chiefs remarked '' This Fernando Po we don't 
want to go there. W~ wi~l pay," Martin said, "You must consent to go." And t~y agreed. 
Then S~pt. Yancy satd stmply, " I want 500 men." 

Chtef Wamp.lu of Wedabo Beach Town said, " Finished. But Poo River is closed 
because of our dtfficulty, so we can't get them to Cape Palmas to ship." 

1 See Documents Appendices IX and XI. 
1 Testimony of Paramount Chief J eh. 
1 ~ee Decision of His Excellency, the President of Liberia, in the " !\latter of the Wedabo People, etc. " 

, 
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Supt. Yancy promised to bting a ship to Wedabo Beach, which was not and never baa 
been a port of call. . 

The Spanish ship Montserrat reached Wedabo Beach at u o'cloc kon December 8th 
and on board w~re ~upt. Yancy, P. C. Parker, Spanish Vice Consul, Mr. John Myers Scott, 
and one ot~er L~benan whose name was not recalled, who had come up from Cape Palmas 
on the special tnp. The men were not on hand. Supt. Yancy was impatient. " If they are 
not here by seven o'clock I'll bu~n these two towns." The people were frightened and as 
hostages they went aboard t.he s~1p to st.ay until the men were delivered. During the night 
they sent messengers to the mtenor beggmg the boys to come to save their to\\-ns from being 
destroyed and at daybreak 316 of the soo who had been recruited from all the towns of the 
Wedabos, while Jeh was still a prisoner in Monrovia, were marched down to the beach. 

Note. -Verification of this incident is to be found in the original of a letter sent by the 
Superintendent of the County to the Secretary of State under the date of December 8 1924 
which reads in part as follows : ' ' 

"I take pleasure to inform you that the Spanish Steamer "Monlse"al" arrived 
here in Port about 4 o'clock on the inst. and after shipping So boys from this Port we 
proceed to Weddabo at 6.30 a.m. next day going at half speed arrived Wedabo at 
12 o'clock Noon, and laid over till next morning by the request of the Chieftain and 
took on board 316 boys, there was about 200 more to be shipped but the Captain would 
not wait to take them and left at 12 o'clock Noon. The balance of the boys will be 
shipped from this Port, (i.e. I mean those from that point particularly.) " 

The ship sailed. Arrived at Fernando Po, the Liberian Consul, Mr. Gabriel Johnson, 
turned the boys over to the " Curador " and they were divided among the plantations. 

When the £3oo.o.o had been paid and the soo men had gone, the President said to Jeh, 
" Go home now. But the people who killed Poo River People you must have given to Supt. 
Yancy when you get home." 

When Jeh returned he found his towns empty and his women weeping and asked what 
grief had come to them. They told him of the shipment of soo of their men and boys and 
that Supt. Yancy had demanded 200 more. • · 

Jeh said, " They can not go. It will destroy our country." 
According to President King's instructions he ordered three men sent to Supt. Yancy 

for punishment. The men were carried by Supt. Yancy to his private farm in Webbo and 
placed at work. 

When Supt. Yancy heard that Jeh was refusing to send the 200 additional men he became 
vexed, and sent a large company of soldiers under John Delaney to rebuke his impertinence 
and to take the men. 

Leaving Cape Palmas at the South, they did not attack' the first Wedabo towns 
but marched through until the last town had been reached and suddenly fell upon the town 
of Julucan. • 

They caught 12 of the old men of the town, flogged and tied them, killed three cows and 
three goats for their " chop " and demanded £xo.o.o. They marched the old men to Soloken. 1 

At Soloken John Delaney and 12 soldiers called for the Chief. The town had been so 
stripped of young men in the first lot there was little to demand. He thereupon caught two 
of the elders, the town chief,. tying and flogging them, called for three bags of rice, one goat 
and £s.o.o sterling and departed with the hostages, stopping next at Jalatuen. • 

Here they demanded young men, and " went flogging men, women and children " 
indiscriminately. The people ran into the bush. Finding no young men they caught and 
·secured. 12 of the old men of the town; demanded and received one bag of rice, one cow, 
three goats and £xo.o.o sterling for their food. From Jalatuen the procession moved on to 

_Gbanken. 1 

· It was midnight and rain had been falling. Soldiers surprised the Chief and the to~n 
people of Gbanken by dragging them from their huts, throwing them to the ground and ftoggmg 
them with whips. 

Chief Martin asked: "What be this matter ? Ve Fernando Po palava? The first men 
gone, soo. Why you no let me know you come for more ? " · 

They caught 15 old men, took three goats, one bullock, two bags of rice and £17.0.0. 
The long procession then left the country going by way of Wedabo Beach to Garroway 

thence to Harper. The old men and the chiefs were flogged during the march. ~ added 
punishment they were forced to carry a goat in their outstretched arms and forbidden to 
put the animal either on their heads or shoulders. • 

'See Jeh Document and Te&timony. 
1 !?ee Testimony of Chief Toklah of J ulucan. 
1 See Testimony of Chief Key of Soloken. 
• See Testimony of Chief Zibo of Jalatuen. 
1 See Testimony of Chief Martin of Gbanken. 
1 See Testimony of M'Vlen M'Clen, young hereditary chief, headman of Jalatuen. Testimony of Pie 

and N'Yenpan. 
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The hostages were delivered to Supt. Yancy in Harper, and at fiX:St placed i~ jail: f~r 
detention until the 200 young men w~re delivered. ~ile they were bemg held, Chief Z1bo s 

ung man came to the Supermtendent and sa1d that there were not :zoo young men 
~~?t· :n y~he towns' and that the holding of their old men was useless. He was placed 
in confinement with the old men. 1 

• 
Later these old men were removed to ~upt: Yancy's. farm at Webbo and set to clearung 

ffee and cassava carrying sticks and makmg hnes for his rubber trees. Messengers were sent 
~~ ibeir homes for their food. They remained at this about two months. when the full2oo young 
men surrendered thinking that the respected elders of the town m1ght be released. Then 
Superintendent Yancy approached Zibo's son saying ; "You said there were no more young 
men. You see you have :zoo. Just for this I am going to send you to Fer:nando Po as headman 
over these men." The :zoo were shipped. Of the original 700 many died ; others returned, 
but with very little money. · · . 

Wedabo Beach, Jalatuen, Soloken, Jalatah and ~ordor o~ the W~dabo. S.e~t10n w~re 
visited by the American Commissioner. In Soloken the Bigtown w1th the aid of c1vihzed native 
interpreters each of the 405 huts of the town was entered, the families counted, and other 
pertinent information secured. 1 

• • • • 
The once fairly populous town now has a total of 651 mhabitants w1th th1rty per cent more 

females than males. That is, for every 100 males, there were 130 females, and for the active 
ages, :zo-40, there were 150 females for every 100 males. Most important, it seems, of the 
families remaining there 91 of their men and boys had either died at Fernando Po, or for some 
other reason failed to return or communicate with the tribe. Of those who returned two were 
ill and one insane. The town Kordor, which is about two hours' walk from Soloken, was 
visited and photographed. Forty-one huts were inhabited at the time of the Fernando Po 
demands. All are deserted now, the town site overgrown with weeds and tough vines, the 
thatched roofs and mud covered sides crumbling in. It is a scene of desolation.· The site of the 
town of Jalatah was also visited and photographed. All that remains to identify it 
is a breadfruit tree. The houses have been torn down and during the past five years the site 
has been used as a rice farm. The Wedabo people, however, have been compelled to pay 

. £6o.o.o annually as taxes upon the huts that formerly stood there, and still are required to 
pay these hut taxes. 

The Traffic in Boys. 

In 1928 Supt. Yancy was made Vice President of Liberia. Calling another meeting of 
chiefs at Wedabo Beach he said to them; "I have just returned from Monrovia and I have 
an order from the President that each Paramount Chief must furnish me men for Fernando· 
Po. From each Paramount Chief here I want 6o men. If he refuses, then for each man less 
than 6o he must pay £10.0.0. If he does not pay and does not send men, I will send soldiers 
to destroy his town. Whoever doubts that I make this demand on the authority of the President 
can go to Monrovia and ask if what I say is true or not.' Then he will find out from the President 
himself". 1 

One Chief said : " Since we begin we never see this thing. If anybody wants to go to 
Gold Coast they go themselves ; never they sent by force." · 

And another said, •• This Fernando Po since we here we no go. But Wedabo people you 
took them there to punish them ; plenty you send ; 140 die there. What we done that you 
send us too ? " • 

. . Jack Jarraca • of Grand C~ss, whose Paramount Chief's commission had been given to 
htm by Mr. Yancy after extractmg £6oo.o.o from the town leaders who opposed him as unfit 
then spoke thus, " Since you have been instructed by the President no one will refuse Sine~ 

·the President has ordered it, it will be carried out." • ' . · 
. And Paramoun~ Chief Jury of Pican";ini Cess spoke, " Mr. Yancy, we are building road 

Wl.tho';lt pay or f~e_dmg; we pay taxes w1thout receiving any commission. We are bearing 
th1s kmd of condtbon beca';lse here is our country, and yet the President say we must go to 
Fernando Po. How can this be done? We can not send people to Fernando Po and to the 
road. Where we got such an amount of people ? " ' . 

. Ho_we~er, Paralll:ount Chief Broh of Frenropo, sent two messengers to President King 
to, mqu1re 1f he had glVen such word to the Vice President •. These messengers were Solomon f Xep~n ~nd Nyantenee: The messengers reached Monrovia and sought counsel of relatives 
1vmg m ru Town. • Jtm Doe and Karpeh, a former Governor of Kru Town carried them 
first to the Secretary of the Interior and later to the President. •• ' 

1 See Testimony of Chief Zibo. 
1 See Special Memorandum on Native Vill~ges, 
1 See Testimony of Chief Nin I f G d C p · 

Jury of Picannini Cess, Paramou~t~'C~ief ~yn an (e~~rn a) r:fmSounht Chp1ef Broh of Frenropo, Paramount Chief , s T . ue n, aramount Ch1ef Jeh of Wedabo 
1 

ee est~mony of Paramount Chief Nyan (Yarn) of Suehn. ' 
See Testimony Grand Cess, 

• See Testimony of D D Tw b s k f p 
7 S T . . · · eg y, pea er or aramount Chief Jack J arraca of Grand Cess 
I See Testt.•mony of Paramount Chief Jury, also Testimony of Chief Nimley of Grand Cess . 

ee es 1monv: Paramount Chid Broh p t c · · 
Chief Nyan (Yarn): Paramount Chief Jeh. ' aramoun h•ef Jury, Paramount Chief Nimley, Paramount 

1 See Testimony of Karpeh, Governor of Kru Town 
10 See Testimon f J' D , 

Y 0 tm oe, Monrovia Sittings ; Testimony of Karpeh, Monrovia Sittings, 
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The President warned them of the gravity of the charges, disclaimed any such order as 
was reported, and sent back for further confirmation. When word reached Cape Palmas that 
Chief Broh's messengers had returned from Monrovia with word that the President disclaimed 
the charges, there was great relief. Promptly, however, Supt. Brooks of Maryland County; 
Senator W. V. S. Tubman and the Honourable McBorough went to Picannini Cess and inquired 
of Broh whether or not and why he had sent messengers to the President. He was seized, 
arrested and placed on the steam launch for Cape Palmas. At Grand Cess the party went 
ashore to sleep leaving Chief Broh aboard alone. During the night a rough sea upset the 
launch, and washed it upon the bank ; Chief Broh remained upon a rock until morning. At 
Cape Palmas, he was made a prisoner in the house of Supt. Brooks, and, thus de_tained, was 
guarded by a group of Frontier Force soldiers, while others proceeded to his country where 
they arrested forty men. • ·They tied the men with sticks behind their legs, flogged men and 
women indiscriminately, killed domestic animals and destroyed Broh's commission from the 
President as Paramount Chief. 1 

The soldiers proceeded to the town of the Chiefs of Suehn, Topo, Baropo, and Wedabo. 
These Paramount Chiefs were placed in confinement with Broh. At Suehn and Wedabo they 
came during the night, tying and flogging men and women, and helping themselves to rice 
and fowls. 1 

Not only did they kill four cows for chop but Captain Phillips demanded and got " rum 
money " amounting to £4o.o.o. Of the 12 men captured at Suehn one of them, Wyley Cojah, 
died from the beating by the soldiers. • 

All were then removed to Vice President Yancy's farm and the chiefs flogged in the 
presence of their people. Broh was accused of making fools of the other chiefs by his action 
a~d all were fined : · 

Frenropo 
Kpalagbo. 
Topo. 
Suehn 

£200.0.0 
394·0.0 
100.0.0 
100.0.0 

These fines were paid • 
From the ill treatment by soldiers on this mission these men from Broh's section died : 

Mandoo, Keke, Doyalah and Nimini. 
While the chiefs were in prison a part of the Baropo people under Speaker Bellor went to 

the Vice President, and in tum received favorable consideration on a)ong standing land 
dispute. Bellor states • that he paid over £soo.o.o. 

" Question. - Has there been recently any palaver between your people and other 
people? 

Bellor. -True. So big palava Frenropo. No sit down one place now. No 'gree with 
each other. 

Question. - Is that on a land matter ? 

Bellor . . - Yes, sir. 

Question. - Has the Government settled that yet ? 

Bellor. -Mr. Brooks and Mr. Yancy were there and settled it. 

Question. -Was it settled to the satisfaction of the people ? 

Bellor. - As people judged now, satisfied. 

Question. - Did your people pay any money in connection with the settlement of the 
case? 

Bellor. - Yes. 

Que~tion. - How much ? 

Bellor. - Because cannot count exactly money, but from beginning of that palava 
over £soo.o.o. Man from Cape Palmas say Government find no small paper for we for 

·money we pay (receipt). 

Question. -To whom did you pay money? 

Bdlor. - Pay Mr. Brooks." 

1 See statement of complaint of Chief Broh to Pre•ident King. 
1 /dem. 
• See Testimony of Chief Nyan (Yarn) of Suehn. . h 
• See Testimony of Paramount Chief Broh,}ury, Gofa and Statement of complamt made to t e 

President by Broh, Jury, Gofa, Appendices X an XII. 
• See Bellor Testimony A 405. 
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0 he release of Broh he went personally with certain ot~er chiefs to Monrovia to complain 
to then ;resident arriving while the President was attendmg t~e 1929 _Kaka~ Confer~~ce. 
On his return the charges were repeated in the presence of VIce President ancy. _ey 

·ved no judgment but were told to return to Maryland and the Se~retary of the Inten~r 
~~~:d come to investigate. While the chiefs were away, however, soldi~rs we.re sent t.o t~e1r 
t In Chief Jury's town they caught and tied men and women, mcludmg Jury s Wife, 
owns. . 1 1 · 

and carr1ed some of them to Cape Pa mas. · 

In the Topo country they demanded 5 bags of rice for the soldiers and a cow forth~ Captain 
which he carried home. Speaker Boryono Doco acting in the absence of Gofa descnbes what 
happened further : 

" After this he (Lieutenant Phillips) dismissed us ; he said he was going in to bathe 
and see about chop and ordered. us to return to his quarte~s two o'clock aft~r breakfast. 
At the appointed time all the men of the town gather~d m front of the zmc hou~e he 
occupied, he ordered his soldiers to surround us on all Side~ ; and .when he wa,s sabsfie.d 
that all of the men were completely surrounded, he put. th1s question to us ; Where. IS 
your Paramount Chief Gofa ? ' I arose and answered h1m that Gofa went to Monrovia. 
He asked me, ' What is your name ? ' I said to him, ' My name is Boryono. Doco:' 
Lieutenant Phillips then said he liked the man who would tell the truth. He ra1sed h1s 
big rubber whip and began to flog me .as h_ard as. he could and whe~ he was tired, he ordered 
the soldiers to throw me down. The sold1ers se1zed me, threw me,down.and.began to beat 
me. After this severe beating, the soldiers put my foot between two pieces of hard wood 
and then tied the ends of the stick together, the tighter the ropes were drawn, the more 
the stick pressed into my flesh. I suffered :'-wf~ly. from this cruel treatment, the .scar 
of the sore cut into my flesh by one of the sticks 1s nght on my foot and I can show It to 
any person. I am not the only one who was flogged. The soldiersJ'umped into the crowd 
and beat the other men right and left and tied as many as they coul and put them through 
the same torture. Afterward the Lieutenant put all of us into one house and locked us 
up at sunset. Yanfor and Magbe, the two oldest men of the tribe who are even older 
than Paramount Chief Gofa, were amongst the crowd; in fact, the two men are owners of 
the country. We did not want them to sleep in confinement, so we went to Lieut. Phillips 
and begged him to release them. He asked us to give him £xo if we did not want the old 
men to sleep in the guard house. The people gave Chief Gofa's speaker, M'ma Doe, 
£xo for the old men's release and he paid the money to Lieut. Phillips. Upon the receipt of 
the £xo.o.o he released the two men. 

" After the release of the old men who are in the guard house are 24 men. On the 
following morning when Lieut. Phillips and the soldiers were about to take us all to 
Harper as prisoners the people begged him to release me, they pointed out to· him that 
being sick from the results of the severe flogging from his soldiers and himself, I might 
die on the way if he carried me to Harper, because the soldiers were most liable to beat 
me again on the journey. He agreed to release me, but asked the people to take me out 
of his hands, that is, they must bring something to pay for my release. They gave him 
£4 but he refused to accept it, and demanded a cow, and said that he would carry me if it 
is not forthcoming. On hearing this the women began to cry and there was a great cry in_ 
the town. My family caught a grown cow with young one and gave it to Lieut. Phillips 
and I was released. · 

" He took the remaining 23 persons and moved off to Harper. The Lieutenant 
reached Harper very late in the night and gave the men to Vice President Yancy who 
sent them to his farm just before daybreak the next morning. The men were so severely 
flogged bf the soldiers on t~e two day journey from out town to Harper that one of them 
Kohkoh Jehleh by name, died from the effect of the beating two days after they reached 
the prison house at the Vice President's farm. 

" When the news of Jehleh's death reached us, my people, the Topo tribe sent M'ma 
Doe as a special messenger to Vice President Yancy to find out what was th~ reason for 
t~e arrest of t~e men Lie.ut. Phillips took to Harper and treated so cruelly that one was 
killed by beatmg. He sa1d he sent and arrested the men because Paramount Chief Gofa 
of the Topo tri~e _went to Monrovia to report him to the President and he would not 
~elease the rema1~mg 22 men unless we sent him £zoo. We collected the £xoo and gave 
~t to the sa:me M n~a Doe and Gebo Chea, and the two men carried the money and paid 
1t ~o the V1ce Pres1den~. After the receipt of this money, he said to the two men, • I see 
th1s £too. I accept ~his amount as a fine for your Paramount Chief going to Monrovia 
to report me, but I hke to know what got in the heads of your big men to allow Gofa to 

· go to Monrovia. For this r~ason yo~ must go and tell your people to send me another 
£xoo, befo~e. I release the pnsoners. The two messengers returned to us with the news 
of. the ad~thonal demand for money. We collected the second £xoo.o.o and sent it to the 
VIce President by the same messengers. They paid the money to him and he released the 
men and sent them home by our messengers. " 

1 Testimony of Chief Jury A 400. 
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~e Commissioners found ~>Ver a wi~e ~rea, and in t~e testimony, direct and indirect, 
involvmg several thousand nahves, convmcmg corroborat10n of details of the incidents as 
narrated herein from many sources. It seems improbable that the Secretary of the Interior 
could have discovered any different situation. . . 

It is significant that the fear which controls the Chiefs and their subjects, from whom 
these drafts have been made for Fernando Po and Libreville, and the sadness were found to 
have been registered in the songs of the people. 1 ' 

1 he Pressure of Fines. 

The Wedabo Beach incident narrated serves the Commission as an example of the use of 
governmental authority in a manner not distinguishable to the native, from the Government 
itself. Exploitation of the tribal relationship of natives to their chiefs has been a most effective 
means of getting the semblance of consent to shipment, throwing the burden of force upon the 
chief. When the chiefs have resisted as in the case cited they can be urged to terms by the 
gradual process of impoverishment of the whole of the people. The effect upon the liberty of 
the men is the same, whether the deprivation of this liberty comes directly from without or 
indirectly from within. The fines extorted from the chiefs concerned in the Wedabo Beach 
resistance to the attempt to get men, have been drawn from the related experiences of the 
chiefs and appear as follows : 

Paramount Chief ]eh. 

Iriitial fine imposed by President King • . . . . . . . . . 
Paid to the District Commissioner at Grand Cess . . . . . 
Paid to Mr. Yancy for 3 lawyers (Tubman, Cooper & Dossen) 
Paid to Mr. Yancy for above lawyers . • . . . . . 
Paid to Mr. Yancy at temporary settlement of ra~t>. 
Paid through Sub-Chiefs to Supt. Brooks . . 
Paid to Lt. Phillips by Sub-Chief. . . . . . 
Paid by Sub-Chief Martin to Lt. Phillips . . 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Chief Jeh 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Chief Jeh 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Chief Jeh . 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Chief Jeh .. 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Sub-Chief Zibo 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Sub-Chief Zibo 
Paid to Mr. Yancy by Paramount Chief Martin .... 
Paid to Mr. Yancy for release of Jeh by Wedabo people. 

Total Cash· • . • . 
Less executive fine. . . 

£]00.0.0 
100.0.0 
100.0.0 
JOO.O.O 
6o.o.o 
14.0.0 

1.0.0 
10.0,0 
s.o.o 

20.0.0 
40.0.0 
40.0,0 
8.0.0 

so.o.o 
6o.o.o 

_1_40,0..:._0 

£1,248.0.0 
JOO.O.O 

£948.0.0 

Cattle and rice demanded by soldiers on raids amounted to seven cows, one goat and 
three bags of rice. 

1 One such song recorded upon a small phonograph record-apparatu~: without investigational de•ign, 
turned out on translation to be-" The Sad Song of the Wedabo Women 

We were here when trouble come to our people; 
For this trouble Jeh was imprisoned and fined. 
For this reason Yancy came to our country-
He caught our husbands and our brothers, 
Sail them to 'Nana Poo 
And there they die I 
And there they die I 
Tell us 
Yancy, why? 
Yancy, why? 
Wedabo women have no husbands, 
Yancy, why? 
Wedabo women have no brothers, 
Yancy, why? 
Mothers. fathers, sons have died, 
Waiting for the return 
Yancy, why? 

etc., etc. 

The song goes on, calling the names of boys long away; satng" We cannot blame Y'?~1!hal~~~~ii~ 
not die gloriously in war. If you bad died in war i!l the rolfe 0 J1e~ h;.:oyu~e~: !~f::."::way from their 
responsible if they die in war. But they were stolen away rom e · e · 
people and have never returned. Yancy, why ?---<!tc. 



Chief Yarn of Suehn. 

Pa!d to LMt. Pyhillipsfoonr rheite~i~ga~:d ~~~n :~~~~ed fo; Chlef;s 'refu~al· t~ 
Pa1d to r. ancy 

send men to Fernando Po · · · · · · · · · · · · ·. f · · ' · · · · · 
Paid Mr. Yancy to release men on road to work the1r arms . 

Total . . · · · · · · · · · · · · ' · · · 

Cattle taken in raids by Lt. Phillips were three cows and nine goats . 
• 

Chief Gofa of Topo. 

Paid to Lt. Phillips by Gofa's Speaker . · .. · · .. · · · · · · · : · 
Paid to Mr. Yancy for releasing 22 men held m purushment for refusmg 

Fernando Po boys · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ' ' ·h ·ld, · ' · : h · t 
Paid to Mr. Yancy-a second sum for releasing 22 men e m pums men 

for refusing Fernando Po boys . . . . · · · · · · · · . · · · ·. · · · · · 
Paid to Mr. Yancy to have men released from road durmg farmmg season 

Total . . . /. . . . . . . . 0 • • • 
• • • • • • 0 

In addition five bags of rice and one cow. 

Chief Broh of Frenropo. 

Paid to Mr. Yancy as fine for sending to President King regarding 
Fernando Po demands . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . : · · · · ·. · 

Paid to Supt. Brooks for motor launch sent to arrest h1m for sendmg 
messengers to Monrovia . . . . . . . . • . . · · · · : · · · · · · · · 

Paid to Senator Tubman on case wh1ch never reached Court . . . . · . 
Paid to Supt. Brooks for his expenses to Grand Cess . . . . . • . . . . 
Paid to defray expenses of a Commission sent to inquire into tribal 

dispute . . . . . . . . 
Total . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

£40.0.0 

100.0.0 
8o.o.o 

[220.0.0 

£10.0,0 

100.0.0 

100.0.0 
8o.o.o 

[29o.o.o 

[200.0.0 

72-10.0 
110.0.0 
25.0.0 

The total of these sums paid by four chiefs was £1,940.10.0 (or over $9,soo,oo) exclusive 
of cattle of incidental fines of other chiefs in the same connection, and of the large fi~es of 
these fo~r mentioned strictly on the land issue, which in its present unsettled state remams as 
a potential source of further fines. 

Raiding of Villages for Men. 

(a) In 1927 Superintendent Yancy demanded 100 boys from the Barrabo Section for 
Fernando Po. He gave the order to District Commissioner Scott. The Commissioner gave the 
order in turn to the Paramount Chief. The Chief, objecting, delayed and soldiers were sent to 
catch them. The men ran to the bush. 

I 

It is not unusual for men to go down the coast to work on steamers and :evenlfin !certain 
of the British Colonies. Treatment has been considerate and pay good, although muCh of it has 
been abstracted on their return through legal customs, charges and illegal charges imposed by . 
wharfingers, amounting to Ioo% of the value of their goods, and frequently more. However, 
the boys do not go haphazardly even to work on the boats. It is a country custom for them to 
to consult the oracles through their medicine men. If favorable, they leave quietly and 
voluntarily ; if unfavorable they await another occasion. The open demands, however, called 
for men whether the gods willed or not. 

When the soldiers came to Barraba, the Paramount Chief, afraid, said, "I am trying." 
Soldiers said : " We'll get them for you." They caught and secured old men, women and 
children. The young men in the bush when they heard, surrendered rather than have the 
elders carried off or further abused. The group which left in 1927 had not been returned in 
1930 when the section was visited '· 

, 
1 S.,e Testimony of Chiefs of Barrabo. A 436-7. 
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(b) Soldiers were sent. into Tareyteybeylu in March 1929, at night to capture men for 
Fernando Po. They terronzed the town and caught ten boys carrying them off to Webbo 
They flogged the chief, tied and imprisoned him. The headman who asked why he was being 
forced to Fernando Po was flogged severely and fined £6.o.o to get his liberty. 

(c) In 192~ ~r. Yancy visited Manohlu, and asked for boys for Fernando Po. They were 
~efus~d. Com~toner P~oud then came and caught 20 boys with the aid of soldiers and 
1mpnsoned. the chief. While they were searching the town some of the boys ran off. Others 
together _With the women were ~eeping. He improvised a prison from a house holding the 
boys un_til he h~d cau~ht a sufficient number. And they were marched off to town, with their 
hands tied behind the1r backs. They were held in Cape Palmas for about a week and placed 
aboard a Spanish Steamer for Fernando Po. 1 

(d) A Frontier Force bugler, Robert, testified before the Commission in Monrovia that 
following an order to Captain Whisnant of the Libel'ian Frontier Force for 20 men he with 
other soldiers captured the required number and delivered them to Mr. Yancy. •• Tbose who 
did not want to go to the coast were put in a guard house in Harper and those who wanted to 
go were shipped. He sent those back who did not want to go." 1 

(e) The following sworn testimony was given to the Commission in session in Monrovia 
by Victor Cooper of Cape Palmas, a surveyor : 

" This very ·month April (1929) I returned to Cape Palmas. After my arrival I 
asked for Chief Broh. I heard that he was in jail at the Superintendent's (Brooks') home. 
A week or so later, one evening at about 6.30 to 7 p.m., I saw a large crowd on Water 
Street. I then went to the crowd to see what was happening. There I saw men lined up 
in rows of twos as fast as they were crossed from Puduke to Harper City by the Liberian 
Frontier Force under command of Lt. Phillips. After they had all been crossed they were 
counted and they were about 300 in number. It was a pitiful sight ; these men had been 
walking all day and all night without eating and flogged at the same time. It was late 
in the night when they .finished crossing. Some were carried in the Masonic Hall to sleep 
and some to Mr. Yancy's compound. 

"The next day these men were missing out .. of the town. Enquiring for them I 
was told that they were carried before day that morning to Mr. Yancy's farm. I was 
anxious to go out to his farm to see these people as I had great interest in them and 
also in sympathy. I was then advised not to go, and that even if I were to go I would 
not be permitted to see them or witness the investigation. With that I stayed." 

V) In 1928, after the appeals of the men against forcing boys to Fernando Po had proved 
unsuccessful, a group of several hundred women marched down to Cape Palmas to petition 
Vice President not to send away their husbands and brothers. They ranged helplessly about 
the town; made their petition but without avail, and returned to their homes disheartened. 
The visit of the women was generally known, remarked by several persons of importance in 
Cape Palmas before the Commissioners, and by one in particular of good reputation and a 
former high official of the Govern~ent, to whom t~ese women made ap~al for the help of 
his influence. It was further adm1tted by Mr. Collins, one of the recrwtmg agents for Mr. 
Yancy, who was, however, disposed to disparage the importance of the incident. 

· (g) · Kuia, a Grebo native from Biabo (Maryland County), arriving in Monrovia from 
Fernando Po during the sitting of the Commission (July 1930) appeared and under oath 
testified that in March 1929, soldiers came to his town Suke, under Paramount Chief Kassa, at 
night, knocking at doors and capturing and tying all men and women. ~ccupants. The town 
was terrorized. Many of the men escaped to the bush, but were spmted back whe~ they 
learned that their wives were being held. They were then marched to Cape P~mas, Wl~hout 
food or adequate clothing and delivered to Mr. Yancy. They were told that 1~ they_ tned to 
escape their town would be burned. Mr. Yancy placed a large number of them m a b1g house 
where they awaited the arrival of the steamer. 

Question. - What was the name of the man who caught you ? 

Kuifl.- It was in night. Dark. Came out scared. Grab me. Couldn't ask his name. 

Question. - Were they soldiers ? 

Kuifl. - Yes-soldiers. 

Question. - What did they do ? 

Kuia.- Took me to Cape Palmas, so to carry me to Fernando Po. Mr. Yancy put 
me in a big house and say if any of you go, burn your country. 

Question.- Did Mr. Yancy ask if you wanted to go or not ? 

Kuia.- He didn't ask. Simply count number and then make law, go to Fernando Po. 

Question. - When Mr. Yancy locked you in the house before he sent you to the 
steamer, did he carry you before any Government official ? 

I See Testimony of Chief Hoto of Manohlu. A 369. 
I See Testimony of Robert. A 81. 
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Kuia -No. h ? 
·. D'd Mr Yancy tell you the Government caug t you 

Quest1on. - 1 • . 
Kuia. -Mr. Yancy said it was instruction of the Government. . 

d · F d p0 fourteen months and brought back a slip for payment He had worke m ernan o · 
of £I.I2.J. 

Curaduria Colonial 

Fernando Po 

El b K natural de Monrovia percibira' a su desembarco en Ia Republica racero uya. • • . . . . . • 
de Liberia Ia cantidad de Libras 1-12-3 importe de Ia liquidacion de su contra to num ..•..... 
de ......... de ......... 192 .. que le sera entregada por el Capitan del Vapor Legazn 

(or Legazpi). 

Liquidacion pesetas 76,25 
Tipo de cambia '/• (?) 
Fraccion pagada a mano 
Liquido Libras -£1,I2,J. 

~St~fPl 
l Seal ~ 

(Translation) 

Colonial Protectorate 

Fernando Po 

El curador colonial 
(Signed) 

The labourer K uya • •...•• native of Monrovia, will collect upon his disembarking in the 
republic of Liberia the sum of Pounds sterling 1.12.3-amount of settlement of his contract 
no., ...... of. . . . . . . . . . , . , 192., which will be handed over to him by the Captain of the 
S.S. LEGAZZI (or Legazpi) 

Santa Isabel, June 14, 1930. 

Settlement-pesetas 76'25 
Standard exchange 1/, (?) 
Part paid in hand 
Settlement [1.12.3. 

~ St~TP l 
l Seal ~ 

The Colonial Governor 
(Signed) 

(h) Paramount Chief Choami of Kronroke testified that he had been sent for by the 
District Commissioner and told that he had been required to demand boys for Fernando 
Po. The Commissioner admitted that in his first talk to the chiefs he had advised against 
allowing men to be taken to Fernando Po, his reason being, apart from the objection to the 
Island, that he was trying to introduce a communal planting scheme designed to bolster up 
the products of the area, but that he had received such a strong letter from the central 
Government that chiefs would be dealt with upon refusal. The chief objected and he was placed 
under guard. Fifty men were asked for but forty would be accepted. Because of the number 
of boys on the road work he was unable to find the number. After an hour in the guard room 
he was brought out again and asked for the boys. Still refusing the Commissioner threatened 
to send soldiers to get them. He requested permission to return with his counsellors and try 
to get them himself. He was released but two soldiers were sent with him. When his people 
saw the soldiers they ran to the bush. The soldiers then caught women, tied them and held 
them until morning. The chief sent his messengers for the men but only the old ones and 
several sub-chiefs returned. They were carried to the D. C.'s compound. The women .were 
then sent for. The remainder is quoted from the statement of Chief Choami. 

" The chiefs and the old men said to the District Commissioner, ' Is it possible for 
us to leave our wives and children to go to Fernando Po ? Fernando Po is not a very 
good place to be; people die there frequently. If you want us to work on the road, or 
at Firestone's we will go, but not to Fernando Po.' 

"'But you have to go to Fernando Po. You did not give young men therefore you 
will have to go. ' 

" Then the old men said, ' Let us go and see if we can catch our young men, but 
Fern.~ndo Po is a pla?e where men die often and we do not want to go.' 

T~en he sa1d, If you all do not want to go then the Chief of every town must 
stay until men are found.' Therefore chiefs returned to the guard room while the old 
men. went to look for boys. When he was coming out he met all the women who had been 
commg toward Nyaake to meet him, the king. 
. " The women said, ' Since you left us yesterday, they put us in a small house and 
1f you had to go to the call of nature you had to be held by soldiers.' 
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" The Chief said, ' Let the women go. • 
" Soldiers said,' No. The D. C.'s orders must be obeyed. • 
" So he returned to the District Commissioner and said • I go look for men and see 

how soldiers treat our women. ' ' 
"He said, 'Well, if .you don't want to go to Fernando Po, you will be treated so. 

Tell !~e wome~ t~ get ~e1r husban.ds fro!~~ the bush or they will have to go. • 
They sa1d, All nght. We will go, if our husbands said so. • 

" ~en. the soldiers came in the town to get the women, all ran. One woman ran 
and !~~ m ditch and broke her leg. Next morning he carried to the barracks thirty men. 

These boys that you want sent to Fernando Po have we got to get something 
from them as we get from the boys who go to Firestone's ? • 

" He said, ' It is none of your business and it is not mine to tell you. They are going 
for four to six months. ' 

" So afterwards at the expiration of six months, he went to the District Commissioner 
and said, ' Where are the boys ? ' 

" 'I will write to Yancy and what he says I will tell you. •" 

The District Commissioner was questioned by the Commissioners on this incident. It was 
substantially correct although the District Commissioner in question was one of the frankest of 
the officials met during the course of the field visits. He had advised against the recruiting 
for shipment out of the country, but, because of the difficulty of distinguishing between 
governmental authority and authority of higher government officials requiring private action 
from subordinate government officials )le was faced with a situation. 

In December 1928 he received a communication from the Vice President saying he had 
a letter from President King which he had been instructed to deliver in person and not by 
proxy to the District Commissioner and he requested him to come to Cape Palmas to receive it. 

" This letter comes to advise you that I arrived in Cape Palmas on last week 
Wednesday and in leaving Monrovia the President handed me a letter bearing your 
address and of which he asked me to tender you this in person and not by proxy. 

" In view of this fact I shall be pleased to have you come to Harper at an early date 
and thereby take receipt of same. " 

The District Commissioner; however, was at that time sick and replied that he could not 
undertake the trip down the river to Cape Palmas. Later Mr. Yancy instructed him to join 
him on a certain date at Gbolobo, but the District Commissioner was still unable to keep the 
appointment, with the result that the Vice President subsequenUy appeared himself at the 
D.C.'s station at Webbo. He brought with him the letter previously mentioned dated Decem~er 
3rd, 1928, received in Monrovia from the President. This letter contained the followmg 
paragraph: 

"Honourable Allen N. Yancy of Maryland, has the Government's .permis~ion to 
ship a limited number of labourers from Cape Palmas to Fernando Po; If any 1!1 your 
District are desirous of enlisting for such service, I should be obli~ed for any assistance 
you can give him towards the accomplishment of his undertaking. ' 

. After receipt of these letters, both upon the official stationery of their high offices t~e 
District Commissioner felt himself obliged to act when on July :z, 1929, Mr. Yancy wrote him 
telling him that one Mr. Danile had received a certificate from him to recruit two hundred 
more labourers for Fernando Po. Chief Choami's experience suggests how thoroughly he 
carried out his orders as he understood them. Later another letter from Mr. Yancy, dated 
July 10, 1929, requested him to look out for and arrest eleven Bassa boys who had " eloped" 
from a gang being taken to Cape Palmas. 

The Customs Record shows the following entry which could easily be traced by the 
Commissioners : 
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h. d from Maryland County to the Spanish Protectorate 
.. List of Labourers s 1ppe d f h · 

h C Palmas Recruiting Company, engage or t e serv1ce 
of Fernando Po by t e ape . . 

of one year from Date heremunder. 

Per S.S. Montevideo. 

Town Chief Tribe 
Names 
Freeman Tedeke Choami Webbo 

21 » 
Monday D •• 22 Tededeju • • 23 Half Dinner » 
Every Day Dudu1 • 24 
facob Tarteh • » 

25 il • • 26 eacup • 
Sea-breeze Kono-Wodoke • » 

27 
28 Davis • • ·• 

Davis No.2 • • » 
29 

David • » 
30 » 

• 0 •••••••• 
....... 0 1 I I I I 

o o o o 0 o o o o o I 

0 •••••••• 0 
....... •• 0 •• 0 ........... 

252 Seydi Worteke Kliyee Gedebo 

N.B. -Nos. 76-137 Labourers 1 of the Bassa are for two (2) years engagement. 

For the Cape Palmas Recruiting Co., 

(Signed) Allen N. YANCY. 

Recruiting Agent, Maryland County, R.L. 

Registered according to law on the 4th day 
of January, 1929, two hundred & fifty-two 
labourers to be shipped by the S.S. Africano to 
the port of Fernando Po for the full space of (1) 
one year from date thereof. 

Except from Nos. 76-137 Labourers who are 
of the Bassa Tribe, for the full space of (2) two 
years from the date hereof. 

LibreviUe. 

(Signed) S. A. D. THOMSON, 

Lab011r Agent, Md. Co., R.L. 

4th January 1929 
O.K. 

S.M. Perry 
s. c. 

5-I : 29 

A. · Kidnapping. - On June 13, 1928 at Cape Palmas, 145 labourers, principally Kru and 
Grebo, were carried aboard the S.S. Sierra Leone, in the belief that they were going to the 
Gold Coast to work. It is usual for the men of these tribes to seek work as deck hands on 
steamers, or for work in certain of the British Colonies. They were of the belief further, that · 
they had been recruited by Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi, then Agent of the E. & H. Nissen Line, who 
had approached them with the offer of such employment on the coast. ·When the ship left 
Cape Palmas, instead of stopping at the Gold Coast, it continued in open sea beyond the points 
familar to the men. They became alarmed and approached the Captain with inquiries. He 
then told them that he had orders from Mr. Massaquoi to carry them not to Lagos but to 
Libreville in the French Congo. It developed further that the headman knew that the boys 
were not to stop at the Gold Coast. On arrival at Libreville, 140 of these labourers were separated 
into small groups, assigned to various employers and transferred to the interior. 

The objection to Libreville is the nature of the work-the handling of heavy logs which, 
for these untrained natives, have resulted in many serious injuries, together with reports 
of ill-treatment and cruelty brought by returning labourers. Messrs. E. & H. Nissen are 
concessionnaires in the French Congo. 

. 1 It is :worth noting in this connection that the 61 Bassa labourers shipped from Grand Bassa, are a 
<hrect evaston of a law of the Republic designed to protect these tribes even lrom voluntary shipment out 
of the country : 

· "Soc. 1,346. - No Shipffltftl /f'offl MoftlsnrtJtlo """ BIJSstJ Cov,.lits. - It ~hall be unlawful for any 
person to sh1p any Liberian citizen beyond the limits of the Republic to reside as labourers in any foreign 
country or colony from the County of Montserrado including the Territory of Grand Cape Mount, or from 
the County of Grand Bassa. Any person violating this provision shall be liable to a fine of fifty·dollars for 
each person so sh1pped. " 
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Qf this part!cular lot sent, 4 returned-the headman, his assistant and two labo 
One o~ t~e lot died e1t !'Oflte· Many angles of this question have been presented befor':~~~ 
Comm1sston and attentlon has been drawn to the case largely as a result of th h t 
confused controversy. e somew a 

(a) The four men who retur.ned contended for payment as deck workers and were 
refused payment by Mr. Massaqu01. • 

. (b) The 140 men had ~een used as stevedores for some time loading and unloading the 
ship and at the end of a penod were sent ashore at Libreville. · 

(c) They contended that they were deliberately misled by Mr. Massaquoi and would 
never have consented to go to Libreville to remain any period. 

(d) The case had. been investigated by the Department of Justice and it was decided that 
the men should be pa1d. 

(e) The four returned men presented slips from the Captain which showed that they had 
worked as stevedores for fifty-five days. 

(/) Pay for the four men and responsibility for the 140 were disclaimed by Mr. Massaquoi 
on the grounds that : . 

(1) He had, by the time of their return, wired his resignation to the Copenhagen 
headquarters of E. & H. Nissen Company although he still retained all papers and the 
power of attorney of the Company. 

(z) He could not recruit boys because he did not have a license. 

(3) That the boys were shipped by Mr. Yancy for his firm. 

(4) They were definitely recruited for Libreville. 

(S) Some of the boys were recruited by the Cavalla River Company. 1 

· Regarding the responsibility for recruiting of the men Mr. Massaquoi's testimony was as 
follows : 

" Question. - Is there any documentary evidence anywhere that the men knew 
they were going definitely to work at Libreville ? 

Massaquoi.- I refer you to the Cavalla River Company; they got some of the boys 
and they knew that the boys were going to Libreville. 

Question. - You have no positive knowledge that the boys were told? 

Massaquoi. - I have positive knowledge so far as the Cavalla River Company is 
concerned. 

Questio1t. - Is there any evidence to show that the boys knew they were going to 
Libreville and not to the Gold Coast ? 

M assaquoi. - I am sure there is, because the Cavalla River Company had men to 
recruit these boys for Mr. Yancy and I am sure they were told." · 

The Commissioners followed up many of these points later in Cape Palmas. The Cavalla 
River Company statement is as follows : 

"The Cavalla River Company have not at any time directly or indirectly been 
instrumental in recruiting Labourers for Libreville. We have, however, been connected 
in a business way with Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi representing himself to be the Liberian 
Manager for Messrs. E. & H. Nissen of Copenhagen. We understand that Mr. Massaquoi 
recruited several gangs of Labourers in this district for the purpose of sending them tC? 
Libreville to work for the Union forestil:re africaine. We were asked by r.fr. Massaquo1 
to undertake the feeding of these Labourers whilst awaiting shipment, and in some cases, 
during Mr. Massaquoi's absence, he authorized us to pay the local Authorities the various 
fees payable on the embarkation of labourers to ports outside the Republic. ~operations 
in this respect have invariably been secured by a substantial amount ~tanding to M_assa­
quoi's credit in our books. We regret our inability to furnish you with any details as 
regards the number of boys shipped to Libreville as we had no interest whatsoever in 
the matter except as purveyors of food. " 

1 See Testimony before the Commission in Monrovia, Alhaj Maseaquoi, A 127 : D. Tw~, A 7S : Record 
of Proceedings of investigation by Solicitor General (Department of Justice) on compla1Dt of Headman 
Friday, e(al. 
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Mr. Yancy presented to the Commissioners a memorandum on the affair as follows : 

" There were some labourers recruited by Mr. Alhaj,Massaquoi's Nissen Company for 
the Congo, without my knowledge, and attempted to. ~e sh~pped by them :. but wer~ 
stopped by the Labour Agent because they had no recrUitmg L1cense. Mr. Alba) Massaquo1 
came to me and informed me that he had these Labourers and that they were willing 
to go·; but the Labour Agent would _not permit them. as he had no license and .asked D?e 
to permit him to ship them on my license. I l?~ve h1m my consent to do so , but d1d 
not recruit them nor ship them under the supervision of my local agents. The arrangements 
made with these boys by Mr. Massaquoi I k1_1ew 1_1othing about whatever ; but ~e 
told me that he had recruited these boys for Libreville. I never dreamed that he did 
not tell the boys where they were going until subsequently some of the labourers who 
returned told me of what Mr. Massaquoi had done to them. They made a complaint to · 
Attorney Cummings of this Ci!Y• who is here also the headll?an named Hadago, and can 
be had by you if you would like to have them. I would like them to be called by you. 
Besides these there are several other persons who could be called to prove that I had 
nothing to do with the recruiting of these labourers ; but Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi did it, 
whose names I could not furnish you." 

They returned in July 1929. 
In January of 1930 following complaints to Libreville from the Secretary of State about 

failure of repatriation, 206 labourers arrived on a ship and no one seems to have known who 
lliey~~~t~h~~~~~~h~~. . 

TESTIMONY OF LABOURERS. 

(a) Korgbe Kley, a headman for the Italian boat Sardinia, before the Commission 
April 23, 1930, testified fo having met and talked with some of the men ; one of them 
Nagbe, an acquaintance, who had been spirited away to Libreville by Massaquoi, when 
they believed they were going to Accra. 1 

(b) At Gbanken, Wedabo Country, in May 1930, the American Commissioner met 
14 of the labourers who had been in the shipment. Johnson Broh, second headman from 
the section related their experience thus : 

"We were home in Wedabo, Gbanken, when a man, named Massaquoi, wrote 
a letter, sent it to us, saying wanted boys for Seccondy, Lagos. So we went to Cape. 
Fourteen men from Wedabo from up bush, making a total of 145 at Cape Palmasr 
We were to go to Lagos and Seccondy, two months, to load ships, then come home. 
Then we agreed. We always going to Lagos and Seccondy and we know what 
happened there. So we are there. Ship comes.· Four or five days time we no see 
Seccondy. Went to Captain and say, " When we going to get to Lagos ? ' Captain 
say, ' I no take you Lagos.' 

" ' Where you taking us ? ' 
" ' I take you not to Lagos but to French Congo. It is not my order, but order 

from Massaquoi.' . 
" Boat have not any laborers, so we worked those gang, called down 2/6 for 

m~n, 4/- for headman. That our promise for steamer work. We spent 55 days in the 
sh1p from June I2 to August 6th. Then we went to French Congo when we were 
to go ashore. 

"We say to Captain, ' You got to pay before ashore ? ' 
" Captain say, ' I got no pay for you.' 
"We say, 'What we done? Have we not done our duty all right? You no 

pay us ? ' 
·: Then he say, ' Everrthing is to Massaquoi. I got nothing to do with you but 

to bnng to French Congo. 
" When we get to French Congo it was 6 in the evening. Then he started to send . 

labo~;ers ashore, put labourers in motor-car and send them to bush. 
Before we went we say, ' Why you send us bush ? We be sea men ' 

" Captain say,·' This is our order.' · 
" They started to beat us and send us away. They divided us in groups of 

Io to 2o. Second promis~ was headman may return back. So when we done our 
d!lty, the Johns.on and Fnday and two old men and one young man wounded who 
d1ed on same sh1p (was hurt at work on ship) went on ship to go to Monrovia Before 
we get to Monrovia went to Captain and asked for pay and he say • Massaq~oi going 
to pay you when you get to Monrovia.' ' 

:: When we ~ot to, Monrovia went to Massaquoi for pay. 

Y 
Massaquo1 say, I got not money for you all. I give money to Vice President 

ancy.' 
to G" So when he say that we take matter. to Government. Since we .take matter 

t 
oTvehrnll?enthcall Yancy, but we never heard judgment nor have we got our part 

ye . at IS w at I see." 

1 See Testimony of Korgbe KJey, A 197. 
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(c) Fine Country (Native name Debah), a headman for the gang on shore thus 
testified : 

" I left with boys in steamer, left in Johnson Broh's hand. I took some bo s 
for s~ore. Pla~e no good for them. Flogged them there. When flog labourers headm!n 
say, What th1s ~an done ? ' So treat me too. Say, we bought you from Government. 
~ny labourers s1ck, refused to feed them. When they continue to work that is the 
tlme they feed you. When some of them was sick, Master say • let them stop home 
Lock them up.' ' · 

" Two o~ three die w~en come back. Stay one year and three months. When 
we were commg back white man say, • Each headman £20.0.0 ; each labourer 
[13.0.0 for o~e year, ~hree months.' Never got it. When we come back we take order 
for pay to V1ce President Yancy. 

" He say, • All right. You receive pay.' 
Then he say, • Wait. Go to Massaquoi tomorrow. He will pay you.' 

" When w~ went to Massaquoi no meet him. Massaquoi went to Europe. Out 
of 140 fifteen die. Those who dead have no pay. I have no pay. Nobody ever had 
any pay." 

B. On May 3oth, 1929, there were landed at Monrovia from the German steamer W arrega 
47 Grebo boys recruited from Cape Palmas. • 

These boys attempted to see Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi to collect their pay. On failure to see 
him they appealed to Attorney Sie Brownell of native Grebo parentage, who attempted to 
get them repatriated and paid. They asserted that Mr. Massaquoi had recruited them for work 
in the Gold Coast, and on arrival in Libreville were allotted in groups to different masters and 
held there, under considerable hardship and illness, for one year and five months. The matter 
was first presented to the Labour Bureau and later to the Interior Department and the 
Department of Justice. At an investigation Mr. Massaquoi presented a copy of a telegram 
and letter to Copenhagen which he had sent severing his connection with the company. He 
did not at that time deny recruiting the labourers. On appeal to Copenhagen headquarters 
the Danish Consul, Mr. Anthony Barclay received fs.o.o with which to purchase food for the 
men until they could be sent to their homes in Maryland County. • 

The Company, however, stated that he, Mr. Massaquoi, had received £6oo.o.o from 
Libreville for which no accounting had been made. 

The boys were returned to Cape Palmas. 

Notwithstanding the confusion of detail the Commission feels confident that the labourers 
were told that they were going to work on the Gold Coast and were sent instead to Libreville 
where they would not have consented to go; that Mr. Massaquoi was responsible for this 
recruiting of these labourers under the false impression; and that they were actually shipped 
by Mr. Yancy who holds the sole recruiting license for the county. 

Whether recruited by Mr. Massaquoi or Mr. Yancy is less important to the Commission 
than the fact of the deliberate false recruitment. 

It is equally evident that other labourers were recruited for Libreville and that they have 
made similar complaints. 

(a) At Soloken four returned labourers from Libreville were inte~ie'!ed _by ~he 
Commissioner. They were Jalateh, Nebo, Grando Klah and Weze. They remamed tn Libreville 
two years and seven months. Through Nebo the story of the boys is told: 

"Governor Yancy in 1926 told we sea people may come and go to Seccondy. When 
Yancy told them to go to Seccondy ship them right through to French Congo. Went to 
Captain two days after Cape Palmas, • Where you take us go ? ' 

"Captain say, • Your Governor Yancy say take you to French Congo. I no take you 
to Seccondy.' . . . . 

" As Captain say this to me, I cannot fly; I JUmp tn water I die. I will go wherever 
Captain want to carry me. When we begin to get to French Cong~ .the Fre~ch put we 
in jail and fed we to make we strong for work. Then loose from Jail. Say, I feel you 
strong man now ; must go to work.' 

" So when they took you do work paid you. $4.00 in French money for one month. 
Say we no want French money. No use in our country. . . , 

" Massa say, • All Right. Give you $2.00 and other will remam to buy your tobacco. 
"Then go do work. After one year want to go home, July. 
"• No I' say, • Governor Yancy say you must remain two year before you return 

back.' Because of that because he say he want to come home lose four weeks and make 
we labour. When we go work flog.them. When boy sick, massa say,' You come work; 
no sick.' 

'See Testimony N. H. Sie Brownell before Commission in Monrovia, April 22, 1930. A 182. See also 
D. Twe Testimony. -

• See Testimony Anthony Barclay, Danish Consul, before Commission, April 23, 1930. A :u.s. 
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· · and bring from bush 140 men. Forty died ; one hundred 
" Cutting logs •. load.mg tram as home first year i second year poor chop·. Cassava 

returned ba~k. 
1 

G;ve ~ce sam~k If anyone have sick belly go to doctor, come back 
ground Jiut IW eaked~w~ ;!a~ s~ven month. Then Master gave we paper for pay to 
home-:- e. or h dman £25 0 0 When get back to Cape meet Yancy to 
Woohdm,ylabourer £~2A~:·yo!athem went F;ench Congo? You can't leave me without 
beac . ancy say, I ill t · · iJ' 

in to Woodin for pay, if you do w pu you m Ja · · . , 
go IF. Yancy went to Woodin and say,' Giv~ me money and I will f~Y them. 

" After Yancy met me on street; say, What town you from . 
"I say, 'From King Jeh's town.' . , 
" Yancy say, ' King Jeh report me to MonroVIa. 
" Nobody got any money. · . , I h 
"I say, • This is all the same thing you do all t1me. You don t want us peop e to ave 

anyt~i~~ier that Yancy call me up and give me [1.0.0. To big men 1oj- ; some 6/- ; 
some sf-." 
(b) At Newaken in the Barrabo Section the Commission interviewed the he~dman, 

Freeman, and 13 labourers returned from Libreville, w:ho had been sent under the belief that 
they were going to the Gold Coast. These men were : 

Name 

Sam 
Best Man 
Sea Breeze 
Takwee 
John 
Moses 
Johnson 
Africa 

·Joseph 
Sea Breeze No. 2 
Friday 
Ben 
Charlie 
Freeman (headman) 

Town 

Nanisuke 

" 
" 
" 
" 
" Tika 

Nanisuke 
Tika 

" Nanisuke 

" Cavalla 
Doboke 

This testimony was given through Freeman and corroborated by each : 

"We were told that there was work for us on the Gold Coast. We went to Cape 
Palmas and 140 of us were sent to Libreville. Hard labour with logs and in rain all day 
and sometimes all night, and feeding on cassava make plenty sick and die. French people 
gave them S2.oo monthly in French money, balance to be sent to Cape Palmas. Went 
to Supt. Yancy, but have no pay yet." 

Two circumstances observed by the Commissioners gave strength to the version as 
reported by the men : 

(a) An order for men intended for Libreville but not so stated was sent up country 
on a letterhead of the firm of Elder Dempster Ltd. and signed by " J. B. Wilson, Manager, 
for the Cape Palmas Recruiting Agent." 

" ELDER DEMPSTER AND COMPANY, LIMITED. 

Cape Palmas 
Liberia 

14, August, 1928 · 
"This is to certify that Mr. Alfred W. Collins has been requested to bring from one 

(x) up to (300) three hundred Boys for the Gold Coast these boys is to be at the Cape soon 
as the headman can get them down. By so doing this shall your order as headman over 
the Gang of Boys for the Gold Coast. 

For the Cape Palmas Recruiting Co. 

Approved : 

Allen Yancy, Jr." 

(Signed) J. B. WILSON, 

Manager. 

It was asc;ertai~ed by the C?mmission that "J. B. Wilson " was Messrs. Elder Dempster 
a1_1d Comp<~;ny s Ch1ef Clerk. HIS use of the firm's letter paper was quite unauthorized. In 
h1s spare hme he was employed by Vice President Yancy. This letter is misleading in two 
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r~pec:ts, and in all probability is meant to be. Firstly : it gives the impression that the British 
shippmg firms at Cape Palmas are closely associated "ith the Cape Pal R 't' c 
whereas their only interest apparently in the shipment of boys dmas tech rul mgt . ompanly 

b · · . th · f din . own e coas 1s pure y a usmess o~e VIZ • eir ee g and eqmpment and advances made to th S dl · 
it probably g~ves to those up country whom it may concern assurance that th:~ :~':.ea~ · 
for the Gold !=oast as stated an~ n~t for Fern~ndo Po. It was asserted that Mr. Yan'f em lo ea 
other clerks m Cape Palmas shippmg offices m the same way. y p y 

(b) The following letter was located in the files of the Customs Office at Cape Palmas : 

" Office of the Recruiting Agent 
Maryland County 

" Allen N. Yancy 
Cape Palrnas 

Liberia 

The Collector of Customs, 
Port of Harper, Cape Palmas. 

Dear Sir: 

4th, December 1928. 

~y the voucher you ~ill please permit Messrs. The Cavalla River Company, Limited, 
to ship IOO Boys from this country to the British Colony by the S. S. Sierra Nevada now 
due. Please note th~t all legal fees will be met by this office and paid over to you. 

I have the honour to be, Sir 
Your obedient Servant 

(Sig11ed) J. Samuel BROOKS 

For Allen N. Yancy 

Recruiting Agent for Maryland 
County. 

Attached to this letter was a list of boys checked by the Customs on December 6th, 1928, 
read as follows : , 

"List of Recruited Boys for LibreviUe per S.S. Sierra-Nevada, etc." 

It may be noted that in this instance the covering letter is signed by Superintendent 
Brooks, then of Maryland County, now of Bassa, for the Vice President, who was the Recruiting 
Agent. 

Attention might be given in passing to an apparent attempt at the protection of such 
labourers in the Statutes of Liberia, not only disregarded by the Recruiters but condoned 
by the Customs Officials, the Labour Bureau, County Superintendents, as well. a 

The Fcrnatldo Po Agreements. 

The question of Liberian labour for use in the Spanish Island of Fernando Po, as well 
as in the Portuguese Islands of Principe and St. Thomas extends back many years. Popular 
dissatisfaction with the informal relations which were gradually impoverishing the country 
of its labour, the extravagant mortality from sleeping-sickness and other diseases, the 
irresponsibility of masters and reported excesses of cruelty ; the permanent expatriation of 
Liberian subjects led at first to legislative prohibition against exportation to these Islands. 
The protests of the Islanders through the Spanish Government that the stoppage of men reacted 
disastrously upon their agricultural programme prompted the Liberian Government to recon­
sider the matter and eventually to enter upon a formal agreement in 1914 with the King of 
Spain. 

The Agreement, however, attempted to insure the labourers against the common abuses 
and provided for-(a) a Liberian Consul at Fernando Po who should exercise official oversight;· 
(b) a regulated clearance of labourers through a Labour Bureau; (c) recruiting in permissible 
Liberian ports under Spanish Recruiting Agents who should be supervised by the Spanish 

1 Section 1344· "Coftsul at Pori of Laftdiftg. - A consul shall be appointed at the porta to _which 
labourers are shipped, whose duty it shall be, in addition to the ordinary co~sular duttes, to re«~ve all 
labourers of whatever class arriving from Liberia; to have proper and lawful arttcles of agreement executed 
by persons desiring to employ such labourers; to see that the agreements entered into between ~uch lab_ouren 
and their employers are honestly and faithfully fullilled; to secure to such labourers every nght, pnvdege 
and immunity guaranteed by the laws of the Government under which they reside and by treatr betwee_n 
such Government and the Republic of Liberia; to see that they are promptly and fully pat'})or thetr 
services and returned to the Liberian port from which they shipped. " 



Consul at Monrovia ; (d) selecting of four recruiting agents by Lib~ria ; (e) agricultur~~sts 
of Fernando Po to come to Monrovia to make the arrangements wtth them ; (/) provtston 
of copies of the labourers' contracts to the Liberian Customs, Secretary of Sta~e •. the Liberian 
Consul and the Liberian Consul General at F~rnando P'?~ach statem~nt contammg the name, 
county, town, district, tribe, chief and pertod of be~1!lnmg and e!ldmg of cont.ract, and. to 
be presented to the Labour Agent 3 days before the satling o.f the. shtp ; (g) a maxtmum penod 
of two years and minimum of one year from date of arnval m Fernando Po; refusal of 
labourers to persons or firms not holding the dual authority.of the Govern?r of Fernando Po 
and Liberian authorities ; (h) refusal of labourers for determmed farms, or msolvent farmers ; 
(i) guarantee of good treatment; (1) prohibi~ion of extension of. contract beyond period 
indicated ; (k) proper payment of wages m Enghsh money, one-half m Fernando Po, one-half 
through the Spanish Consul on return to Liberia; (l) recovery !>f wages of la~ourers who die 
in the island ; (m) termination of contract by either party on SIX months' notice. 

Under this convention several thousand were recruited and shipped. Records in the 
office of the Secretary of State indicate that between 1919 and 1926 a total of 4,268 had been 
so recruited. • 

Averaging 6oo a year the total number from 1914 to 1927, the period of termination 
of the Convention, would be at least 7,268. Transportation was paid by the Spanish 
Government, and the headmoney required by the Government for each labourer constituted 
an important source of revenue. In addition 2/- for each labourer regularly contracted was 
paid by the Master and 4/- for repatriation by the boy. 

With the termination of the Convention in 1927 the Liberian Government, before agreeing 
to renewal, sought a preferential tariff on its produce, principally coffee, in Spain. Meanwhile, 
however, with the Fernando Po farms again in serious need of labour, two representatives of 
the private Interests of the Island, Edward Baticon and Emanuel Gonezrosa came to arrange 
for 3,000 boys. In the face of the seriousness of their plight, the manifest disinclination of a 
sufficiently large number of boys to go there voluntarily, and the necessity, at least as late 
as 1925, of resorting to force in Sinoe County, 1 they were prepared to pay a liberal bonus for 
boys. Mr. Samuel A. Ross, who had been interested in these shipments, was sought as the 
prin.cipal party to a new contract. The result was a private agreement between the Syndicato 
Agncola de Guinea and a group of Liberian citizens, referred to as Recruiting Agents, and 
represented by Mr. Samuel A. Ross. The group of Liberian citizens entering the contract were 
as follows : · 

Thomas E. C. Pelham, 
Robert W. Draper, 
E. G. W. King, 
J. C. Johnson, 
M. A. Bracewell, 
C. L. Cooper. 

The first two named are sons-in-law of Mr. Ross, the third, a brother of the President, 
and two of the others female clerks. 

Under the indenture of agreement the Syndicate promised to pay the Recruiting Agents 
for 3,000 labourers £9.0.0 .each, provide transportation, a bonus of £r,ooo.o.o for each 1,500 
boys, and to cause a ~~amsh steamer to call at the ports of Greenville and Harper to receive 
the boys. The Recrutbng Agents were to pay from the £9.0.0 (about S4s.oo) the following: 
head~oney, $4.00; taxes, h.~o.: advances (an arbitrary sum cited in the testimony as being 
~omebmes between 2 and 6 shtlliJ?gS and on one occasion £r.o.o) and food, an amount of rice. 
tssued as a r!lle through the tradmg stores, and depending upon the arrival of the steamer 
a!ter the delivery of the boys in the port. At times they remained only one day. at other 
times as long as one week. • ~ 

h Jus~ prior to th~ arrival of the two Spanish representatives Mr. D. Twe, accompanied 
t e Prestdent on a trtp to the Kroo Coast. • 

d ~At the Kroo Co~st, we went to Sasstown, where we were met by Messrs Yancy 
:'-n oss. Mr. Ross .satd to me! this year I am going to make some money. I a~ked him 
m what way. He satd I am gomg to do so by shipping some boys to Fernando Po. Mr. 

1 
See statement of "Boys Recr 't d d p 'd 0" f · 

19Z7. " Document. ut e an at " or the Spantsh Possession of Fernando Po, 1919-
1 Reference to Sinoe incident. 
1 

Reference is made to the Sinoe shipm t · h' h h 
of rice which was sold on the departure of~; tnt w tc t d mhen were required to bring an excess supply 
native food considerably less than I/ r e. 8 .ea.mer an t e money appropriated. With the cost of 
71· out of the £9.o.o for each labourer: pe day tt 18 tmprobable that total expenditure for food exceeded 

• See Testimony of D. Twe before Commission in Monrovia, Aprili6. 
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Ross said tha~ the Spanish needed 3,000 boys but that the President told him to share 
the ndumbeulr Wlthd MrT. Yancy. I th~n pointed out to Mr. Ross that that part of the country 
was epop ate • he conversation ended there.•" 

The agreement went into effect April 2, I928. 

· Mr. Ya~~y states t~at during ~he same year Mr. Ross appointed him his agent in Cape 
Palmas and allowed him out of his contract to recruit and ship I 500 labourers •" 

Although a group of 23? had been sent by Mr. Ross on Sept. 2,'I927, the shipment under 
the new agreements from Smoe were as follows : 

Ship 

Isla de Panay 
Montevideo 
Isla de Panay 
Montevideo 
Isla de Panay 
Montevideo 

Date 

August I, I928 
Sept. I, 1928 
Oct. 2, 1928 
Oct. JI, I928 
Dec. JI, I928 
Jan. 4. 1929 

Labourers 

71 
115 
J24 
go 

uS 
231 

_The Ca~e. Pal~as shipments under ~he new agreements began after the taking out of a 
spec1al recru1t1ng license by Mr. Yancy m the fall. Between 1928 and 1930, i.1. to Dec. 31, 
I929, a total of 2:43I 1 boys had been shipped: I,426 from Sinoe, and I,005 from Cape Palmas. • 

Mr. Ross d1ed suddenly in November I929. 
The total of I,005 for Cape Palmas, where Mr. Yancy is sole recruiting agent, as given by 

the State Department from records on file for the period ending December 31st, 1929, is just 
205 more than the figure given by Mr. Yancy to the Commissioners in June of 1930 as the 
total sent by him under the contract. 

The record of shipments to Fernando Po for I929 alone, as drawn from the shipping 
agencies, is as follows : 

Ship Date No. Laboureno 

Montevideo Jan. 5 2JI 
Isla de Panay Feb. 2 87 
Montevideo March 4 220 
Isla de Panay April 2 68 
Montevideo May 7 68 
Isla de Panay June 2 I2I 
Montevideo Sept. I I03 
Legaspi Nov. I 68 
Isla de Panay Dec. 3 ~ 

989 

During the same year 22 returned from Fernando Po. 
Further, that there have been shipments during I930 is suggested by the following news 

item carried in a local paper edited privately by the official Labour Agent of Maryland County. 

"On the 3rd inst. (March-April issue) the following ships arrived outward bound : 
the S.S. W a gogo (German) for deck hands ; and the S.S. Gelazpi (Spanish) taking 
recruited labourers to Fernando Po." · 

While the arrangement under Government supervision was regarded as a serious economic 
error, involving hazards of discomfort, death from disease, encouragement to slave methods, 
the private recruiting with such liberal sums paid for each labourer must certainly prove worse. 
Apart from the recruiting to be treated further : 

(a) The method of recruiting the natives sent away was observed to be careless and 
irregular. 

I .. Lists were made out, apparently merely to give the semblance of legality. The 
names of the tribes and chiefs, required after each labourer's name, were frequently 
wrong or omitted entirely. 

' Testimony of D. Twe, A 6:z. 
I See Memorandum to Commission by Vice President Allen N. Yancy. 
1 The number, :z •. ur for the period may or may not have represented the total shipments. . . 
• Reference to records in Department of State provided by Secretary <1 State to _Commt.,.ton on 

request and headed : " Statement of Boys Recruited and Paid Off for the Spamsh PO!I8eSftton of Fernando 
Po-From I9:Z8·JO. " (To April :z6, 1930 a total of 366 boys had been patd oil.) ·~• 



Th · effective check to determine whether the labo~rers sent ~way at a 
2. ere 15 no d d using as is the custom such mcknames (mstead of 

pe~od are the ones returne. anu • Book-Don't Lie Black'Man's Trouble, John No. I, 
native countJryhnamNes)3a~t~mi; vf:;uld be extremely difficult to identify the men, either 
John No. 2, o n o. • ·• 
for repatriation or pay. . 

3
. Lists required three days before the sailing of steamers were frequently given to 

the Customs at the moment of departure. 

The Labour Agent is not permitted to check the persons ; he may only check 
~ . . A t the lists as submitted by the Recruitmg gen . 

. The Customs officials are not permitted to check the men or inquire into the 
met~ods of their exportation. 

6. Names were in instances added to the typed list in pencil or in~, and on ~~ard 
ship, when, as not infrequently happened, labourers sent from Monrovia (~ prohibited 

ort of exportation) were met on the steamer by the deputy of the Recrultmg Agent, 
~dded to the list and continued on their way to Fernando Po. 

(b) The Recruiting Agent insisted upon receiving the money and paying th~ boys 
without the supervision of the Labour Bureau or any_ ot~er Go~ern~ent ag~ncy, as IS d?ne 
in the case of deck hands and as is required by law. Comcident With this fact IS the complamt, 
fairly general among the returned labourers, that they did not receive the amounts due to 
them, as the second half of their pay in Liberia. 

(c) Boys are shipped from prohibited areas. 

(d) Public officials, messengers and soldiers are used systematically and mandatorily 
to assist in the recruiting of these labourers. 

(e) The interests of the boys cannot be effectively safeguarded in the island to which they 
are sent. 

(/) The Republic profits from this draft upon its labour and internal development only 
to the extent of the headmoney received. 

(g) There appears no effective means of recovering the wages of labourers, who die in 
the Island, for their families. 

(h) There is at present a considerable indebtedness to the Government from these 
headmonies which have not been paid, although they represent less than one-twelfth of the 
total amount received from these boys. 

(i) A monopoly has been established by one individual on recruiting and not even Gold 
Coast labourers may be secured without passing through him. 

(1) No private citizen without the implied authority of a·high Government office could 
command such a monopoly unrestricted, or with impunity employ the channels of Government 
so completely to his private ends. The arbitrariness of recruiting agents' fees may be observed 
in the increased rates charged to shipping concerns for labour desired in the British Colonies. 
In 1924 the Recruiting Agent's fee was 7/9. in 1927 it was increased to fi.Io.o ; and in 1930 
to this £t.Io.o were added headmoney I6f8, tax on recruiting agent I0/5. poll tax 4/2, and 
I0/5 for an affidavit-all paid to the Recruiting Agent, who disbursed portions of this to 
the Customs. 1 

STATEMENTS CoNCERNING RECRUITING POLICY. 

D~ring the period of. about two .m~mths of observation in Maryland County by the League 
of NatJo~s and the Amencan Commis.sioners,.there were three statements submitted deserving 
of atten!1on because they are at vanance w1th the general trend of the testimony regarding 
!hese .slupments. One of these was Speaker Bellor of the Barrapo Section referred to earlier 
m th1s report. He stated that the unpleasantness following the Wedabo Beach incident 
" was not Fernando Po palava, but road palava." 

~.second was a statement by Mr. Alfred M. Wodebo Collins, for five years an agent and 
recru~tmg m~nager for the Cape Palmas Recruiting Company; and a third was a statement 
by V1ce President Yancy, the recruiting agent. 

1 Complaints heard from natives rec<'ive corroboration in an official report to the President, May, 1930, 
that recru1t1ng fees of £3.0.0 are charged independent native passengers to the coast and that fees for all 
deck hands fro~ Grand Cess and other ports are collected and turned to private u~e being shared with 
petty local officials. ' 
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Mr. Collins described himseU as a native young man of · d half c all 
parentage, educated at Cuttington Collegiate and Divinity Sch:t~ av a and Webbo 

" · . . I have been with my people at home a d hilst ·th h · · rumours that Mr Yanc ( f h' · • n w_ ere, avmg heard repeatmg 
p . t th . ~ dy o t ts Ctty) has been forcmg labourers to go to Fernando 

o a~~ms etr . . an consent and thereby been dealing with Slave Trade Knowin 
coddi!ons of tff;rsbm connectio~ with this problem and mode of procedure i~ recruitin~ 
an ~men o .a our from this country to foreign ports as I do, and havin been in 
touch With the satd Mr. Yancy, I felt that I should not rest until I shall have ~x lained 
to Your Honour~ble Body the mode of procedure adopted by the Cape Palmas R~ruitin 
~omtany dof dhtch manageme.nt ~ have bee~ for five consecutive years. Further, I felf 
1t a din~un ehn uty also an obligabon due an mnocent man to make to you an expression 
regar g t e rumoured allegations above mentioned. 

· . " T~ verify my_ statement, I had to send for some of my own Native Recruiters who 
asststed m performmg this special service, namely : 

Paramount Chief Doboyu of the Tuo Tribe 
.. .. Barnie of the Nyao Tribe 
.. ,. Bloh of the Yedewodobo Tribe 
.. .. Sie of the Plibo Tribe 

Garswar Charlie, alias Bassa-Man. 

who are my living witnesses today to prove to you that not a single labourer was forcibly 
recruited nor shipped. 

. "And. further, I wish to say that I love my people very dearly, and am very much 
mterested m them and have always taken position for them, and during the whole period 
of my five years' service in controlling the recruiting business of this Company on the 
b~half of Mr. Yancy, he has never yet on a single occasion compelled, forced nor used 
vtolent measu~es on any labour or labourers to be shipped to a British, French or Spanish 
Coast for servtce. ~urther, I could quote you if desired, copies of many of my instructions 
from Mr. Yancy (as m some instances in shipment of labour he was away either to Monrovia, 
Kuno. Kudi, or Rubber Plantation at Yancyville, Gbdadeke Section). When they would 
be shtpped under my sole control Mr. Yancy gave me definite and strict instructions 
regarding this special point, that when labourers were recruited and brought in, to poll 
them and ascertain if they are willing to go to the place (Fernando Po) where they were 
to be sent ; in many instances, he himself would poll them and ask if they were willing 
to go, and it is only under and upon their own will and consent that they have been sent. 
Further, I even used to converse with them in our own vernacular and they used to say 
to me (sometime at their lodging places or in the boat going on board) that we will be 
glad to land at Fernando Po because the Government has not other work for us to do 
here except Motor Road work; and Firestone payment is too small because they pay 
us one shilling a day and out of that daily shilling, you have to get your daily bread and 
in course of a month when payment is made, you do not realized what you have earned 
during that month and then to economize out of that shilling we live on a very poor chop ; 
but at Fernando Po, we are supplied with sufficient foodstuff enough for even to sell 
some if you care to, and besides you get your pay with a " Draw Back' reserved for you 
until your time is out to come home, the only trouble with us here in our country is 
when we are ready to go to Fernando Po, we have no money to bear our own passage fares 
except we wait until some of Chiefs notify us to say, that Mr. Yancy say whosoever wishes 
to go to Fernando Po must come down to the Cape Palmas at a certain given time then 
we select our own headmen and come down along with him to the Cape, and this is the 
same trouble with the Gedebo people who always run to the British Coast, Tabou natives 
to the French Coast, so we also will go to the Spanish Coast. My reason for spea~g with 
them in this manner is because in one or two instances labourers coming down for shtpment, 
have expressed unwillingness to go growing out of ill feeling, sometimes very anxi?us 
to go, but the Medical Officer disqualifying them and we refuse them the opporturuty 
of going. There are few examples that I have also tried to collect out of the many, and 
have also brought those few down here to verify my statement whom I could also bring 
before you (if desired) Namely : 

Chambra Gydika, Chibeo Hne, Kwia of Kie-Yiidibo. • 

" I wish to say further that no enlisted soldier or officer of the Liberian Frontier 
Force nor any enrolled member of the Constabulary force of this ~u~try or ey~n through 
this Republic, has ever been deputize~, request~d ?r used. to a;;stst m recruttmg labour 
by this Company nor even employed directly or mdirectly m shtpment of labour. 

" I must express here frankly that it is very ~se and courteous on the bt;half of 
your principals to deputize you to face these allegations (although may have apphed for) 
but so that when you shall have made your report, satisfaction may be arrive at as to the 
veracity of these reports and how. 



"In conclusion, I have to say that of course I am not working at present, and whilst 
I was in the interior with my people as explained from the onset, I was just about packing 
my effects to leave the country and to either go to Fer~ando Po or Sout~ Africa, because 
there is no work here sufficiently to employ us and w1th my poor relati~es who cannot 
read and write, things are very hard for them, and fro~ your personal )U~g~ent don't 
you think that they should be glad if you were to say look here, I am wllhng to send 
you on to some foreign port to work and return home when you~ time i~ out '-W?ty 
certainly, if you were to even offer to carry me to Europe or Amenca, I will agree With 
you now. You just speak and you will find my effects right at your lodging tomorrow 
morning. These are the underlying reasons why today if one was to cry out for labour 
for foreign parts, natives will overplus your limited number, and even civilized people 
would also JOin if they were permitted. Where is the space of ' Compulsory • and 
• Forcibility ' against their will could located ? " 1 

Three of the chiefs referred to did not appear to verify the statements. The other two 
appeared and disputed them. 

In the later questioning of Mr. Collins he was decidedly confused on the method 
of recruitment, variously explaining that (a) notice was given to the chief up country that a 
Spanish steamer would arrive on a certain date and they would let the boys know; (b) that 
the District Commissioner gets the boys for them ; (c) that no one· connected with the 
Recruiting Company goes up country and that the boys come down voluntarily to ask for 
shipment and learn when the ship wiii come in, then return to prepare for the journey and 
(d) that they always make it a rule to ask the boys before they go aboard the ship if they are 
going voluntarily or not. 

has 

Question. - How do you get boys ? 

Collins. - We give notice. I have myself. 

Question. - Who gives the chief orders to get boys and how do you know the chief 
boys to send ? 

C~ll~ns. - You see, you cannot engage anybody unless you see the District 
CommiSSioner. 

Question. - Who gives orders to the District Commissioner ? 

Collins. - We send news, information to the chiefs. 

Question .. - How do you know what boys, what chiefs? 

Collins. -It is known that anybody who wants to go to foreign parts can do so. 

Question. - But you spoke of the District Commissioner ? 

Collins. -Boys go and tell the District Commissioner. 

. Qu.estion .. - Then all you must do, when you want boys is to tell the D C that a 
sh1p will be m ? • · 

. Coflins.- Yes-no. Not at all-the people send down to us and then we tell them 
sh1 p Will be here. ' 

ship ~uestion. - How many come to find out if the D. C. is telling the truth about the 

Collins. - Oh, six. 

Question. - Then the boys go back and what happens ? 
Collins. - They bring boys. 

Question. - Do they recruit the boys, then ? 

Collins. - They bring them When th b I · 
and then I ask them if they wa~t to go to ~e:!:n<;Jom;o, reg1ster them, names, town, etc. 

The third statement in explanation was given by Mr. Yancy. 
"When I returned from Monrovi 'th · 

at this end of the Republic to ensu:· ~1. an dapplmtment from Mr. Ross, as his Agent 
labourers from here to Fer~ando p e air an vo ';lnt.ary recruitment and shipment of 
handle the affair, I asked the several ~h~forf thppomtmg ~ny s?b-recruiting agents to 
for my and their safety asked the Superin\e s d t ef ~hrrCundmg tnbes to meet me. I also 
of the community, officials and (un)officf~ ~n bo e ounty and several leading citizens 
these chiefs. When we met I told th 0 e present to hear what I would say to 
and ship I,soo labourers tC: Fernand:P· that I had been asked by Mr. Ross to recruit 
age.nts; but before doing this, I have c~l ~nth tha\ I ~~uld be sendi~g out. recruiting 
obl.gatory on them to go that onl such e em 0 1!1 orm them of 1t, as 1t was not 
might do so and not oth~rwise. They sa'odftthhemhas ddesuhed to permit. their people to go 

I ey ear w at I had S8ld. Some of them 

.
1 

Letter addressed to the Honourables Th I . . 
Colhna, Cape Palmas, May 2 6, 1930. ' e nternabonal Commission of Inquiry, by Alfred M. Wodebo 



--41-

agreed to permit th~ir boys to go and others said they would not allow their boys to go 
to ~erna1_1~0 Po, while yet others said they would consider the matter and inform me of 
theu decision. 

" I further informed the Chiefs, that if there were any doubts in their minds as to 
th~ treatment these labourers would receive at Fernando Po they might take the Spanish 
ship a;nd go to Ferna~do _Po themselves, at my expense and decide if there was any 

··rnatc;nal danger or obJecti?~· Several of them did so, and returned and voluntarily 
furmshed labourers who willmgly sent to the Island of Fernando Po 

" When the Recruiting Ag~nts h_ave gone out t~ ~ecruit and have b~ought in labourers, 
I hav:e polled them and ascertam~d If they were willmg to go, and in each case have only 
permitted such laboure~s to be shippe~ as. have sho~n by word and action their willingness 
to g~ and on no occasion has the Libenan Frontier Force or any portion of it, or any 
official_rne;55enger to the Government been employed or used by me in recruiting labourers 
and shippmg them to Fernando Po. The Liberian Frontier Force is only permitted to be 
moved in the Counties by the Superintendent, and for Government purposes 

"There are Native Chieftains from each town here whom I am prep~red to bring 
and place before you to disprove any allegation of slavery that may have been allt-ged 
or expressed, and if you will permit it, I now stand ready to produce them." 

In course of further questioning Mr. Yancy stated that he wished to bring in certain 
c~ie!s, _wh'?se names he could no~ at that moment recall, who had gone to Fernando Po at 
h1s InVItation and expense to sa~Isfy themselves about the condition of their boys. 

" I explained to them that it would be good to see for themselves what sort of work 
their boys were doing down there. On their return they reported to me that they were 
satisfied, and some of the chiefs themselves brought some more boys themselves and 
gave them to me for recruitment." 1 

The chiefs referred to were not brought to the Commissioners by Mr. Yancy but the 
testimony of several of them was secured in their villages. 

TESTIMONY OF CHIEF HOTO OF MANOHLU. 

"Now after I got to Cape Palmas, Mr. Yancy called me and said why did my boys 
object to go to Fernando Po, and that Fernando Po was an altogether good place, they 
were not fighting war down there. To satisfy myself, he suggested that he pay my passage 
and I go down and see what the work the boys were doing there was like. It was not my 
will and pleasure to do this. I went down there through the same process of forcing. 
I went down there, and was not at all satisfied with the condition of the boys at Fernando 
Po. The Spanish people would not allow us to see the boys. On that occasion we were 
two chiefs sent down by Mr. Yancy to see our boys. Only Doblah happened to see two 
of his accidentally one day, and when they were asked about the treatment, his tale was 
that of woe. He stopped with a Liberian down there. The name of the Liberian Consul 
at this time was one Mr. Johns. He did not give us any help. 

"On my return I told Mr. Yancy that I did not like the idea of my boys going to 
Fernando Po, because they were not being treated at all good down there, but he would 
not listen to me. When I came back, he gave me £2. But I was not satisfied and still I 
am not satisfied with the whole Fernando Po business." 1 

The method by which this chief was presented at Cape Palmas before receiving this 
invitation to go to Fernando Po on a visit of inspection, is told in another section of this 
report, but should be repeated here : 

" Soldiers carne here and caught me and carried me to the prison. When the soldiers 
came here they ran through the town and the boys all ran off, but the soldiers ran after 
them and caught. them by force .. ~hey were weeping an_d crying, _but ~mmissioner paid no 
attention to their cry. ComffilssiOner Prowd rmproVIsed a pnson m my own. town •. he 
used that house (pointing to a house in the town) for his prison house, for the time bemg. 
Then he marched us all off. . 

"My hands were tied behind my back and I was carried to prison this way. Th1s 
happened last year. The boys were at Cape Palmas for about a week and then tht; ~panish 
boat came and they were sent to Fernando Po. During the time we were waitmg the 
arrival of the ship, there was no food given us." 

I Stenographic Record of Interview with Vice President Allen N. Yancy, Cape Palmas, May 30, 1930. 
1 See Testimony of Chief Hoto of Manohlu, May 28. 369-370. 
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TRANSHIPMENT OF LABOUR. 

Legislation prohibiting shipment of lab_our from .P1ontse~ado, Cape Mount and Bassa 
Counties was intended as an internal economic measure m the mterest of the farmers of th~se 
areas who would be seriously handicapped if the labour so necessary were ~e~t away. ~vas10n 
of the law by private citizens as well as public officials, even thou~h not cn~m~ly pumshable, 
appears to the Commission of even more serious consequences m reckless md1fference to the 
economic welfare of the State. 

There is evidence that for a period " recruiting " was fairly widespread as a means of 
immediate income, giving somewhat ~rag~c J?Oint to t~e assertion of_ one statesman mad~ in 
seriousness, that labour is the country s pnnc1pal explOitable ~ol!lmodity. ·Boys we!e prol!llSed 
agreeable work at better pay than the standard ra~e of a shillmg a day; sometimes. p1c~ed 
up, unemployed, on the Monrovia waterfront, ~ometlmes broug_ht down f~om the more mtenor 
sections· sometimes lured away from the F1restone plantation, sometimes made eager for 
adventu;e with a 5 or 6 shilling advance on their promise It is conceivable that under the 
necessity for such work out of the country, some governmental bureau should have been 
devised to regulate this movement of labour and insure its return with some profitable incre­
ment to the country. Inasmuch as all deliberate legislation on the matter condemns it, it 
seems unlikely that private citizens and public officials should engage upon it with such zest 
unless (a) they were convinced on principle that the policy was sound and good and worth 
evading law to have done; or (b) that it was personally profitable. Mrs. Mary Ellen Bloomeyer• 
mentioned by the Hon. P. F. Simpson 1 as a woman who kept boys for Mr. Ross and Mr. Yancy 
testified that the rate for boys was £1.o.o for " civilized " persons for each boy recruited, and 
5 shillings for natives. She severed relations with Postmaster General Ross when she discovered 
that he was giving her merely the native rate of pay for boys. 1 

David Ross, an adopted son of the late Samuel Ross, testified that he and a young man 
referred to as Peabody, carried gin, tobacco and rice to No. 7 Firestone plantation to attract 
boys for Mr. Ross ; that he induced a number to come down to Monrovia but when they 
learned that they were scheduled for Fernando Po, some of them escaped. For the 4 shillings 
given, one native policeman sent his brother to Mr. Ross. 

Considerable evidence was presented to the Commission in Monrovia of forced shipments 
of boys from Monrovia to Cape Palmas for transhipment to Fernando Po. · 

(a) On the 24th of October, 1929, some 24 Kroo boys were placed in a surf boat to be 
carried alongside a ship. They were to go first to Cape Palmas then to Fernando Po. On the 
report to the Secretary of State that the boys were being forced into the boat, either in the 
presen~e of, or by the direction of the Hon. P. F. Simpson, member of the House of Repre- · 
sentatlves! the boys were. or~ered ashore. The Secretary of State ordered the men lined up 
and queshoned about thetr Wishes. Some wanted to go and some did not. A few days later 
24 boys were sent to the Cape. Two of the boys who escaped from the first shipment testified 
before the Commission. Quotation is made from the testimony of Hurley : • 

" I was coming from Sinkor. My brother is Kolikai. I met a man who told me he 
want~d. someone to go to Ca~ Palmas to work. I said all right, if it is Cape Pal mas I 
am wdhng to go; Th~ man satd, • ~ou ~II must come here and stay until it is time to go 
to Cape Palmas. While we were w1th h1m he fed us. He said that while he is feeding 
us we were. not to go about in the street. Whilst we were with this man, we heard that 
we were gomg to Fernando Po and not to Cape Palmas, so I declined going. Some evening 
I would take a walk on the road. Mr. Yancy objected to my doing so, because, he says, 
as soon as the ~oat comes he wants us to go on board. My brother Kilikai when he came 
home one ev~nmg was caught, flogged and shut up in the water closet. Then we said 
to ourselves!. 1f you all are doing all this to us here in Monrovia, when we get down the 
coast you will do worse than that." 

<?£ many depositions the. following salient points are selected: Mr. J. G. Johnson •, 
a p~ceman, saw the men bemg forced into the boat by the Hon. Simpson •, who in tum 
test ed ~at he h~d merely been asked as a personal favor to see that the boys were turned 
over to t e Captam of the boat and that there was no forcing. Mr. D. Twe •, who reported 

: ~est~mony of Mrs. Mary Ellen Bloomeyer before the Commission at Monrovia April 1
7 

A 120-125 
1 T es~mony of Hon .. P. F. Simpson, Member of the House of Representatives, R. L. April 1 ;. A:u2-114: 
1 T:!:mony of Davtd W. Ross before the Commission at Monrovia, April 23. A. 2o6-213. 
1 _mony of Hurley before the Commission, Monrovia, April I 6th. A.68. 

1 
Test~mony of J. G. Johnson, April 16. A.6g, A.gi. 

7 
Test~mony of Hon. P. F. Simpson, April x7. A.u2 - 114. 
Testimony of Mr. D. Twe, April x6. A.64. 
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the incident to the Secretary of State, produced two of the boys who had been in the first 
lot. Mr. Jesse Benson 1 upon whose representation Mr. Twe reported the case, in company 
with him, to the Secretary of State, before the Commission testified that he had not seen 
Mr. Twe or the boys until everything was over. 

. Mr. W. D. Stubblefield •, Chief of Police, testified that as Police Magistrate he had heard 
the case on the demand of the Secretary of State and that eight of them had declined going 
but that " seeing they had received certain advances which they had used and did not have 
to refund, decided to go ". He gave orders that those who wanted to go should get passports 
from tlie Secretary of State to go where they pleased. • 

" The next day I ordered them to report to me, but only two came. On the whole, 
out of the 24 men, 16 said they wanted to go, while 8 said they had declined going but 
would go seeing they were unable to refund the moneys that already had been advanced 
to them." • 

Mrs. Mary Ellen Bloomeyer testified • that she kept the boys but bad no other thought 
but that they were for Fernando Po. 

The incident happens to have received attention because it was an interrupted sailing. 
Whatever the responsibility of the persons mentioned the fact seems clear that the laws 
were being evaded and the boys were more or less " pawns " in this transaction. 

(b) Mr. T. J. R. Faulkner testified that boys were recruited from the interior and sent 
to Sinoe for reshipment by Mr. Ross and this was corroborated by other witnesses. 

(c) On February 3rd, 1930, a group of boys was sent from Monrovia by Col. T. Elwood 
Davis, Aide-de-Camp to President King. Testimony to this effect was given by Mr. J. G. 
Handsford. Colonel Davis explained that the boys came down and wanted to go to Fernando 
Po, because wages were too small at Firestone's and there was an unemployment crisis. He 
happened to mention the matter to the Recruiting Agent since be was the only one who could 
send them. They stayed one month worrying him about work and he finally arranged with 
the Dutch Company for their passage to Fernando Po. He offered further that there were 
20 or more boys in the town at present who had like desires and was permitted to introduce 
them. A group of about 8 boys appeared some days later accompanied by a man who had 
been a washerman at Fernando Po, and, without deliberately impugning criminal motives, 
the testimony proved interesting, largely as evidence of their unsophisticated availability 
for any sort of arrangement. 

Question. - What did you come to Monrovia for ? 
Boys. - We want work. 
Question. - What work ? 
Boys. - Any work. 
Question. -You want work here in Monrovia or outside? 
Boys. - Any work,-anywhere. 
Question. - What kind of work can you do ? (Boys do not understand). 

What work you do before ? 
Boys. - No work before. 
Question. - You no come to town before ? 
Boys. - No, sir. 
Question. -Did you find anyone to give you work before ? (Boys do not understand.) 

Who you find to give you work ? · 
Boys. - At the waterside. 
Question. - Do you come up here every morning ? 
Boys. :- No, sir .. 
Question. -You no aSk people up here for work? 
Boys.- No, sir. 

1 Testimony of Mr. Jesse Benson, April17. A. 89, 90· 
• Testimony of Mr. W. D. Stubblefield, Chief of Police, Momovia, April17. A.117-119. . . 
• Passports are required only for persons leaving the country and not paesengen between L1benan 

ports. 
• Testimony of Mrs. Mary Ellen Bloomeyer, April17. . . . fr 
Others persons testifying before the Commission concerntng thil forced ahipment of 24 boya om 

Monrovia for Fernando Po, not mentioned in the text were : 
(a) Faulkner, T. J. R., April14; 

!b) Page W. B., Postmaster, MoDJovia, Aprilr6; 
c) Kpal;.kpolo (Kpessi), Aprilr6: 
d) Robert, native boy, Aprilr6: 

(e) Morris, G. D., April17 ; 
(/) Henson, J. L., Senior Tally Officer, Customs. 



Q t
. _ How do you do when you look for work ? 

ues Jon. • 1 'f h 
B _ (Through interpreter) 1 ask for work, and if they say I can go, k go; 1 t ey 

oyCs. p !mas 1 go Wherever they say to work I go there to wor . 
send to ape a • · . 

Question. _ Is there any other place beside Cape Palmas you want to .go to ? 

Boys. _ No, sir, 1 come here four weeks ago. . 
Question. _ You say you never worked before, have you never done any kmd of 

work at all ? 
Boys. _ We have done no kind of work before; we men no sabe work. 

Question. - You want to go on a ship ? 

~-~* . 
Question. _ Suppose ship take you and put you somewhere else, you want to work 

there ? 
Boys. -Yes, sir. 
Question. - Nobody here tell you to go on ship and work somewhere else ? 

Boys. - Yes, sir, but I no sabe the man. · 

Question. - Where is he ? 

Boys. - No sabe. 

Question. - Where do you expect to work then ? 

Boys. - Any place they send me, I go work. 

Question. - Anybody ever tell you about Fernando Po ? 

Boys. - No, sir, but we sabe there; we want to go there. 

Question. -· Did you ever hear any boys talk about Fernando Po ? 

Boys. - (Interpreter speaking for himself) Yes, sir, I been there. 

Question. - When you been there ? 

Interpreter. - I work for CoJI!pany. 

Question. -You all want to go to Fernando Po ? 

Boys. - Yes, sir. 

Question. - How you boys want to go there if you never heard of it ? How you 
want to go there if this is so ? 

Interpreter. -1 sabe, 1 washman there; wash clothes. I washman for Fernando Po. 

Question. - Any of the rest of the boy§ been to Fernando Po ? 

Boys. - No, sir. 1 

PAY FOR THE REPATRIATED LABOURERS. 

The rate of pay offered labourers in Fernando Po is £x.xo.o a month and food. One-half 
of this amount is given, in pesetas, in the Island. The other half is withheld for payment 
on return to Liberia. The complaint of the returned men who have come to the attention 
of the Commission, almost without exception, has been that their money was short, and occa­
sionally that they received none at all. An effort to test the truth of the complaint led the 
Commission to request Mr. P. C. Parker, Spanish Vice Consul, although a Liberian, to explain 
the method of payment of boys. • 

" Each boy", he stated, "earns 30/- per month or I/- per day, and they are paid 
half their monthly wages in the Island, and the other half when they return here." 

No deductions are made in his office. Asked about the books kept and whether lists 
are kept of the boys returning and the amounts paid, he said there were no records of payments 
~ept at all. He could not undertake to make out a~y such lists. " :rhe Spanish Government 
ts a free Government and does not keep such books. ' A pay sheet 1s sent with the boys and 
is usually returned to Fernando Po when the money is paid. 

" As Vice Consul I do not keep such records here. The Spanish Government has 
e!lough confidence_ in me. The Spanish Consul who is a new man could not supply them 
etther. The Spamsh Government does not bother with a lot of books." 

' Testimony of boys sent by Col. Davis, April 25. 
1 Testimony of P. C. Parker before the Commission as Vice Consul to Spain, April17. 



-45-

If a man dies the _fact is reported to the Liberian Consul at Fernando Po and to the Liberian 
Secretary of State direct, and moneys due t? such persons are sent to the Liberian State 
Departme~t for payment to ~he deceased mans family. He could not suppl any information 
on the pomt. He had nothinf? to do with paying advances to the boys ~fore ll'aving for 
Fernan~o Po.. That, he_ explain~d, was for the recruiting agents. He knew nothing about 
boys _bemg sh!pped fro~ MonroVIa. to Cape Palmas for Fernando Po. On the question if his 
appo~tment m MonroVIa was ma~.~y for the purpose of controlling payments of labourers 
returnmg from Fernando Po, he SaJ.d: 

. " Surely not I I attend to bills of health and other matters. I represent Spain. 
~li!Ce last year or the year before there has been a new contract with Spain. I think 
1t 1S for 3,000 labourers, but I am not an official of the Liberian Government AU my 
Government cares about is the 3,000 labourers." · 

Ask~d about the boy reported to have received only [1.10.0 for two years' work, he said 
the details were not known to him. 

Returning boys bearing slips for payment were rarely able to read and were accustomed 
to go promptly fo~ ~ayment, retaining no slips upon which a check could be made. In Cape 
Palmas the Rec~1tmg Agent makes the payment. Only in one case was the Commission 
able to see the slip for payment before it was presented. This was in the case of Kuia referred 
to earlier in this repo~, who had ~ee~ in t~e Island 14 months and brought a slip c~lling for 
£1.12.3. It was ment~oned otherwtse m sess10ns that when boys change masters in the Island, 
or when masters are m any way changed, only the last one is responsible for his pay and only 
for that portion of time which he remained with him. 

In the case of deck labourers and Gold Coast workers payment is usually made through the 
Labour Bureau, and although in their case alleged customs irregularities appear to reduce their 
_earnings after a period of service,_ there is kept some official record of the pay-transaction, 

Some of the complaints are given : 

Grebo, who had lived with T. J. R. Faulkner remained in Fernando Po several years, 
estimated in money at about S7oo.oo. When he presented his slips he received £5·4·2.1 

The Hon. Too Wesley, a former Vice President, was asked: 

" Of the men who came back from Fernando Po after two years, would you say that 
they had brought back enough money to counterbalance the loss of labour ? ' 

He answered that they definitely bad not. 1 

Superintendent Brewer of Maryland County added to this observation that almost the 
entire advantage rested in their remaining home.• 

Samuel Togba, who was sent as a representative of the Sass Town Chief to the Commission 
in Monrovia, complained that of the soo or more boys who bad been sent away through the 
agency of one Robert Bro, a Recruiting Agent for the Maryland County Recruiting Company, 
those who returned had little to show for their two years of service and to demonstrate 
gave the particular case of his brother, who spent his entire amount received on his return in the 
purchase of 20 heads of tobacco and one cloth. • 

Without records of payments in Monrovia and in the absence of any supervision or control 
by the government in Cape Palmas it is impossible to ascertain the extent of the shortages 
of the men complained of, or any explanation of them. 

The returned labourers from Libreville had not even the advantage of former Government 
control, and boys have roamed the streets for days vainly trying to learn who was expected 
to pay them. 

One witness a headman for 140 boys who went to the Congo (under the impression that 
they were going to Seccondy), testified that the~ received $2.00 .a. week in French money 
while there and were told that they would be pa1d by the Recru1t1ng Agent the other half 
on their return: They got no money although they had been back 6 months.• 

On still another occasion returned men after spending several days in the town trying to 
collect their wages were finally assembled and the headman given £1.0.0, the big boys IO/· 
and small ones S/· and told to go on home. They did. 

A European physician living in Cape Palmas complained to ~· & ~· Nissen, b~adquarters 
in Copenhagen, about the pay of three boys, Joh Barzor; Cbarhe Gle10; and N!Jema Kroo, 

• Testimony of T. J. R. Faulkner, April 14. 
I Testimony of Hon. H. Too Wesley, former Vice President, June 12, 474•477· 
I Testimony of Hon. George T. Brewer, June 12. 

• Testimony of Samuel Togba, Aug. 1, 1930. 
• Testimony of Freeman of Doboke at Tarke, June 2, 1930. 
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who formerly had been with him and of whom, he says, he regards himself as guardian. One 
died in Libreville but no pay was received by his relatives. The two who returned after 18 
months had been' told that there was no further money for them. During the full period of 
their labour in Libreville they had received 6oo francs or about £s.o.o. 

SoME CoNSEQUENCES OF THE PRACTICE. 

Although all labourers to Fernando Po have not been forced, it is quite clear that force has 
been relied upon for numbers; that the blind eagerness for private profit has carried the 
traffic to a point scarcely distinguishable from slavery; and that only by help of the instru­
ments and offices of Government could the traffic have reached such tragic effectiveness. A 
great deal could be said of the danger, everywhere evident, to the wholesome economic 
development of the country, the deserted villages, neglected farms, " hungry time". At 
least an important element of the native population, which is without doubt the strength of 
the country, cannot look but with restless, harried dissatisfaction upon the general abuses of 
the machinery by which they are ruled. They give evidence in their complaints, of the 
weakening of a faith in law and order and civilization which could easily be fostered. They 
neglect not only their farms, but the art expressions which come out of a contented 
existence in certain other colonies. They have not only been deserting their towns for 
the deeper security of the bush, but deserting the country. . 

" I cry to my brother, ' I want to go to and ask the Fre.nch people to take us because 
of our great trouble I ' " 

And again : 
" If the Commission had not come we would be gone. We would leave the country 

and go anywhere." • . 

The Commissioners are convinced that this condition of the natives is both unnecessary 
a~d ~angerously unwise. And this op~nion seems to be shared, interestingly enough, by 
Labenans who have held office and agamst whom the Commission has heard no complaints 
either of greed or dishonesty. 

1 Garraway testimony. 
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fORCED AND COMPULSORY LABOUR. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE. 

(d) To what extent compulsory labour exists as a factor in the social and industrial 
econom~ of the State, ei~her for public or private purposes, and, if it does exist, in what 
manner 1t has been recruited and employed whether for public or private purposes. 

(/) . ~ether t~e labour employed for private purposes on privately owned or leased 
plantaho!ls ~~ recru1ted by voluntarl:' enlistments or is forcibly Impressed for this service 
by the Libenan Government or by 1ts authority. 

· (g) Whether the Liberian Government has at any time given sanction or approval 
to the recruiting of labour with the aid and assistance of the Liberian Frontier Force 
or other persons holding official positions or in Government employ, or private individual~ 
have been:implicated in such recruiting with or without Government's approval. 

. The Anti-Slavery Convention, while regarding forced or compulsory labour as fully 
Within its purview, did less in defining than in describing the field. Because of the varied policies 
with regard to such labour, adopted by independent States and Dependencies and mandated 
territories, it appears that the problem has not been so much one of what shall be considered 
a prohibited status, as of the conditions which make measures of forced labour necessary; 
how much of it can be allowed ; and how rapidly the necessity for it can be diminished. 

Much of the discussion has centered in the International Labour Office, and, recognizing 
the need for establishing a standpoint from which to view it, a definition was tentatively 
formed in 1929, although it has not been, as in the case of slavery, internationally accepted. 

" All work or service which is exacted from any person under the menace of anr, 
penalty for its non-performance and for which the worker does not offer himself voluntarily. • 

Herein it would appear that no distinction is made between" forced " and " compulsory " 
labour. The difference is recognised in discussions as merely one of degree. 

Significantly, nothing is mentioned as to how and from where that labour is obtained 
or recruited, nor to what extent there is a danger of its degenerating into a condition 
indistinguishable from slavery. 

Colonies and Dependencies in tropical Africa, striving to develop their natural resources, 
and recognising that this can be done only with the assistance of indigenous native effort 
efficiently guided, are thus faced with the problem of proper balance between the need of t~~se 
resources and the welfare of the peoples upon whom they must depend. As a result, pohc1es 
have varied with the States and Dependencies involved. Even within the same administration · 
opinions have differed in proportion to the extent of knowledge possessed of tribal customs. 

Throughout recent discussions on forced labour in the more advanced administrations in 
tropical Africa, certain principles are outstanding, based upon the view that an import~nt 
ultimate effect of forced labour is to discourage voluntary effort, destroying the incentive 
to ownership, thus defeating its real aim; and, quite apart from the rights of natives t~ free~om 
from external and arbitrary exactions in which their own welfare is secondary, admimstrat10ns 
are now giving attention to the nature of the work itself for which compulsion seems to be 
required, the question of when compulsion is justified, and the measure of it which is justifiable. 

And while it is realized that in tropical African States and Dependencies where advanced 
and backward cultures are in contact there is a certain educative advantage in compulsory 
labour; it is, at the same time, recognised that these ends are defeated and may deg~nerate 
into conditions analogous to slavery, if unguided by strict policies of j?st and cons1derate 
treatment. Important among these policies and principles are the followmg : 

(a) The work should be of a public character in which general community benefit 
can be recognised. • · 

(b) It must be essential. (Some views have limited occasions for the use of compulsion 
only to sudden crises and emergencies.) 



c There should be a stipulated period during the year in which such work is 
whorlf inadmissible, such as the a~cultural months. 

t t · 1 e the natt've workers' travelling long distances to work, or (d) It mus no mvo v 
having to remain away from their homes for a long period. . 

(e) Attention must be given to the proper housing and feeding of the workers. 

(/) The use of women and children should be discouraged, except upon that work 
which is designated according to custom as women's work. 

(g) Where recrui~i~g is d.one through native 
spection in the supervlSlon of tt. 

(h) The labour in all cases must be paid. 

(i) Fines must be strictly accounted for. 

chiefs there must be strict circum-

It will be convenient to consider the subjec~ under the t~o headings of : Forced Labour 
for Public Purposes and Forced Labour for Pnvate Enterprtse. 

A. FORCED LABOUR FOR PUBLIC PURPOSES. 

I • Road Construction : 
(a) No Pay for Labour; 
(b) Tools and Food; 
(c) Road Quotas ; 
(d) Road Fines ; 
(e) Ill-treatment of Labourers ·; 
(/) Intimidation and Extortion. 

2. Public Works : Buildings. 

3. Porterage. 

1, Road Construction. 

This has reference almost entirely to the construction of motor roads of general public 
utility, and not to pathways of which of course there is a network throughout the country. 
As in other parts of tropical Africa, these pathways are maintained according to immemorial 
custom by unpaid village labour of both sexes at the instigation of the chiefs in whose districts 
they are, if they are cared for at all. The division between these two classes is distinct. 

In most Tropical African States and Dependencies forced labour is permissible for purposes 
of public works, mainly road construction, if other labour is not available. The period is 
never more than three months in the year, often only one, and the rate of payment is usually 
a little below the market rate, or is dependent upon the state of the treasury. During the 
agricultural months all road work ceases. 

In Liberia compulsory labour has apparently been made use of since the Constitution 
of the Republic, more especially in recent years for road construction works. According to 
the Secretary of Public Works, ' the Government has had under consideration since 1920 the 
construction of motor roads running northward into the hinterland from the principal town 
or port of each of the five counties. The road leading out of Monrovia towards Careysburg 
was commenced in 1920 by the War Department Labour Company, composed of 50 men and 
a sergeant, but the major road programme as such was not begun till 1923, when the President 
discussed the matter with the chiefs at the Suehn Conference. More recently, apparently 
about 1926, the road labour organization was taken over by the Public Works Department. 

The Commission has given considerable attention to the road programme itself, with the 
idea of studying it in relation to the principle of necessity, in the various aspects of its execution. 
The Government objective, as explained by the President and other officials, has been : 

(a) To recover the loss of produce and revenue vital to the Liberian market by 
diverting the course of the market from the British and French border which has been 
due to lack of routes of transportation to Liberian ports ; 

(b) To save, for the native, the border through customs duties which he is averse to 
paying; 

(c) To provide a network of roads, through the more populous and developed areas, 
thus facilitating the transportation of raw materials; and 

(d) To eliminate, eventually, the necessity for head porterage. 

1 See letter June gth, 1930-" Govt. Road Plan and method of executing it· ... 
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The main road prograt?Ime appe~ to have been evolved· ahead of any preparatory 
. survey o~ the country, or of 1ts population or resources, and set into operation without exl;>4!rt 
road e~g~neers. These, moreover, seem to be the very problems met with in its actual execution, 
as testified by the Secretary of Public Works. 

x. " From points of view of topography of numbers it is difficult to evolve a 
satisfactory or equitable <!-istribution of public duties ; varlous expedients have been 
suggested and all not yet tned out . . . Because of the unequal distribution of population 
in ce~ain strat~gi~ centres along the roads, the Department has had to resort to the 
expedient of building labour camps in those regions. This was the only means by which 
the Department felt our national objectives mentioned above could be realized. In 
some measure this bas entailed hardship, both to labourers and Department employees 
and has created some wrong impressions as to our methods, especially due to the fact 
that some men have to work the road a long distance from their homes. The situation 
has been a very intricate one to face, but after taking everything into consideration, the 
Department concluded that, in the face of the aversion of our uncivilized citizens to 
taxes, and in virtue of the agreement arrived at among themselves to supply labour 
rather than pay a tax, the only means of leading the roads through centres sparsely 
populated was to carry the men to those regions." 1 

The construction of roads throughout the country must, of course, sooner or later be 
essential. Under the guidance of expert surveyors these roads might be so projected, and their 
construction so aligned, as to coincide with subsequent possible railway routes, thus saving 
at some future time enormous expense on railway cuttings and approaches. To have evolved 
such a highly pretentious roading scheme and put it into execution without the assistance of 
either surveyors or engineers, appears to us to have been a great waste of money and 
labour. If it were completed, it is doubtful if it would save anything for the native, but might 
certainly secure the payment of diverted funds which should find their way into the Government 
exchequer at the Liberian ports. It does not appear that the roads projected and under 
construction, as observed by the Commissioners, at any rate in Maryland, would pass"- through 
the more populous and developed areas". The Webbo-Barrobo-Flebo road in Maryland at 
all events seems to supply little else than access to a temporary military station. In walking 
from its road-head construction works to Webbo, a matter of from ten to twelve miles, only 
one village, that of Wadaki, was observed, and noth_i~g in ~he shape of a ~a~?ur ca~p. The 
reference of the Secretary of Public Works to the avers10n of our unc1vil1zed c1t1zens to 
taxes" seems somewhat unfortunate. At the Suehn Conference the chiefs could scarcely do 
less than agree to provide labour for the construction of the roads since the President said the 
roads must be built. The purport of the universally reite!ated ~'?mplaints ~f the chiefs and 
people is not that they object to taxes but to the fact that m add1hon to findmg t~e men th.ey 
have to pay for their food, pay for their tools, pay numerous fines and are subJected to Ill­
treatment ; all in the face of no renumeration whatever. 

The system of roads, as contemplated, is as follows : 

County jurisdiction or Zone. 

Grand Cape Mount County. 

(a) Robertsport-Bendu ; 
(b) Bendu-Kange; 
(c) Karnga-Dah ; 
(d) Dah-Cobolia-Jene Barclay. 

Montserrado County. 

(a) Monrovia-Kakata; 
(b) Brewerville-Suehn; 
(c) Millsburg-Suehn ; 
(d) Virginia-Brewerville ; 
(e) Clayashland-Suehn ; 
(/) Brewerville-Senjeh-Gorjeh-Kongba; 
(g) Kongba-Dah; 
(h) White Plains-Mt. Coffee-Doble Island; 
(i) Kakata-Hartford. 

Grand Bassa County. 

(a) Buchanan-Gio ; 
(b) Harlansville-Timbo-River Cess; 
(c) Hartford-Gbanga ; 
(d) Hartford-Kakata. 

1 See memorandum of Secretary of Public Works Morris to the CommissiOD. 
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Sinoe County : 

(a) Greenville-Lexington; 
(b) Greenville-Blue Barrer-Plahn. 

M land County (not listed in the Memorandum of Secretary of Public Works, but 
ary · · t be)' observed by the CommiSSIOners o · 

(a) Harper-Flebo-Gbolobo (constructed) ; . 
(b) Flebo-Barrobo-Webbo (under construction); 
(c) Puduke-Sodulo (constructed, but abandoned). 

Hinterland jurisdiction. 

District Number I : 

(ab) Suehn-Belle Yella-Gbaling-Zorzor-Ziggida ; 
( ) Ziggida-Sodulo-Kolahun. 

District Number II : 

(a) Kakata-Gbanga-Sanoquelle ; 

~
b) Gbanga-Garmu-St. John on 
c) Mount Coffee-Naama ; 
d) Gbanga-Kpai. 

the Frontier ; 

District Number III : 
(a) Sanoquelle-Borpley; . 
(b) Borpley-Kpabli-Sarwulor-Gblor-GJO; 

· (c) Gbazon or Tappehbli-Kpai. 

District Number IV : 

(a} Tawhlor-Gbazon-Tchien-Tuglor; 
(b Plahn-Tchien; 
(c Gbazon-Piahn. 

District Number V : 

(a) Webbo-Gleyo-Tuglor. 

The full scheme contemplates the projecting of roads over several hundred miles, through 
unevan and difficult African country. 

Although during the period of the Commission's hearings in Liberia the road programme 
was suspended,• a road gang was observed at work on the Webbo-Barrobo-Flebo road by the 
League of Nations Commissioner, who inspected ten to twelve miles of road completed. The 
gang was composed of about 400 labourers, approximately half of whom gave the appearance 
of being minors. The outstanding points noted during this visit of inspection were the youth 
of the labourers, 200 or more being probably below the age of 16 ; their general appearance 
of discouragement and resignation, the outcry and complaints about the scarceness of food, 
the primitive. character of the tools and appliances, the straightness of the road, its switchback 
character and the truly enormous amount of earth shifted in cuttings, which it seemed would 
have been quite unnecessary if a previous survey had been carried out; other points were the 
meagreness of the ditching on either side, and the absence of levelling on moderate slopes. 
Everything to do with this road, its slow rate of progress, the absence of population upon it, 
its apparent irrelevance to stated policy and the discontent of the labour employed upon it, 
all tended to give the impression that its existence was not really essential to the economic 
development of the country and its people, and was being built without regard to either means 
or consequences. Amongst the consequences unfortunately have been wasteful expenditure 
of money and labour and callous exploitation of the native, inevitably resulting in loss of 
faith in the good offices and good judgment of the Government. 

. Road making in the Montserrado area should not prove an extremely difficult matter 
owm~ to th~ preval~nce of hard red laterite. Once the overlying earth is cleared away a surface 
remams wh1ch reqmres comparatively little subsequent attention if the ditching on either side 
is adequate to .prevent u!ldue .wash. But in Maryland, where the road programme has 
been enforced .w1t~out conSJderahon for the worker perhaps more than anywhere else in the 
countr~, roadmg IS less easy, and, from observations made by the Commission, becomes 
more difficult as one leaves the coast. The hard surface mentioned above is for the most 
part non-existent in, .sa~, the Webbo-.~arrobo area, soft red earth prevailing, consequently 
when made the road ~~likely ~o be a dry s~a~on road "-one that requires a great deal of 
upkeep, constant cleanmg and m many parts IS 1m passable during the wet season, at any rate, 

1 This fact was stated as regrettable by the President, who wished the Commissioners to see how 
contentedly the men worked. 
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for heavy car traffic. Miles of such road have already been constructed in Maryland and lost 
in the bush .. The Webbo-Barrobo road mentioned above now being constructed, the whole 
length of which was t~aversed by the Le~gue ?f Nations Member of the Commission, requires 
so many culverts, owmg to the lack of mtelligent survey, several being necessary within a 
distance of .a few hundre~ yards, that before these are likely to be constructed and cars can 
pass along 1~, the road will have reverted. It is already overgrown with grass within a mile 
of the working party. 

If a skilled r?ad surveyor had i~ the first instance been employed and the route laid out 
:'deq_uately, and if a competent engx!leer had been placed in charge of the construction, 
mftmte trouble woul~ have been avoxded and probably four times the length of road would 
now have been available. .Moreover, much of the discontent so widespread amongst the 
people would have been avoxded, and the thousands of natives employed on the work during 
the last ten years woud have been freed to grow food and produce, and play their part in the 
general commercial development of the region. Considering the brief feriod of attempted 
control over the tribes of the interior; their lack of full appreciation o the principles and 
necessities of taxation; the unfamiliarity of the officials with the topography and life of the 
interior and the undeveloped state of markets ; the impression becomes strong that the plan 
must have been crystallized more as an external or administrative programme than as a 
measure of internal economy. 

The situation required an abrupt readjustment on the part of the natives to bring them 
to an acceptance of the road plan as one of advantage and convenience to themselves. when the 
matter was presented by the President to the native chiefs in 1923 at the Suehn Conference, 
and in other meetings with the chiefs or special tours in districts No. I and 2. With the settled 
decision that there must be roads, they were presented with the alternatives of unpaid labour 
or a road tax for defraying the costs of construction and maintenance. Still not fully adjusted 
to the hut tax, they looked with concern upon the prospect of a further imposition. 

2. " The Department has discovered (a fact which the Commissioners can easily 
detect for themselves by putting the relevant questions to any aboriginal) that the natives 
are reluctant to pay tax for road construction. It was for this reason that the Government 
adopted the alternative of proposing the supplying of free labour instead of paying tax'·" 
Paramount Chief Dardo of Kakata who had received a commission from the President 
to chieftancy from speaker, observed almost naively before t~e Commissioners at 
Kakata: · 

3· " If you help someone to become big and r,ou give him order he will take it. 
Therefore, I cannot refuse order from the President. ' 

The chief, however, stated that in agreeing to the roads he was influenced by the statement 
" with the road what you could walk in two days the car can take you in one hour ". 

Unfortunately for the ultimate success of this extensive ~oad plan, all road ~ork ~ad 
before 1923 become extremely unpopular with the natives, .o~mg to the ~onstructw.n betng 
in the hands of the War Department, and no doubt to the dnvmg power of Its fifty umfo.rlf!ed 
men and one sergeant. According to the testimony of native chiefs examined bytheCom!lusswn 
and of men who had been employed on the work during that period, .the unpopulanty was 
!lot materially diminished after the work was taken. over. by the. Public Works Department 
m 1926. Today it seems to have become almost the ch1ef gnevance m some parts of the country 
and a very serious one. . . 
. Both policy and practice appear to vary accordmg to sections. 

4· The sections near Monrovia (Montserrado County) are. under the supcrv!s!on 
of the Director of Public Works, while in all other sections the work IS under the superv1s10n 
of the County Superintendents. 

Secretary Morris.- The Superintendents are expected to obtain.labourers from the 
native chiefs, and may divide them into working gangs, some workmg from the coast 
interiorwards while others work downwards. 

Question. -What relations have the District Commissioners to the Superintendents? 

Secretary Morris. -If in the hinterland jurisdictio~, t~e~ d!rect the getti.ng of the 
labourers. Strictly speaking the Superintendents have no JUnsdlctlon over the hmterland. 

Question. - So when labourers come down from the hinterland jurisdiction, it is 
not in accordance with the policy of your Department ? 

Secretary Morris.-· In 1929, it was decided to pool labour for the ro~d, and perhaps 
the Superintendents were following that idea ; but the Department has smce abandoned 
that idea as it was found to work hardship. 

1 From Memorandum of Secretary of Public Works to the Commission, page z. 
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Question. - Who plans the road work, your Department ? 

Secretary Morris._ In a general way, but closely, it is done by the Superintendents. 

Question. _ How close does the Department come in actually laying the road ? 

Secretary Morris. - With respect to Maryland Cou~ty, the pepartment has le.ft 
that matter with the Superintendent, who co-operated .w1th the F1restone Company m 
the laying of the road. Firestone constructed the bndges for .the Government: The 
Department has not furnished an engineer, but local surveyors ha~e been from hme to 
time obtained by the Superintendent. T~e J?epartment on!~ ~dv1ses fro,m where the 
roads are to be laid out, and the actuallaymg 1s left to the Supenntendent. · 

Except on the more recent stages of the road-building where t.he assistance of Firest01~e 
engineers in building culverts and bridges has been secured, the laym~ out. of the roa~ w.as 1~ 
the hands of officials, well intentioned enough, perhaps, but unskilled m ~oad building. 
An inevitable result has been wasteful expenditure of labour and money. Th1s fact has been 
noted by the natives themsevles, and the recognition of it has not improved their feeling about 
the requisitioning of their labour. 

The method of laying out the route at the road hea~ in the Monrovia.S~ctioi_I as explai~ed 
to the Commission by Momolu Gray, an experienced nahve road oversee, 1s m pom~. Ref~rrmg 
to the necessity for soldiers supplied for his protection when threatened by ce!tam residents 
for arbitrarily establishing a sort of " right of eminent domain " through the1r property, he 
stated that the actual laying out of the route was in his hands. · 

s. Question. - Who makes the survey ? 

Answer. -Myself and a native man. 

Question. - You do not use a surveyor ? 

Answer. -No, we do that ourselves by means of a horn I The site 'is selected and 
one of us would start at the starting-point while the other with the horn would locate 
the track into the bush. After going a certain distance, he would blow the horn and 
I would follow out my line until I get to him, and then he will proceed further, and so on. 

Between sections the number of labourers required, the length of time spent on roads, 
the fines for delinquencies as well as the method of imposing and collecting them varies 
considerably. This in itself reflected a weak and often ineffectual central supervision and control 
over policies of superintendents and commissioners outside Montserrado County. The 
uncertainity of jurisdiction over boundaries crossed by the roads, the apparent infrequency 
of inspection and the slackness in regard to registration and records, could easily wreck the 
most definite of central road programmes. It is significant in this same connection that 
the treatment of natives varies according to sections and appears to become more oppressive 
the greater the distance from Monrovia. 

The onus of force is most often upon the paramount chiefs who " agreed " to furnish 
labour rather than pay the special road tax. Their responsibility is, in turn, relayed to the 
town chiefs who must produce the men. These " boys " have to be fed but it is impossible 
to carry a fortnight's food. When funds are available in his village treasury, each boy receives 
two or three shillings with which to buy food.· If the work continues for a month as in Bassa 
County some of them receive six or seven shillings, but actually the large majority of them 
take all they can carry and hope for the best. Sometimes small supplies are sent to them, but 
for much of the time they complain that they go hungry. They assert that they are not 
allowed to leave the work nor to go and forage for themselves afterwards: they are herded 
in some nearby village at night or in a roadside camp, sometimes as many as 400. 

. The tow~ chiefs complain that th~ir troubles are not ended when they have supplied 
these boys w1th fo?d or mon~y to ~uy 1t. They have to find them hoes or spades, pickaxes 
and baskets, etc., 1f not available m the village, and the task of squeezing the people is a 
thankless o~e. Every rna? carries a C';'tlass, but the other tools have to be bought or borrowed. 
The ge~erahty o~ compla1!'ts leaves bttle doubt that the assumption of the Government that 
the native~ can Simply bnng these t~ol~ is !lot on~y too sanguine but in reality is a hardship. 
Even havmg the tools the t~wn ch1~f s difficulties are not over. The gang arrives late at 
the work s?me Monday mornmg and 1s fined by the road overseer from two to twelve shillings 
each boy, m some cases £r, and the Paramount Chief receives a bill for the amount by a road 

1 Testimony of Secretary Morris before the Commission in :Monrovia July 21. 

. 
1 In conversation Vice President Yancy said : "I have no idea of surveying, but as County Super-

mtendent I bad to do the layout of the roads and do the best I could under the circumstances. " 
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messenger if the boys o~ the road have not got the money. Then he comes down with a heavy 
hand on the To~ Ch1~f for payment in money or kind. Additional fines may be imposed 
apparently for f?vtal thmgs, until the villagers eventually become overburdened with debt and 
have to sell.thetr farm stock or produce ; or they may obtian credit from a local trader who 
takes care never to release them from the debt, or they may resort to pawning. 

'!~e bitte~est complaint of the natives is that, with this necessity for working on the roads, 
provtding the1r food and tools, exposure to ill-treatment and fines, they get no pa . They 
appear t~ feel that they_have work e~ough of their own to clear their farms, plant their rice, 
harvest 1t, and protect 1t from t~e b1rds. They assert that they are obliged to grow much 
more foo~ stuffs than t~ey reqmr~ f~r themse~v~s, because of the necessity for supplying 
monthly nee and palm oil to the D1stnct Comm1ss1oner as well as to the military posts. 

. To prepare rice means consider~ble. labour for their women. When the rice crop is ripe 
1t has to be harvested ear by ~a;r, bed mto co!lvenient small bundles, carried to the village, 
~nd hung_to the rafters of the livmg house that 1t may dry. When required for use each bundle 
IS placed m a wooden mor~ar and pounded til~ the grain is separated from the straw and chaff. 
It thell h~s to '}le pound~d m another mortar till the husking process is complete. If the District 
Comm1ss1oner s supply IS a day or two late they are fined, and the chiefs are liable to be 
imJ?risoned in the station guard-ro?m until the money is paid. Since the men have been 
obliged to work on the roads the villagers find that they have not sufficient labour on their 
rice fields and other farms to grow the augmented food supply needed for both town 
consumption and road workers, and the time spent in carrying the food to these workers still 
further reduces the necessary labour on the farms. 

The objective of the road scheme was a highway, following old trails through villages 
between two determined points. Apparently, responsibility for guiding it through the country 
·to its terminal point trailed off once the points were decided upon, and an almost straight 
·road up and down dale eventuated. A result of the actual programme in operation in many 
sections has been to drive the natives from the towns along the route if there were any deeper 
into the bush, abandoning their old setting to escape the new opportunities for exploitation 
and demands upon their food and funds by the procession of officials and soldiers passing 
through. Rather than be under the constant pressure of fines and punishment of various sorts, 
they have preferred to grow less food stuffs or try and leave the country. Not many years 
ago, it has been authoritatively stated by persons acquainted with native life, and by native~ 
themselves, that it was not uncommon for sections to have as many as four rice crops in 
their stores. The incentive to this activity appears to be gone. Their deserted towns bear 
silent testimony to the truth of their statements. Between Kakata and Ganta, for example, 
by actual count there are 49 deserted villages. The ends, it must be said, are almost entirely 
defeated by the means employed to accomplish them. · 

The testimony of natives and their chiefs, as quoted later in this section, will throw further 
light upon the actual operation of the road programme and its effects upon the morale ~f. the 
native population. Even without additional facts the Commission is of opinion that th~ amb1t1?us 
road programme of the Department of Public W?rks should be postpone~ or cu~a!led u_ntil a 
reorganisation of the Department has been earned out and some effective admm1strat1on of 
the interior has been put into operation. 

(a) No PAY FOR LABOUR. 

In the general reference to the road programme in Liberia it has been po!nted o~t that, 
as in other tropical countries, resort has been made to forced labour for ~hat 1s conce1ved as 
essential public work. The question as to whether or not the labour 1~ forced seeml!l le~s 
debatable in Liberia than that of the essentiality of the programme as dev~sed. Th~ emphasis 
by the Government upon the " giving of consent by the ~hiefs " is thus, in the vtew of the 
Commission, misplaced. It seems to have obscured the m~erent danger of abuse,. and the 
necessity for the humane and just handling of the labour so Impressed. Th_e most satisfactory 
as well as profitable arrangement is one in which there. is ~ut~al economic ad.vantage .. !he 
obligations of trusteeship are ignored where no attention IS gtven to these v1tal requ1s1tes. 

The present concern of civilized governments is to prevent forced ~hour fro'f!l 
degenerating into conditions analogous to slav~ry-a _re~ danger here-. and this concern ~ 
expressed in what practically amounts to recogmsed pnnc1ples for regulatmg the _use of force 
labour. One of the foremost of these requirements is that the labour should be patd. Although 
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the weekly imposts of labour keep several thousands of natives on the road in successive gangs 
for nine months of the year, there is no pay for road labourers on any of the roads in the 

country.' . f . h h fi h' h h The feeling of labourers and town ch1e s 1s t at, to meet t e nes w IC exposure to t. e 
road programm~ makes inevitable, ~s ~ell as th~ need of money for tools a~d for food m 
"hungry time", i.e., when the season s.nce supply JS exhausted, they sho~ld rece1ve some so!1 of 
compensation. This question of pay 1s made more acute by the necess1ty, at the same tlme, 
of providing food for all the Government st3;tions and barracks in their ~idst. In the view 
of the natives, under the circumstances, and m a very real sense not to ~e 1gnored, _they have 
contributed more to the building of the roads than the Government Itself, and mstead of 
receiving pay have really paid. . . . . . . 

The following copies of test1mony before the Comm1ss10n wdl illustrate this and other 
points. 

No pay. 

Monthly 
supplie•. 

6. A Chief from the Kakata Section before the Commission. 

" All what the people saying that is all the palaver going on here; just 
a few things left and I will explain to you. Ever since they started the 
road from Monrovia to here we have not got one cent. Every month if 
we don't find Government rice they fine us. The whole country of native 

rice people, all are slaves now, we don't know where to go now. When they 
punish you hard and say pay and you trying to go to another section, 
when you cross one creek they catch you and bring you back. We are 
working for the Government and pay month rice. You plant the rice, 
build the kitchen, dry the rice, and then you cannot eat it. That is what 
got us hard up now. Sometime the President he does not give us one thing. 
What we are now ? They say Liberian not slaves, but we are slaves now." 

On one or two occasions a present of money has been given to the chiefs by the President. 
At one time 8x,ooo.oo was so distributed. 

Soldiers 

No help from 
Paramount 
Chiefs. 

Compubion and 
fines. 

- Labour quotas 

7· A Chief before the Commission. 

" All these labourers, all these people they have brought them. The 
old people borne them, but what going on here we don't know. On account 
o~ t~is same road. When the road started from Monrovia come here nobody 
d1d It but the labourers and not one cent we got. They got soldiers to 
put over them. If they give them food the soldiers take it and eat it 'before 
them. If you don't pay they tie you. The same Kakata you see h~re the 
labourers built it without one cent. We go to the big people and Paramount 
Chiefs and complain : they do nothing. If they stand behind them we 
don't know. We give the soldiers palm oil and rice; if you don't they 
make you do it." 

8. A Town Chief before the Commission. 

" W~ must give 20 labourers. If you do not agree, they fine you. My 
two children, I pawne?- them. I was sub-chief once, but they broke me, 
and now I am town ch1ef. When the President came here he said no sub­
chiefs or station masters. When you send your labourers ~n the road they 
let them pay fifty cents if they are late, and then work. If they do not 
work, they catch them, throw them down, and the whip they get is their 
pay. The on~y f!!Oney they get for their work is whip. They call for rice, 
and you don t gJVe them, they flog you. No time for us to do our work. 
If you do .not send the boys on the road they fine you ; they tie you with 
a long stick on your back. If you do not get money you have to take 
your son and pawn him to get money to pay and then you fight hard to 
get the money to redeem the child. 

" Formerly we we~e only four men in my town, we are now six. Sometimes 
I send three, sometimes they ask for two, I send two. Sometimes they 
ask for five. Where must I get them ? We have been here every day 
We .send labourers. One time President came here. The people say th~ 
pumshment too much for us. All this building you see here, the people 

1 A paid force of about 150 men is used on finishing st f d k · · · 
force was originally under the War Department When thagD 0 roa wor m t~e Monrov1a area. This 
portion of the,men formed the nucleus of a new l~bour force e hi ehar:ment _of Pubhc Works was created a 
the others became a part of the expanding Front'er Fo w Tc ha one time ha~ a_stre~gth of 250, while 
worken by a type of uniform. 1 rce. ey are to be d1stmgu1shed from other 
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build it. When they send the labourers if you send two to cut alm nuts 
~make ct~ for the boys, and they count them and they are s~ort they 

e yo_u. ere are we to get them ? But we are compelled to brin 'them 
Someti:rb we ourselves ":ork on the road. When the road co~e and 
we sen bourers the soldiers and messengers are behind us with sticks 
If ~o.f do not run, they put sticks between your legs and throw you down: 
an 1 you break anythmg, they make you pay. This is the palaver we 
brought here. We. are nothing but slaves now, and this house here, our 
women worked on 1t. W~e~ they were ~orking on the house, the soldiers 
and messengers were pnckmg them w1th sticks from behind. If their 
husbands happt;ned over there and asked them why they do that, they 
beat them. It IS only two weeks since we ·stopped working on the road. 
H?w we can manage to do our own work ? Then the President came and 
sa1d they must fine anybody again. The Paramount Chief one time fined 
u_s, and we took the report to Monroyia. They turned us around, and up 
t~ today we have n?t ~eard an~thmg, and the money we paid is lost. 
R1ght now.they are thmkmg of us smce we seen these white people here. The 
whole sechon say the ~hite people are for us. Rut soon you all go, we will 
work on the road agam. What I said I was afraid of is because soon as 
you turn your back, they will light fire on me." 

9· A Chief before the Commission. 

" I am town chief. They punish us too much. On this road construction 
work ever since the road started we have paid for the work. The 
Government does not pay us one cent. We have to feed all the labourers 
ourselves and in addition have to supply Kakata station with rice. When 
the town chiefs are called here the Government gives them no food. The 
rice belongs to the Government, they say. All this work is done by us for 
nothing. We have to buy our own tools and buckets and pots for the men 
to take on the road. Each village has to be taxed sf- to buy the things. 
The villages are not all in one place; some are far away. :Many of the men 
have to travel a long way to work. If a man is late he is whipped, and often 
fined so cents for the day. We see nothing good here ; all1s bad. If you 
see a nice house it belongs to some gentleman who knows book. If you 
know anyone who is making money it is the Paramount Chief or Sub-chief. 
Small boys are made messengers and if you lay your hands on them you 
are put in jail. We work on the road, we cut bush and send labourers to 
Firestone, and have to do our own farming in addition, besides having 
to send rice to the stations and elsewhere every month. We are dying 
in this section. To make matters worse the District Commissioner has 
taken land belonging to me, and my goats, chickens, and cows because 
they were on the land, which now belongs to him. He just came and said 
the place belonged to him. He has put his ducks on the water we drink 
from. I have no farm now and have to buy cassada from some one else. 
I bought $7.00 worth of stumps to plant, but the D. C. send men who took 
them all away to plant his farm with. I complained to the D. C. but he 
only said ' If you don't like living here, go somewhere else.' He fines people 
for the smallest things. One day he said my people had killed a chicken 
of his and he made me pay for it. One of my boys found a pig belonging 
to him dead in the bush. He made me pay £I.IO/- apparently on the 
pretext that the boy had killed it and sent the boy to work on the road. 
Most of my people have gone away now, because there is nothing to eat." 

xo. A Witness from Deh Section bejQTe th' Commission. 

"The road palaver wants to make us fiy. From my town I send two 
boys every week on the road and give them 7/- a week. I feed the boys, 
the Paramount Chief, and the District Commissioner. Whe!'ever one of the 
boys is sick, the late Foley Massali would send and have h1m changed and 
would collect 4/- from me. If I have not the money to pay, they would 
catch me and carry me on the road myseH and make f!le pay a fin~. Well, 
Mr. Commissioner, if you have boys on the road workmg for nothmg, and 
one of them is ill will you have to pay money for that ? Now when Foley 
Massali did all this to us and we told him that we were coming to report 
the matter to the Secretary of the Interior, he said, ' All right, if you go, 
I will take some of the fine money to bear my expense ~o go before t_he 
Secretary! We brought the matter to the Secretary but did not meet him 
in office, but the Secretary's clerk gave us a letter and told us to carry 
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it to the Paramount Chief. I said,' No. I want to see the Secr:etary himself.' 
The clerk said, ' All right, wait for the Secretary, but he will tell you .the 
same thing.' Sure enough when the Secretary ~arne he told us the same thm~. 
When we returned to the Paramount Chief s court, we met a long cham 
ready to tie us with. The Paramount Chief then put a fine on us. We have 
to work on the road. Hungry is in our country." 

u. A Witness before the Commission at Kakata, April 30, 1930. 

" Plenty news here and if I tell you all it will take two weeks, but I 
will tell you some. The work w~ are doing here the punishment w~ are 
seeing here on the road. Ever smce the road started from Monrov1a to 
come here, we went to start the road in Monrovia. Each town chief sent 
four labourers. If you don't they catch you. If you send some, they fine 
you for the balance. They do not P:'-Y us. They fine us 12/.6 for each labo~uer 
short We have nothing to pay w1th. We have been domg that ever smce 
until 'this time. These camps from here to Kakata we built it. The women 
daub the houses. One soldier had my wife here two months. Again this 
year I have no place to stick one cassada stick. Firestone got the place, 
cut the bush, and burn it up. The same thing going on here, they cat~h 
us, lock us up in jail here, what we do we don't know. We slept there till 
four o'clock next day, when we come here they say all must send 5 hampers 
rice and IOf-. This year we will have no rice because Firestone have taken 
our land. 

"We want to go somewhere else to stay now. This work here we do it­
if we don't they beat us with that whip. When we tell the Paramount Chief 
he said what he can do. All the little children you see the Vai people got, 
when they fine us we pawn them to the Vai people to get the money. 

" We got nothing when Firestone took our land. I took work to Mr. 
Porter of Firestone to report, he said, ' Not time yet.' Every time I go 
he says no time." 

12. A Witness before the Commission at Kakata, on April 30, 1930. 

" This time President had council here we build the house. First time 
President and Faulkner joined. Faulkner said they are doing the native 
people too much and he wanted to be President, and all the people wanted 
Faulkner to be President. After that we do not know what they are 
doing-they all say we stand behind Faulkner, so they will rule us hard. 
The labourers and women built this house. The Paramount Chief's 
messenger when they bring them here, they lay in the bush, and if you 
go in the. bush to walk they catch you and tie you and beat you so you 
cannot look yourself again. Sometimes the officers and District 
Commissioners passing, if you don't give them labourers to tote their 
loads, they catch the town chief and beat him. Here is the whip. That is 
all the pay we get for the work we do. (Whip handed to Commissioners). 
Our labourers brought it to show you. They were beating him and he took 
it. You see Monrovia clean today-the labourers work it. We native 
people are not satisfied. Sometimes we go for one week. The chiefs are 
not behind us. When we tell themthey beat us too. Where the Commis­
sioner is now is the place I was staying. One day Secretary Morris took 
me and tied me tight, with my hands to my knees and packed cassada 
up my hands to my face. He told me he wanted me to be road com­
missioner; the first Paramount Chief said no. We don't know if white 
people open Firestone, but the piece of ground we had Firestone took it 
and we have no place to work now. On account of the road we have no 
time to make cassada farm ; they say we must be here to do Govern­
ment work. The District Commissioner told us to remove the signs from 
our farms and plant in his own farm. Formerly people used to go to 
Fernando Po. They brought note to the Paramount Chief and he sent 
them." 

(b) TooLs AND Fooo. 

For the first f~ur or fiv~ years _of the road progra~me the government provided no tools. 
The men were requ1r_ed to b~ng the1r own, or use sticks and improvised baskets made of leaves. 
Mor:e recently certam spec1al tools have been purchased. Although no record seems to be 
available of the number of tools, an estimate by a road overseer placed the number around 
r~for :ools of all.sorts on the Careysburg road, probably including those of the uniformed 
a ur orce. It IS expected that the labourer will bring his own cutlass and country 
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hoe ; if not he is fined. On the Monroyia-Careysburg Road, one of the best in the count 
a steam-roller has been added. to th~ equipment on that section on which stands the Presiden?-'~ 
country house. On the conhnuahon of the road to the Firestone PI t t" th c 
co-operated with the Government in supplying tools for the workers wa~tha tiohns.d e fomp~ny 
th best possi.ble com · t" d be . i e i ea o gettmg e . muruca mg roa tween its plantations and Monro · Th · r 
also to porh.ons of the Harper .to Gbolobo road in Maryland County. Vla. iS app ies 

Complamts are frequent m the testimony before the Commission th 1 h 
natives receiye~ neither pay nor food they had actually to spend money toa~:~h~:eg~o!~e 
food, etc. This iS felt specially keenly by town chiefs, who are most frequently made re~ nsibl~ 
for the t_ools as well as the men.~~;nd who assert that often they had to pawn their chiitdren to 
pay then: debts. These complamts were heard from Gbe Section, Teh Section, Bo ro, 
Brewers.ville, Kakata, Bassa, and Harper to Gbolobo in Maryland County. po 

IJ. A Headman from Telt Section before the Commission, Monrm•ia. 

" I am headman on the road. When I am ready to go every week I have to feed 
myself. If I do not carry a hoe, I/- they fine me I/-. I have to pay all this. 1 have 
fo';lr brothers, they fine them SJ.OO and 3/- each . . . One time they ask me to 
br~ng money for them to buy pots to cook our chop on the road, and all the boys l'ach 
pa1d I/- for th.e pots .. They bought the pots, and since then we have not seen the pots 
because they did not give them to us." 

I4. A Roael Worker before the Commission, Monrovia. 

"When they order us on the road and we have no cutlasses. We carry our own hoe 
and axe. If you do not carry axe and the axe cost 5/- they fine you 5/6, then you bring 
another 5/- to buy the a~e. If the bill hook cost I/- they fine you I/- after which you bring 
another I/- to buy the bill hook. If the hoe cost 2/- they fine you 2/- after which you bring 
2/- to buy a new hoe." · 

I5. A Roael Worker from the Boporo roael before the Commission. 

" Every week when the men are ready to go on the road I have to give them one 
cutlass each, one axe and one hoe. If I don't give them these things they fine them 
sometimes 2/- each. When they are ready to go on the road we have to give them 2/­
each for food. When they divide the road they give the boys time to finish the work ; 
if you do not finish it in that time you have to pay £Io. When we asked the Paramount 
Chief to stop that he said they have to do it to finish the road quick. Sometimes if some 
of my people are sick and cannot go they are fined. If you don't go you pay u/6d each 
week. If you send your boy and he does not go, they send and arrest the town chief and 
put him on the road. When they go and arrest you the chief gives orders that they must 
tie you and they do so before they carry you to the Paramount Chief. If you do not pay 
they won't untie you until you pay, and you have to pawn your child or wife." 

I6. A Roael Worker before the Commission (from Gordie). 

" We have to buy hoe, axe and cutlass; otherwise we are fined. I am headman to 
send boys from Gordie to Boporo road. There are 12 men in the town. All the fine they 
fine us is [u.5.2." 

Day after day while depositions were being given upon the subject of road work the 
Commissioners listened, sometimes for hours, to the same complaints reiterated by the road 
labourers. Of these grievances an outstan~g <?ne, invariably associated wi~h no~-payment, 
was the scarcity of food and having to provide lt themselves. Want of cons1derat10n for. the 
natives on the part of the road stafi and the chiefs seemed to be the basis of all !he complamts. 
The ultimate necessity for the roads they well recognized. Many speakers durmg the Kakata 
meeting stated that they were perfectly willing to construct them if payment was made and the 
treatment less harsh. 

The Commission is confident that under better and more considerate treatment of the 
native the palaver would tend to straighten itself. Un~er normal conditions in a ~h 
food country such as Liberia, if the natives were allowed hme and un~ampere~ opportumty 
to grow their produce and make their own use of it, road construction parties would be 
rationed by their own people as a matter of course. 1 

1 See also pp. 52-53 for further information on the food question. 
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(c) RoAD QUOTAS. 

1 • f drafts of labour from vUlage communitie.s without creating disco~tent is 
Th: ::~:~~~?considerable difficulty. It is, in fact, a umversal proble'?-?ne which the 

alwa.ysl Af . d · · t tor has always to deal with. He alone by consctenbous work and 
troptca ncan a mmts ra · · · b · · f hi If t 1 can lessen the reflected difficulties continually ansmg from 1t, .Y acqu~nng or mse 
rave al k 1 d fall the chiefs and villages in his district. Nabve hab1ts, customs and 

a person now e ge o . 'b 1 't' d · a) 
t . t nt'sht'ngly Some people live m large tn a commum 1es an a numenc occupa tons vary as o · · f h tt d · t' ely easy while in other places family groups o ouses aresca ere census IS compara IV • • t' f · 

broadcast. So that to make a hard and f~st regulation that a certam propor ton o •men ~n 
ever village shall be drawn upon as the village quota for ~oad work or any other la~ur. 1s 
not feasible. In Liberia the lack of census return~, the lack of mterest on the part of the I~hstnct 
Commissioners and the self-interest of the chtefs makes an equable arrangement difficult. 
Three to five persons are presumed to occtJpy one hut, b~t there has not b~en a hut assessment 
for seven years. Any estimate of the number of men ayail~ble, therefore,1s scarcely ~or~ than 

uess work on the part of the Government. A comphcahng factor has been the sprmgmg up 
~f so-called " half-towns " where small groups or families separate fro!ll. the larger towns an.d 
establish villages of eight or ten huts at a distance or near by t.he on&mal settlement.. It 1s 
left to the /'udgment of the Paramount Chief or Speaker to dec1de which towns are bt~ and 
which " ha f-towns ", except, however, when it is ki.lOWn t~at the ch~ef has been p~rhal by 
permitting a big town to send too few men. ~n practice considerable diffic~ty and dlScon~ent 
arises on the part of the natives, and th1s was frequently reflected m the complamts 
of chiefs before the Commission. 

17. A Chief before the Commission. 

" When the time comes for the road we send 250 men for one week at a time. They 
change every week. They tax us 250 men on the road. They work from Monday to 
Saturday and then we send another 250. Some town have given 50 labourers, and some 
100. They stay one week to rest before going on the road again. Any time we send the 
labourers those who remain in the village send chop .. If it is hungry time I send money. 
But most all the time I send chop. 

" When we send labourers on the road the town chief is responsible to buy tools to 
give them. The thing with us now is that if the town chief has not the money to buy tools, 
where can he get it ? We try to make money by selling kernels, etc., but when it is time 
to give tools we have to give it." 

The set of men in the second week's draft are not necessarily the same as the first. Perhaps 
ha:f of them are replaced, and again in the third draft there may be only a few who were in the 
first. In most places the quota is so arranged that the men in the first draft may not have to 
go on the road work again for about a month, so that in eight working months each man should 
have done about two months' work. The easy working of the arrangement depends upon there 
being sufficient men in the village. If the quota is too large the men may have to turn out every 
other week and do four months work in the year. If the construction works are far from their 
villages the men will waste time and energy in travel every week-end, if it is a weekly scheme; 
hence a more practical arrangement is to work for a month on end as in Bassa County ; but 
in this case difficulty of food supply is somewhat enhanced. In Liberia much of the discontent 
is due to the quota being too large. As the District Commissioner possesses no safe means of 
estimating the right quota from each village he increases his demands for more until he is 
far beyond the limit often without knowing it. The villagers then become loaded with fines, 
have no time to devote to cultivation, and thus are unable to find the money to free themselves. 

18. A lowtt Chief befor~ the Commissiott al Kakala. 

" ~orne o_f the towns have. only three houses, some have five; when you report to 
these btg offictals they say we dtd not tell anybody to build five houses and call it a town. 
Some towns have 30 houses, they collect six labourers from them and six from the 5 
h~t towns. When you get three labourers from each town, the smaller towns have to 
htre other men to work ; at the end of the week they ask you the three hut town for more 
labourers, but you cannot get the men. I am the one they ask to catch the men and if 
I cannot catch I report and they give me orders to catch the chiefs of the towns and make 
them pay. The time we were here I was sub-chief. I used to get messengers to carry 
messages from the J:>aramount Chief, and when they cannot get the men I send to tell 
the .Paramount Chtef, and he would send for me to arrest the men and send them 
to htm." 
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"What I ~ I want to tell, bec~use you all will walk through the country I do not 111-ant 
to make any rnlStake. What they did not do to me, I won't say. 1 stay at Bangah. One 
barrack between us and the Belleyalla people. When all Government people go that is 
where they stop . . . \\'ben you born your ow_n children and they get big, th~y work 
for the Government · . . Today Capt. Grant 1s on the road with Jimmie Miller. He 
send word t~ me to pu~ so labourers on the road. When I have no time to collect all that 
much th~y gJ.Ve me sold1ers to help collect the labourers. Once again, District Commissioner 
Garnett s clerk carne to the barracks. He sent messengers to me and asked for Ioo 
labourers to be ~eady for the next day. I told him I could not get all the labourt>rs the next 
day. I asked Miller to tell the clerk to give me three days. He said all right. Then he said 
how many I get I can put them on the road. When the road from Boporo reach to this 
man both of us gave the clerk boys. 

" The monthly rice both of us gave his 1:20 hampers, and then he sent to tell us 
how much labourers we must send to him. I do not know if he will stop there. That is 
why I collect the men to come into the town. When the clerk carne he asked for labourers 
My town and this other man's town gave 20 labourers. He said we must bring th~ 
balance .. I t?ld him that. was all I got. He said I was compelled to get the labourers. 
All the L1benan people gomg out they send word all over the section for labourers. When 
they send their messengers what I get I give them. He told us to take off our clothes. 1 
refused. Once again the time we were in Kakata we clean the road. The labourers we sent 
they put them on top of the kitchen and when they take them down they put rope on 
their waists. . • So we say let us go down at No. I District." 

A witness from Gordie testified that of 12 men in his town two were sent weekly. A witness 
from Benganow with twenty men in town sent four. A headman, from Baimeh, told 
the Commission that he had six boys and men in his town, three of whom could work. Each 
week he sent one of the three while the other three old ones stayed at home to feed them. A 
witness from Teh Section had I2 men in town and sent 2 weekly to the road. Of the u men 
three were too old to work. 

20. A Town Chief from Bongatown sends three menlo the road. 

Question. - How many men in your town ? 
I 

Saugba. - We had only four. We are now six. Sometimes I cannot send three. 
Sometimes they ask for two. Sometimes they ask for five. Where must I get them ? 

Within the Maryland County jurisdiction a general principle of selection appears to 
prevail, but there have been observations of frequent arbitrariness in the settling of quotas. 
Mr. Allen N. Yancy was in charge of the roads until 1927 when he became Vice President and 
was succeeded in his Superintendency by Mr. James S. Brooks, apparently a weak administrator 
and concerning whom the natives frequently remarked" Mr. Brooks is Mr. Yancy." 

The volume of unpaid labour drawn from the total native population is indicated by the 
fact that from District No. 5 alone, x,o85 men are expected for road work. This figure gives 
also some indication of the considerable amount of money it might be possible to draw from 
the whole of Liberia in the shape of fines for absence, lateness, loss of tools and other alleged 
delinquencies. 

· The native population is drawn upon not only for roads, but for the Firestone Plantations, 
Fernando Po, Libreville and elsewhere. In general the smaller towns along·the coast are 
required to send 20 to 6o men and the larger towns as many as 100. Towns along the beach, 
most of which were visited by the Commissioners, are required to provide the following quotas : 
Najao 30, Garraway 20, Niliwie 10, Fishtown 20, Wedabo Beach town 20, Middletown xo, 
Rocktown 20, Pudukeh 10, Bigtown 20, Half Graway IO, Whole Graway 20, Yaakeh. IO, 
Grand Cavalla 30, Picanini Cess 20. All of these, a total of 240 labourers weekly, are reqUired 
for the Harper-to-Gbolobo Road. And while many other towns within the county zone 
contributed to the total unpaid labour force, it is interesting to note that this stretch of road 
of about 25 miles, demanding at least 240 boys weekly for nine months of the year, bas _been 
under construction for nine years .and is not yet coml?let~d. .The hea':y drafts for pnvate 
farms are made ~esponsible for an 1rnport~nt part of thlS ~1tuahon. Agam, these quotas are 
reported in certam mstances to have been mcreased as punlShrnent for refusal to allow men to 
be taken to Fernando Po. 

21. A Chief/rom Kunewe Section before the Commission. 

"Then be (Mr. Yancy) said, • Since you refuse to go to Fernando Po, you will haye 
to supply me with 6o boys for the road instead of the 20 as bef?re. If you do not do_ thiS, 
you will see what will happen to you. If I were to ~o anythmg to you, no one _will do 
anything to me. Therefore be put me and my people m. a bouse at the Cape as pnS(>ners, 
and we were there awaiting for the arrival of the SpaDlSh steamer so that he caul~ send 
us on to Fernando Po. But I told him too that be could go ahead and do anythmg he 
liked with me and that God would come at some future date and help me. But the men 
in the interio; are my people, and they go to Fernando Po." 
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In certain instances noted by the Commissioners, chiefs have paid. fairly large su~s to be 
released from the road obligation, and in other insta!lces have ~n reqmred to pay considerable 
sums to have their men released from the roads ~unng the farmmg sea~on, when the road work 
is expected to close down. One Paramount C~1ef, for example, testified ~hat for 5 years he 
paid £6o.o.o to Vice President Yancy and the s1xth year £8o.o.o to have h1s men released for 
their farm work. 

(d) RoAD FINES. 

Few of the complaints registered at the Kakata meeting, or during the Commissioner's 
stay in Maryland County and District No. 5, omit.ted to rec?rd resentment.over t~e frequency 
of fines and the excesses to which these were earned. Tardmess, absence, msufficient quotas, 
lack of tools, uncompleted tasks, gave occasion for fines. Thes~ could be seen clearly enoug_h 
as measures of control and regulation but f?r the fact that neithe~ these wo~kers ~or their 
town chiefs have any resources to draw upon m payment of the fines Justly or unJUstly imposed, 
save their viiiage funds and goods. . . 

They tried to make clear their position by comparing themselves now with times not 
so far past, when they possessed little herds of cattle and goats, sheep a~d chickens an~ their 
wants were reasonably supplied. Now, they assert, most ofthem have nothmg, n'?t even chickens. 
Their chickens and live-stock are required by soldiers, messengers and officials whom they 
dare not refuse. They feel little inclination to possess a visible surplus and not infrequently 
they are disposed to reduce their possessions to the bare requirements of existence. Of money 
they now have almost none. Most of it, they say, has gone in fines, road fines chiefly, and in the 
continuous demands to defray the cost of food and tools for the road work. 

Receiving no pay for all the work they are obliged to perform, and having no time or 
very little in the year to devote to themselves, they naturally can make no money, and great 
hardship is entailed. Moreover, their women cannot help them as they did previously when 
they had time on their hands. Owing to the increasing and apparently exorbitant monthly 
demands for rice, palm oil etc., for the D.C. or the military camps, their women have to be 
hard at work all day pounding and husking rice or making palm oil. The village resources 
become gradually depleted and they themselves become disheartened. At all events; if 
accounts before the Commission are to be in any way relied upon, the Government exchequer 
derives no benefit whatever from these fines. The practice permits of infinite abuse and 
requires further and deliberate investigation through the Department of Internal Revenue. 
Without question, fines are levied. And yet the Secretary of Public Works asserts that these 
do not come officially into the Department, but rather, if such occur, they go to the Paramount 
Chiefs. 

22. Question. - How much discretionary power has the road overseer ? 

Secretary Morris. - He is instructed to report the shortages of men to the Chiefs 
who may be on. the road or to their headmen. In 1926 when there were no chiefs on the 
road, he sent his messengers to the chiefs with a list of the shortages. Before the chiefs 
cam~ on the road. themselves, the overseers used to count the shortages and report their 
findmgs to the ch1efs for the collection of the fines but since the chiefs themselves are on 
the road; this matter is left to them. ' 

QuestioK. - So they fine themselves ? 

Secretary Morris. - No, the Chief fines the town headman for not supplying the boys. 

Question. - And reports it to your Department ? 

Secretary Morris.- So far as I know, the Chiefs fine the men and eat the money up 
themselves •. 

As frequ':ntly as _not, however, the Chiefs themselves have complained about these fines. 
It appears qmte poss1~le, therefore, that the Department of Public Works is unaware of the 
procedure. o~ fines, smce the road overseer, who is directly in charge testified before 
the Comm1ss1on that he personally collected these fines and brought them to the Department. 

Th ~3· Q_ue.stion. - There are a lot of complaints about people being fined and whipped. 
e omm1ss1on wants to know-Do you make them pay fines or the chief ? 

Ch. fMomdoluhGray. -By order of the Secretary when labourers are short I report to the 
1e s an t ey fine. 

1 
Sec Testimony of Secretary Morri• before the Commission, Monrovia, July 21, 1930. 
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it g~':,st/on.- \Ve want to know next-this money that comes from the fine, who does 

to th~;:~~c ~:k;.- To the Department of the Interior, Secretary of the Interior, then 

Question. - Are the fines for not coming to work ? 

Momolu GJ'ay. -Yes. 

Question. - Tell the Commission if a man is due Monday and comes Tuesday what 
happens. 

Momolu GJ'ay. ---At first 4/- then it was cut down to 2/-. 
Question. - Who receives the money from fines of Chiefs and brings it to the 

Department ? 

M omolu GJ'ay. - I, sir,-sometimes the D.C. 

Question. - Do you set the fines ? 

Momolu GYay. _- Yes. Sometimes I only take delinquents •. 

(e) ILL~ TREATMENT OF LABOURERS. 

It has been pointed out that, whereas there have been occasions for impressing labour 
in the development of many of the African Dependencies and Colonies, a foremost and 
inviolable principle, as justifying in any sense its use, has been the considerate and humane 
treatment of this labour. The reiterated complaints of labourers before the Commission, both 
in its formal sessions in Monrovia, and in parts of the interior, have convinced the 
Commissioners, after allowance for the exaggerated importance frequently given to personal 
fee~ing~ of grieyanc~, that the~r sta.teme~ts have some validity. And. althou_gh the te~timony 
which 1s here c1ted 1S largely g~ven m the1r own words, or those of the1r own mterpreters, with 
occasional evidences of their misunderstanding of policies and the larger events happening 
around them, they knew well enough when they were ill-treated. At Kakata they exhibited 
the whips and sticks and scars, and in a mood, not of rebellion or vindictiveness, but of despair 
and appeal. · 

It has been observed that these complaints, despite the character of the punishment, 
are more vehement when there is a feeling of the injustice of the punishment. And often 
it occurred that whether there was a fine of one shilling or one pound for an alleged offence, 
their sense of the injustice of the imposition of the fine took importance over the amount of it. 

· The complaints of ill-treatment, for example, almost invariably appear in combination 
with the statement of lack of pay, and it is not improbable that there would have occurred 
no such desperation as brought many of them before the Commission, if, even without pay, 
they had received considerate treatment. 

All road officials and the President of Liberia himself have expressed the view that the 
workers were well treated, contented, and even happy. 

Cheerful work. 

No orders for 
flogging. 

Singing all day. 

" You would be surprised to see how readily and cheeringly they sing 
when working. One would hardly believe they were unpaid. There is in 
general no flogging or punishing, but for the chiefs fining these very people 
of theirs for not furnishing the labourers. In fact, the Liberian has very 
great feeling f~r flogging on his body. S'? if their own me!l happen to take 
a stick and stnke one of them they cons1der that as floggmg. When I was 
Secretary of the Interior there was no orders for flogging. The people 
would sing all day." 1 

The President observed before the Commission that he had personally inspected the 
Kakata road under construction several times weekly, and would ask the men if they had a:ny 
complaints to make and was told that they had none. • M1,1ch apparently escaped the attention 
of all but the junior officials of the Government. . . 

Momolu Gray,_ one of the best known. of the overseers, testified before the CommiSSion 
that labourers are not ill-treated by beatmg, and that they _are made. to work o~y by 
" apportioning so many labourers to a particular work and fining them if the task 1S not 
complete", · · 

The following few extracts are taken more or less at rando_m from the teshm?~Y of a 
hundred or more witnesses. They are not selected as illustratmg the worst conditions of 
treatment, but they each contain interesting detail. 

'See Testimony of Momolu Gray before the Com~ion in Monro~ia, July 17, 193°· 
• Testimony of Secretary Morris before the Commtsston at Monrovta. . _ . 
• See Statement of His Excellency the 1'1-esident of Liberia before the Commlll!lton, Monrovta. 
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MoNTSERRADO AREA. 

25. A Town Chief before the Commission at Kakata said: 

" My father was a big chief. He left property and money for me, but 
all is now gone on account 'of fines. I have suffered on the road as much 
as the men. I am the chief, but they put me on the road work, neverth~l~ss, 
and give me ' 25 •, When you catch the head of a snake the remammg 
part of the body is caught also ; so when they beat me on the road you 
know what happens to the labourers. We cannot refuse Government 
order but when boys are sent on the road we have to buy tools, pay fines 
and get • 25 • as well. That cannot please anybody. We should be quite 
willing to work on the road if we had not to buy tools. And if we were paid 
something for expenses. But when the fines are heavy on me I have to 
pawn children to pay them." 1 

26. A Witness before the Commission at Kakata. 

" We are working in the country, they are beating us, we tote loads and 
they make us give them rice. If they ask for drink and we have no drink 
to give them, they make us pay_ for the drink. When we cook the food if 
no meat or we put a small piece of meat they say it is not enough, we must 
pay something. We were there and our town got burnt; we went out 
carrying loads and when we were away our town got burnt. They went 
and told the· District Commissioner. He came and did not say anything 
but caught our father and fined him fro, on the pretence that the bridge 
over the creek near the town was out of repair. Then he called for 25 
labourers and we caught 24. It remained one. My brother said you all 
wait till the man comes. Then they caught my brother and flogged him 
until blood come out of his ear. All the boys saw that,-I told them we 
must come to Monrovia to work, because if we are going to work and they 
flog us at the same time we will go somewhere else." 

27. A Witness before the Commission at Kakata. 

" We come from Gbilie's place. He collects us as labourers. We work 
for him, he beats us. The few women we got when the soldiers come, the 
house we build at Sanoya, they take the women by force and make them 
daub the house. They put sticks between their legs. When they catch 
labourers, they make us work. You see my head, it is clean through toting 
hammock. They flog us with whips. Look at the mark on my skin. When 
we tote loads, they beat us until we get where we are going. No food to 
eat. We feed ourselves. When they collect the labourers and we come to 
walk on the road, they cannot feed us. We are slaves now. We are men, 
we used to be people in our homes, now we are nobody . . . We do not 
do farm work because the Chief humbug us too much. When the soldiers 
come they tie us. We do not know what to do now. What can we do ? " 

After giving some bland testimony on the first day of the Kakata meeting arranged by 
the Commission, the Paramount Chief of Kakata retired as if he felt he had done all that could 
be required of hi~, leaving the impression that he had advised his people not to talk, but as 
they were determmed to do so he woul~ com~ with them. On the second day, however, reports 
of_ the outspokenness of the people dec1~ed h1m to return to the baraza and he did so, evidently 
w1_th a feelmg that the men were speakmg too freely, thus endangering his own position. He 
sa1d : 

The President. 
28; "We are n.ativ~ people; if you tell any man in Monrovia he is 

Pres1dent we are ~1s ch1l~ren. If ~e gives any man commission, the word 
he te~s that man ~f he disregards 1t they will put him in jail. What they 
t~ h1m he ~akes If God helps him they don't fine him till his time is 
fimshed, alnght. I have been in Government work, I have never found 

'v I r~ gi~~ u 
2 51" ~SUa~y ~ean~ that the delinquent is thrown down On the ground face downwards and 

~~!'!, 1 era Y 2 5 as,es, u~ '".~tbefla the phrase is used lightly, and merely means that the person has 
not '8oegdg.angbeatmlgt· 1Fioggmg seems to mean, beating or driving with a stick or otherwise ill-treating, 

1 an a a era sense. 
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;ouble; anyt!llng the President tells me, I do it. You ask who is the 
aramount ~hi~f of Kakata. I say me. All what going on I have told 

l~uid I won
1 

t ~e and all what I told you is what happened. Yesterday 
0 you will send for all my people for them to talk-I have not 

~~rdb anybody to talk .. They must not blow over me. I am Paramount 
e • u.t these people d1d not make me, the President made me. If I t anythmg and they tell the President he says I have done wrong 1 take 

thiat .. I am Paramount Chief here. Any man wants to talk here, what is 
s mmd he ~ust talk. If they blow over me, when I go to MonroVia and 

repo~ you will .say the Paramount Chief do wrong. The book I have the 
President gave 1t to me. I did not steal it. I go by the President's order." 

. Despite the warning words of the Paramount Chiefs, his town Chiefs and people continued 
w1th unabated vehemence to place their complaints before the Commissioners. 

The whip is our 
pay. 

Discontent. 

29. A Witness before the Commissio11 111 KAkAIA. 

" Every work they give us to do, the whip is our pay. In our country 
we are there as sl~ves. . • We are not going up again because they 
flog us. Our own nee they put on our backs and call it Government loads. 
We are country people. We do not do our own work. We work to give 
them chop • • . If we go back Jimmie Miller will put us up the kitchen 
and set fire under. To put a man up there like that and if we fight they 
say we fight the President. Sometimes some little boys go up there and 
flog us, and we want to fight-but we remember. Just now you go to 
Jimmie Miller. He has 68 labourers in the village." 

" Our own rice they put on our backs " refers to the firm belief, of the natives, that a 
considerable portion of the rice they supply to the military and civil stations every month Is 
sent down to the coast or elsewhere for sale or private use. 1 Testimony before the Commission 
would seem to support this belief. 

" Put us up the kitchen and set fire under " refers, of course, to the form of punishment 
described under the section " Public Works : Building" in which the person is strung up 
to the rafters of a hut and literally smoked. 

Occasionally in. testimony before the Commission mention is made of being " put on the 
sticks." This refers to a form of safe keeping adopted in prisons and station guard rooms, 
and sometimes by chiefs in their villages. It consists of fixing the prisoner's legs between two 
heavy sticks so that he is unable to stand up, as in the old " stocks " at one time common in 
Europe, or one leg through a hole in a log which he is just able to lift if he wishes to move about. 
It may also refer to a diabolical invention in the shape of two short sticks joined with string 
and placed crosswise on the shin. The shrinking of the string by wetting it causes intense pain. 

They punish us. 

Fines. 

Work to eat. 

Fines. 

30. A Town Chief before the Commission 111 KAkAia. 

"All I have to say is that the Government work here they punish us 
for it. We all stay in this section and not rich . . • When we are 
working the Paramount Chief's messenger sent to take us. One time they 
want to catch me, and they tore my clothes. They tied me. When I carne 
they send me on the road to work. I had to pay a man to work for me, 
as my arm was paining me. I paid the man four dollars: The P~ramou~t 
Chief made six dollars fine and they put rope on my wa1st. I paid the IIX 
dollars before they left me. Then they made me work." 

31. A Witness before the Commissio11 AI KAkAia. 

"We are slaves in our section, on account of this same Government road. 
We are all small boys. Our big brothers are not rich, and if you do not 
work you cannot eat. The road work the ~resident opened here, when we 
are working we do not get any pay. They JUSt beat us. They stop us from 
doing our own work, just Government work. We work hungry and they 
fine us. Then we have to send rice. It is now seven years." 

I See testimony by Blackett and others in Sinoe incidenL 
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32, A Chief from Boporo before the Commission at Kakata. 

" This work has become hard for us. 'Yhen we go o~ the road to work, 
we have to use sticks to dig the ground w1th. The Pres1dent say~ we ~ust 
open the road. We are getting no money. The only pay we get IS beatmg. 
In our section since we began to work on the road, they have collected from 
us three hundred seventeen dollars (S317.oo), over three years. 

" Question. - Who took this money from you ? 

"Chief. - Sciaffa Washington, District Commissioner, He IS now 
in the Deh Senjah Section." 

33· A Witness before the Commission, Kakata. 

"We ·are poor people, we have not got anything. The Government is 
our father, and when they bring some job in country and ask us to work 
job they ought to make us satisfied to do the work, to pay us and feed 
us.' The Government does not do anything like that . . . We are poor 
people and we must feed people who go on the road. We c~nnot help it. 
We have to do it. After we feed the boys on the road, sometimes they say 
how they don't come about six o'clock, if they are late they fine them-the 
same money we get for our food they take it. I~ the boys say they wo~'t 
give their food money they catch them and wh1p them. If they are s1ck 
and don't go on the road for two weeks they catch us for not sending 
boys on the road and fine us and we have to find our children and pay the 
fine. If they receive the money from us, the little money we make on our 
farms, they must allow us to eat our own rice . . . When I send my 
people on the road they beat them and they become sick and when they 
cannot go on the road they fine them." 

34· A Town Chief before the Commission july 22, 1930. 

" When the road started, Secretary Morris put us all together and said 
we must make the road. We could not have refused because we have no 

Road trouble. backbone. But we asked them if we worked the road, what about the tax ? 
They said that if we worked the road we will not have to pay tax until the 
road is finished. Not a year after we got on the road, we were called upon 

Remission of to pay tax. We are made to pay tax on every house we build. Now we 
tax. work the road, but are not paid for it. We are not fed. If they were to 

feed our boys on the road we would be satisfied, but every time we send 
No food for boys on the road we have to give them food. Our Paramount Chief is 

road workers. not here, but I wish he was here for me to ask him a question. I want to 
find out from him as to whether he has been paid any money for the road 
and if so what he has done with it. He went to the Kakata Council, we 

The fear of the were caught near John Lewis Morris's farm for coming late. Hence we 
after. have come to tell you all, because when you shall have left these shores, and 

we are sent on the road again, the trouble we will see will be worse than 
what we have already seen." 

In giving their testimony, chiefs frequently stated that they had been told that while 
~hey worked. on the road they would not have to pay taxes of any sort. It is possible that, as 
m other testimony gtven, there may have been confusion here on the part of natives or District 
Commissioners between hut and road tax. 

Road palaver 
first. 

Orders after-
wards. 

35· A Chief Before lhe Commission, Monrovia, july 22nd, I9JO. 

" The native people knew nothing about road palaver until the civilized 
people had made 8: plan about it. After making this plan they called us. 
We came. They s~ud to us th~t we must clean the road. I said my children 
are left. They satd I must g~ve them two boys. I said if I give you two 
boys then I must sleep alone m my town ? They said I must give the two 
boys. I aske~ them of what benefit will our working on the road be to 
us ? They sa1d we must clean the road for nothing. Will you pay us ? 
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No pay, no food. They said, 'No'.-' Well, _how mu~t we eat?_~ They said we must feed 
?ursel!es•. and then they ~d to us, 1f you continue to talk we will put you 
m chams Just now. I furmshed the two boys and had to give them U/·1./· 
each for_ food. I ~id to them, look at my head-gray. I am unable to work. 
They sa1~ to me, You :'-re an old man, we respect you, but if you continue . 
to talk like that you will lay down on the ground just now. The soldiers 
would take the boys' food away from them and when the boys go and cut 
palm cabbage one of them was caught and beaten. Today that boy is 
dead from that beating." 

Bring food 
money. 

Died after 
beating. 

The testim?ny of a Bassa Chief shows how the road programme came to the native in the Bassa Sechon. ·· 

36. A Chief before the Commissi011, M Ofll'ovill. 

" This road matter is giving us trouble. Since the road started they rut all of us 
together. They said, 'Well, you Bassa people, this country belongs to us al. This work 
that has come it is good for us all, so all must join together and help the government.' 
We said, ' In what way must we help the Government 1 ' They said, By giving us boys 
to work on the road.' We asked, 'Are you going to pay? ' They said, • No,'-•lf the 
boys are not fed, how they be able to pay taxes ? ' They said, • Whilst working the rond 
they will not be required to pay taxes.' Then they showed us the portion of the work 
we are to do, and said to us, ' When you reach this point with the road, you will be relievtJd 
from road work.' But while yet working on the road, we are required to pay taxes. We 
have to give each of our boys 6/- for chop. If they are late coming on the road, they 
are caught at Morris farm and their money taken from them. If the boys' food is out 
and they run away home for chop, they are overtaken by messengers. All this is giving 
us a lot of trouble." 

Road lines. 

Beating. 

M arylantl Area. 

37 A Chief before the Commission. 

" My boys are caught and carried on the road to work, and If any of 
them happens to be sick, I am fined. If I have not the money right. at 
hand, I am tied, laid on the ground and ~ogg;ed severely. After he fimsh 
beating me, the number of days he remams m town I have to feed him 
with what he calls for. Since Superintendent Smith came we have not 
made roads. That is, since January of this year." 

All road work ceases about Christmas time, which is the beginning of what may be termed 
the agricultural months, when the natives all hope to be free to plant their rice and other crops. 

No pay. 
No food. 

Fines. 

38. A Chief before the Commission. 

" About the road matter this is another place where we see much trouble. 
We get no pay, no food, ~nd then we are forced to bring our o~n tool~. 
When our little boys are going on the road and they happen to bnng the1r 
own food, the soldiers take it all away from them _and then bea~ them 
on the top of it. If a boy is sick and cannot work he~ fined £I. It 11 verr, 
hard to get this [.I to pay because we are not workmg for money here. 

Frequently it happened that recruitment for Fernando Po in this area VfaS in ~mpetit_ion 
with recruitment for the neighbouring road construction and on these occaswns ne1ther chiefs 
nor people knew for which the boys were being taken. 

Fernando Po. 

Women's appeal. 

39· A Chief before the Commissi011. 

" The thing I forgot to tell you about was when we _wer~ having all the 
Fernando Po trouble, and the men could not preyaU w1th ¥r· Yancy, 
the women said they would try. They went and rmplored h1m to leave . 
their husbands and brothers and children alone, but he drove them awayd 
saying if they dared come and see him again on the matter he would sen 
them ~ to Fernando Po.'' 
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" He sent Commissioner Frederick Prowd, who is his right hand man, 
to my village and when he could not get enough boys he caught me and 
had me tied 'up, my hands tied and my feet tied, and started to ca~ry me 
to Cape Palmas, with a stick. passed through ~y hands and feet hke a.n 
animal is carried. Mr. Prowd JS a very bad man mdeed. :When he does th1s 
sort of thing and the men begs for pardon he relea~es ~1m on_pa:r.ment of 
£3· We are nothing but slaves, and I hope a better time 1s commg. 

The Commissioners were impressed throughout with the attitude of the natives who 
appeared before _them to give testim~my. Thei~ grievances were. undou~tedly of long 
accumulation, pomtedly stated but w1thout mahce. Ma!ly of thetr asser~J.ons could . be 
corroborated in their major details. All.of them ~ere consctous of the probabtltty of c:;reatm_g 
a false impression of disloyalty by thetr complamts and prefaced them carefully With thts 
precaution. It was clear enough that what t~ey wa~ted was merely a chance to escaP: a 
situation which bore heavily upon them and agamst wh1ch they felt that they ~ad no effechve 
redress. The state of mind of some of them is indicated in the remark of one chtef : 

40. "They have told us that if we talk our towns will be burned. I have thought 
about this much and now I say, ' Then let it be history for our children that the towns of 
the people of . . . . were destroyed this day because they told their troubles.' " 

Some of them were more complaisant and merely hoped for better times ; others evinced 
their resentment by neglecting their agricultural and the ordinary economic routine save 
that which was demanded ; still others sought quietly to abandon the country. 

The situation holds, it seems, the seeds of much unnecessary governmental difficulty and 
its correction deserves first place in any recommendation looking to the welfare of the Republic. 

In the country round about Barrobo military station in Maryland, there seems to be a 
definite order that natives are not to wear khaki clothing. If not an order from the District 
Commissioner, it must be an understanding between the District Commissioner's messengers 
and the soldiers throughout District No. 5. In the testimony of chiefs and villagers before the 
Commission the subject was many times referred to. They described how both soldiers and 
messengers stopped persons on the pathways and robbed them of khaki jackets and shorts, 
saying that natives were forbidden to wear khaki clothes. 

The khaki terror. 

41. A Sub-Chief before the Commission. 

" When the soldiers come into the town they strip those who are wearing 
khaki of any description. If they put you in prison for this you have to 
pay five fowls and five bowls of rice to get out. In No. 5 District only 
soldiers are supposed to wear khaki-soldiers, messengers and others. 
Everything in khaki is supposed to be a soldier, hence the fear of khaki 
generally. All these trouble make life in No. 5 hinterland district now 
hardly worth living." 

Accor~ing to the testimony of one of the Chiefs in District No. 5 there was an order forbidding 
the wearmg of khaki clothing issued from the District Commissioner's office. 

4a. " Then D.C. Scott g_ave a~other order for the whole district that no o~e wear 
k~aki. If anybody wear khakt •. soldters and messengers must take it from them and beat 
~im. (Interpreter-! have had it happen to me.) I myself have had it taken off me twice 
,m Rockto~n and Harp.er by Yancy's ~lerk. My father prevented my fighting for my 
cl?thes Which ~ere carried ?ff. They said the order came from Monrovia from President 
Kmg, .that whtle the. Fro~her Force was wearing khaki nobody else must buy it. Boys 
returmng to Mo~ro~ta With khaki suits costing £x, sold them for two or three shillings. 
Or~er only for Dtstnct No.5· People wear khaki in other districts. Here only Paramount 
Chief and Speaker may wear it.'' 

be The .explanation of the Central Government is that this order was issued to all stations 

d causde .it kwhask.repodr!ed thadt persons not belonging to either service appeared in villages 
resse m a i an 1mpose upon the people. 

h As corroborat.ing this to some extent it was reported to us by the Firestone management 
th~~fnc~~e ~~~~0~ t~hy f0~ a thousand mden in one day. Two soldiers or at least men in 

• g e a ur camps an arrested two men whom they marched off to 



goodness knows. where. As a matter of fact, it was soon after pay day. Wbt>ther the soldit>rs 
were real Frontier Force men or messengers or someone else in khaki we could not ascertain 
but so great is the fear of khaki that the bare statement of the " soldiers " that they we~ 
coming back the next day to bum all the camps was sufficient to make I ooo men return to 
their homes in the interior with several days' pay due to them. ' 

No. I " Basket" punishmenl, so frequently mentioned in the deposition as a favourite 
punishment an~ amusement of the soldiers placed over the gangs of natives on road construction 
work was descnbed by a native of Beabo on the Cavalla River in No. 5 District. He stated that 
a big round basket filled with earth and heavy stones was lifted up by four soldit>rs and placed 
upon the head of the luckless prisoner, who was then ordered to walk with it if he could. 
Sometimes he was told to tum round and round with it, and while doing this the heavy load 
was given an extra twist by some one or the man was clutched by one of the soldit>rs so that 
he could not tum with the basket. In this way necks have frequt>ntly been broken, he said, 
and men killed, but more often it caused injury to the neck resulting later in death. 

This basket was pointed out to the League of Nations Commissioner on his way to vlo;it 
the Webbo-Barrobo road at the village of Taibolu. It is a double woven container with curled 
edges, about two feet in diameter and about 15 inches dt>ep with concave bottom. 

Basket No. I. 

No. I Basket. 

43· A Chief of Barrobo Section before the Commission. 

" If you miss one day, £I.o.o and a basket called • Basket No. I,' ~o 
big, filled with dirt, that you can hardly move with it. Four men hft 
it on your head and you are made to carry it, soldiers beating you. There 
is also a • Basket No. :z '." 

44· A Chief of Webbo Section before the Commission. 

" The Commissioner has a wicked punishment for us. He fills a large 
basket with dirt and heavy stones and four or six men lift this up and put 
it on your head. When they put it on your head they make you walk 
for about 100 feet four times a day." 

45· A Sub-Chief of No. 5 District before the Commission. 

" We are made to work on the road. Absentees are fined heavily and 
if the fine is not paid it means of punishing us. It is this-a large basket 
is filled with earth and stones. Four men lift this up and put it on the 
boy's head. and be is mad.e to carry it so"?.e distance-many have been 
injured trymg to carry th1s loaded basket. 

46. A Chief of Gyudu Section before the Commission. 

" When boys come back always complain of Basket No. I, but 'chief 
has not energy enough to go to the District Co'!'missioner and ask about 
th's basket The basket is on the road as pumshment for anybody who 
di~pleases the man in charge. Has to be lifted up by four me~ and cann~t 

ossibl be carried far. It is bard for him to make complamt for be. IS 

traid his life may be taken, therefore b~ doesn't .care to !'lake complamt 
of basket, because if messengers come to bu':' and m1streat _hiS people a~d he 
com lains to the D.C. he never does anythmg but tells h1m a .parable . 

" P If you had a gunner and you sent him into the woods to k1ll an elephant 
when he has killed the elephant would you tell him to carry the elephant 
back into the bush ? ' " 

The following furthe~ c~mplaints are from chiefs who testified before the Commission 
whilst in Maryland and DlStnct No. 5· 

Quota. 

Soldiers. 
Deaths. 

47 
"My town has to supply :zo men to th~ Harper-Gbolfooodbo roadd.tYolsu 

· k d to bnng your own an 00 • 
are i!l your country and you ~~e~de~t to work us on the road. Since the 

:!~:~~~ (x~~~!!~~~~vahe dieKlahd afterJh!J bea~J! a'ft0~~d ~=~~~~~ They are Du, S1e, Dumu, T1 , , e e, • • 
Yodobah." 



Road fines. 

Soldiel'll. 
Fines. 

Died in the 
bush. 

Flogging. 
Beating. 

Soldiers. 

Frontier Force. 

Ill-treatment by 
soldiers .. 

-68-

48. " This road we make, we no g~t pay, no chop, then the people 
who beat us, we give him chop. Then If you no go for .road, you pay [I 
fine. When you work for white man, he pay, but no~ thts one, !lo pay. If 
one man die, they say I must bring other man for htm place ; tf I can!lot 
et other man I will pay. There be plenty trouble for road. The soldiers 

~eat us. Sometime for one man who no go for road, they make me pay [7. 
At other time again for 2 man they make me pay £xo. They beat us on t~e · 
road, and plenty people die for this. Since th~y been beat peopl~ for th1s 
road, 10 man done die. Myself, my brother dte for road too, thts be two 
year now. When they beat him he run for bush for 4 days, on the fifth, 
we see him for bush, he die." 

49· " We go on the road to work for nothing, then when we go we are 
flogged and when we get sick and cannot work, we are fined £x for each 
per we~k. When we are in earnest in working the road, we are beaten so 
severely that some die from cruel licks. 'Yhen a bo.y run~ !'-way f~om the 
cruelty of the soldiers and they·come for h1m, sometime h1s father ts taken 
along with him straight on to prison. There they ask us to feed them every 
month." 

. so. " The soldiers of the Frontier Force are behind the men on the 
road beating them. Last year sent boys on the road : one boy had fever. 
He 'Yas put in jail and the chief had to pay [3.0.0." 

51. " When we go to the road, soldiers taking care of us, flogging you. 
Can't feed them, give them nothing but bad treatment. We do his own 
work (the official's) and his wife's work too instead of the road I " 

Whilst at Harper, the Grebo Chiefs of the Cape Palm as area came in a body with 50 
or more of their people to visit the Commission on May 15th, 1930. The following (slightly 
edited) was the testimony of one of them. Though general in character it is inserted here in 
full. The Hon. H. Too Wesley, a previous Vice President of the Republic, was asked to act 
on this occasion as interpreter, and in doing so very helpfully explained the feelings 
of diss.at~sfaction and disaffection which the chiefs were endeavouring to express to the 
CommJsston. 

Ill-treatment of 
labourers. 

Threats from 
lllr. Yancy. 

Arrest of Chief. 

Fine for release. 

Toting 
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52. " The first thing I wish to bring to the notice of the Commission 
is what happened during the time my men were building the Pudukeh 
barracks. It was here that my men were most severely ill-treated by the 
soldiers who frequently beat them, sometimes with the butts of their 
rifles and obliged them to work with native bark rope round their waists. 
If they ran away the chief or head man in charge of them would be fined 
or else taken somewhere and tied up. When I complained about this to 
Mr. Yancy he said: ' If you don't do what the soldiers tell, I will send men 
to .burn down your town.' This frightened us and we did our best to 
bu1ld the houses, but the boys had a bad time. They were told to build 
in a certain way new to them and if they failed to understand exactly 
th~y :-vere ftogg.ed for it. Lt. ~saac Roberts w~s alwa~s there during t~e 
buildmg operahons and took h1s orders from V1ce PreSident Yancy. This 
was four years ago, when Mr. Yancy was Superintendent of Maryland 
County· 

" I am supplying each week 20 men from Fishtown for work on the road 
fro~ Cap.e Palmas to Getetabo, and when a boy is missing soldiers are sent 
to h1s ch1ef f?r the fine and the .m?ney is taken to Vice President Yancy. 
On one occas10n ten men were miSSing and soldiers came to arrest the chief 
my predecessor, who was sick and feeble, and we persuaded the soldie~ 
that he was not fit to go, but we had to pay [13. This chief died the same 
year. · 

".MY .town is on the Coast and we are told that only Commissioners are 
to nde m hammocks, yet every one who passes along the coast forces us 
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to supply them with hammock boys, and if they are not at once fortbcomi 
he ~ try and catch the v:omen to tote his hammock. If we refuse !! 
maty hmade to smart for 1t later. My own wife recently was forced to 
ac as ammock bearer. 

" Another thing .I want to tell you. Of the 20 boys 1 supply each week 
for road construction, 10 are ~nt to the road, while the other ten have 
to go and work on Mr. Yancy s farm. Then we cut bush and · pay. rece1ve no 

·"Not so long ago the Vice President sent for us and told us that we must 
supply men for Fernando Po and we obiected. After finding fault with the 
work on the road, be finally said that mstead of 20 men we must su p1 
him with 6o men for road work if we refused to find them for Fernfnd~ ro and they mu.st all be from my to~ns only. He then locked us aU up 
m one house telling us that on the amval of the Spanish steallH!r he would 
send us all to Fernando Po. But fortunately for us the steamer did not 
~top .here. ~f it had we should have been now in Fernando Po. We were 
1mpnsoned m that house for a month. 

" When we have not the money to pay our fines we sometimes have to 
go to a firm at Cape Palmas and get money or credit against our produce · 
or we may have to sell our cattle or our fishing canoes to get the money 
Whe~ the chief goes in to Cape Palmas there are no quarters arranged 
for him. He has to do the best he can. If he is called there to a council 
meeting and does not carry his own chop he will not drink water until he 
comes back. He must provide for himself, but when officials come here we 
hav~ to provide for _them. When Governor Yan.cy comes he compeUs us 
to kill our cows for h1m to eat. He never moves Without an army of soldiers 
and men and they all have to be provided for. The women have to hurriedly 
beat rice, find palm oil and other things for all these people and not a 
sixpence as remuneration. If Governor Brooks comes he must receive the 
same treatment as Vice President Yancy. 

" I wish to endorse all my Senior Chief's complaints about the 
bad treatment the boys receive on returning from the coast. All the cloth 
and small things they bring with them are either taken away from them 
in lieu of heavy charges put upon them by the Customs Officials, or they 
are obliged to pay these charges. (They usually bring cloth, handkerchiefs, 
etc., as presents for their women, something a little different from what 
obtainable here. On these things they have spent a considerable portion 
of their year's earnings, and it is galling for them to have to return with 
nothing. This the customs clerks are of course aware of.) 

53· A Sub-Chief of No. 5 District before the Commission. 

"District Commissioner JohnsonofWebbo is a bad man. When he was troubling us for 
'boys for Fernando Po, he sent soldiers here in the night and whoever came out was seized. 
Oh I the terror of that night. Ten boys were caught in that way, and marched off to 
Webbo. This happened in March last year. They were sent to Fernando Po and we have 
not heard anything of them since, but Chief Barney's headman recently returned from 
the Island and he reported that condition of the boys down there was bad. He made a 
complaint to the Spanish authorities who dismiss~d him a.nd sent hi~ home. D.C. 
Johnson obtains the boys for Mr. Yancy. If the soldiers come m the day time and I were 
to refuse to supply boys they would beat me, tie me up and have me in prison. Chief 
Barney's headman who had returned from Fernando Po volunteered the statement that 
when be was caught and they got to Webbo he asked the D.C. • Why should a man be 
forced to work for himself ? • He was flogged and sent to prison for 4 months and three 
weeks, and bad eventually to pay £6 to get out." 

U> INTIMIDATION AND EXTORTION. 

The ample testimony in this report, and a great deal more in possession of the ~":!mission, 
seems to us clear proof that the Government's native policy h_as be~n and shll Ill ~ne of 
intimidation and suppression. The disquieting point in connection w1th the matte~ Ill that 
the chiefs, through whose influence any form of beneficial governmen~ m!lst be orga_m.~d, .are 
just as liable to be arrested at a moment's notice, tied up or treated w1th ~tolerable mdigmty, 
and dragged off to the District Commissioner, where they may be held 1n the guard room, 



-70-

· "niousl into pri~n or they may be threatened with death at the 
beaten, or th.ro~ tgnomt sh as In the case of Chief Broh who, after returning from Monrovia 
~~~~ h! h~t~e:;d 1: c~~;~int before the President, was to'Id by the Superintendent at Harper : 

. "You are now in my hands, let President K~g come and deliyer you out. 
Presi~!nt King rules in Monrovia and I rule here. If I deliver you to the sold1_ers and t~ey 
kill ou on the road and when I am asked I will simply say that you took s1ck and died 

y "II d" and there the matter WI en . 

The contact between natives and irresponsible Government officials has pr~vided 
opportunity for shameful excess of abuse and ~xploitation. Chiefs have been abased m the 
presence of their people, fined, flogged, and subJected to torture. 

55· An instance came to the notice of the Commission ~ which a chief on th~ Mary!~nd 
Coast was flogged by soldiers who came to catch 20 men from h1s town. For sport whilst watttng 
for the number to be made up these soldiers amused themselves by collecting one ~y one the 
hairs of the chief's long moustache, and by fri~ht~ning him with thr~ats to burn h1s town, a 
catastrophe which had actually happened to h1m m 1916. 

A Chief even a Paramount Chief, may frequently receive such letters as the followi_ng 
from the " Government Road Time Keeper," a junior official who has of course no authonty 
to threaten chiefs with detention : 

56. " Sir, 

" As Government time keeper I writing you asking you to have your men from 
your town here on the Government Road on Monday morning 6 o'clock or else Chi_ef will 
be held here and you be send for by the Superintendent Maryland County to gtve an 
account of their delay and those that are here be kept until they come. You must see 
that they start Saturday so that to enable them to be on the spot Monday morning. The 
required number is 15 boys. 

Yours in haste, 

Henry D. BAKER 

Government Road Time Keeper." 

57· A chief when returning from a meeting with the Commission was stopped on the 
road by a clerk from ~he office of the District Commissioner, a~d asked w~y he was ?ut of 
his section. On Iearnmg the reason he was lectured upon makmg complamts to fore1gners 
and was threatened with jail if he did not pay [1.0.0 on the spot, the full amount of cash he 
was carrying. Needless to say, the clerk had no authority to impose a fine and would not be 
expected to report it. 

sB. On another occasion the Superintendent of Maryland County sent word to a 
Paramount Chief in No. 5 District that he must bring all hut taxes to him in Harper. At the 
same time the District Commissioner at Webbo demanded of the Chief that he bring them 
to Webbo. Still another Commissioner for the Kroo Coast demanded that they be brought 
to Garroway so that he could take them to Cape Palmas. Perplexed the Paramount Chief 
called together his sub-chiefs and fifteen of them went to Harper to inquire of the Superintendent 
just where the taxes would be delivered. When they had assembled and presented the problem, 
the Superintendent pondered a while, according to the testimony, and then said ; " All chiefs 
from Barrobo arise and stand on one foot." The chiefs obeyed. Then the Superintendent after 
lecturing them, fined them each £5 and allowed them to put down the other foot and 
return home. 

N?r .are the chiefs merely _humiliated by officials and debased by soldiers, messengers and 
Com'!uss10~ers, ~ut are s~metu;nes grossly 1n:posed upon and robbed. The land question, as 
me~t~oned m thts ~eport, 1s an mstance of thts and a source of frequent abuse. It provides an 
addttlonal wedge m th~ control over the chiefs in offering immunity from public " utility " 
programmes or as pumshment for reluctance to provide men for both public and private 
purpos~s. The thou~h~less and n?t infrequently criminal extortion practised seldom benefits the 
Repubhc although 1t 1s exacted m the name of the Government. One example is here cited : 

59· I~ 1921 a quest~on arose over ~and bet':"een the Fishtown and Garroway people. 
T.he Supermtenden~ constituted ~. Comm1ttee to mvestigate and the limits of the land in 
dtspute were estabhshed. The deciSion favoured the Fish town people and the Garroway people 
appealed .. They were told by the Superintendent that if they want~d it changed they would 
have t~ bnng £4o.o.o. Then a second £4o.o.o was requested to effect the deal. They did not 
get thetr land .. Anot~er £9.0.0 was demanded. All was paid. Then Commissioner Mars was 
sen.t down to mvesttgate. ~e asked first for [1o.o.o for chop and got it. Then for a cow 
wh1ch he also got. He dectded that the first marking must be adhered to and went home. 
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The Superintendent then asked for £4o.o.o more and promised them the land . later he 
asked for £71.0.0 as advanc~ for a surveyor. They borrowed th f ' M 
Overbeck and on demand fumtshed 40 bo t bel . h . e money rom essrs. 
Promised to visit but needed {.Io 0 0 tr' 0 t rtP. tnht. e surveymg. The Superintendent 

b b · · en e am lS strangers while be was away 
He got t e money ut did not come. Meanwhile the Fishtown 1 · · • 
{.So.o.o to counteract similar amounts given by the 'Garroway pe~~ ~ patdf £u.o.o and falgamd 

d {.tV> o o for the land · db th N'h · ~· • .,_.oo or a survey o an an ~-· · occupte ~ e I wte people. Pitted agamst each other the two tribes 
finally c~me to blows, ~acb sus~tmg the other of direct designs. Seven ca tives were taken 
by one s1de. The Supenntendent,m turn, caught ~ven chiefs from the other Jde. He demanded 
{.1~.o.o but {.7o.o.o was all they could find. Wbtle this side was looking for the oth £ 
therr town (47 huts) was burned !1-nd ~ve persons _burned to death. Then the Super~!te~~:~~ 
sent a C_ommtttee to _learn on which Stde the fightmg started. The Committee's ex nses had 
to '?e patd. Of the chiefs taken three were se~t to the b~cks and the people fined bso.o.o for 
tbetr releas~. They had been able at the time of the mterview (June IgJo) to coli t 1 
£8 .. o.o of th1s {.xso.o.o. The two other chiefs are in prison in Harper und'er curious sen:::nc~n y 
Chtef Too reports the matter : • as 

" They say they are going to bang them. They say after the lawyer finish pleading 
they will bang them." 

The to~al amount paid, according to the accounts of the Garroway people, was £sos.o.o, 
from the ~1shtown people {.207·?·0 a~d from the Nihwie people {.22J.o.o. This particular 
land question, nevertheless, remams shU unsettled and open to further exploitation. 

Even the white missionary is not exempt from this humiliation and intimidation as the 
following testimony, corroborated by a number of people on the spot, shows. ' 
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6o. In No.5 Section in District Commissioner Scott's time, a paramount 
chief is said to have paid over his tax contribution to the D.C.'a clerk, 
who on being asked for the money repudiated the payment. According 
to the chief's account, he was then obliged by the D.C. to send to his people 
for more money, he himself being held in the guard room. Instead of 
sending the money again, they sent a letter written by a white missionary, 
Rev. F. A. ·Noah, corroborating their chief and explaining the people'a 
point of view. On the receipt of this letter the D.C. sent soldiers to arrest 
the Rev. Noah. The soldiers not only arrested him with the utmost 
indignity, but tied him up with native bark rope and marched him, 
together with a town chief and mission boys, to the station and locked them 
all together in the guard room. The Paramount Chief on seeing this begged 
the D.C. to release the white man. The Chief was told that if the palaver 
was to be dropped and the missionary released the D.C. must receive 
£xoo. Eventually, it is reported the amount was paid, half by the 
missionary's people and half by the chief's people, and the missionary 
was allowed to return to his mission station, but died a week afterwards. 

2. Publlo Workl : Bulldlnga. 

In French arid British Dependencies, the Belgian Congo, and elsewhere, it is perm~ible 
to employ compulsory labour for the building of houses and offices for Government offictals, 
and for carrying out their annual repair and any other similar work that may be needed. 
It is paid for at a definite specified figure, generally slightly below the usual market labour rate. 

In Liberia it would seem that large gangs of natives, supplied by the chiefs at th~ orders 
of the County Superintendents and District Commissioners, are employed to ~uil~ and 
maintain the civil administrator's quarters and also the military barracks, th~ soldiers m the 
latter case acting merely as labour hustlers, taking no part in the building operations themsel.v~. 
This would seem to indicate that the men were to some extent out of hand, or that opportumtles 
for exploitation of the natives would be otherwise missed. 

The whole of Barrobo barracks in No. 5 District Maryland, a consi~er.able collection. of 
houses and soldiers' quarters which was visited by the American CommtSstoner, were butlt, 
according to our information, by compulsory unpaid native male and female Ia~ur .. These 
barracks are entered by an elevated causeway of great width and length, multtplymg the 
volume of labour required. 
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6z. .. Sir, Captain Isaac Whistnant, L.F.F., ~as ~-onferred ~ith me on his o~der for 
buildin the military barracks at Barrobo, D1stnct No .. F~ve, for effectmg the 
re-orga!isation plan of the Frontier Force, instead of Putu, D1stnct Number Four. · 

" I enclose you under separate cove!s, letter~ ordering the Param~unt Chief of 
Barrobo as well as adjoining sections tq furmsh you w1th (130) one hundred th1rty labourers 
in" all for the work. A cop,y of the said order is attached hereto. You may send the letters 
to the Chiefs concerned. ' 1 

Moreover, it appears that a large sta~ of native labour is maintained at the barracks to 
carry out the annual repairs as well as station work throughout the year. After these ~arracks 
were completed, the following con:es~ondence passed between the Officer Commanding and 
District Commissioner of No. S D1stnct : 

62. " Subject : Labourers : 

. " Sir, since the labourers working at Camp .King were stopped i~ Dece~ber, 1929, 
for the purpose of making their farms, and the time allowed for farmmg haVJng. exprred 
since March 31, 1930; I am hereby requesting that the same ~llotme~~ be g1ven the 
Liberian Frontier Force here, as there is much to be. done h.ere m repamng before the 
heavy rains set in, and the road leading out from here IS only JUSt started. 

"These and other things I would like to· get far advanced before the heavy rains. 
" Please let me hear from you on this subject by the bearer of this." 1 

" 2. With respect to your request for the continuation of the allotment o_f labour 
furnished for the building of the Military Barracks on October 16, 1928, wh1ch was 
augmented on February 15, 1929, because of the necessity at that time for housing the 
men, I have the honour to inform you that as the buildinp work has been compl~ted ~~;nd 
every man is now comfortably in his own house, I cannot w1th fitness order thecontmuatlon 
of labour to the Military Barracks. 

" If, however, necessity arises from time to time for a limited number of labourers, 
say, about 15 to 20 for a definite piece of work which recruits and soldier-boys are not 
able to complete within a given time in which the specific work is needed, a request may 
be made to this Office in writing when the order in the usual form will be made to the 
chiefs by this Office." • 

The building of the soldiers' barracks by outside compulsory labour in cases where the 
soldiers have no real military training, an elementary idea of discipline, are officered by 
men of not very extensive African experience, and where the location is far out of touch with 
headquarters, 1s in our opinion most inadvisable. Abuse of power under such circumstances 
is apt to be indulged in with impunity. Repeated evidence before the Commission showed that 
labourers were flogged and their women, who are required forspecialdaubingwork,grievously 
ill-treated during these operations. The work might well be carried out by the soldiers 
themselves as is other places. To find congenial work for the men in barracks is often a difficult 
problem, especially in the dry months. 

At one chief's village in the Barrobo district the village women corroborated all that their_ 
men had been saying to the Commission, and volunteered the statement that when these 
barracks were being built two hundred women in relays were at work there for nine months. 

" The soldiers ", they said, in effect, " used us as their wives we who had husbands 
and children at home. Our men could not protect us for the soidiers all had guns. We 
have a country custom, a law of adultery, that when a woman bears a child she must 
prove that her husband is the father of it. We who were at the barracks have not been 
ab~e to do this and it has caused: much trouble. It has been necessary for us to kill the 
children and we pray the Comm1ssion to put a stop to our having to go there." 

Recently the natives have attempted to retaliate. Durlng the building of these Frontier 
F_orce barrac~s at Barrobo, the sold1ers made themselves so heartily disliked, raiding the 
village~ for m1~es round for food, wa):'laying women and people on the pathways and robbing 
them, ill-tre~tmg th.e men on the buil~hng works, and appropriating women as they pleased, 
that professiOnal po1soners took them m hand. As a result we were informed three men died 
and seven others were incapacitated either seriously or p~rmanently. The particular poison 

~ Paragraphs from lette~ of D. C. Johnson, Dist. No. s. to Capt. J. c. Phillips, L.F.F., Oct. 16, 1928. 

Di t LeN tterMof Capt. I. Whistnant, Commanding Officer, Camp King, L.F.F., to District Commissioner, 
s . o. s. ay 2.5, 1930. 

L F •FExBtractsbofroSemt_letteDr _of ~- NC. Johnson, Dist. No. s. to the Commanding Officer of 3rd Battalion, 
. . ., arro c ton, tstnct o. s. May 28, 1930. 
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used in t~ case is called " Sallicoco " 1 which appears to be very well known in Libt>ria though 
not so uruversally as " Sass \Vood ". ' 

Frontier Force soldiers. have invariably been used by the Government to coerce the 
labourers employed on .spec1al house building such as quarters for the District Commissioners 
and houses for.the President. By permission of His Excellency, the League of Nations Membt>r 
and the Amenc:'-n Member. spen~ a week at the big thatched bouse at Kakata. Colonel 
T .. El_wood Da~s~ the Pres1dent s A.D.C., stated that this bouse was planned and built by 
D1stnc~ Com~oner C~er and took five months to complete. A considerable plantation 
belo~gm_g to Pres1~e!lt Kmg adjoined it, and in !he vicinity was a similar plantation belonging 
to J?lstnct Cof!~mlSSIOner Carter.- On the occas~on of the Commission's visit several hundred 
natives a~:~d ch1efs c~m~ to ventilate their grievances and to describe their treatment on road 
construction and bmldmg works. One of the Paramount Chiefs deposing stated : 

63. " This bouse we are in was built by the people of this section. Of course­
nobody refused. It was President's order. It was Government work. (Someone the~ 
remarked that " If you want to hear good, hear the people who worked on the house, 
The Paramount Chief is with the officers.") 

Later the Paramount Chief withdrew and some of the workers testified. One said : 

64. - " They caught the men and the women, and brought them here to build this 
house. When they dug the earth for the walls here, there were always soldiers behind 
to make us work faster." 

Another said : 

65. " My woman worked on this house with many others. When the women 
climbed up the walls to do the daubing the soldiers pricked them with sticks from behind, 
and if the men went to protect them they were beaten." 

A third said : 

66. " When D.C. Carter came, we had no peace, either women or men. Some ran 
away into the bush, and the D.C. ordered a big stick to be tied to the back of each of 
of us by a rope round waist and neck, so that it protruded above the head. This was to 
prevent our running into the bush. (One of these sticks was shown to the Commissioners. 
It was as thick as one's wrist and about five feet long.) Those who ran away were always 
caught and brought back, and in each case the chief had to pay a fine. They built a jail 
here also, and I was one of those put in it. At one time 19 town chiefs were locked up in 
it by D.C. Carter's orders." 

A fourth corrob~rated and described how some of the workers incurred the special 
displeasure of the soldiers, who tied ropes round them and hauled them up to th~ beams 
above. Then they lighted fires beneath them into which ther threw pepper. This pumsh.ment 
appears to be well known in Liberia, and modifications o it were frequently mentioned 
during depositions before the Commission. It is known as" putting in the kitchen " or " over 
the fire." 

At Webbo in Maryland a chief who had come in from some distance to give his testimony, 
describing the arrest by some messengers of a young man in the chief's village, said : 

67. "The young man said, • Wait, and let me eat before I go.' But they refused, 
and two young men of the village said, ' Why not let him eat ? ' ' Alright,' the messengers 
said, • We will blame you if he runs away.' When be went away to eat the messeng_ers 
caught the two young men who had stood for the other man and took them to the station 
master (a type of official now abolished) who tied and put them over the smoke and 
made fire and put red pepper in the fire. While they were over the fire he fined them £3 
before they could be taken down. Then the man whom the messengers had come to 
arrest was caught and fined £5 and bad to pay it." 

• It is possible that " Sallicoco " may be derived from some speci~ of Slr_qf>lulflllu.,, oi~ this plant ill 
common in some West African forests. To administer" Sass Wood" a penmt malt _be obtai~ from t~ 
Central Government at Monrovia, but ill is illegal to use it on any but those who bebeve Ia tbe ordeal • 
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3. Porterage. 

The live counties form a coastal strip of country about 40 miles wide. No O';'e is allowed 
to travel into the interior beyond the limits of this strip of country without a spec1al pass from 
the President. Nothing could afford a better illustration of the policy of th~ " closed door" 
which appears to be so favo~red in !:iberia .. An ~ttempt.is made by ".Int.enor Regulations" 
to prevent natives from movmg outs1de the1r section. W1th such a pohcy m force no produce 
could be expected to reach the Coast ports, or merchandise the interior. Porterage, therefore, 
for payment, whether commercial or private, is practically unknown in the country. 

The number of carriers allowed for Government officials has recently been increased, 
and is now on a very liberal scale because it is the fashion as in many other parts of the West 
Coast for every official or pro'!linent ind!vidual to be carried in ~ hamma<;k, a survival, 
perhaps, of earlier days when ch1efs were big men and never moved without a display of pomp 
and power. The toting of hammocks is a source of annoyance to chiefs and people ; the former 
because they are liable to be called upon at a minute's notice for a number of men for hammock 
toting, and the latter because this work is particularly arduous, and never paid for, and the 
" boys " are ill-treated and driven on the road. They know that in other West African regions 
hammock men are invariably paid at a much higher rate than the ordinary porters. Moreover, 
Equatorial West African pathways, owing to the heavy rains, are often waterworn to such 
an extent as to be dangerous, and Liberian hinterland paths seem worse in this respect than 
elsewhere. To make matters worse, the chief has usually no guarantee that the person travelling 
with a hammock is an official and entitled to the men, but since practically the only persons 
moving about are officials and only officials are Americo-Liberians, he is obliged to find the 
men and not infrequently to make up the number with women. Travelling along the Kru 
Coast, the Commissioners learned at Fishtown that two men, apparently Americo-Liberians, 
had passed on the previous day stating that they were the Enquiry Commissioners and wanted 
hammock boys. The Chief demurred, but they caught and held two of his women and made 
themselves otherwise so objectionable that he found them the men "in order to get rid of 
them", Being on the coast, this sort of thing happened, the chief said, most frequently. 
We fear that with the continuance of the present policy of suppression it will be long before 
the road programme has any effect upon head porterage. 

B. FORCED LABOUR FOR PRIVATE ENTERPRISE. 

I. Government and Private Farms. 

2. Corporations and Companies. 

Firestone Plantation Company. 

A very wide dis~inction is everywhere drawn between forced labour for public purposes and 
forced lab~ur for pnv~te employers, and the Slavery Convention accentuates this difference. 
Moreover, ~t seems umversally agre~d ~hat the .latt~r is not permissible. Almost all legislation 
on the subJect of forced hlbour forb1ds 1t . .In L1bena, however, it seems still to be freely made 
use .of,. T~ent:>: years ago th~ subject was one of daily discussion in tropical African 
admm1strative c1rcles, and not m Afnca alone. Colonial policies in those days Jar e1 hi d 
up~n ways and means of encouraging planting and other ventures, and of ex:Iohin:~~e 
native for .the. benefit of t~e. empl.oyer, whose chief aim was to make money and leave the 
countr~ With 1t. The adm1mstrahon found itself continually assailed with the c " M k 
the native work on our farms". Cases of abuse and ill-treatment accumulated to suc6'~next~n~ 
a~dshthe Gdover':'ment became so frequently involved that the whole policy had to be studied 
a re an rev1sed. Then came the realisation of the vital fact that Euro uld t 
thems~des hettie permanently. in and colonize ~ropical Africa, even at considtfr~~= ~itud:. 
~~r coill. t ey succe~d at all m an.y undertak~ng or the development of the interior without 

e w mg.co-operahon of the native population. First consideration was therefore' 'ven to 
the education and advancement of the aborigines and the policy f G t ~ 
to the private employer was abandoned for good 'and all Th o ov~r~men assista~ce 
~~::~f:;v!~~i~J. were struggling " colonies " testi.fy to th~ rec~t~J:int3~:~a~:~;~t~~~: 



-7S-

I. GOVERNMENT AND PJuVATE FARMS. 

There are ap~arently no Gov~rnment farms or plantations now in the Republic. A year 
or two ago at the tnstance of Pres~dent King an experimental farm was begun near Monrovia 
~ut was sho~y afterwards reported to be a failure. There were at least two similar venture~ 
tn other sections of the country, but these also were shortly abandoned • 

. On the other hand, it y."Ould appear from observations made by the Commission and from 
testimony _brought before 1t, that most of the higher Government officials develop rice farms 
or plantations. The almost _total a_b~nce of positions outside Government work undoubtedly 
serves to prompt many officials while m office to provide for themselves at least a town bouse 
or a " farm ". And when these farms require an outlay for labour over several years before 
pro~table results accrue, as ~n t~e case of rubber, which may take the place of coffee as a 
national staple, the temptation IS strong to make use of unpaid and impressed labour in a 
manner indistinguishable, to the native at least, from Government work. 

At Kakata, and during the sessions held by the Commission in Monrovia such names as 
District C:ommissioner Carter, Secretary Morris, President King, Secretary Harris and other 
high offici~ were frequently mentioned as owning extensive plantations of rubber, coffee, and 
cocoa or nee and vegetable farms. Many of the men who came forward to give their experiences 
had worked on the farms owned by these gentlemen, and seemed to look upon it as Government 
work, and expected no pay. 

In Maryland County a similar condition was found to exist ; particularly in the 
neighbourhood of Cape Palmas. Government officials not only develop private farms with 
the use of unpaid native labour, but it often happened, it was sa1d, that a considerable portion 
of the" boys" demanded for the public roads are parcelled out among these private farms. 
The names of Vice President Yancy, Rev. Cummings, Senator Macborough, Superintendent 
Brooks, Mrs. Yancy and certain road overseers have been most frequently mentioned as 
owners. The properties owned by Mr. Yancy seem to be numerous and extensive. Scores of 
natives have persistently testified before the Commission that they personally bad worked on 
one or other of these farms, and the problem before the Commission has been how, with the 
labour supply so seriously depleted by incessant demands for road workers and Fernando Po 
" boys ", these plantations are kept otherwise supplied with labourers. 

If the following quotations taken from depositions explain the mystery, there would appear 
to be nothing to prevent any and all individuals of influence with Government officials from 
trying their hands at developing a farm, nor Government officials from commercializing the 
Government labour supply. 

M ontsm-atlo County. 

68. "Now they say we must cut government farm; the other day when they hear 
you all were coming they stopped us. They had soldiers over us. This was in the Pres1dent'1 
farm. We ourselves had to find the cassada sticks and give them to the Paramount 
Chief. The Paramount Chief takes them to the President's farm." 

6g. " Every week 250 men from this section here on this road. When they collect 
all that some go to the Secretary's farm ; some to the President's farm ; aome to the 
Station Master's farm ; and they tell us to bring some more." 

70. " That big farm you see there, it belongs to the President. The l~~urers did 
that work.' We send 250 men on the road to work. When they go, they d1v!de them,; 
they don't send all on the road. Some of them go on the farms. Some go to Dav1d Carter • 
farm ; some they send in the bush to cut palm nuts." 

71. " They caught me, tied me, and brought me to the District Commissioner's 
place and told me to give 43 labourers. When they got the 43 labourers, the work they 
did for the D.C. you will see on his farm." 

M•ryl4ntl Couflty. 

72. " Now these men who go on the roads, they are used to private: farm~. They 
are sent to Vice President Yancy's farms. Out. of the 12 men ~nt fro~ this sectlo?,• 6 of 
them went on the road, the other six on the pnvate farm of V1ce Pres1dent Yancy. 

73· " All type men who go to work on the road do not ac~ually work on the roads. 
They work on private farms. When we go now, instead of working the ~overn'!lent road, 
they say, • Some go to Yancy's farm, some go to Yancy's wife's farm. All,will tell you 
the same. Working his farm and his wife's farm too, Without chop, no pay. 

l "Shortly after the signing of the report the Commissioners l~ed the farm adjoining the J;~~ a: 
Kakata at which the Commission stayed lor several days and which was atated ~ belong to e&l en 
King. was, in fact, not his personal poperty, but the property of the Government. 



" w do his own work. And his wife's work instead of the road (i.e., they work 
on /a~cy's fa~m and his wife's farm). We don't do no other work but Yancy's and _his 
wife's. There is no difference between the fines on the ~oad and the fines for. not workmg 

the private farms. Men who run away from the native farm as for the failure to work 
00 •• 
on the road, will get the same fine. 

75. " Some of the men go for farm ; some go for road. There is a regular division 
about this. That is, the same number that goes to work for farm must go for the ~o~d. 
After we get there the division is made. When Yancy come to o'!r own count!J' he diVIde 
the men into three parts : one-third to go to the road; one-~h1rd to Yancy s ~arm~ and 
the remaining third to Yancy's wife's farm. Tho~ on Yancy s f~rm work on h•.s p~vate 
rubber farm or plantation. After all, when domg work, he g1ve them nothmg. 

76. " When these men are called to go on the road, they do not go there, ~!' the 
road, but to private farms. Some go to tote hammocks, some clean cassada, etc. 

77· " Theri whe~ the labourers were done wo~king ~he road he ~ent all to his farm 
(Yancy) at Philadelphia, and one at Konekre, cuttmg sticks, etc. while labo'!lrers there 
had to carry own food and if you give out you have to se~d back for more. Th1s was do~e 
for one month, about a year after they had done workmg down there. ·Jeffrey Hams 
called the chiefs of Barrobo to Webbo. He told them that President King say must cut 
farm for Governor and this will be both military barracks and civil compound. Then the 
chiefs agree. Farm was cut. After cutting farm it was burned. Then he sent orders that 
each Paramount Chief must find rice to plant. This was about xoo men. Then the women 
of Webbo plant the farm. Sent order to the Chief of Barrobo that he must send boys 
to watch the birds. In pulling weeds out of rice some number of men, xoo. In cutting rice, 
same n urn ber of men. When these labourers are going toN yaake to work on this government 
farm they took own food. When watching the birds from the corn planted on the government 
farm if the boys happened to pull one ear and eat it, fine £x. This lasted two years steady 
work of xoo men of Webbo. (Explanation : At the same time the Government farm was 
going on, the road from Harper to Plebo also was being worked.) When the Commissioner 
Jeffrey Harris came as Commissioner, he gave no time for the natives to work rice 
crops. Now these Station Masters in Barrobo then gave another order that the 
government farm should be cut at Station Master's. This made it two farms. In that 
year, Barrobo gave 300 men to the government." 

78. " Then D.C. Harris sent for the Paramount Chief of Nyabo. ·When the P.C. 
reached him, then he said I want Liberian farm for the Government. The P.C. sent 40 
men to work on the Government farm. Sometime in this work, when a stick fall on a boy 
and he die, and they carry cry to D.C. he says : Government work. When the farm was 
burned ordered chief to bring seed rice. After Jeffrey Harris came another commissioner, 
Allen N. Yancy. Mr. Allen say must cut Government farm. Start again." , 

,79· " Many of my men have been forced to work on the private farms of government 
o1Tic1als. They have been forced to work for Hon. Yancy's farm. The 20 men that I 
supply for road work, xo men go on the road, the other xo go on Mr. Yancy's farm. 

So. " Many times when people are sent on the roads, they are divided and some 
of them sent on the farms. As a matter of fact, Mr. Yancy carries the men where he likes:·· 

81. " Mr. Ya1_1cy's private farms are looking better than the Government road that 
":e have been workmg. The labour for his farm is drawn from the labour supplied for the 
Government road work. Now apart from Mr. Yancy, there are many other Liberians 
who have farms and who take boys from the road at pleasure. The Rev. Cummings, Hon. 
McBorough: Gover~or Brooks; Mr. Smith and several others. I have personally worked 
both on Mr. Yancy s and McBorough's farms. We usually brush bush and clean up 
and flant. We who come from Garroway that time were 20 in ·number . and he took 
us al on the farm, where we stay~d for a week working for him. We are not asked to state 
~her~ we want to go, we are s1mply called and divided according to how Mr Yanc 
hkes 1t. Those of the boys that remain after the division can go elsewhere." · y 

. " All of us file to his house at t~e Cape Pa!mas, where he distributes us boys for 

h
Fernando Po, he makes them work on h1s farm unhl the arrival of the Spanish ship before 
e sends them on to Fernando Po." 

82. " When the people are sent for road, they have to work on Mr Yanc 's farm 
Mr. ~ro;ks, and many of the Liberian people's farms. When the men lea~e herlfor road 
w
1
or • t ~ydgo to the house of Mr. Yancy, and then we are divided some to the farm and 

t 1e remam er on the road." ' 
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. ~n Distric~ ~o. s. both chiefs and people frequently referred to farms developed by the 

D1stnct CommiSSioner, and ;;eemed under the impression that they were farms ordered b th 
Government. When anyt~g unusual such as injury to a worker happened while wo~kin: 
on one of these f~s, the InJured one would always be consoled by the assertion that " It is 
Government work (and therefore there was nobody to blame). 

A frequent complaint of the na~ves in No. 5 District was that in addition to having a 
gre~t deal of Gov:ern.ment wor~ ~n therr hands, such as cultivating and preparing a large supply 
of nee for the Distnct Coll?mJSSioner and to the military barracks, they are oWiged to do the 
work on the Government nee farm~ _as well, ~d if a day late with their monthly supply they 
are fined. I~ such a do~btful .con~tlon of affalfS the Government is again charged, and uite 
naturally, With abuses m Which 1t does not actually participate as matten of state .,2}icy. 

2. CORPORATIONS AND COMPANIES • 

. At present, ~s far as. the Commissi?n is aware, no companies or corporations either 
agn~ultural.or mmeral, With th~ exception of the Firestone Plantation Company, have any 
holdmgs or mterest of any sort m the country other than the purely commercial and trading 
.houses ~n the Coast. The policy of the" Closed Door " and fear of introducing the white man 
have h1therto e~ectually prevented exploitation of either land, minerals or produce, except 
as before stated m the case of the Firestone Rubber Company, Ltd., which is treated under a 
separate heading. 

The Firestone Plantation Company. 

The Firestone Plantation Company is the only large private enterprise in Liberia. It 
represents a vast and somewhat bold experiment in rubber growing, prompted in large part 
by th~. inconvenience to American rubber ~se~ of a virtual world monopoly held ch1efty 

. by Bnttsh and Dutch controlled rubber growmg mterests. Search for areas suitable for large 
scale development in South and Central America having failed attention was eventually 
centred on Liberia, where an earlier experiment begun by the Liberian Rubber Corporation 
in 1907 had left the small Mt. Barclay Plantation of about I,ooo acres as a useful nucleus for 
study. 

Moreover, the paternal relations of the American Government to the Republic since its 
founding through the efforts of the American Colonisation Society afforded an added reason 
for Liberia being chosen as the scene of the experiment. The impoverished condition of this 
small independent Negro State, its undeveloped resources, its burden of loans from which 
little public benefit had been derived and its struggles to prevent territorial aggression, all 
reflected themselves in the early days of the Company in safeguards required by the 
Government of the Republic against undue control over administrative affairs, on the one 
hand, and on the other, protection by the Company for the millions to be invested 
in a practically unreclaimable venture. These endeavours, however, to safeguard and protect 
acted more often as a handicap than otherwise and the existing state of political affairs provided 
opportunities for frequent irregularities and misunderstandings. 

In the agreement as finally determined upon the Government conceded to the Company 
leasehold for a period of 99 years, upon one million acres of land, or any lesser area, to be 
selected from time to time during the period ; exemption for the Company as such from 
taxation on all products of the plantation, working tools, improvements, leasehold interests, 
etc., except for a revenue tax specially provided for; the Emergency Relief Fund, and the 
vehicle tax; the rights to all timber cut provided it is not sold, in which event it should pay 
to the Government a specified. royalty ; . the right to e~g.age in _any oper~tio~ other t~an 
agricultural upon the land prov1ded that m the case of mmmg or bke operation 1t be subJect 
to the existing laws of the Republic regulating mining concessions ; the right to develop and 
use its own natural water and hydro-electric power ; the right to construct and mamtain 
power lines over any Government lands by way of conveying power betw~en selected tract!! 
and lines of communication for its own purposes, but not as common earners ; access to all 
ports and plots of land at ports upon favourable terms ; protection and defence of the title, 
support and assistance in securing and maintaining an adequate labour supply. 

The Company promised the ~vemment to sele~t and de~elop from year ~o year land 
suitable for mbber and other agncultural products m convement and economically sound 
quantities; a minimum rental of 6 cents an acre in advance on land selected, and, after 
6 years a revenue tax equivalent to one per centum of the valu_e of. all rub~ and other 
commercial products shipped, calculated at the market rate on amvalm the Umted States; 
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the rivile e to the G~ernment of regulating and collecting t~x~s payable under the laws 
of tf:e Re gublic, from employees of the Company up t.o the hm1t of the average number 
em Jo ed ~uring the year. The Company agreed not to 1m port la~our. unless the local s_upply 
· P dy t d then only such as are acceptable to the L1benan Government , and 1s ma eq ua e an · h t th · 'tt rk · ver to sell or transfer the rights of the agreement Wit ou e pnor wn en 
:o~:~~· orrthe Government. It conceded the right to ~he Gov~rnment to construct all 
trans ortation and telegraph Jines through any plantations p3:ymg only dama~es. to the 
Com/any's property; and agreed to exclude and respect all tnbal !es~rves as lim~ted by 
the Government ; and to turn over to the Government at the exp~at~on or forfe1tur~ of 
the contract all buildings and improvements not. removed before e~p1rat1on or canc~llatlon. 
It offered to use its influence to secure a loan e1ther from the Umted States or With the 
approval of the Secretary of State of the United States, from some oth~r person or persons, 
not exceeding 15,ooo,ooo for public developments, the terms to be subJect to the approval 
of the Liberian Legislature. 

The precipitous character of the Company's pioneering . operations in !:iberia, the 
unfamiliarity of its employees with African con~it.i~ns, the unsmtableness ?f equ~pmen~ an~ 
outfit and the inexperience in the control of pnm1t1ve labour all created dlflicult1es wh1ch 1t 
took ~any months to get in front of. Again, the apprehension of t~e Governme~t over t~e 
possible weakening of its influence with the natives, and fear of mvolvement m financ1al 
obligations promoted the institution of measures which have proved the source of much 
difficulty both to the Company and to the Government, notably in the mutual "safeguard" 
provisions of the agreement. ' · 

These provisions may be stated thus : 

On the part of the Company the suggestion of a loan which would remove old, throttl~ng 
obligations and aid in the provision of those public improvements as the first step in creatmg 
a favourable environment for the investment of unreclaimable millions; arbitration of 
differences by a Committee of three, selected from the Liberian Government, the Company 
and a neutral party ; and a guarantee against the granting to any other company of more 
favourable terms, in which case the benefits would accrue to the Company. 

On the part of the Government there was required an agreement that no more than 1,500 
white employees would be used; that any unpaid rent or defaulted area would revert to the 
Government; that the failure of operation over three consecutive years should extinguish 
rights to particular parcels of land ; and that the Government should regulate the labour 
supply officially. The last of these safeguards appears to have become the point of inclusion 
under this Commission's terms of reference. 

In 1912 there had been created a Labour Bureau, under the Interior Department whose 
purpose was to " regulate and supervise the labour situation, to procure labourers and to 
protect the rights of such labourers engaged by Liberians and foreigners within the Republic." 
It provided for witnessing all contracts between employers and employees, the creating of 
" Labour Agents ", the encouraging of chiefs to furnish the necessary labourers for farming 
and other industrial enterprises, the keeping of accurate records of these transactions, 
safeguarding the wages, allowances and conditions of labour agreed upon, and enforcing 
payment of these wages from employers. It was recognised as early as 1912 that the authority 
so provided had inherent dangers, and Section XI of this Act states that "nothing in this act 
shall be construed to compel labourers to engage themselves to work under the provisions 
of the Act only ". 

This Bureau, altho created in 1912, was not made operative until 1926 when it was regarded 
by the G~>Ver~ment as a .means of reg·~llating and keeping under control the labour supply 
from the mtenor upon wh1ch the new F~estone Plantations promised to make large demands. 
It pro_v1ded for labour agents to be deSignated by the President, fees from each employer 
engagmg a labourer, not deductable from wages, and fees to chiefs and headman for each 
labourer furnished to a labour agent. 

With the signing of the agreement it became apparent that this was the instrument intended 
to be used .as a safeguard to. the G~vernment, both in establishing and maintaining its control 
over the. hmter!and pop~lat~on Which had not been hitherto exposed to any contact with 
modern mdustnal orgamzatlon. In 1926, however, the Company from its home office in 
Akron offered a " s~pplementary interpretation " of the article of aireement dealing with the 
labour supply. It stipulated that the Company may employ any labourers which it may recruit 
or who P!esent them~elves to th~ <;ompany for employment, without the labourers being 
first reqmred to obtam the pernuSSlon of or be registered by the Government. It further 



of!ehretdhthCat the labourd shoul~ be free to bargain for its terms and conditions of employment 
wit e ompany an sever 1ts employment at its will and convenience. 

" We desire to ~oint. ou~ t'? the Government," this memorandum states," that the sucress 
of our development In L1be!"la 1s largely dependent upon the organization of a permanent and 
contented labour force. Th1s can only be done throu"h free and unrestn'cted e 1 t d 

t d dit. h' h ., mp oymen an upon erms an con 1ons w 1c are agreeable to the labourers themselves." 

. The Company, however, offered that whenever the Government secured labour for it 
at 1ts own req~est the Company would pay one cent to the Government, one-half cent to the 
Paramount ~h1ef and one-half cent to the Chief for each day's work performed by each of the 
!"en so supphed. Whatever the effect o_f this interpretation it is evident that there developed, 
~~ ~ourse of the first. years of operation numbers of occasions for misunderstanding and, 
similarly, numbe~ of mstances of confusion, on the part of the natives, of Company work and 
Government reqmrement. ~uring 1927 labourers were supplied to the Company through 
the Government bureau. Th1s amounted to about Io ~?._Cr cent of the labour supply, according 
to Mr .. Ross, th_e Manag~r, the others coming voluntanly or through their own recruitment at 
first w1th the a1d of native headmen and labourers, later with their own Amt'rican staff. This 
wa~ the period of l~unching of engin_eering plans, of construction and development work, 
wh1ch went along With the first clearmg of land for planting. The arrangement continued 
about 4 months and was cancelled. However, following this, restriction was placed by the 
Government upon the number of labourers who might be employed, from each of the hinterland 
districts. This was intended as a precaution against too great disturbance of native life. For 
with the requirement for road labour and porterage which was unpaid, the Company 
employment with pay might easily limit the numbers for the former. For example, in District 
No. 5 in November of 1928 when labourers were being sought by one Company recruiter the 
District Commissioner was actually enlisting labour for Fernando Po, the Government was 
building large barracks at Barrobo (Camp King) ; all the sections were planting their rice farms, 
being under the requirement to provide (90) hampers a week for the soldiers' food. Even 
with the necessity to earn some money to meet the shortage of the rice issue, they could not 
get permission from the District Commissioner to go to the plantation for work. 

The most serious aspect of this new policy was the shifting of direct control of labour 
registration and the Company's recruiting efforts from the Labour Bureau to the remote and 
out-of-hand District Commissioners. These Commissioners required, and with Government 
approval, a fee of one-half cent per man per day, and this principle became the focus of one of 
the most serious complaints of the natives. · 

The Commissioner of District No. I stated : " If we did not control the enlistment of men 
for work with Firestone, so many would go to the plantations that none would remain to 
carry on the Government requirements ". 

After receiving complaints from newly employed labour that many of their fellow· 
tribesmen on their way to work for the Company had been turned back by Interior officials 
while on their way through District No. 2, the General Manager of the Company wrote the 
Commissioner of that District on August 31, (1929) : 

"We are getting complaints from headmen bringing boys from Districts No. I 
and No. 2 that they are stopped by your orders when they reach Gbanga and. the boys 
sent back. Before starting this year's development I was assured by the Pres1dent and 
the Secretary of the Interior that we would have no difficulty in getting labour ; but at the 
very commencement of work we get these complaints." 

In December 1929, the District Commissioner of No.4 sent word to the Company ~hat there 
were 300 labourers who wanted to come to Firestone to work but that unless he receiVed some 
money personally he would not give them permission and would send them to Fernando 
Po. 

In Districts 4 and 5, particularly, the hinterland la~ur has ~en practically locked in 
and this labour in known instances offered to the highest b1dder. If 1t were a matter of wages 
for the labourer the situation would not be regarded as so serious. The benefits, however, 
appear to accrue almost entirely to the interior officials. 

There is evidence, in the statements of labourers and in the nature of the situatio.n itself, 
that the labourers recruited thru government aid made no distinction bet~~n t~e Fuestone 
work and other Government recruitment. They moreover drew a clear dJShncbon be~w~n 
going to Firestone's of their own accord and going for the Govern.m'l1Jt, or the ~tnh: 
Commissioner. During the stay of the Commissioners at Kakata a group of6o men was oug 



-So-

into the compound. They were apparently new men wh? had been officially recruited in t~e 
interior and who with two exceptions had no knowledge e1ther of the nature of the Company s 
work or its policies. 

" Question. - Where do you come from ? 
Answer. - Sanoye. 
Question. - What's your Paramount Chief's name ? 

Answer. - Gbilie. 
Question. - What is the name of the District Comm!ssioner ? 
Answer. - David Carter. 
Question. - Who are these men ? 
Answer.- They collect them from Naama, to go to Firestone to work. 
Question. - Who collects them ? 
Answer. - The Paramount Chief. 
Question. - What did he tell them they were being collected for ? 
Answer. - We are working for no money. 
Question. - Do these men want to go ? 
Answer. - No, they refuse to go. 
Question. - Any of these men ever worked for Firestone before ? 
Answer. -Yes, I worked myself. 

(The Commissioners here asked all of these men who had worked for Firestone to 
come out, where they could be seen, and two men did so.) . 

Question. - Did they get pay ? 
Answer. - When they go by themselves they pay them, but when they collect 

them, no pay. 
Question. - Have you ever worked at Firestone before ? 
Answer. - I went by myself and they paid me. 
Question. - When the Paramount Chief sent you down, what did he tell you ? 
Answer. - He said we must go to Firestone. 
Question. - Did he give you any papers ? 
Answer. - No, he just told us to go there and work." 

In this case as in numbers of others it was apparent that, with no access to the labour by 
the Company's recruiters, and the restriction of movement between sections without the 
permission of the District Commissioners, there was no choice given to the labourer for 
selecting his work, or to the Company for selecting its workers. 

Another headman testified as follows : 

" When the road came we carry the road to another section. After we started there, 
they started beating us. The farm time has come and now they say we must go faster .. 
They gave me So labourers to take to Firestone. 

Question. - Did the men go ? 
Answer. - No. 
Question. - Why don't they want to go ? 
Answer. -Because when we go, we cannot get any pay. 
Question. -· If they went by their own free will, will they get pay ? 

. Answ~r. -Yes . . When we were coming down, they gave us 46 hampers of 
nee to bnng down. 

Q11estion. - Where is the rice now ? 
Answer. - With the D.C. 
Question. - What is it for ? 
A11swer. - Government rice." 

Another chief said : 

" I have no.t sent men to Firestone from my section, but the District Commissioner 
taxed other sections to send men to Firestone." 

f?uestion. - Why did not the District Commissioner tax your section to send men 
to F1restone ? · · · 

A flswer. - My time bas not yet come. 
Questiofl. - Do the men like to go to Firestone ? 
Answer. - T~ey _sen~ them there for three months. 



A former Firestone worker said : 

. ·:The Commissioner goes and asks for labourers, they give him these labourers 
thinku~g ~hey are f?r _Government use, but the Commissioner sends them to Firestone 
The D1stnct CommiSSioner sends messengers to the chief and tells h" th" · h" t" · to get labourers. 1m IS IS IS tme 

Question. - Have you worked at Firestone ? 

Answer. - Yes. 

Question. - How much did. they pay you for the month ? 

Answer. - Sometimes I get $4.00 in cash and h.oo in rice. 

Question. - How did you go ? 

Answer. - I volunteered. 

Question. - What do you dislike about Firestone ? 

Answer. - When I feel like going to Firestone I go." 

A chief of Sodokeh, in Maryland County, observed before the Commission : 

· " We like to w:ork for Mr. Fi~estone ~:n~ any man who pays us for our labour. The 
reason we do not like to go to Firestone IS lf Mr. (an official) hears you are on 
the Firestone he goes there and get the money you worked for." 

A chi~f ?f Barrake complained that of the ~o boys sent to Firestone's at the requc~t of 
th~ ~om!Dl~SlOner h~ go~ no benefit. The sugges~10n, heard frequently ~f trading in labour and 
shtftmg It tn the dtrecbon of the largest recnnter s bonus, appears 1n this statement by a 
Maryland County chief : 

· "Commissioner Johnson call us to send labourers to Firestone then Supt. Yancy 
goes to Firestone and tell these boys that he got a book (letter) coming from English 
Colony, Accra, that they want boys. So they came with him to Cape Palmas and he 
sent them to .the French Congo." 

Another chief of the Barrobo Section said : 

"We get order from D.C. to bring 300 men to Nyaake. When we get there D.C. 
took 200 for Firestone and 100 to motor road. . . . The 200 to Firestone were acnt 
in care of Speaker W. --. The arrangement between D.C. Scott and l'irestone was 
that these 200 were to work for Barrobo taxes, because they had no money and it took 
so long to pay. When Chief took them signed, that the labourers were to remain three 
months. When· the time expired, to surprise of the chiefs, when the men had worked, 
D.C. Scott and Supt. Yancy sent for taxes. These 200 men were to work for taxes, any 
amount over was to go to the chiefs plus the commission. Before the time appointed 
arrived Gov. Yancy went to Firestone and drew all the money. When the appointed 
time came the Paramount Chief and the Speaker went to the manager of Firestone to 
see if there was any surplus from money to pay taxes. When two chiefs got there they 
were told by manager that they had given them the money and they said they would meet 
the chiefs at Nyaake. So chiefs went to Nyaake to Scott and Yancy. So Chief wentto 
Cape Palmas to see Yancy and he was told to go to Webbo that D.C. Scott had the money 
there. So they went to Nyaake, Webbo. Were told by Scott to go home to pay taxes. 

Question. - Did he offer any explanation about the men working at Firestone'• ? 

Answer.- So when they got to D.C. he said,' Firestone paid the boys and feed and 
rice cost money. They were dashed three shilling each, but the rest of the money went 
to pay for food. But the manager of Firestone's told them different." 

As early as 1927 the abuse of this arrangement was noted and an attempt made to correct 
it. A Division Superintendent on the Cavalla Plantation wrote to the DiviSion Manager : 

" Division No. 6, 

June 22, 1927. 

· "This morning a palaver King from one of the chiefs of t_he Pond P~ople came here 
and was about to depart with some 250 of my labour when I mterfered, m ~ much a1 he 
had no papers or anything to authorize me to tum these people over to h1m. They are 
not Gov't boys but boys that were recruited individually and some have been here for 
six or seven months. • 
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" After a conversation that lasted about 2 hours we came to an ~gree'!lent that be 
is going to try to get his chief and all his boys to come here and make 1t therr permanent 
borne. In the mean time the boys are going to remain here and work as before. 

" From this chief I learned that this is not an act of the Gov't but a scheme of Mr ..... 
and the D.C. whereby they can extract a little more money from Firestone Co. either 
by demanding higher wages or by a cash settlement. 

" I suggest that head money, !lr ~ny kind, of tax to be p~id for labour~rs, ~e pai.d 
directly to the treasurer of the L1benan Gov t and that the1r representatives m th1s 
vicinity be informed of this if it meets with the approval of the management. 

"Any ·suggestions on the handling of this situation will be greatly appreciated." 

The frequent assertion of labourers that when they were recruited and sent they received 
no pay was a question which the Commissioners had considerable d~fficulty ~n understanding. 
The inspection of the payrolls of .the. Company. each sheet ?f which ~arnes four c_ounter 
signatures, the " Pay-offs" and nee Issues wh1ch happened w1th regulanty, together w1th the 
testimony of the officials, left no doubt that each labourer receives monthly his wages into 
his own hands. Hut taxes paid to the Government on the basis of labourers hired, the fees 
to Chiefs and the Government are not deducted from the labourers' pay. In the Cape Palmas 
Section some basis was found for this complaint in one arrangement adopted by the Company 
of letting out contracts for clearing, following the method of the middle Eastern rubber 
plantations. Labourers were secured by the contractors at least two of whom were influential 
members of Government, but the labourers were not paid. This occurred at a time when 
thousands were being employed and on their return to their villages they carried the impression 
that the Company did not pay. This arrangement was discontinued after a few months, when 
the complaints began to be heard. 

With the official recruiter's fee and the opportunity to regulate the labour, an opportunity 
for abuse is presented, which could easily be carried out in the name of the Government. 
In some sections this has been done with great effectiveness, and a situation created in which 
the Coml?any in order to get labour at all must meet many curious and difficult requirements 
of the D1stnct Commissioners. In the Cape Palmas area, in particular, the attractiveness of 
the bonus to recruiters for Fernando Po labourers of £IO.o.o per labourer must of necessity, 
place local developments at a considerable disadvantage. 

As a further possible explanation of the difficulty of the labourers in understanding 
the pay question, which appears, more than anything else to reflect the first uncertain policy 
of the Company, there is the task system. As set by some of the sub-managers it was regarded 
as exc!f~ive. And although the General Manager, Mr. Ross, has attempted to set these by 
average accomplishment and little comment was heard by the Commissioners about this 
in the larger Du Section, the matter has been discussed in the lower Cavalla group, particularly 
in ~onn~ction with one Section of that plantation. This section, incidentally draws upon tribes 
qmte different, both in customs and working habits from those of the Du Division. Failure 
to accomplish the task as set, it was claimed, resulted in markings for only a portion of the 
day, and a number of complaints were registred on pay shortages at the end of the month. 

The pay for labour began with the shilling a day in both sections and on the advice of 
officials in the Cavalla section who represented that they understood the labour, it was 
changed to £t.o.o a month and food. The labourers interpreted this as a reduction in wages 
and complained. 

" At Cape Palmas we started to do the same ; but the officials there told us that we 
could get much more success if we gave them 20 shillings a month, and two cups of rice 
a day. That we found not to be satisfactory, so we changed it. 1 gave them permission 
to stop as the request came from the boys themselves," • 

Recently the arrangement has been shifted again to accord with the basis of pay at the 
Du of I/- a day for the days worked, and rice issues at the rate of 5 pints for one shilling. The 
rice is imported in large quantities and sold to them below the market rate. They may draw 
~s much as. they like but the aver~ge is IO pints a week. Deductions are made for the rice 
1ssued and ~n numbers of cases t~1s has been regarded by native labourers as deductions in 
pay. OccasiOnally one and sometimes two cups are given as a " Dash " for extra work. 

1 Testimony of D. Ross, Manager, Firestone Plantation, before 'the Commission. 



The standard rate now for labourers on the plantation is 1/- a day · for more careful 
types. of common labour _I/6, and fo~ native hea~men and_ o~et"Seer"S 1rorr: 4/- to 8/- Pf>r dar, 
occas!onally ~of-, depending upon skill and expenence. ThiS IS the prevailing wage in Libena 
an~. If! fact, m. most ~lac;es o!l the West Coast. The pay for work as deck hands on steamers, 
'YlJ!chlS sporadic and limited, IS som~what larger and includes food. Few boys, other than those 
livmg on or near the ~oast have this opportunity. In the interior, among the Buzies, Gizies, 
Kpessehs~ Monahs, G1os, Bassas, \'beys, Golahs, Gbondis and Bellis, the opportunities for 
labour .With pay are small, and at the beginning of the operations, it was neces.."llry to pay 
the entrre force at the end of eac~ day to establish c<?nfidence in the intention of the Company. 
The annual message of the Pres1dent for 1929 mentions $1,024,050 paid on wages to Liberilm 
labourers in 1928 and $8oo,ooo in 1929. The difference of 224,050 between the two years he 
lamented and made responsible, in part, for the depression which the merchants and others 
felt generally. 

There. is no evidence t~at t~e Company forcibly impresses labou~ or consciously employs 
labour wh1ch has been forcibly Impressed. Contracts are no longer giVen out to independent 
contractors, and there is no contract arrangement between the Company and the labourers 
who are free to terminate their service at will. Of the men housed on the plantations there is 
no compulsion regarding the number of days they shall work during any given month. The 
number on the payroll of the Du group and the New Development was 9.077 on June 30, 
1930. The average daily " out turn " was 5,627, or slightly above 6o per cent. In Maryland 
County, the number on the payroll of the Cavalla group was 1,316 with an average daily 
" out turn " of Sn, approximately the same proportion. 

During the first full extension of the operations of the company the peak of 18,ooo labourers 
. was reached. Areas were being cleared and this usually requires largest numbers: road and 
building construction was under way. Approximately 55,000 acres, or about 85 square miles 
have been cleared for development up to the present, and the rate of opening of new areas 
depends upon the demands of the industry, the available labour supply and the economic 
balance of the country. Under no condition could the full 99 year maximum of acres be placed 
in cultivation simultaneously ; and once clearing is accomplished, the need for men is reduced 
to the requirement of planting, up-keep, and collecting of the latex, which is roughly one man 
to every 6 acres. Present operations require about 10,000 labourers. but during the past year 
the Company has reduced its force, including both native workers and Americans. One fact 
of possible significance in this connection is the extraordinary decline in the price of rubber, 
together with the increased production in other rubber growing areas. When operations were 
begun in 1925 the price of rubber had exceeded $1.40 per pound. At present the price is 
sixteen cents. This is below normal production costs. While it is possible that no such 
arbitrary fluctuations in rubber prices can seriously affect the horne company again, it is not 
so evident at present that the gigantic new acreage will yield either the profits or savings at 
first anticipated. 

THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS. 

(a) Whether slavery liS defi~~ed i11 the A11ti-SlarJery Convention in fact uist1 in tlte Republic. 

The Commission finds that although classic slavery carrying the idea of slave markets 
and slave dealers no longer exists as such in the Republic of Liberia, slav~ry as defin~ by the 
(1926) Anti-Slavery Convention does exist in so far as inter- and intr~-tnbal domestiC slavery 
exists. Pawning is also recognised in the social economy of the Republic. 

(b) Whether this system is participated in 01" em:014rage~ by the Governm611t of tlte Republic. 

The Commission finds that domestic slavery is discouraged by the Government in that 
any slave who appeals to the courts for release may be granted hi~ freedom on a writ of H.ab~a• 
crwpt~s or upon direct proceedings against his master or _owner. ~VIdence before the. ComrnJS51!'n 
showed that in some cases domestic slaves have obtamed their freedom upon evidence of Ill­
treatment. 

(c) Whether 1111li wltat leading citizens of the C014ntry participate therei11. 

The Commission finds that there has been no evidence that leading cit~zen1. of . the 
country participate in dom~tic sla~ery. but there ~ e~dence that 10me Arnenco-Liberians 
take natives as pawns, and m some mstances have cnrnmally abused the system ~or ~al 
ends by taking women as pawns and using them to attract male laboUieJI to theJJ' Jan · 
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(d) To what extent compulsory lab011r exists as a factor if! t~e social find. industrial econo'!'y of 
the State, either for public or private purpose~, and, ~~ n does exsst, sn what manner d has 
been recruited and employed whether for publJc or prwate purposes. 

The Commission finds that forced labour has been made use of in Liberia chiefly for motor 
road construction for building civil compounds and military barracks, etc., and for porterage. 
That this labour has been wastefully recruited and used, frequently under ~onditions involving 
systematic intimidation and ill-treatment on t~e part of Government _officials, messeng~s a!ld 
Frontier Force soldiers. That labour recrmted by County Supenntendents and D1stnct 
Commissioners for public purposes we ~nd in many instanc~s has bee~ dive~e~ to private 
use on the farms and plantati~ns of h1gh G~vernment offic1~ls and pnvate Cl~lZens. That 
none of this labour has been pa1d, though pa1d labour may ex1st on the plantations; on the 
other hand in Maryland some of it has been made to pay large sums to the plantation owners 
to be released from a term of ~npaid and unfed labour. . 

(e) Whether shipment of contract labourers to Fernando Po under the terms of arrangement 
with Spain, or shipment of such labourers to the Congo or any other foreign parts is associated 
with slavery, and whether the method employed in recruiting such labourers carries any 
compulsion. 

The Commission finds that a large proportion of the contract labourers shipped to Fernando 
Po and French Gabun from the southern counties of Liberia have been recruited under 
conditions of criminal compulsion scarcely distinguishable from slave raiding and slave 
trading, and frequently by misrepresenting the destination. 

(f) Whether the labour employed for private purposes on privately owned or leased plantations 
is recruited by voluntary enlistments or is forcibly impressed for this service by the Liberian 
Government. or by its authority. 

The Commission finds that labour employed for private purposes on privately owned 
plantations has been impressed for this service on the authority of high Government officials. 
That there is no evidence that the Firestone Plantations Company consciously employs any 
but voluntary labour on its leased rubber plantations ; but this, however, was not always the 
case when recruiting was subject to Government Regulations, over which the Company had 
little control. That all the Company's labourers are free to terminate their employment at 
will. 

(g) Whether the Liberian Government has at any time given sanction or approval to the recruiting 
of labour with the aid and assistance of the Liberian Frontier Force or other persons holding 
official positions or in Government employ, or private individuals have been implicated 
in such recruiting with or without Government's approval. · 

The Commission finds that Vice President Yancy and other high officials of the Liberian 
Government, as well as County Superintendents and District Commissioners have given their 
sanction for the compulsory recruitment of labour for road construction, for shipment abroad 
and other work, by the aid and assistance of the Liberian Frontier Force · and have condoned 
~h~ u~ilis~tion of .this force for purpose~ o~ physical compulsion on road 'construction, for the 
mt~m1da_t1on of villagers, for the ~nm1habon and degradation of chiefs, for the imprisonment 
of mhab1tants, and for the convoymg of gangs of captured natives to the coast there guarding 
them till the time of shipment. ' 

SUGGESTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS. 

The Commission is strongly of opinion that the policy of the " closed door", which for 
so long seems .to have b~e~ f~voured by the Liberian Government, is not in the best interests 
of t.he Republic ; t~at 1t 1~, m fact, at ~he root of the financial and other major difficulties in 
w.h1ch th~ country IS now mv?lved .. ~~ 1mpedes developm~nt by masking maladministration, 
d1scouragm~ .research, de~aymg C!Vlhzabon and education, preventing competition and 
generally shftmg commercial enterprise. 

The e~viable stage ?f financial independence at which some of the tropical African 
Dependencies and Colomes have arrived has only been reached by strenuous and eventful 
com.munal effort on th~ part o_f administration and people, and by full recognition of the now 
obv10us fa.c~ that trop1cal Afnca can never be developed, its agricultural, mineral, and other 
sources utilised, nor surplu~ Government funds J>e hoped for, without the willing co-operation 
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and .assistan~e of the .i~digenous population. It is !low b_ecoming everywhere recognized by 
tropt~ African a~~rustrators ~h~! t~e first conSLderahons towards financial competence 
must lll:clude provtsu;m for. the ~tvilizahon, education, and the gaining of the confidence of 
the native, not for his sub]ugahon and exploitation. 

Eduutio11 !!ow heads the list where enterprising development is to be considered. Schools 
are !lf the !i£st tmport.an~e, n~t me.rely for ~h.e purpose of te!'c~in~ reading and writing, but 
for unp~ovml? ~he nahve s.soct<?logtcal conditions; and spectahst mstructors invaluable for 
broade~mg his tdeas, teaching him market values, and the use he can make of the innumerable 
~ononnc pro~ut!s and raw materials around him. With such incentives, trade and peaceful 
mtercommurucahon follow. The unsophisticated native learns something of the outside world 
and his wants are increased. The missionary, school teacher, and the trader teach him what 
he may buy for money, and he then wants to learn what he can grow, what he should do, or 
where he sho~d work to make some money, with the result that trade increases, the coast 
merch~nt flounshes, the revenues of Government expand, and money is forthcoming for more 
educ~tlonal cent!es•. for. the construction of roads and transport facilities, the payment of 
salanes, an.d the msbtuhon of further methods of general development. A policy of suppression 
and seclus10n for fear of competition, i.e., the closed door, can only lead to a condition of 
delayed development, bankruptcy and final failure. The Commission thinks also that such 
a policy is bound to foster ill-treatment, extortion and coercion of the natives. Under such 
a policy, with no one to appeal to for hopeful redress, the native must continue his harried 
existence with a feeling that he is really and truly a slave. 

In Liberia the man who has bad the advantage of going to school and has learnt " book " 
or a little English is called a civilized person, as distinct from the native who is merely a 
peasant with no book learning. All, both hinterland native, coast dweller and Amenco­
Liberian, are officially designated as "citizens "-a singularly inappropriate anticipation. 
The " civilized " ma11 in Liberia, in furtherance of the policy of seclusion, is encouraged to 
leave his native surroundings and either live in or near a Government station, or in" civilized " 
quarters allotted to him by the Government, so that he may have less chance of helping or 
advising the chiefs and the peasant natives, or of influencing them against the administration. 

" Unless the Government through the Commissioners centralized them, the 
responsibility of them becoming dangerous to good administration is probable. The 
instances shown in many of the investigations indicate that the Government should in 
time take steps towards preventing any confusion in the end." 1 

This is the exact opposite of the policy 110111 i11 vogue in African colonies and dependencies. 
In the back blocks of the Belgian Congo the natiyes are encouraged to leave thetr ~ole and 
corner villages and take up locations along the roam roads for the reason that by so dotng they 
benefit by association with white men and traffic and markets on the road, and for other 
reasons, not because they already have some kn~wledge of such things and !lr~ th~refore to be 
segregated for fear of breathing sedition. We believe that the sooner class dtshnctton b~tween 
civilized and uncivilized is broken, and the indigenous native allowed an equal status wtth the 
coast dweller, the better for all concerned. A chief or other hinterland native should be allowed 
to educate his children as he pleases. 

A Paramount Chief in Maryland, after describing how he was penalised and fined £1o 
by his District Commissioner for daring to utilise the services of a boy who could read and 
write said to the Commissioners : 

" The amount I have just referred to was pald in addition to. the £10 for the ~~i~ing 
of the letter. The District Commissioner told me that from. that ttme o!'ward no ~tvilize~ 
man must be seen near me. He said we must have nothmg to do wtth our chtldren tf 
we send them to school. They should not associate with us so !hat thef. may show us 
sense. What is the encouragement then for putting our children.m sch«>? tf they cannot 
show us how to deal with the Government 1 These are t.he t~mg~ w~tch please r~po~ 
when you go back to the nations in Europe that the nabves tn Ltberta are suffenng. 

At the Anniversary Celebration of the Independence of the Liberi~n Re~ublic at Monrovia, 
1930, a Cabinet Minister of pure native stock but European expenence, 1D an able speech, 
said : 

" Our colonial experiences were only history to prepare .u~ for greater t~i!'gs · f • • 
What shall we do to better our own condition and the co.~dltlon of these rnilltons o our 
indigenous kinsfolk of whom God has made us trustees 1 

a Report from Hon. J. 1_. _Han:is, Secretary of Interior, to His Excellency C. D. B. King, dated May. 
sth, 1930, dealing with condatlons an Maryland, . 
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For the Republic to have reached its eight.y-fif~h year of ex~stence and to have survived 
the serious crises occuring during that long penod, IS a grea~ aclu~ement. ~t seems, howe~er, 
to have been accomplished for the benefit of the coastal mhab1ta':lts •. ch1efty the Amenco­
Liberians and their inter-related descendants, at the expense of the .md1genous peop~es of the 
interior, without whose assistance any attempt t.o develop ~~e pot~nt1al wealth o.f the h!nterland 
would be futile. In most other tropical ~fncan_ adm1m~trat~ons. t~e native hmterland 
community of tribes has received first cons1derat1on, but m. L1bena mstead of. th?ughtful 
attention they have been subj~ted, a~ we have alre3;dy s.a1d, t? gross explmtatton and 
subjugation, a condition of thmgs wh1ch cannot ~on~mue mdefimtely. It must eventua~y 
result in a rude awakening, if a thorough reorgamzatlon of the Department of the Intenor 
is not taken in hand without delay and the necessary reforms instituted. 

According to Mr. Buell, 1 the American State Department, in a firm note dated April 4th, 
I<JI7, declared that the number of District C~mmissioners shou!d be ~imited _by ~greement 
with the Financial Adviser, and that no offic1al should be stationed m the mtenor whose 
appointment had not been agreed to by him. That the Liberian Government should also 
draw up a simple and effective plan for the administration of the interior in which native 
customary law should not be lost sight of; that taxes should be collected, so far as possible, 
through chiefs, and an equitable portion ?f s.uch taxes ~~plie? to public w?rk of ~irect ben_efit 
to the natives. The States Department ms1sted that 1t Will not be satisfied w1th prom1ses 
alone, tangible and permanent results must follow ". 

However, no permanent res~lts followed~ ~ppa~ently. In ord~r ~o .sup_press the native, 
prevent his education, prevent h1m from reahsmg h1s powers and h1s hm1tat1ons, and prevent 
him from asserting himself in any way whatever, for the benefit of the dominant and colonising 
race, although originally the same African stock as themselves, a policy of gross intimidation 
and suppression has for years been systematically fostered and encouraged. Intimidation 
has apparently been and is the keyword of the Government's native policy. 

Not only have the native village classes been intimidated and terrorised by a display of 
force, cruelty and suppression, but the chiefs themselves, men whom the people not so many 
years ago looked up to, were glad to serve, and relied upon for protection, harsh though it 
sometimes was ; men who never moved without a retinue and barbaric display of pomp, have 
been so systematically humiliated, degraded and robbed of their power, that now they are 
mere go-betweens, paid by the Government to coerce and rob the people. The words 
development, social progress are unknown, servitude and slavedom have taken their place. 

During the loan negotiations with the Liberian Government, at Paris and in Washington 
following the World War, the United States again insisted upon reform in Liberia's native 
policy, and in the Loan Agreement of 1921 she went so far as to insist upon the appointment 
of American native Commissioners. 

It is clear from the above that the present conditions of interior administration must 
have persisted for many years. From the body of this report it will be gathered that the 
results are today disastrous. The villagers have been intimidated by soldiers of the Frontier 
Force, and by messengers of the Paramount Chiefs and District Commissioners, to such an 
ex~ent that they find themselves obliged to labour most of the year on road construction, 
pnv~te or Government farms, and other work so continuously, that they have no time to 
cultivate their own food supply. They have, in fact, to live a harried and half-starved existence 
or leave the country. Very large numbers have resorted to the latter alternative. On several 
occasions the Commissioners in their travels have passed through abandoned villages or 
seen the no:w overgr~wn sites o! others. Some of these villages may of course have been 
abandoned m the ordmary way m favour of more fertile or less exhausted sites or as the result 
of the death of the chief or other cause. In the present instances observed by the Commission, 
howev~r •. local histoyy afforded a different explanation. Reports have repeatedly reached the 
~omm.•ss10n~rs of VIllages by the sc?re in other parts of the country unoccupied and falling 
mto d1srepa1r, and of gardens reverting to bush. The natives have no redress and no one to 
whom they can ventilate their grievances. The Paramount Chiefs receive th~ir commissions 
from the President and. are therefore Government officials ; the District Commissioners are 
harsh and unsympathetic towards the natives, who are not allowed to travel from one section 
to another, an_d cannot, therefore, take ~heir complaints elsewhere. It is not surprising that 
they shoul~ m1grate ~eyon~ the bou.nd~es. As far back as 1922 the President, in his address 
to the Leg1slat_ure, sa1d : Our pol1cy IS to encourage by every legitimate means the return 
of the populations that have fled the country ". Today every one seems to agree that the 
conditions have become worse in recent years. 

1 Raymond L. Buell, Tlo• Naliv• Problem itO Africa, 1928. 



Un~er _the circumstances the present situation seems to demand a complete and 11r tltl 
reorganmll1on of the G~vemment of the Interior if the future stability of the Re ublic ~ to 
be. ~ured, or. alt~matlvely saved from failure. Before proposing any change h~wever the 
eJOstmg orgarusabon may first be referred to : ' ' 

~he Republic is divided first in~o a coastal slrifl 40 miles wide containing five maritime 
~ounhes, e~ch_ under a County Supenntendent. • The remainder of the Republic is partitioned 
anto ~v~ dastncts roughl~ c~rresponding with the hinterland of each of the five counties and 
e~c.h as m charge of a Dastnct ~om'!li;;sioner. With ·the exception of the \'ais, an unus'ually 
yar~e race of advanced t~ndencaes livmg on the Sierra Leone Frontier, the many tribf.s of 
mdigenous Bantu pe~pl_e_ m ~hese five districts of the interior are more or less backward in 
t~e scale of gen~ral c~vilizabon, and. have little or ~o chance of advancement by association 
wath the coastalmhabatants. I!l fact, m accordance w1th the Government's policy of suppression 
they ar~ prevented fro!D movmg ~ut of their tribal sections, and the people in the counties 
a~e forbadden by lntenor Regulations to move into the districts without special permission. 
Lattle wonder, then, that they carry their produce over the frontier instead of brmging it to 
the Coast. 

T~e. first radical chf!nge ~e recolll:mend is the removal of the present five District 
Com'!llssao~e~s now stabo!'e~ 1~ t~e hmterland, as dishonest and corrupt officials, skilled 
only_m dev~smg means <?f.mtamadabo~ for the purpos~ of extracting money from the natives 
and m creatmg opportumbes for extortmg more. In the1r place we suggest should be substituted 
a higher grade of official as Dastrict Commissioner or Dislricl .A.dmiffislralor. Under each would 
be assistant Commissioners, who might be selected from the Republic or from America. ln 
course of time they might be eligible for the Senior posts. The Commissioner would have the 
status of county magistrate and be allowed to select a suitable central site for his station. 
He would encourage intercourse with the people of his District by every means in his power 
and by holding daily court for the hearings of cases referred to him by his assistants and others. 
In addition to an ample salary he would be allowed travelling and other allowances, and 
would be obliged to spend at least three months in the year travelling in his district. Similarly 
his assistants, each with Justice of Peace status, would be installed in their own stations at 
strategic points, would hold their own open courts for cases referred to them by Paramount 
Chiefs, encourage weekly markets, and be obliged to be in camp in their own sections or 
within the district for three months each year. Success must depend upon the character of the 
Senior Commissioner of each district, who must be honest, fair-minded and free from graft. 
He should, we think, be either European or American. The Senior Commissioner's assistant•. 
as well as he himself, would be chosen from the successful candidates of some form of Civil 
Service, examinations for which might be held in Europe and America, and since the general 
standard required would be that of Europe or America it might be undesirable to admit as 
a candidate any youth or person who had not visited one or other continent. Candidates for the 
Senior Commissionerships, would, of course, be required to pass a much more exacting 
standard than the assistant class. That these officials should be men of high moral standard, 
and able to regain the lost confidence of the natives, is essential. To do this they would have 
to possess a previous knowledge of native affairs and have some groundings of routine iffdired 
administralion in the tropics. Their very first consideration would be to reinstate the Paramount 
Chiefs who have been so systematically humiliated and degraded, or at least the most worthy 
of them, in their old positions of local power and authority over town chiefs and people. 
Their next consideration would be to teach the chiefs how to exercise that power for good, 
to inculcate in them the principles of progressive town and country administration, discouraging 
bad customs and fostering the good. It would at the same time be the duty of the re-instated 
chiefs to co-operate to the best of their power with the District Commissioner in opening _up 
and improving the shortest and best routes to the Coast, policing those routes, encouragmg 
trade and the trader and free transport of raw materials and produce coastwards, as well as 
the safe entry of traders' merchandise. Salaries of the District Commissioners shout~ be 
sufficiently high to attract the right class of applicant. Hitherto they have not _bee':' ~uflic1e~t 
to remove the temptation to inflict fines to meet the regular expenses of mamtammg the~r 
stations. 

The Senior Commissioners would be responsible only to the central head of their 
department, and would have power to remove, or request the transfer ~f any of their assistants 
if necessary. They would not, except in cases of emergency, of whach they alone would _be 
able to judge the urgency, be able to call upon the Frontier F~rce for a.ssastance or !lefVJCe 
of any sort, without central authority, and no Frontier Force soldier w~u!d be allowed to enter 
any village in his district without being accompanied by a non-commlSsaoned or other officer, 

• In this strip live the 8 or 10,000 Americo-Liberians, or rather their muc:b i.Dter-related cJeK,ealdanu, 
mainly in Monrovia and other toWDS. All are of the administrative claM. past, ~esent 0! future. .Nfte 
are of the business class, or have any interest in commercial enterprise, but seem andeed s_n the maJG! ~ 
of cases to have no occupation of any Jrind, unless perhaps some pseudo-legal occ:upatson or •pec:wu 
Government job. 
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or sufficient authority to show that he is travelling on du~y. As regards education in their 
district, this would be attended to by the ~en~ral Edu~~tlO!l Depart~ent, but f~nds would 
need to be available for class or other instruction m the util1sat10n of Afncan econom1c products, 
etc. The Commissioner's clerk would have to. be a. competent accountant, able to keep the 
books and accounts of the station and the reg1strat10n of all fines. 

It would not be sufficient merely to institute charges in the interior. The coastal counties 
would of necessity have to follow suit, and in this connection i~ ~s fu~h.e~ suggested for the 
consideration of the Government that a rearrangement of the pollt.cal dnnsJons of the c~>Un_try 
might be undertaken with great advan~age, namely, that. each of the five d~stncts 
be incorporated with its nearby correspondmg county, th~s domg aw~y al~ogether wtth the 
maritime strip, and its implied segregation from the nahves of. t~e mtenor. . Each of the 
counties would then extend as Provinces from the coast to the lim1ts of the hmterland, and 
their administration would be incorporated with that of the Senior Commissioners, who would 
then be Provincial Commissioners. They would in this case be responsible only to the President. 
This step would' lead to much needed economy in many d~r~cti.ons. and. tend, as no ot~er 
arrangement could, to assist the developme!lt of th~ Republic s ncb mtenor by ~ncouragmg 
inter-communication and trade, and by helpn~g to bn.ng about a better und.ers~andi!l~ ~etween 
the coastal and interior populations. In pomt of s1ze the county and d1stnct d1v1s1ons are 
insignificant in comparison with administrative areas in other regions, and if the old divisions 
were retained, the Senior Commissioners suggested for the hinterland dis~ricts would _Probably 
find that the counties lying between themselves and the sea senously restncted the 
Government's policy, if adopted, of opening up towards the coast. 

The above is a brief indication of the policy which we suggest might be adopted by the 
Liberian Government in regard to the radical readjustment of the hinterland administration. 
lf allowed to continue on the existing lines of humiliation of chiefs, intimidation, suppression, 
extortion and ill-treatment of the people, Liberia may discover that its place in the community 
of civilized nations is jeopardized. 1 

As pointed out in the body of ~he Report, common or classic slavery is now no longer 
existent in Liberia, but such forms as domestic slavery and pawning are still common 
customs. So long as these forms of slavery are recognized as existing institutions in the social 
life of Liberia, so long will the stigma of slavery be attached to the Republic. It is urgently 
recommended that steps should at once be taken to make both forms illegal as a preliminary 
to total abolition. 

The Commission cannot too strongly urge upon the Liberian Government attention to 
the question of the shipment of labourers to Fernando Po, and other places. Labour conditions 
in Fernando Po may have been greatly improved in recent years; indeed, we have reliable 
information that this' is a fact. Nevertheless, we are in agreement that under conditions 
existing to-day in the Liberian hinterland, more especially the absence, as we think, of any 
efficient form of Government in that region, and consequent lack of guarantee that abuse of 
power both physical and official in regard to recruitment will not occur, we recommend that 
the organised shipment of labourers to Fernando Po and elsewhere should at once be 
discontinued. The Liberian Government would, we think, run the risk of incurring undesirable 
opprobrium if this were not done and the decree strictly enforced ; for, in the minds of the 
majority of persons in the critical world, a commercialised labour traffic, such as that which 
has been carri~d on from Maryland and elsewhere, cannot be dissociated from conditions 
anal?gous to slave-raid.ing and slave-trading .. This traffic has had the support of the highest 
offic1als of the Repubhc, and has been orgamsed and conducted by Vice-President Yancy, 
w~o has utilised his subordinates to further it to his own advantage, he himself being the 
c~1ef be~efi~iary. Wh~n it is. re~ized that it is also attended by cruelty~ widespread 
diso~gamsab?n of !labve soc1al life and loss of Government prestige, the danger of its 
contmuance IS mamfest • 

. Mu~h of the ill-treatment of the people of the interior, the cessation of native village 
culhvabon, the. exodus from the country and the general discontent has, in our opinion, been 
the result of bngandage on the part of Frontier Force soldiers who from the accounts of the 
natives, are often unaccompanied by their officers, and, when ~ccorr:panying them, the officers 
seem to encourage a general policy of intimidation. We recommend that the men of this force 
should be under much more efficient control than at present, and that the moral standard of 
the officers allowed t? command at interior stations be raised ; also, that on no account should 
the force employ native compulsory labour for building or other purposes as at present. Such 

1 Arlicu a3 (b), TM Cov'"""' of IM Lear.., of NalioHs: 
" • · · Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of international conventions existing or 

~ehareabfter to bef agn:ed :upnn, the 1\te'.llbers of the League undertake to secure just treatment of the native 
tn ttants o temtones under thetr control." 



labour should be done by the soldiers themselves as is usually the case in other places. On 
no acc~unt should the men be: allowec;t to ~~ter villages without their officers, unless they 
have With them so_me clear eVIde!lce, ~telligible to the chief, that they are on duty ; and 
they should be rationed from theii' station, which is provided under direction of the District 
Co_mmissioner with v:ery ~mp~e supplies of rice and other foods by the surrounding native 
chiefs. Any reported mtim1dabon of the people, or of interference v.ith natives on the pathways 
or ~oads ~y Frc;'ntier For~e soldiers or District messengers should be very severely dealt with. 
It IS. felt m t~1s connection tha~ steps s~~uld be taken to have the following deleted from 
Section 1082, Duty oflhe FrontleT Force, m Chapter XXXIX of the Statutes of the Republic 
of Liberia : 

" In keeping roads open to trade and travel, and in enforcing such laws and regulations 
as are or that may hereafter be passed, relative to the aboriginal population , . . and 
in laying out a road from the interior to the Coast." 

During the stay of the Commission in Maryland the League of Nations member had an 
opportunity of observing a large gang of labourers engaged on road construction work. He 
was impressed with the poor class of labour employed, the difficulties under which the men 
worked and their discontent. In face of the needlessness of much of the work accomplished 
and the general outcry against its continuance in Maryland, il is "comm111dtd that the 
ambitious road programme of the Department of Public Works should be curtailed, if not 
closed down entirely, except in Montserrado County, where it can be under more efficient 
supervision, until the natives have had time to recover from the effects of the abuses which have 
accompanied its execution, and some reorganization of the Department of the Interior has 
taken place. 

We recomffllnl that instead of hampering immigrt~lioft from the United States the best 
types of educated Negro should be encouraged as tending to open educative links with American 
trade affairs. . 

The Commission cannot too strongly express its conviction that, as regards most officials, 
mere advice to greater efficiency and honesty will not be sufficient. The tolerance given to 
gross dishonesty in office, the general ignorance of the interior and its people ; the lack of 
means of education in the provinces and its total absence in the hinterland, except where a 
few missionaries are installed ; the powerful influence of family connections between the 
executive officers of the Government, few of whom have ever left the country; and the general 
issularity of outlook, render futile any hope of improveJQent in the rresent conditions 
without the introduction of outside specialist assistance, the reduction o superfluous offices 
and other drastic internal provisions made. 

SUMMARY OF SUGGESTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS. 

The policy of the " Open Door." 
Extension of education to all alike. 
Native policy to be radically reconstructed. 
Barrier between civilized and uncivilized to be broken. 
Policy of suppression to be abando.ned. 
Humiliation and degradation of Chiefs to cease. 
Re-establishment of tribal authority of Chiefs. 
Complete reorganisation of administration of the interior. 
Removal of present District Com!"issioners.. . . . . . 
Substitution of European or Amencan CommiSSioners w1th ass1stant CommiSSioners. 
Institution of some form of Civil Service. 
Rearrangement of the Political Divisions of the count~. . .. 
Pawning and Domestic Slavery to be made illegal as prelimmary to total aboht1on. 
Shipment of labourers to Fernando Po to cease. 
Road program to ·be curtailed: . 
Much stricter control of Frontier Force sold1ers. 
Reconsideration of duties of Frontier Force soldiers. 
American immigration to be encouraged. 
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Appendix I. 

A PROCLA~IATIO~ BY THE PRESIDENT. 

WHEREAS~ in co~seq?e~ce of representations having been made against the Government 
vf the ~epub~c o! L1bena m relation to Slavery and Forced Labour, the President of the 
Republic ~f Llbet;~a p~oJX?sed the setting up of a Commission of Enquiry to investigate the 
alleged ex1stence ln· L1b~na of ~hese ~ial co!lditions, and in P~';'ance of said proposal and 
for the J?Urpose of assunng an 1rnpart1al enqurry and an authontabve report, did request the 
Secret~at of the League of Nations and the Government of the United States of America 
to nornmate each a member to serve on the said Commission so proposed to be set up by the 
Government of Liberia ; and 

WHEREAS, the Legislature of. the Republic of Liberia by a JOINT RESOLUTION of the 
Senate and House of Representatives approved December u, 1929, did confirm said action 
of the President of the Republic and did authorize him to take all proper steps to effectuate 
the object of the proposed Commission of Enquiry ; and 

W;'IEREAS, in pursuance of the request made as aforesaid to the Secretariat of the League 
of Nations and to the Government of the United States of America certain nominations of 
members to serve on the Commission were made by the League of Nations and the Government 
of the United States of America, which nominations were accepted by the Government of the 
REPUBLIC OF LIBERIA, that is to say ; 

Dr. CHARLES S. JoHNSON, on the part of the United States, 
and 

Dr. CUTHBERT CHRISTY, on the part of the League of Nations, 

Now THEREFORE, I, CHARLES DUNBAR BURGESS KING, President of the REPUBLIC OP 
LIBERIA, do hereby proclaim and give notice to the people of Liberia and to all residents within 
the borders of the Republic that the Commission of Enquiry composed as follows : 

On the part of the Republic of Liberia : 

The Honorable ARTHUR BARCLAY, 

On the part of the Government of the United States : 

Dr. CHARLES S. JoHNSON, 

On the part of the League of Nations: 

Dr. CUTHBERT CHRISTY, 

has this day been constituted and set up under the Chairmanship of the Representative of 
the League of Nations with full authority to enquire into all matters corning within the scope 
of the Terms of Reference furnished them in relation to the alleged existence in the Republic 
of Liberia of slavery as a factor in the social and industrial economr of the Republic, and of 
Forced Labour, otherwise than is sanctioned in the Internationa Slavery Convention of 
1926. To which end the said Commission of Enquiry by virtue of the provisions o~ an Act of 
the Legislature of Liberia approved December 6, 1926, IS empowered to summon w1tnesses,.to 
administer oaths and take testimony, to compel the attendance of witnel!ses and to pumsh 
for contempts. . 

And I do hereby call upon all citizens ~oyally to appear before sai_d_ CommissiOn ~hen 
duly summoned and to comport themselves m such manner as may facilitate the EnqUiry : 
and towards that end I do advise that at no public meetings held during the life ~f ~he 
Commission shall be discussed any matters coming within the purview of the Commus1on 
of Enquiry as hereinbefore set forth. 

(L. S.) 

By the President : 
Edwin BARCLAY, 
Sureltlry of _State. 

GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Republic at the 
City of Monrovia this 7th day of April in the Year of !>ur Lor~ One 
Thousand Nine Hundred and Thirty and of the Repubbc the Eighty­
Third. c. D. B. KING. 
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Appendix II. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF ENQUIRY. 

The Government of Liberia with a view to the removal of all doubts with respect to 
the existence within the territories of the Republic of the institution o! Slavery as. d~fined 
in the Anti-Slavery Convention of 1926, propose to set up an International Comm1ss1on of 
Enquiry with special powers to ascertain : 

(a) Whether slavery as defined in the Anti-Slavery Convention in fact exists 
in the Republic. 

(b) Whether this system is participated in or encouraged by the Government 
of the Republic. 

(c) Whether and what leading citizens of the Country participate therein. 
(d) To what extent compulsory labour exists as a factor in the social and industrial 

economy of the State, either for public or private purposes, and, if it does exist, in what 
manner it has been recruited and employed whether for public or private purposes. 

(e) Whether shipment of contract labourers to Fernando Po under the terms 
of arrangement with Spain, or shipment of such labourers to the Congo or any other 
foreign parts is associated with slavery, and whether the method employed in recruiting 
such labourers carries any compulsion. · 

(/) Whether the labour employed for private purposes on privately owned or 
leased plantations is recruited by voluntary enlistments or is forcibly impressed for this 
service by the Liberian Government or by its authority. 

(g) Whether the Liberian Government has at any time given sanction or approval 
to the recruiting of labour with the aid and assistance of the Liberian Frontier Force 
or other persons holding official positions or in Government employ, or private individuals 
have been implicated in such recruiting with or without Government's approval. 

2. The Commission shall be authorized to issue summons for witnesses, and to enforce 
the attendance of such witnesses under the provisions of the law of 1926, defining the powers 
of a Commission of Enquiry, copy of this law is hereto attached. 

3· It is within the competence of the Commission to make to the Government of Liberia 
such recommendations in respect of their findings as they may deem appropriate and necessary 
in relation to the subject matter of their enquiry. 

4· The Enquiry shall be concluded within four months and the findings of the Commission 
filed with the Liberian Secretary of State within one month thereafter. 

Department of State, 
Monrovia, Liberia, 

September 3, 1929. 

Some further testimony before the Commissiot~. 

Appendix 111. 

MONTSERRADO COUNTY 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

We work our farms but cannot chop it. Every day we tote hampers. They want labourers 
to se.nd t!> Belleyalla, Boporo, Monrovia and Firestone. They send us and no money. When 
we giVe nee to the labourers to come down they get down and they have no chop. The soldiers 
take t~e chop. When they send messengers, we have to give them two buckets of rice and 
two ch1ckens. When they send for us to tote loads and we get there they put us in the kitchen 
and set fire under. That is No. I District, D.C. Garnett. 

Our fathers had money and they gave us our women. When we get our women the soldiers 
go t~ere, flog us, and take the women from us. There are no men in the town again. The 
President told us the D.C. has only two messengers, this time they tell us the D.C. has 6o 
messe~gers. The D.C. has a clerk and a station master and other people. We have to tote 
them m hammocks. We have to feed them. One goat, 10 hampers of rice, one tin of palm 
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oil, and after that we have to give them monthly chop So Presidt-nt K" k s1 Th 
President says that wh Am · · tng rna e us avt-S. e 

~n encan people come into the interior they should walk the big 
road, but now they go m the bush. This my brother. They cut him and fined him £5 The 
one woman he had, he had to pawn her because we have no money. · 

They fined him I>e<:ause he did not clean the road. It is the man's own village. He made 
them stay the~e, but ~lid not clean the road and they fined him £5, and he had to pawn his 
woman. _President Kmg told us we are not to tote any hampers again, but now wht-n the 
people gomg up t~e country them make us tote their loads. If we do not agree they fine us 
'Yben the D.C., h1s c~er~s and station master go up there they do us bad. Every work. they 
g.ve us to do, the wh1p IS our pay. In our own country, we are there as slaves. Now we St'e 
you, you are our f:~;ther and we have to tell you. We are not going up again because they 
ftog us. Our own nee they put on our backs and call it government loads. We are country 
people. We do not do our own work. We work to give them chop. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

Witness.- We are doing government work here, we got our own farm, and do labourer's 
work, an_d ~hen tote loads. W_hen !he governm~nt rice business come, they come for us. When 
we are s1ttmg down for nothmg, d we are domg farms for ourselves that will be enough for 
us, but too many work round here now, but when monthly rice and soldier's rice come out 
after that, they take us for labourers. When we come in town, they make us tote loads. On~ 
time, when they lined us up here, we were 100 labourers, they sent us to Careysburg. When they 
sent us there the cutlasses we had to work with, they took from us, and the people that worked 
there they gave them the tools. The Paramount Chief and his speaker told us to give them 
the tools to keep, and they told us that when we come down they will give us our tools back. 
I told them I had only one cutlass, because we are doing this work every day. And our own 
farms that we cut, it for others. If I leave my cutlass here, I would not see it when I come 
back, because every day they force us, and when we go they say we must bring government 
tools. Since the government work started, they say we must find our own tools, and they 
took the tools from us, and turned us over to the messenger who came for us. 

Q!testion. - When the men bring their own tools, do they ever get them back again ? 

Witness. - Sometime we get them back, but the last time, we did not. When we came 
back, we did not get our tools back. Any time we brought our own axe, and they take it, 
That is the trouble that happens to us here. We are labourers and we must let you know 
all. When we come here to work with District Commissioner, David Carter, we clean the yard 
with our fingers, we get no food, all the pay was beat. The soldiers beat us. 

WITNESS BEFORE JHE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

The man who opened Kakata section was Gbantooba. This section here, it belongs to us, 
but what they are doing to us in this section we are afraid to talk. What we .will tell you of, 
we will punish ourselves for, because, just we hear that you all are here, that IS why we co~e 
in town. I am in the bush now. This Liberia has turned slaves out of us. We are slaves m 
this country now. This section used to belong to us, but we are slaves since this Government 
started to tote loads and labourer work started. When they come, they ask us for labourer• 
to tote'loads. We f~ed ourselves, and then the messengers and soldiers beat us. One time, 
they whip one man till they killed him. Just where the ~istrict Commissiont'! stays. We told 
the President, but nothing was done. We do not know d the Paramount Ch1ef ~nt words to 
the President, they only told us to bury the man, and we did. When we are workmg het:e• our 
own farms do not belong to us, because they take the rice from us, and t.hen we work w1t_ho~t 
no farm. They make us give them the rice, and our women plant the nee. When the nee 1!1 
ripe, they make the women cut the rice, and the men build the kitchen. Just now, th~ have 
one kitchen full of rice right near here. If they hold us like that, a~d !hey cut the nee, can 
they not feed the soldiers from there ? This house you see, we built 1t. When the women 
rubbing the house they prick them with sticks from behind. When we told the Paramount 
Chief, he told us to get out. That is the Merican palava. The time the country was_here, when 
Faulkner was here, the men who said they were behind Faulkner, they t~ked the1r last talk, 
that is why we are afraid. The time you all leave here, they will get u~ agam. Just now, they 
have written a letter to the President. The Paramount Chief wrote 1t. You see .the way we 
are doing you mean we cannot rest ourselves in our own section? We opened th1!1 place, but 
we are sl~ves now. When you come and ask what news, that is what I have to say. 



-g6-

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

I am from this section. First time all round no town was. here except this Kakata. My 
father's brother when he was killing elephants, worked thru th1s road. When people from the 
country walked they had to clea~ the roads to walk. Since t~is Liberian business start, it ~as 
been eight years now, just runnmg round, and we cannot s1t down. We have been workmg 
as labourers. We have been as far as Sanoquelle-no chop for us to eat. When tax came they 
caught my father who was chief. He was deaf and blind in one eye; where was he to get the 
money ? One Kroo man came to us, and my father told the Kroo man to lend him [2. The 
man lent him the £z, and he put one boy in pawn. I went to Monrovia and worked £z. And 
he turned the money over to the Kroo man, and redeemed the boy. The man brought the 
money but the soldiers caught him on the road, beat him, and we have not s.een the !llan since. 
They took him as labourer, took me to Banga, I stayed there one week, With nothmg to eat. 
They took my brother down and beat him. When he came he vomited blood and died. That 
is why I keep walking round because I cannot stay one place. Then they sent us back and 
every time we work on the road, and they flog us and when you leave the road, you are half 
dead-no chop to eat. I have one sister and she is in pawn ; I am the one who works to redeem 
my uncle's child in pawn. We are on this Government work, I have my own gun. I went to 
walk in the bush one day, I met soldiers on the way, they took the gun from me, beat me, 
and here is the mark on my thigh. When we are on labourer work they beat us. When we 
take our own rice they beat us. The soldiers took my gun from me, tied me and fined me £4· 
My uncle put someone in pawn to get me out. When we went down the road, the labourer 
company down the road took my rice from me. We have no clothes to wear. One time, Faulkner 
came here and called all the country people. In Kakata they beat me. Look at the mark 
on my foot. We are not working any farm. When we work they make us pay monthly rice 
and palm oil. We are suffering. (Here interposed and said : " The Paramount Chiefs 
were strong at the last conference, but they cannot do anything against the Government.") 

WITNESS FROM BANGA BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

I come here to you the same Government work has made us stand up. The time I was 
there, we were doing labourer work, we tote loads, and one Liberian man was there name 
Finsabbu. One time we gave him labourers. My part was small, and they were behind us and 
flog us. They caught me and beat me. They gave me a lantern to hold and I put the lantern 
on the road, and somebody took it. After we went, the Lieut. came and asked why the boys 
took his lantern. I paid £6 for that one lamp. I told the Paramount Chief, so the 
Lieut. sent a messenger to the town and they caught us and brought us to the camp. I 
was sitting down one of my brothers came to tell me that they had caught all the people 
to pay the £6. And I pawned a boy to pay the amount. The Mandingo man I pawned 
to wanted to take the boy to Monrovia, so I followed the Mandingo man as far as Secretary 
Cooper's farm, and begged the man to redeem the child. That is what is in my mind. 
When you are sitting in your house, the soldiers come into the town and call for palm wine. 
If you have none to give them, they throw them down and give you " 25 ". If not, they get 
into your house and take everything you get there. The farm I get this year, if I do not fight 
hard there is no one to scratch it (plant). This work they brought upon us, some towns have 
four men, and they tell us to send two, then they call for chickens, rice and palm oil, and when 
they call for these things, they sit down there till they get it. I gave them once 4 buckets 
palm oil, and one bucket rice. And they caught me and said they asked for 6, not 4, they 
put rope round me and beat me. The gown I had on they took it from me, and took my bat 
because they do no~ allow. prisoners to keep anything. I am a gentleman, I was born in Banga, 
but when they pumsh.us m our own section, ~e cannot stay there. If you were going further, 
you would see somethmg, but where they pumsh us, we have to run away. When the soldiers 
g~t in the town an~ see a small boy, they ta:ke hi~ away. They take the small boy and put 
h1m over us-the b1g people. When they fimsh eatmg the rice in the town, they just call the 
boys together and take them away. 

WITNESS BEFORE THE (OMl\IISSION AT KAKATA. 

I am from Kakata Section. Something happened so I come. We were to Naifokol section 
we stayed there till this government work started, and we are all still working they made us 
broke a small town and build big town. One chief was here name Fahn he went to Naifokol 
section and spoke to the chief there about road palava. He stayed ther~ and they sent some 
!llessengers to our .town, and broke our town. Momo Gray's brother did this. \Ve were sleeping 
m the bush and did the work. We had no place to sleep. Every day they ran behind us and 
caught us. Once when they cut one cotton tree here they let it fall in the town. When you 
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stay there the su!l rise, they ask yo~ why you let them stay there, and they let you sit on 
the co~ton. tree till you pay one ch1cken. We are working Government work and no pay. 
Sometime ~f we are late they _ma_ke us ~y one dollar. They caught our father and he is gone 
to ~onroVla.. ~ey caught him m t~e rught and carried him on the road and asked him why 
he lS not buil~g th~ town. One time they caught a chief and whipped him. We do not 
know who whipped him, and after that he took sick. We had to take the same man into the 
same bush where we sleep. I went and told his son. As soon as I left there the same night 
the man died, so I came here to tell one man and he sent to get the dead pe~n and brought 
him to his place. The chief's wife and people also came. I came and reported the matter to 
Daniel Walker, the late Paramount Chief. We let work alone when we buried the man. A man 
called Kolmingro brought one shilling and one leaf of tobacco and took it to the Paramount 
Chief to tell him that the man is dead. The man was in Monrovia, they went and told his wife. 
He did not send anybody. When you stay in some section, anything happen to some of your 
people and they tell the Paramount Chief, he should go to see. After we finish burying the man. 
we did not see anything else, but the chief sent to catch the dead man's ~roperty. We reported 
the matter to Walker and he stopped the people, and when D.C. Collms came, we reported 
the matter to him. They take labourers up and compel them to build houses. The way they 
treat us here, we are not satisfied. We got there by force. And came back. When D.C. Watson 
came back, we reported the matter to him. They caught us and brought us to Kakata, and 
did not give us time to talk, but sent us back to the town. We went to Weblu town and he 
told us that all he caught and brought there he must swear them so that they cannot move 
away, I did not make them swear me. The Paramount Chief told them to come and catch 
me, and I bad to pawn my own mother to get out. They said if we refused to build the 
house, they would put our feet in stock. Then they put rope on our waist and make us work 
on Sunday. The speaker, Klimibioko did all this. Since they have kept me so long, I am 
now messenger. When they caught us, they made us build house. 

Question. - Is your mother still in pawn ? 

A nsweT. - Yes. 

Question. -How long ago did you pawn her l 

Answer. - MyseU did not pawn her. One of my relatives they pawn her for £a. The 
Paramount Chief fees brought it up to £4· 

Question. - Where is the boy ? 

Answer. - He stays with the man. They fined me £4/IO., and cost making £8/Io. 

Question. - What are you owing now ? 

Answer. - £6. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE CoMMISSION. 

We are there, we stay there. Since this government palaver come, the~ have been doing 
too much They do too much to us. If we want to do our farm, we cannot do 1t. We have been 
all r"ght till this road palaver come. If a man misses one day, if a labourer wants to rest, 
if he

1 
is sick, be has to pay 6o cents. If we miss one week, 12 shillings. One ~an there has fout 

£2 to a fines One day somebody comes and says they want monthly nee one town, our 
ham~rs >rice. If we do not do it, they catch us, beat us, and tie ~s. The n~me of our Paramou!'t 
Chief is Sikfie. When the monthly rice finish, one town, one tm palm oil. If we do not do 1t, 
the beat us The farm time come and now they say we must go faster. They gave me 8o 
lab~urers to· take to Firestone. The men don't want to go because whe~ we gob ~e c~nnot 
get any pay When we were coming down they gave us 46 hampers of nee to nng own. 
It is with the D.C. now. It is Government rice. W~ h~ard_about you, we come to see ~ou 
and ask if we must go. The town chief from our section IS With the D.C. here. The spea er 
sued him and he has come to the D.C. to talk the palaver. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE CoMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

Every month the rice they get from us, we send it they are not sat~~~ t~e:g:e 
messengers leave the rice here and go when they reach there the~ say_ we ifus e don't give the~ 
We ask them if they leave the rice in Kakata and go back to~ or nceie h w they won't fight 
they jump on us and beat us. If you pay anyone of these native peop ere 



the messengers. Even if he is chief and he fights the messenge~s he will ~tay_ in jail till he p~ys 
the fine they put on him. When we buy liquor from MonroVIa and bnng It here the soldiers 
take it from us. If we buy powder they take it from us, and ~hen they come hert; th~y ask 
for meat, we don't know where to get the meat, because we don t buy J?<>Wder and bnng It here 
again. This khaki trousers, white people make doth for us to wear, d you all were not here 
soldiers would have taken my trousers from me, 

The people staying in this section, the old people send them on the road, 'Yhen they beat 
them you see them you will be sorry. When they send some and they see all thts trouble they 
won't go again. Now they open way for us to go to Fernando Po. Ever since the people went 
they won't come back. That big farm of the President you see there, labourers did that work. 
They don't send all on the farm they divide them. Some go to David Carter, some they 
send in bush to cut palm nut. The time we were building this camp, no Merican man brought 
one cassada stick here. The native people did all the work. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT KAKATA. 

We are native people. Since we have been here the road started. It did not come Kakata 
soon-it started in Monrovia, and they sent note to collect boys and we sent them. Now the 
road reaches here. All the time we send labourers on the road and we give them chop. We 
have to give them cutlasses and axe; we take money to buy these and send on the road. When. 
we send boys on the road they catch them and tie. them; when they get through with them 
they come back and report. So we let the Paramount Chief know because he said we must 
send labourers on the road. The Paramount Chief said it is Government order. The road has 
got here to Kakata. Every week 250 men from this section here on the road. When we collect 
all that some go to the Secretary's farm, some to the Station Master's farm, and they tell us 
to bring some more. If we do not, they fine us, and the old people left back in town they will 
take some women and pawn them to get money and pay the fine. Ever since the road started 
we have been paying fines. After that District Commissioner came here, he said we must 
build all this camp. The women took dirt and rub the walls. Both the women and labourers 
come to work ; if they don't they catch them and put a long stick on their back. This is one 
of the sticks (stick handed to Commission). When they were building this camp, we had to 
pay the women and labourers to build the house. We have to do it ; if we go anywhere they 
bring us back to do it. That is the palaver here. We have our own jail here. I have been there 
too. We were 19 town chiefs they locked up. 

Because we did not send the monthly rice. I stayed there, and each town sent 5 hampers 
rice with IO/- cash from the whole section to buy palm oil. After we do that then we do all 
the work ; we see no money, and before we get one cent we have to take our own sons and 
pawn them to pay fines. Who will be satisfied to pawn his own child to get money ? All this 
now. That is the news in this section. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT MONROVIA. 

David W. Ross, said to be adopted son of Hon. S. A. Ross, late Postmaster General, 
states before the Commission : 

. ~n the Si~oe. incident, so much mentioned, the boys were sent from the Tabien section. 
Dtstnct Commtsstoner Watson sent them down with 150 hampers of rice. They had messengers 
~th t~em and a letter .stating that the rice was Government property. When this reached 
Smoe tt was sold to vanous people. The boys were housed on the other side of the river. I 
was sent here by r?w boat with a letter to th.e Spanish Consul asking him to arrange for a 
~teamer to call at Smoe. When the steamer arnved the boys were forced into the boats. Some 
J~mped overboard and .swam ashore. They were all sent to Fernando Po. Coming down to 
Smoe messengers were tn charge of the boys to prevent their running away. Blacket was over 
the messengers. Mr. Collins also helped to guard the boys. One lot of boys was never sent to 
Fernando Po. Mr. Sherman stopped them going. 

When Mr. R?ss came to Monrov~a and w~ made P~stmaster General he began to ship 
for Fernando Po, ~e sent them to Smoe to hts brother-m-law Pelham, who was recruiting 
agen_t .there. Some~tmes they were sent from here by a German steamer to Sinoe. Sometimes 
a Bn!tsh steamer ptcked up more bo_ys at Bassa for Sinoe, sent by the Superintendent, but the 
Spamsh stean:ter took them .from Smoe to Fernando Po. Civilized people who sent boys to 
Mr .. Ross rece~ved {.1 fr.orp: h!m, but. boys sent by .native,people: got only. 4/-.. 
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During the ~a~ata conferen~e Mr. Ross wrote to D.C. Watson askin for bovs Peabod 
and myseU earned 1t but Mr. \\ atson replied that the Secretary of th~ Interior· was th Y. 
and he would be unable to supply boys at present We then ca · d · t b d . ere 
N F. t PI t t' f . . · me gm, o acro an ne-e to 

o. 7 rres on~ an a 10n or recnutmg purposes. We told the boys they wer~ wanted for 
work on the ships. When they learned that their destination was Fe n d p d 
Mr Simpson Secreta y t G alp ffi r an o o some e-sc-ape 

· . • , r o ener osto ce g~t a number of boys for us, and Col. T. EllwO<i 
DaVIs got others. \\ e had 4/- for each boy obtruned. Policemen and others sent their brothers 
and got 4/- for each for Fer~an~o Po. The Spanish steamer usually came about the :zoth 

0
( 

each month, and b~ought With It the money for the boys. At first Mr. Ro..o;s received £8 for 
each boy, but the pnce went up to £9 or £x.o. After the Spanish steamer arrived Mr. Ross alw;ws 
went to the bank and the money deposited. Sometimes we brought away sixtl't'n bags of 
£~oo each. Some of the. money came in gold and some by bank draft. He took it always to 
his ~ouse, and that ~venmg or the next day the President called. On leaving his driver always 
earned money to his car, but. bow much I cannot tell. Col. T. Ellwood Davis, also went for 
the same purpose and sometimes collected the President's money, and a sum of money w·

1
s 

always ~nt to Mr. Pelham, Mr. Ross's ~on-in-law, Alfred was often present and can vou~h 
for all. this. I can _swear and _am sweanng now that money was carried away. 1 mysdf 
sometimes handed 1t to the driver. ' ' 

From the statement of President King before a special meeting of the Commission 
convened at his request, July 31st, at the Executive Mansion : 

President King. - Well now, all that I know is that these statements were nuulc, atHl 
that possibly some other explanations might be necessary; although there have bern diflerence,; 
of opinion as to whether it was necessary for these steps to be taken by me. But the nwre fact 
that the Commission had had these statements before them on their records and cross 
examinations were made on them, I thought it was necessary to make some clarifying 
statements on the matter. 

First, in the matter of the statements made by young Ross, I can state very emphatically 
that it is not so. No money transactions have been made between 1\lr. Ross and myself, which 
I can prove. I have gone to the trouble of getting statements from some of the other partit•s 
who have sworn affidavits to contradict this. 

Affidavit. 

Republic of Liberia, County of Sinoe. 
Justice of the Peace office, Greenville, Sinoe County. 

Personally appeared before me a duly qualified justice of the Peace for the County of 
Sinoe, Alfred Ross, and stated upon his oath that it having come to his knowledge that one 
David W. Ross, his fostered brother, stated before the International Commission of Inquiry 
inter alia that he the said Alfred Ross was present at the residence of his late father, Honorable 
S. A. Ross, when His Excellency C.D.B. King called there during the fall of night after the 
passing of the Spanish steamer on the 21St or 22nd and there they both that is to say President 
King and his late father, divided money which had been drawn from the Bank by his father 
during the day in bags of xoo pounds each and that the President would carry his share when 
leaving and that ColT. E. Davis would call there for his share after which some of aaid money 
would be sent here to Mr. Pelham, that to the best of his knowledge aaid statement ia without 
foundation, that although he has seen the President at home of his late father on many nights 
during his lifetime ; yet he has never seen them dividing money nor he the President carrying 
money with him when leaving. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 23rd day of May A.D. 1930. 

(Signed) Alfred Ross 
Deponent. 

Affidavit. 

(Signed) William R. DRAPER, 

Justice of the Peace for 
Sinoe County. 

I, Jonathan Cbuku Labor, of 17 Hill Street, Freetown, in the colony of Sierra Leone, 
Chauffeur, make oath and say as follows : 

x. I was chauffeur to His Excellency Charles Dunbar Burgess King, President of 
Liberia, for more than five years in and prior to the month of December 1929. 

2. I have never at any time during my employment as chauffeur to President King or at 
any other time received from the late Honourable Mr. Samuel A. Ross, Postm.aster <!'enfal 
of Liberia, either directly or through any other J>t'!'SOll_ any sum of money or 1t1 equ1v!l ent 
to be banded to President King or to be dealt w1tb 111 any way whatsoever for Pres1dent 
King,_ 
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3. I have never on any occasion w~en I have driven President ~ing to the house of. the 
said Mr. Ross or at any other time rece1ved or allowed to be placed. m the motor car dnven 
by me or any other vehicle any sum of money whatsoever or any eqmvalent of money. 

4. I have never during my employment as chauffeur to Preside~t King or at any other 
time been sent or gone to the said Mr. Ross for any money or any eqmvalent of money. 

5. I have never at. any time during ~y employment as chauffeur to President King 
or at any other time received of or from Dav1d Ross, the son of the late Mr .. Samuel A. Ross, 
either directly or through any other person any sum of money or any eqmvalent of money 
whatsoever nor has the said David Ross ever put any sum of money or any equivalent of 
money whatsoever in any motor car driven by me or of which I have been in charge. 

6. I am informed and verily believe that the said David Ross has stated that he once 
handed to me a tin full of gold coins to be handed to President King. The said David Ross 
has never handed to me any tin or other receptable containing any coin or coins whatsoever. 

Sworn the sth day of July, 19JO. 
(Signed) Jonathan Chuku LABOR. 

Before me 
(Signed) W. E. MACAULAY, 

Commissioner of Affidavits and a 
person lawfully authorised to 
administer oaths. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT MONROVIA. 

They told me we were to go to Cape Palmas to work. That was why I with (witness) 
Hurley agreed to go. That was a lie. They never told us we were going to Fernando Po. 
We learned that from people outside. I said I would not go to Fernando Po and I was told 
that in that case I would have to return the money for the food I had eaten. I said give me 
time to find it. When I went outside to try to get it, they sent police after me, flogged me, 
tied me up and put me in the latrine. I kicked and shouted, and when they took me out I 
heard the steamer had arrived. They forced me into a boat and I was taken out to it by Mr. 
Yancy's orders. Later we were brought back on shore again. When we reached the shore we 
were taken to the police station and told that those of us who did not want to go to Fernando 
Po could go back home. Now we learn that a Commission of Inquiry is here, and we.come to 
tell you about our trouble. When boys are sent to Fernando Po and die there their friends in 
Liberia have no means of knowing what has happened. The Government should supply each 
boy with a passport so that he can be traced if necessary. . 

The Liberians ship us Kpesseh people as they do their coffee, and sell us as they please. 
Because Mr. Twe on this occasion did not let them do so they broke him; they took his job 
from him. If we live up country the Commissioners make us feed them. If we give two hampers 
(a load) of rice it is not sufficient, and we are liable to be tied up and flogged. 

As truly as I am standing here now my father was chief of fifteen towns, but those towns 
now have no inhabitants ; the people have all left and gone over to the French side. We as 
boys came to the coast to look for stevedore work at the ports, and they try to ship us to 
Fernando Po. Because Mr. Twe helped us to get out of the difficulty (" put his mouth in it ") 
they accused him of doing bad things. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT MONROVIA. 

One of Mr. Yancy's boys named Johnson told me that boys were wanted to go from 
Monrovia to Cape Palmas to work on Mr. Yancy's farm; I and others agreed to go. When we 
came to Mr. Yancy's house in Monrovia we stayed there, and some friends we met outside 
told us we were for Fernando Po, not Cape Palmas. We refused to go to Fernando Po and 
Kpaluk~lo who was with me went a~ay. W~en Mr. Yancy heard he had gone he sent and 
fetch~d hun back. Mr. yancy then srud take h1m to the place below and tie him up. When he 
was tied they flogged h1m, and he made so much noise that Mr. Yancy had him brought into 
th~ y~~d an~ asked him what was the matter. He replied," These people flog me." Mr. Yancy 
sa1d, That s your own fault. You agreed to work for me and I gave you $I and found you 
fo?d ... If yo~~; don't w~nt to go you must .pay me t~e s.x and the cost of the food." Kpalukpolo 
srud, All ng~t. I Will. go. and look for 1t. and brmg 1t as soon as I get it. I am not going to 
Fernando Po.. All th1s time they had tied and he was crying, and Mr. Yancy said " If he . 
keeps on mak.mg a noise put him in the latrine." Later he was taken out when a • 'Merican 
man named S1mpson came. He spoke good Kpessi and interpreted for Mr. Yancy," who told 



-101-

us a lot of sweet story and made us feel good" ?tlr Yancy ·~;d " In th1· t I t 1 · 
f lf d · . · · ~ • s coun ry ge p enty 

o m~ney, myse . an PreSident King. The day Mr. King's time is up they will lUt me in the 
mans10n. :rhat IS. why plenty of people do not like me, and that is why peopl~ tell you all 
you are gomg ~o Fernando Po. They tell you a fool story to defeat me in the next election .. 
Then they untled Kpalukpolo and told us to go back and sit down and to morrow the steam~r 
would come. • • 

In th~ early morning ~J?alukpolo ran away again. Mr. Simpson took us down and told 
us to g~t mto the boat-. \\ hile we were doing so Kpalupolo was brought down in charge of 
tw~ policemen and Joh_nson, Mr. Yancy's boy. The policemen were flogging him and he was 
c~ng. They put h1m. m the bo~t and we went on board the ship where they counted us four 
tlmes. _Afterwards Ch1efs of Pohce came on board and told us that Mr. Twe bad made a 
complamt about us. He took us ba~k on shore and at the police station we hear. I it was because 
force had been used. Those who d1d not want to go to 1:ernando Po were told to stand aside 
and they were then sent away. I went with them. ' 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE Co:IDIISSION AT :MONR0\"1.\. 

I was coming from Sinkor to Monrovia with my brother (a friend) and we met a man 
who said h~ wanted boys for Cape Palmas an~ that we _must go and stay with him till the 
steamer amved. To this we agreed, and he sa1d that wh1le he was feeding us we wt•re not to 
go out and walk about. After a while we heard that we were not going to Cape Palmas but 
Fernando Po. We wanted to go and walk on the road, but Mr. Yancy objected to our 
doing so, because the steamer might come at any time and we would have to go on board. 
We refused to go to Fernando Po. 

That night when Kilikai, my friend, returned to the house he was seized, flogged and shut 
up in the latrine. Then we said to ourselves if they treat us like that here in Monrovia what 
will they do to us in Fernando Po. We were eventually sent on bpard. Later Mr. Twe hearing 
about us sent for us. We do not know who gave the instructions, but we were brought back 
on shore. Mr. Yancy told us that some people were fighting him because they did not want 
us to make some money. 

A WITNESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT l\loNRO\'IA. 

I was down on the waterside and heard a noise at the wharf so I went there and saw a man 
who was working for Mr. Yancy pushing some boys into a boat. I asked him why he was 
forcing them to go, and he said because Mr. Yancy and Mr. Simpson said they must go. Mr. 
Simpson then came and ordered the boat to push off. I asked him about the matter but he 
gave me no answer. 

Then Mr. Twe came on the scene and we went together to the Superintendent of Police. 
Whilst there the telephone bell rang and we understood that the Superintendent was instructed 
to send on board the ship and bring the boys back. 

I went on board with Mr. Twe and one of the boys told me they did not want to be sent to 
Fernando Po. 

MR. FRANKLIN WALKER BEFORE THE CoMMISSION AT MONROVIA. 

Mr. Walker of the territory of Marshall, when asked about the labour employed on road 
construction, said : 

In 1926, when on the way from Schiefiin to Monro~ia, I met Mr. Samuel _W~eaton at 
Du Port. He was trying to get to Bassa with orders to begm a motor roa_d, and sa1d 1f I would 
assist him to get there he would make me one of his overseers, but I declined. However, ~hen 
he told me the job was a good one and I would make plenty of money, I agreed. He appomted 
me as clerk and we went down to Grand Bassa together. He reported himself to Mr. Smith, 
the Superin'tendent of Grand Bassa County. Mr. Smith gave us a house and Mr Wheaton 
took over charge of all the labourers on the road. I was told that I was clerk of the road and 
must receive all the fines imposed. 

The road boys are generally changed every Monday. Each small village (half town) 
sent two boys. One day some of the boys brought no cutlasses or axes; others were a day 
late-the latter were fined 2/- each and the former I/- each. 1/repa_red th_e bill a~ainst the1r 
chief and sent it to him. He was brought down to the road an put m chams. ThiS man had 
to work in chains and begged Mr. Wheaton to release him so that he could go and look for the 
money and he did so. 

Later they brought down another chief named Zokagch f~om Yoyukon. He was a wealthy 
man, and they fined him £2 because all his boys were late. HIS people came up there and then 
paid the money. After that I got sick and had to leave the road. 
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During the time I was away they put Paramount Chief Du&bogba in prison for not 
sending boys. One of his town chiefs named Dorsen from Dwarz<;~n village came to my mother 
and begged her to keep him. He was tined, and as all the boys m the town had run away he 
could not get the money. They therefore sent for him and flogged him and put him in jail, 
but he found some one to bail him out on bond and he now had to find the boys or the money. 

The road overseers are appointed by the Interior Department. The latter is in charge of 
the building of the road. The clerk keeps note of the number of boys and the number of days 
they work, and also a tally of the tools, etc. He keeps no record of the tines, but the overseer 
keeps the money. Sometimes he instructed me to collect the tines and pay them over to him. 
The overseer in this case was Mr. Walter Ford. The Bassa people called him " Beh" meaning 
pepper because he was a bad man. 

The fine for failing to work on the road is SJ.OO per quarter according to statute law, 
but the construction work I was employed on in Bassa is not under statute law, for I asked 
Mr. Wheaton. This road starts from the market shed in Buchanan and leads into Gio section. 
Sometimes when tines were not paid promptly the boys, instead of being allowed to leave at 
u o'clock on Saturday, were kept on at the road work until the fines were paid, and often had 
a bad time because they had no food. 

A PARAMOUNT CHIEF DEFORE THE COMMISSION. 

The palaver is in our hands. We are between the barracks. The D.C. at Boporo work us, 
beat us, and we tote hammocks and he is hard on us. Just now nobody in the country will 
work. The monthly rice we give is 100 hampers for Boporo to Belleyala, and while we take 
them, they flog us. When w~ take the hampers to Boporo they beat us on the way and tine 
us. While we have the hampers on our heads they keep flogging us. This is the pay we get 
for the hampers we tote (exhibits a whip). This is the pay we get for the hampers we tote at 
the end of the week. This man is a town chief. Look at his back. When D.C. Garnett's clerk 
came there the other day, that is the mark he put on his back. They flog him, cut his back and 
skin. 

When we pay the monthly rice to the D.C. any day when the D.C.'s soldiers are passing 
thru the town we have got to feed them also. When we give them rice they tell us to cook 
it. Sometimes when we give them chop they eat the meat and throw the rice away. When we 
give them chop again, they ask for palm wine and if we do not get the palm wine to give them 
they flog 'us. If they give letters to the messengers to carry when they get to our town we tote 
their hampers. Just now we are working. Nobody in our country has any farm now. 

This road palaver when D.C. Garnett went up he fined us [15 for the road. We clean the 
road one week ago. When we go to work on the road they give us no spades. We have to 
use a piece of stick for spade. They give us no hoe and no pick-axe. We have to get them 
ourselves. 

Appendix IV. 

SINOE COUNTRY. 

ABSTRACT OF TESTIMONY OF P.C. LAMANDINE BEFORE THE COMMISSION, 

I was Commiss!one~ in the Sinoe district in 1924. During my term of service many boys 
were sent from the mtenor by Capt. Howard to Mr. Ross for shipment to Fernando Po. 

They were sent down under milita~y escort with rice and were detained by Mr. Ross, 
who P!aced an ar~ed guard over them till the steamer arrived. I was Commissioner at Sikon 
!lear Smoe at the hme and the matter was reported to me. I was one of the oldest Commissioners 
m the county .. I !Dade complaint to the President and to the Secretary of the Interior. To 
those commum.cahons I never got any reply, and was shortly afterwards relieved of my post. 
Mr. RoS!! was m power (County Superintendent) and he said to me, "You shall regret it. 
I am gomg to teach you a lesson.'' 

A lar&e number of boys were sent down under escort to Sinoe during 1924 · 6oo or Boo 
were recr~uted from my se~tion. I t~ied as Commissioner to prevent it and to stop the military 
escort bemg used, but wh1le I was m one part of the country Mr. Ross arranged to send the 
b~~s through anoth~r part .. ~he boys were not sent down by me but by Captain Howard under 
military escort. Th1s recruttmg for Fernando Po began in 1924 at the instance of Mr. Ross. 
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r The military authorities of the country have been very hard on the natives wh 
made to work from January to December, husband and wife alike and are fined in add~ti:~ 
The ~opl!l are m~che~ out of. the~ houses and made to work ~ith soldiers behind them· 
plantmg nee, reapmg nee, husking nee carrmng rice construct1"ng roads d" · t t ' 

"thout tools c tf t" k d b il ·' .J • • • •ggmg ou s umps 
Wl • • u mg s 1c s an u ding bndges and barracks. There is no end to it The 
get n_o tune for themselves. Women are made to carry loads with babies on their ·back/ 
all th1s and .much more and no complaint has any effect. 1 would willingly write out a statement 
on the su~Ject for you as you suggest but the natives themselves will be able t 1 · 11 
these details t~ you much better than 1 can. 0 exp am a 

As CommlSS!oner .of the district it was _my duty to make the people work cleaning hammock 
roads and planbng nee to feed t.he sold~ers. and the messengers in my station and otht•rs. 
No !Dotor roads were co~structed m my distnct and I supplied no boys for con~truction work. 
I tned to keep the soldie~s under. co?trol and made them repair thetr houses themsdves and 
look after the road cleanmg parbes m order to keep them occupiNl. 

Appendix V. 

MARYLAND COUNTY. 

A SODOKEH CHIEF BEFORE THE CO:II!t!ISSION AT CArF. PALMAS 

• (HON. H. Too WESLEY INTERPRETING). 

I am very glad to be here because I have many grievances to lay before you. Fir~t. we 
are ~ade to pay hut tax from year to year from which we get no benefit. Nor do we get any 
rece1pt for our money. We take the money to Mr. Yancy, and when we ask for a receipt he 
sends us away. In my town I am compelled to pay hut tax year after year for people who are 
dead and for house sites with no houses on them. 

Since last year Vice President Yancy has been making demands on me lor boy!l 
for Fernando Po. I have refused to comply with his request, and the Vice President Yancy 
has openly stated that he will oppress me for this refusal. He sent Commissioner Frederick 
Prowd to arrest me, and I was tied up and taken down to Cape Palmas. (Here the story wus 
taken up by the Speaker.) This made us frightened, for the way our chief was taken down to 
Harper was terrible. So about 30 young men and women ran away and crossed over the river 
to the French side. 

Before the war, when we went to Fernando Po many of us died there. Out of 35 only 
10 returned. We are obliged to work now on the road and our complaints are chiefly about 
the road work and Firestone. On the road we have to work with little food and have to bring 
our own tools. When anyone is sick and unable to come to work he is fined [1. While working 
we are beaten, and we are not allowed sufficient time to make our farms. When the bird 
season comes we have no boys to guard the rice fields. (Here the chief again took up the story.) 

I am the chief of my town, and I will tell you my personal experiences. In 1926 I was 
ordered to supply dry grass for thatching purposes, and because I could not collect sufficient 
within the time stipulated, Vice President Yancy fined me £6. and put me in rrison for a 
month. After he released me I went home thinking that the trouble was over, but !lOon found 
that it was not. District Commissioner Prowd, finding that I was not of favor with Mr. Yancy, 
put me in prison for the most trivial things. 

When the Frontier Force men came to my town they asked for rice, fowl, oil, and other 
things, and while my women are getting these the soldiers beat me regardless of my cries. 
We have to work for the Government continually without any pay. If we do not work we 
are fined. They have a way of fining us for the least thing. If the Government paid u~ for 
the road work we would work hard and willingly. Even if they did not pay us cash, but remitted 
our hut taxes, we would work on the road and be pleased. We have no money and yet we 
have to feed these people who treat us as slaves. 

A GREBO CHIEF BEFORE THE COMMISSION. 

The first thing I have to give is this. Last year, Vice Pre.side~~ Yancy sent to me at 
\Vedabo, and it is not a port of entry, and also to Grand Cess, Ptca~ml Cess, to the Tupo pe~ple, 
Suehn, etc. to meet him. I was there. The first word Yancy sa1d was that he had rece1ved 
instructions from President King, that President King and the Spanish Gove~ment ha~ ma_d~ 
an agreement to ship people from here to Fernando Po. Gran~ Cess must gtve 6o~ P1cam~1 
Cess So; Wedabo and Kplepo people must give more than etther; IOO from Cb1ef Broh • 
towns; Chief Bellor's town, Barrobo, 100; Chief Jeh"s people 150; Suehn, 6o; Tupo, 6?· 
If any of these people are short, that is, if 59 are sent instead of 6o, [lo would have to be pa1d 
for each man short. This was in the year 1928. And if any man refused to pay the fine, he, 
Yancy, would burn that town, he would send soldiers and burn it. John Delaney, the 
government instructed, is Commissioner of the District, and John Delaney mutt watc~ for 
Spanish Steamers and grab boy~ by force. If anybody refuses he must go and ask Prestdent 
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King either send by boat or letter· because Vice President Yancy says, these are the 
President's orders. So Paramount Chief Jac Jaraca, ~ays inasmuch as y_ou .hav.e been ins_tructed 
by the President, nobody will refuse. Since the President has ordered It, It will he earned out. 

The Paramount Chief of Picanini Cess, Jurah, made some comments and Yancy ·said : 
"P. Chief, Jurah, did you hear what V.P. said. You must tell your own people don't bother 
about what these people should do." I, the chief, was there and heard and I understand 
English too, but I cannot read or write. 

All the people did not go. When Yancy had said, the people got confused, and went to 
Monrovia. When the Kpelepo people (Broh's people) went to Monrovia to see the President 
Yancy became disgusted, and sent soldiers to humbug the people, taking their things, cattle, 
dogs, anything they could find. The Vice President sent to t~em and said you shoul.d not 
report me to President King. When the report went to MonroVIa, Yancy stopped and did not 
send soldiers again. 

Apart from that, Yancy when he was Superintendent, of this County, sent us an order 
to go to Cape Palmas to make motor road. My wife was sick. He say you must go too ; I 
say" No I my wife is sick." That thing make me vex. Whatever is in the bottom of the ground 
I am going to dig it out. I sent my son there to Cape Palmas to do the work. My wife she 
die, while I was there with him in Cape Palmas, leaving her behind. They buried her. I 
never saw her. 

When they appoint you to the road, each man carries his owl]. rice, sometime ~wo bags. 
Those people going to the road divide that. Every two weeks they send fresh gang. We sent 
twenty persons every two weeks. The first come back and new one go. Keep on. 
The Government don't feed us, don't pay us. When we go now, instead of working the 
Government road, they say : "Some go to Yancy's farm. Some go to Yancy's wife's farm." 
Working his farm and his ·wife's farm too, without chop. No pay. Boys no eat, join early 
in the morning without eating anything tote hammocks. If they find nobody at the next 
village, people going to tote clear to Garraway. Commissioner here, John Delaney. We feed 
him, give him £s.l2 every month for his chop, Grand Cess section alone. One whole consecutive 
year, I went to John Delaney, I beg him, I say we are tired of this burden, too heavy to tote, 
cost too much. You say £3.8, then you say £5.12 and fifteen Paramount Chiefs you are 
controlling; how much do you want? We pay this amount-£4.12-one whole year. I 
used to carry the money, Chief. . . gave me the money. You ask the people if I am lying. 
From that time till now he reduce the amount to £2.10. Presently, now, we are paying £2.10 
every month for chop. 

Supt. Brooks, he came here, when he was going back we furnish him hammock boys, 
when the boys got as far as Wedabo, they were hungry, they run away, because in carrying 
the government officials they generally carry persons from town to town. Supt. Brooks get 
vex about that and put fine of £2o on Grand Cess. This was in 1929, May 19th. · 

A CIIIEF OF MARYLAND COUNTY REFORE THE COMMISSION AT CAPE PALMAS. 

I wish to speak on behalf of myself. My speaker spoke on behalf of the tribe. I received 
all communications from Mr. Yancy when he was Superintendent. Once upon a time, one 
of my boys was sick from rupture and could not go on the road. I did not know this. In 
consequence of this, IS soldiers were sent to arrest me, in the night. Although there is a 
road on the seaside, yet to increase my trouble, I was carried interiorwards. When we reached 
Mr. Yancy's residence that night, Mr. Yancy came out on the verandah with a lantern in his 
hands. They reported that they had brought me, and he then put out his lantern and said : 
" Carry him to l'uduke." When we got there, they brought a large bucket, filled it with sand 
and told .me to carry it to !he s~a. They made me carry it back to the town after we got to 
the sea s1de. I '~as there m th1s sort of trouble for two weeks, without any food from the 
Governm':nt. Th1s was only last year, during the Superintendency of Mr. Yancy. When the boys 
were not m full number on the road, he would write me and order me and my chieftains to 
come and count. the boys. Th~n I. would go with IS of my chieftains. When we went, Mr. 
Yancy would se1ze these IS ch1eftams and carry them to Barrobo and say : "You alone will 
g'? back, these chiefs will. be jailed." My former speaker has told you that we work the road 
Without any food or tools or pay. But what grieves me more is : The Government told me that 
we should go into farming, to which we responded. Whenever our crops get full the Liberian 
would go and steal the~. ,!hey go with guns, and wh~n you want to talk, they 'point the gun 
at you. Then they say . now you are a dead man, lf you talk you will be shot down." 

We generally plant such things as cassada, rice, plantain, cocoa, yams, etc. 1 do not 
know the name of the people that come here to steal my crops, but it was Frontier Soldiers 
that came to arrest me: It was Mr. yancy who sent them to do this. Sometime ago, Mr. Yancy 
sent Mr. Brooks, ~ho IS now Supermtendent at Bassa to assess huts in my town and because 
I asked why he d1d not send me previous notice, Mr. Yancy got vex because of'this question 
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M
andBnnedksmeh{.Io. Thisrt' di paid.dOin this occasion, Mr. Yancy did not go to my town he s~nt 

r. rot? w o r~po e us an was fined the [10. ' 

d 
:"'hilt e I was mlththe Ptudbeuke Barracks, I was not fined, only harsh tr~atmt.>nt all the time 

an 1 was my peop e a ~ged for me before I was released. ' 
~en a man does anything, he will be taken to the Court, and if he is convicted he will 

be pumshed. But one of my men was found in the prem1'ses of M \' d M ' \' 
kill d him H kill d hi r. ancy an r ancy 

e ·. e e m and ~gged his dead body in the street wh~re he was fo~md the 
next mornmg._ The ~nly explanation Mr. Yancy had to give was that the man went th~re to 
s~eal and he kille~ him,. because he thought the man was a ·wicked one and would have killed 
h1m (Mr. Yancy), if he did not defend himself. This happened about four y~ars. 

STATEMENT OF A CHIEF IN No.5 DISTRICT, !\1.\RYLA!W. 

'J}le Liberians have soldiers and these are a source of infinite trouble to us. They come at 
any bme an~ make free of my town. They catch anything they can see. Sometimrs if they 
want somet~ng I cannot supply they manhan~e me and tie me up. One day they behaved so 

·badly .catchmg boys for ~ernando Po and beabng the people that a man was lost in the bush 
and d1ed there. ~fter th1s they came again for more boys and managed to catch 15. I have 
had no palaver "";;th the Government ; and why they should treat me in this way 1 don't 
know. T~ese soldiers come and loot my town and take my women for bush. When they have 
officers With them they are worse than when alone. The offic~rs say nothing. They seem 
to encou.rage the men. Sometimes while we are getting food for them they steal all onr fowls. 
They b~g cutlasses and guns. Capt. Whisnant who is in command at the barracks often 
comes With the men. He sees all that they do but does not interfere. The barracks are only 

. ~day and a half away and my village is on the direct route to Cape Pahnas. They do the journey 
m one a!Jd a half days f~om here. We supply the barracks every month with a large quantity 
of our. nee for the sold1ers, but they make us feed them again when they pass through and 
somebmes there are 20 or more of them. Our women have to go to the nearel\t trading centre 
which is Flebo. If the soldiers meet them on the way they catch them and take them for bush: 
This happens frequently now. 

MEETING WITH HALF GARROWAY CHIEFS AT GAni!OWA\'. 

A Chief said : 

We have to find ten men every week for road construction work, but very often some of 
the men we send do not work on the road, but are sent to work on Government farms or the 
farms of Government officials, or even private persons. Sometimes they are required to act u 
.hammock men. Mr. Yancy disposes of these boys as he pleases. They do not like to be 
hammock bearers. The work is tedious and fatiguing. On the English coast hammock men 
are always paid at a higher rate than that of ordinary porterage and they receive a dash. Here 
they get nothing whatever-pay or dash. 

A little time ago Mr. Yancy came to Garroway, called us together and told us we must 
supply him with boys for Fernando Po, or otherwise, he said, we should not have any land 

. (referring to a land palaver case now before the Liberian Courts). But we refused to find any 
boys for Fernando Po, although they usually forced us to go anywhere. This we drtermincd 
to stick to and so far we have not been obliged to alter our decision. 

Only once have we refused to find boys for the road work. On that occasion they sent men 
to the town who caught us and obliged us to pay [10 for the 10 boys. This amount was 
promptly paid. Even if a man is sick and cannot go to work on the road or if his food has 
been taken away by the soldiers, and being hungry he goes to look for some more, he is fined 
[1. The money for fines has to be obtained from the work of the women, but chiefly from the 
boys who are earning good money at stevedore work at the various ports. down the coast­
or if the fine is very heavy we must sell stock or produce, or resort to pawmng, a sy!ltem more 
common further up the Coast, by which a man takes his daughter or his maidservant to 
someone to hold in exchange for so much cash down until such time as he can redeem the 
pawn. 

A PARAMOUNT CHIEF BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT GARROWAY. 

It was in Governor Brewer's time, in 1919, when we were all hale a_nd hearty here they 
sent for us all of a sudden, marched us to Sodolu, and put us in a bole m the ground at the 
barracks there. They told us we were to be made slaves. In~ week t~ey took u~ out and made 
us work. (Here one of the chief's men volunteered some mformatJon re~ardmg .th~ h!'le at 
Sodolu.) He said : I myself was put in that hole. The treatment we r~ce1ve_d while ID ~t was 
horrible. It was in President Howard's time about 1919 in. connectu~n With the. policy ~f 
general disarmament of the natives, although many of the tnbes had gJVen up t.he1r arms m 
1916. Many people died as the result of being imprisoned in that hole plus the ill-treatment 
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by the soldiers. The prisoners were beaten unmercifu~y. and ~me chief had his long. be~d 
and mustaches cut off with a cutlass by one of the soldiers as a Joke. The state of samtahon 
in the hole was terrible. An old brass kettle did duty for latrine purposes. If you happened to 
have on you some little medicine or juju fo~ protecti~n-little trifles which we nat~ves belieye 
in, they obliged you to eat it and swallow 1t. Som_ehmes they.made .a man eat h1s own~~· 
and if he hesitates a blow with the butt end of a nfle soon dectded h1m. Some of these )UJUS 
1 believe contained poison. I had none on me and so escaped the ordeal. Soon after I was 
released, when President King was being inaugurated on hi~ first term, ~e all went to 
Monrovia. After the inauguration he was at home to all the ch1efs and asked If there were any 
complaints. I mentioned to him about this hole at Sodolu and he instructed Colonel Young 
to look into the matter. All that resulted, I think, was that the President ordered the Governor 
not to do it again. 

From the time of our disarmament we have been virtual slaves. Things were a little 
better when we had guns. They are now building barracks at Barrobo and so much local 
labour is constantly employed that the district is at a standstill. The natives can do nothing 
for themselves. No produce such as kernels and palm oil can be carried on the pathways 
because the soldiers catch the people and take it away. If they are lucky enough to get 
through and return with anything the soldiers say it does not belong to them and take it away. 
They ill-treat the women and beat the men. 

Another grievance is in connection with the hut tax. We are required to pay $I.oo per 
hut. This tax is very reasonable, but if a man dies and he leaves a house it is left unoccupied 
and falls into decay. The town nevertheless still has to pay tax for that house and for the 
site when the house is gone. If the Chief stops to reason with the governor when he pays the 
half yearly taxes he may find himself in prison, or tied up and sent somewhere. The present 
chief's father died years ago, but we still have to pay D.C. Diggs for the house or its site. 
We are often not allowed to have a receipt for our tax payments. When Commissioner Diggs 
came here first he counted all the houses and we paid according to his estimate, but when 
Gov. Yancy heard it he sent for the D.C. and we had to pay according to the old lists on the 
book. To minimize the injustice we build bigger houses to hold more people. Previously 
there were many more houses and people than now. We even have to pay taxes for houses 
the Fishtown people burnt down during the trouble over the land question. We feel this land 
question to be a great grievance. The land which my boys have farmed for me for ages has 
all been taken away from me, as well as that belonging to other people here, by Vice President 
Yancy and given to the Fishtown people, because they paid him a large sum of money. My 
coffee plantation and much more has gone with the land. President Barclay long ago gave 
his decision on this land matter in our favor, but the Fishtown people would not abide by it 
and paid Mr. Yancy to help them get back the land, which after all originally belonged to us. 
Recently the Government gave most of the land to the Nihwie people living halfway between 
us (Garroway) and the Fishtown people. This seemed the last straw, and we then took the 
matter to the President at Monrovia. This so vexed Governor Yancy that he said that if 
we did not drop the land question he would send the soldiers to burn down our towns. After 
this the President himself came down here, and strange to say he confirmed the actions of Mr. 
Yancy. He told us that if we dared to come to Monrovia again he wouldput us in jail_ For 
this reason we despair of ever getting justice. We should like to go to another country, and had 
we not heard of the Commissioner's coming I think we should have been away, and you would 
have found no one here. The people want to leave the country. As soon as you go from Liberia, 
all of us will become slaves again if we remain. As regards Fernando Po, things have been made 
very uncomfortable for us. The people have flatly refused to go in spite of attempts to send . 
them. 

The Chief continuing said : What hurts me so much is that I have no port. My port of 
entry has been closed. No ship is allowed to come here for our produce. I want my port 
opene.d. again. This once was a big pl~ce, but now is stagnant. Produce now has to be taken 
by sa1hng. boat to Cape Palmas, somehmes a voyage of three days, in order to be shipped and 
a boat With x.o boys cost money. Our produce is coffee, piassava, kernels, etc. At Grand 
Cess pr~gress IS to be seen everywhere, owing mainly to there being a free port of entry. We 
have pa1d much money to try to get this port open, but the lawyers have not been able to help 
us. 
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Appendix VI. 

AN ACT ABOLISHING THE PRACTICE OF RECRUITING AND SHIPPING OF THI! N.\TI\"ES OF THE 
REPUBLIC FOR FOREIGN SERVICE OUTSIDE THE LIMITS THEREOF . 

. It is enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the Republic of Liberia in 
Leg.slature assembled : . 

Section I. - From and immediately after the passage of this Act it shall be unlawful (or 
an_y person or persons, Firm, Corporation, Syndicate, or agent thereof, to recruit and to 
ship labourers out of the Republic to any fore1gn country, whatever. 

Section 2. - The penalty for the violation of this Act shall be a fine not more than five 
thousand dollars (Ss,ooo.oo) or imprisonment not exceeding nor less than five years. 

Section J. - No existing contract made for the recruitment of labourers for service in a 
foreign country shall be affected by the provisions of this Act unless such contract contains 
an expressed stipulation which would cause it to run for a period exceeding six (6) months 
from the date of the passage and publication of this Act-that is to say, all contracts made 
pri'?r. to the date of. the ~a~sage and publication of this Act shall t~rm!nate and be of no legal 
validity at the expiry o SlX (6) months from the date of the publication thereof. To entitle 
any holder of such a contract to the benefit of this section he must, within thirty (Jo) day~ 
from the date of the publication of this Act, file and register with the Secretary of In tenor a true 
and complete copy of said contract under a penalty of five hundred dollars (5oo.oo) 
fine recoverable before the Circuit Court of any judicial district of the Republic. 

Section 4· - During the period of six (6) months allowed for the execution of existing 
contracts, no holder of any of such a contract shall recruit labourers from prohibited areas, 
that is, the Territories of Grand Cape .Mount and Marshall, the Counties of 1\lontserrado and 
Bassa, for shipment ; and any person who, directly or indirectly, by himself or by any other 
person on his behalf, recruits the natives of any of the aforementioned prohibited areas and 
sends them as passengers to other ports with intent to reship them shall be subjected, upon 
summary investigation and conviction, to the penalty provided for in section 2 of this Act. 

Section 5. - Nothing in this Act contained is intended to affect or interfere with sen· 
going labourers-defined in section I of an Act entitled " An Act to Prohibit Profiteering 
on the Wages of Sea-Labourers," approved February 14, 1928-who are specially employed to 
perform service on board ships and intend to return home with their respective ships. 

Section 6. - This Act shall take effect immediately and be published in hand-bills. 
Any law to the contrary notwithstanding. 

Note. -Bill passed in the House of Representatives on the 23rd of Oct., 1928, and killed 
in the Senate on the following day. Re-introduced in the Senate in Oct. 1929 but a11 there was a 
tie in the vote, Senator .M. T. Van Pelt, President pro tempore, of the Senate, killed it by ca~ting 
a negative vote against it. 

Appendix VII. 

THE FERNANDO Po AGREEMENT OF 1928. 

THIS INDENTURE OF AGREEMENT made and entered into this 2nd day of April, in the 
year of our Lord ninteen hundred and twenty-eight (A.D. 1928) in the Cit[ of .Monrovia a~d 
the Republic of Liberia by Messrs. Barclay and Barclay, Attorneys at aw, _under sp~cml 
power to act for and on behalf of Thodomiro Avendano, President of the Synd1~ate Agncola 
de los Territorios Espanola del Golfo de Guinea, residing at Santa Isabel, Fernando Po, 
hereinafter referred to as the Syndicate, of the first part, and Thomas E. C. Pel_h~m, Robert 
W. Draper, E. G. W. King, J. C. Johnson, M. A. Bracewell and C. L. Cooper, CltJ7.ens of the 
Republic of Uberia, Recruiting Agents, now represented by S. A. Ross of Counsel for the 
Recruiting Agents, hereinafter referred to as the Recruiting Agents party of the se_cond part. 

That the party of the first part agree to pay to the party of the ~cond part mn.e pou~d~ 
sterling to cover headmoney, taxes, advances, commission and food; &n other words ancludmg 
all expenses (except passage money to Fernando Po) which is to be borne by the party of the 
first part, exclusive of the nine pounds above mentioned. The party of the firs~ part req~~st 
the party of the second part to recruit and ship, fifteen hun~red boys. to ~he Spam~h aut~ontJ~~ 
at Fernando Po in accordance with the laws and regulahons of L1hena govermng sh1pme 
of labourers. 
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(Jn arrival of these boys at Fernando Po to the Curador, the Curador and Liberian Consul 
shall engal(e these boys to the Syndtcate, ~·htch the S)lndtcate undertakes ~o see it 
clone according to the Spani,h law ; the Ltbenan Consul bcwg present and supenntendmg 
the eni(agenwnt of said hoys as pt'r the la~s of the Colony. . . . 

·1 he fiflt'en hundred boys above mentwned should be slnpped wtthm one calendar year 
from the date of the signing of this Agreement, and the party of the second part should do 
their level hest to have these boys so shipped. 

The boys shipped by the J<ecruiting Ar;en!s are contracted for the pe~i?d of tw~ years, one 
year's salary to he paid each _hoy tn cash tn fernando Po and the rema~n.mg )'ears s~lary to 
he paid each hoy when returmng to Ltbena, by cheque on the Bank of Bnttsh \\est Afnca Ltd. 
in :\lonrovia or in the agencies in Sinoe or Cape Palmas. 

The party of the hrst part agrees and faithfully promises not to inflict any inh_u~an 
punishment upon these boys hut to tr~at them kt~dly a_nd feed them prop~rly, furmshmg 
quarttors f"r said boys, and in case of sickness, to gtve satd boys proper medtcal treatment. 

The party of the first part empowers the party of the secon~ part to mak~ a_dvances_ to 
each hoy in the sum not exceeding three pounds sterling, winch IS allocated wtthm the mne 
pounds st..rling ahove mentioned .. an~! will be the only sum c~argeable to the boy. All other 
sums within the nine pounds sterling IS free to the boy and patd by the party of the first part. 

The party of the first part further agrees to pay to the Headman of each gang of zs boys 
the sum of ten dollars money of the Colony in cash per month ; and to each common labourer 
the sum of six <lollars mont·y of the Colony in cash per month; and at the expiration of the 
pt·rit)(l contracted for, the boys are to be returned to the place from whence they were shipped 
in Liberia. 

Should any of these boys die, whatever amount may be due to said boy at the time of his 
<!Path shall he paid over to the Liberian Consul. The party of the first part and their assigns 
further agree that any time the Liberian Consul desires to visit any of the farms where these 
boys are engage<! for the purpose of inspecting and looking after the welfare as well as the 
interests of the sai<l boys, he shall be permit ted to do so without any objection on the part of 
the party of the first part or their assigns. 

The party of the first part further agrees to remit the sum of nine pounds sterling through 
th<• Bank of British West Africa Ltd. as agreed upon to the party of the second part on each 
hoy on return of the steamer conveying these boys to Fernando Po, without failure, said cheque 
to be <lrawn on the name of S. A. !{oss, Counsel of the party of the second part. 

The party of the first part agrees and will pay to the Counsel of the party of the second part 
the stun of one thousand pounds sterling as a bonus at the signing of this agreement; and 
further agrees to pay another sum of a thousand pounds sterling in British coin to the party 
of the second part fur every additional tiftcen hundred boys so shipped to the party of the 
first part. 

In consideration of the above stipulations mentioned the party of the second part promise 
and ai(rt•e to recruit and ship to the Curador at Fernando Po, tifte<'n hundred labourers or 
more if possible under the laws of Libl'ria made and provided for, so long as there 
In· 110 inltn•rnhon on/he part of the Govemment /u prohibit the recruiting of buys to Fernando Po. 
Said boys to be shipped within one calendar year from date. 

The party of the second part further agrees and accepts from the party of the first part 
thl' ~tun of on<· thousand pounds as a bonus on the fifteen hundred boys to be shipped on 
the signing of this Agreement, and abo further agrees to accept from the party of the first 
part another sum of one thousand pounds on a further additional shipment of fifteen hundred 
boys, whenewr shipped as is stipulated in the above agreement. 

The party of the second part further agrees to recruit boys and ship them to the Curador 
at Fern;uulo l'o within the space of two calendar years, providing there is no objection on 
the part of the Government of Liberia. 

Aflt'r two yl'ars, either party being dissatisfied, may serve notice on the other party 
as to th,•ir intention of severing this agreement, said notice to be in writing. 

And shoultl there be any indebtedness to the party of the second part by the party of 
the hrst part at the terminus of this Agreement, same shall be paid, and all indebtedness on 
the part of the party of the second part to the party of the first part shall also be refunded. 
. It is further agreed that the party of the second part so requires that the party of the 
ltrst part not presenting any authorization showing their status, before signing this Agreement, 
same shall be guaranteed by the Spanish Consul duly accredited to the Liberian Government 
at ~lunrovia. 

It is mutually agr~ed that the party of the tirst part shall cause the Spanish steamer 
to call at the ports ol (,rcenvtllc and Harper or any other ports within Sinoe and Maryland 
( ountl<'S, the p;~rty of the second part furnishing proper charts where these boys may be 
ll'cnuted acconhng _to the laws of Ltbena, and that no delay shall be occasioned on the part 
of the party of the hrst part by satd steamer not calling. All Spanish steamers shall call when 
advtsed by the party ol the S<'l'l>nd part. and the party of the llrst part hereby agrees to pay 
all damag,·s tncurr<•d on account of the delay of the stt'amer. Such damages and delay to be 
sdtkd by Arbttratwn. (,\rllltraturs to be appointed in the usual legal way.) 

. _It, IS _mutually a_greed llt't ween the pa~t ies t ~tat the party of the second part shall also 
op<t,ttc "ttlnn the l ot~nty of ~laryland, etther m pt>rson or by appointment of subsidiary 
agt·nn,·s m Maryland l ouuty to carry out the intention of this Agreement, and will do all 
111 lht·tr i'"".~r to reermt at~~l slup to l·ernando Po fifteen hundred boys more, making a grand 
t~>t.tl of thlle thou~and bo~~ under the laws ot Ltbena made and provided so long the Go;·enr­
m,·~tt ~~! /_tiJotcl pl~ll"t' uo uh~truclwn 111 ilu zt··ay. 
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The party of the first part agrees to pay to th part f th 
pounds sterling per boy for all expenses incurred 

0 
e 1 bo Y 0 e second part, the sum of nine 

stat~. an~ ~urther to pay a sum of one thousand ;~ds = fromol~ary~nd Co~nty as above 
for t~ pnvilege, makmg a total sum of two thousand pounds ~fJung ~ bever .cod mt !~ a ~~us 
of this Agreement. . pal a 't'e Slgllmg 

In witness whereof the parties hereto d h h · 
2nd· day of April, A.D. 192s. an ereunto ave set theu- hands and seals this 

Witnesses: 
J. A. Dougan. 
E. A. Monger. 
J. W. Howard. 

For the Syndicate Agricola of Fernando Po, 
(SigtUJ) BARCLAY AND BARCLAY, 

Party of the First Part. 
For the Recruiting Agents, 

(Sigrud) S. A. Ross, 
Party of the Second Part. 

Appendix VIII. 

RADIOGRAMS RELATING TO THE SINOR lsCIDENT. 

From Secy. State, Monrovia, to Hon. S. A. Ross, 
Sinoe. 

October 5, 19~7. 

Regret to say steamer passed Monrovia Saturday. Have notified Spani!ili Government 
cessation shipments. This however can be rearranged. • 

To Hon. Ross, 
Sinoe. 

(SigNed) BARCLAY. 

6p.m. 

October 5. 1927. 

Secretary State stopped recruiting boys to Fernando Po as advised you already. Will 
show him your cable and turn over all interest to him. Spanish steamer passed to Fernando 
Po Saturday. If Secretary Barclay agrees will send German steamer to Sinoe for the boya. 

(SigfJed) PARKIR. 

6.45 p.m. 

To Edwi" Barclay. 
October 5, 1927. 

Yours received. Boys were recruited long before September twenty~first. 150. boya from 
Sasstown were on hand and have been fed when San Carlos was here. Smce Spamsh ateamer 
has passed could we not send boys by German steamer expected ? 300 boys now, or I ahall 
retain them or let them go ? Undergone enormous expense. 

(Sig,.etf) DAVIES and Ross. 

To Parker, Vice Consul, SpaifJ, 
Monrovia. 

October 5, 1927. 

-Yours received. Have heard from Barclay who says recruiting can be rearranged. What 
I want to know shall I return 300 boys now on hand or let them go and at whose expense ? 
See Guyatt let him cable Dutch Company to feed boys as rice is out. Send remittances from 
San Carlos Shipment at once by German or Dutch steamer. 

To Hott. S. A. Ross, 
Sinoe. 

(Signed) Ross. 

October 5, 1927. 

German steamer calling for 300 boys Fernando Po. This is last permissible shipment, as 
a favour to you. 

(SigfleJ) BARCLAY. 

10 p.m. 



To Secretary Barclay, 
Monrovia. 
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October 5. 19'7:7. 

Ross wired yesterday asking for boys to be shipped Spanish steamer ~hich req~es.t please 
deny. I am informed that boys are decoyed from Hmterl_and un~er prom1se of bnngmg rice 
for sale which is taken from them and they forced aboad Just as m slave days. Over 300 boys 
here with rice now across the river being guarded to await ship by Government soldiers. Is 
it in accordance with the terms of our contract that soldiers should be used to guard free 
men and force them out of the country as labourers to build up another country ? Is this 
not a reflection on our motto, " The love of Liberty brought us here "-shall we whose fathers 
founded this country to secure liberty for their sons encourage this blighted and cursed practice 
which is ruining our country ? 

If the labourers are to be guarded by Government soldiers, is it not plain then that 
Government encouraging and aiding slave traffic ? 

Knowing our conversation re Fernando Po I am certain that your Excellency will·not 
grant such a permission. 

If you so instructed, I shall gather proof to establish the foregoing facts. Will explain 
conditions fully when I return. 

To Secretary Barclay, 
Monrovia. 

(Signed) SHERMAN. 
5-30 p.m. 

October 5, 1927. 

Further to my radiogram concerning shipment of boys to Fernando Po, have been across 
the river and have seen the boys. Oh Secretary Barclay in very truth we have Slave Trade 
in this place. Boys told me that they chased, caught and forced down here under a purported 
order from Headquarters. They were flogged and I saw with my own eyes the fresh scars 
on their backs and the rope marks on their hands. Is it not possible that such practice be 
ordered stopped by you ? The poor creatures are herded up and guarded by Frontier soldiers 
and messengers. Beoause some talked me Station Master, Blackett's messengers pushed them 
about and actually slapped them in my presence. My blood boiled and I feel certain that 
if you had been here you would have dismissed Blackett and ordered the release of the men. 

I appeal to you Mr. Secretary in the name of all that is sacred, in the name of Justice, 
Freedom, Liberty and Humanity for God's sake give these poor people their freedom and do 
not allow them to be snatched from their homes and brutally treated, and order Supt. 
Grigsby to cause them to be sent back to their homes and oblige. 

It is ruining our Hinterland. It will affect the commerce and agriculture of this country 
and government. It will affect our reputation as a free country and will make our Declaration 
of Independence a sham. 
· Ross is asserting broadcast that the leaders of this country are sharing the money he 
is receiving from this abominable practice and had the audacity to offer me a bribe of (£25) 
twenty-five pounds to cable you in his behalf. For God's sake do not grant his request for 
shipment boys but order them to be returned to their respective homes and oblige. 

To Attomey General.­
Monrollia. 

(Signed) SHERMAN. 
5·45 p.-m. 

October 5, 1927. 

Nat~ves are being forced for shipment to Fernando Po, they are being maltreated and 
made pnsoners. Shall I proceed against the perpetrators and is the Government interested ? 
Reply immediately. 

To Postmaster General Sherman, 
Sinoe. 

(Signed) William WITHERSPOON, 
County Attorney, Sinoe County. 

· 6 p.m. 

October 5, 1927. 

Thinking Ross acting bona fide I granted him permit for shipment of 300 labourers. 
'!~es~ were supposed. to be ~en voluntarily engaging for service. Your message reveals 
1mqmty. Am cancellmg perm1~ .. You will i.nstruct Grigsby in my name in the name of the 
Government to have man who IS mvoluntarily held released immediately. If necessary have 
everybody concerned prosecuted. This is peremptory. Blackett must be dismissed. 

(Signed) BARCLAY. 
Secretary of State. 

10 p.m. 



Hon. S. A. Ross, 
Sinoe. 

-Ill-

On official report of the iniquitous methods d b · . 
Fernando Po the permit granted you to-da · h p~rsue Y Jou Ill gettmg labourers for 
to release every man held by you involuntfril1;. ere Y cancelle · . Superintendent authoriSt~U 

(Sig11ed) SECRETARY Ot' STATE. 

10 p.m. 

The Officer in Comma11d of Barracks 
Greenville. ' 

soldi~~~oa~~::ge;l~;!~ ~=f:~~ei~fu~d~~~-y r:J:~ what authority you have bt-en employing 

To tile Honourable Secretary of State 
Alonrovia. ' 

(SigNt•l) D.\RCLAY, 

Stcrtl<~ry of St,llt. 
10 p.m. 

Your reply received with greatest delight. Citizens have been rejoicing to-day that 1 
had mformed you an~ felt confident that you would disapprove of such nefarious prartirt. 
Accept my most cordial th3;nks and appreciation for having justified our confidence. Will 
see Supenntendent about this matter before leaving to-morrow, Best regards. 

To Secretary Barclay, 
Monrovia. 

(SigNed) SHERMAN. 

Io.zo p.m. 

October 6, 1927. 

Supt. Grigsby held investigation this morning. Boys all stated that they were either 
decoyed or forcibly caught, tied and flogged. Supt. asked to see some who were flogged from 
Weh]ah Section and about six arose and showed council the scars on their backs. Although 
Supt. tried to coax them to remain to work for Ross all refused and said they preferred to 
go home. Supt. seems to be dodging prosecuting those concerned in atrocities but promised 
to meet the men this afternoon: 

Citizens ask me to thank you most cordially and extend their wishes for God's bles~ing 
on you. 

You had been scandalously misrepresented by Ross which 1 had to defend and your 
radio made the people to know that you had been wickedly misrepresented. Too scandaJous 
to radio. Will tell you and name witnesses when I return. Boys have been dancing and they 
started to tote me home. They asked me to thank and bless you on their behalf. Ross tried 
to bribe them, but they fooled him to get to court. Ross locked up nearly all the Juwaszon 
boys and Supt. had to order their release. Will inform you action taken by Supt. this afternoon. 
Ross even tried to brand the President which I had to strongly refute. He tried to impre~• 
folks that your radio would be cancelled which gave the impression that you are easily 
influenced by him or that I will soon be changed. Boys leaving for their homes in the morning 
What about the rice they brought ? Is it not Government property ? Please advise. Hest 
regards. 

To Secretary of State, 
Monrovia. 

(Signed) SHERMAN. 

October 6, 1927. 

Matters re shipment of boys to Fernando Po voluntarily or in.voluntarily found without 
doubt that they were to be sent involuntarily and as per instruct!on released. . 

Accept our congratulations as it was given and that the President demanded Jt and no 
one was to question the same. -·"' G (Sig,_1 JUGSBY. 

Supt. Sinoe C011nty. 
9-30 p.m. 



To County AUorney, 
Sinoe County. 
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October 9, 1927. 

Radiogram received. Persons endeav~uring to coerce l~bourers must be apprehen~ed 
and prosecuted of their liberty must be discharged upon wnt of Habeas Corpus, for wh1ch 

you must apply. (Signed) ATTORNEY GENERAL OF LIBERIA. 

To Hon. Ross, 
Sinoe. 

Thru R.Z.F. 

October 9. 1927. 

Secretary Barclay revoked permission shipping labourers. Packed and ready to come 
a.~ advised cannot understand Secretary says official reports from Sinoe last night compelled 
him to cancel permission granted yesterday. Remittance sent Bank.· 

(Signed) PARKER. 
Thru R.Z.F. Cape Palmas. 

Appendix IX. 

DOCUMENT OF PARAMOUNT CHIEF JEH. 

His Excellency C. D. B. King, President of Liberia, 
Executive Mansion, 
Monrovia. 

Sir, 

Monrovia, Liberia. 
December 6, 1929. 

We, the chief and Sub-Chiefs of Wedabo, most respectfully beg to submit our complaints 
for your Excellency's consideration and to do for us whatever you consider right. 

To tell the naked truth, Mr. President, we have been reduced to a state of servitude in 
our own country by the Cape Palmas Officials. We are no longer free men, judging from 
the way and manner we are being treated. What is the trouble ? Are we not brethren ? 

As the Father of us all we appeal to you to give us a bearing and to cause the return of 
the money and cattle taken from us unjustly. We really believe that if we were not so far 
from you and there was a way whereby we could get information to you quickly, things 
would have not gone so bad and so bard with us. We are now appealing to you as father 
and final source of justice with utmost confidence that you will examine our complaints and 
remedy the condition of things in the Wedabo country. 

We are, Your Excellency's most obedient Servants, 

(Signed) 

Witness to signatures 
(Signed) K. J. N'YEPAN. 

Tuveley ]EH (his cross), 
Paramount Chief. 

Toe ZEBO (his cross), 
. Sub-Chief. 

Jeh MARTIN (his cross), 
Sub-Chief. 

COMPLAINTS OF PARAMOUNT CHIEF ]EH AND CHIEFS OF WEDABO TRIBE MARYLAND CoUNTY . . . 
PLACED BEFORE HIS EXCELLENCY THE PRESIDENT. 

I am the Paramount Chief of the Wedabo Tribe by the consent of my people and the 
Government, and for a number of years I have served my country as faithfully and as loyally 
long before .the Presid~ncy of His E:ccel!e!lcy, Arthur Barclay, to the present time. 

~ool Rtver, the tnbe next me, 1s diVIded from my country by a large river· we are on 
the nght ~ank and they are on the opposite side. Between the years 192 2 and ~923 a fight 
or small not took place between the people of the Pool River town on the other side and the 
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people occupyin_g the town on my si~e. The fight grew out of a very large fish which drifted 
as~ore on ~y s1de of the We~abo s1de _of the river. But it was found or first seen bv Pool 
~1ver man , therefore, a~cording to nahve law, the fish really belonged to the man who· found 
d. Now when ~he Poo! R1ver people came to carry the fish over to their town on the other side, 
my people sa1d that 1t should be cut on our side and their share given to th m •t 
acclaimed that they refused to allow the Pool River people to carry the fish awa/ Th~"tr~u~: 
about ~ great hand to hand fight between the two peoples, as consequence of this some "''OJ>lc 
were killed. , .• 

. I was at my town up in th.e interior when this matter took place on the beach. \'ice­
President Yancy who was Supenntendent of Maryland County at the time came to the scene 
and sent for me when the case was reported to him. I tried to tell him that the afhir took 
place bet~een the .Pool River and the Wedabo town on the beach, and that 1 was not respon­
sible for lt .. He pomted out to me that as Paramount Chief of the country, 1 was r~ponsible 
for the actions of the. Wedabo men on the beach, accordingly when after investigation my 
people were found gu1lty, the Superintendent sent, not Sub-Chief \\'omplu who was owner 
of the town on the beach an~ whose people were directly connected with the m<~tter, but 
me to your Excellency along With the 12 men from Pool River tribe, as plaintiffs in the muttl•r 
so that I can account for the actions of Wedabo. 

After careful.investig.ation of the matter you ruled that my people were wrong; whereupon 
your Excellency Imposed £300 fine on me as Paramount Ch1ef for the actions of the Wedubo 
men and ordered that the amount be paid in full before 1 could be permitted to leave Monrovia 
for my home. On hearing this, I sent Karpeh and Tarplah back as messengers to inform the 
Wedabo people to collect the money to bring it to Monrovia. When Superintendent Yancy 
heard this, he followed the messengers to Wedabo about one week after they reached 
home. 

Sub-Chief ]eh Martin.- While we were collecting the money the Paramount Chief sent 
us to send to Monrovia, Superintendent Yancy arrived at Womplu's town, the Wedabo town 
on the beach and ordered us down there to himself. When we arrived he said, " I called you 
to tell you that you all are country people, I don't think you are able to collect the £3oo fme 
on your Paramount Chief quickly so he can return soon. Let me ~ay the fine for you, but 
I want you to give men to go to Fernando Po after I pay the £300.' I told him that we had 
no boys to go to Fernando Po so we will try to collect the money ourselves. In reply to this 
he said that if I tell the people not to go to Fernando Po then my town alone must pay the 
[300; this made me fear, so I shut my mouth and said nothing more to the contrary. At this 
point we put our heads together and agreed that he must pay the fine and we would give 
him men to ship to Fernando Po. He said we should give 700 men. We agreed to give them 
in our country. 

After the above agreement, Superintendent Yancy said he would send the !300 to Monrovia 
without delay and that our Chief would soon return, but he requested :that we give him 100 
men per town first before the coming of the chief. Men were accordingly collected, from the 
following towns : · 

Soloken. . . 
Markangbo • 
Jalalugbo . . 
Beach-Town. 
Juluken. . . 

Total. 

100 men 
100 " 
100 .. 
100 .. 
100 .. 

soo men 

Not long after the shipment of the first 500 men the Paramount Chief was released and 
he returned borne. 

Sub-Chief Zebo. - When the Chief arrived and saw the country em~ty, _he asked why 
we allowed such a large number of young men to be shipped away; he aa1d h11 orders to us 
were that we collect £300 cash and send it to him, but not ship men out ?f the country. We 
explained to him that while we are trying to collect the money, the Supen~tendent c~me and 
pressed us to give him 700 men and he offered to pay the £300. We told h1m (the ch1ef) that 
we owed the Superintendent 200 men ; he said to ship that number~~ m~n away would b_reak 
up the country completely. After listening to the chie.f we agreed w1th htm that he was nght, 
so we decided that the soo men that Sup~. Yancy sh1pped to Fernan_do Po from ~ur count~ 
were more than enough for the fine he pa1d for our ch1ef ; so we dec1ded not to giVe the 2 
men we owed him because we saw that to give the men would break up the country. When 
Supt. Yancy heard this he sent Com. J. B. Delaney to o~r country to collect the 200 ~~n 
by force. 'When he entered my town at night he caught S b1g men, ~nd ~ent thru th~ cou e~ 
and caught as many big men as he could get, put ropes round thetr waiSts and earned th 

·-
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to Supt. Yancy. The idea was to hold the big men at Cape Palmas till we give the 200. My 
own son who had the audacity to tell Mr. Yancy that our country was empty and there were 
no men to go to Fernando Po, was immediately arrested by him, sent to the rear of Harper 
as prisoner and he remained in prison till the 200 men were collected. After the 200 men were 
collected by force and ready to be shipped, he sent for my son from prison and said to him, 
" Your head is hard, you told me that there were no men in Wedab<?• but I have sent there 
and found enough men therefore I will make you headman and ship you to Fernando Po 
with these men." Of th~ 700 Wedabo men Mr. Yancy shipped to Fernando Po 100 men died, 
only 6oo returned. 

This is the end of the first Fernando Po palaver that entered our country. We do not 
relate here as a new case to be taken up. We realize that the £roo.o.o cash, the 170 large bags 
of Palm Kernels, the 1,400 bundles of Piassava we paid to Supt. Yancy at Ca~ Palmas before 
the matter between ourselves and the Pool River people reached MonroVIa, the £3oo.o.o 
fine at Monrovia to the detention of the Paramount Chief and the introduction of the un­
fortunate Fernando' Po palaver grew out of the same killing case in which we did not get 
best. 

We relate the foregoing story to enable Your Excellency to understand what we have 
come to Monrovia to place before you. 

The Paramount Chief. - I am come now to relate something about the two demands 
upon us by Vice President Yancy for men to be shipped to Fernando Po to which you have 
strongly objected. The hardsh1ps and unpleasant condition of things which have grown 
out of these two demands is what has caused us to return to Monrovia to place the matter 
before your Excellency for some relief. 

Sometime this year Vice President Yancy came from Monrovia and called the whole 
of Wedabo, Piccanini Cess, Grand Cess and Kpalapo people and requested us to give him 
men to be shipped to Fernando Po. He said they must give 6o men per town, he further 
stated that it was the President's order and it must be carried out and any Chief who did not 
want his men to go will be relieved only upon the payment of fro per man he fails to supply. 
The Vice President explained to us that if any person doubted him he could send to Monrovia 
to find out from the President. 

I did not attend the meeting myself because I suffered from a swollen knee at tha~ time, 
but when my representatives returned and reported to myself and the big men around me 
and the news got out, all the women began to cry. The women said, "What shall we do to 
get out of this trouble ? Not long ago 100 of our sons and husbands died in Fernando Po, 
now we are called upon the second time to send our sons to Fernando Po, if they go they may 
all die and may not return to us." The cry of the women over the country produced a great 
sadness everywhere so much so that as Paramount Chief I was confused and was unable 
to eat-my appetite was gone for days. 

All the big men got around me and told me emphatically that the country was already 
empty and broken up and they could not give any more men to go to Fernando Po or any 
other place even if they kill us. This decision of the old men in the matter put a little life 
into the women. The final decision of the Wedabo people was that they could not go to 
F~r!lando Po this time. If Vice President Yancy wants them to leave the country they are 
W!lhng to look somewhere else to go rather than send any men to Fernando Po. · 

Chief Broh sent messengers to Monrovia to ascertain the truth whether your Excellency 
sent orders for us to go to Fernando Po or not. When the messengers returned Chief Broh 
called us to his town and informed us that the demand for boys to go to Fernand~ Po was not 
your order. This report brought happiness all over the country and all the women were dancing 
and praising Your Excellency. 

~oon after this Vice President Yancy sent Supt. Brooks with soldiers into my country, 
he d1d not come by wa~ of my town to tell me of this errand, but he passed by round about 
r?ute and entered the b1g town above my town. He had the big men of the town arrested 
bed and extr3:cted £5.0.0 out of the!!'. After the payment of the £s.o.o he released the old 
men. From th1s town he sent the sold1ers to me, but he did not come himself, when they arrived 
they demanded £s.o.o from me, saying that it is the order of Supt. Brooks. I called my big 
men together to P';'t the matter before them to collect the money, the soldiers said I was 
too slow so they se1zed me by my gown and began to push me about. They gave me a load 
and started to compel 11;1e to carry it to the next town for them. I told them positively that 
I am the Paramount Ch1ef of m_Y.country. I have never carried a load in my life for any body, 
so I ~ould not under any condihon carry the load. At the same time they pushed one of the 
old b1g men of the country, he fell and his foot was badly cut. I paid the £5.0.0 and the soldiers . 
left my town and returned to Superintendent Brooks. 

Sub-Chief Martin. - From the Paramount Chief's place, Supt. Brooks and soldiers 
came to my town. When he entered the town, the Superintendent said to me that he came 
for the Fe~nando P~ labourers that we were ordered by Vice President Yanc to su 1 In 
rt>ply t~ th1s I told h1m the order was given publicly to many chiefs and not siecially Pf ~~uld 
not un erst and why he left all the big chiefs and came to me directly for men when' he knew 
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that I was not a P~mount Chief. H~ sai.d my answer was bad, he got veJCed and fin~d me 
£8.o.o for the queshon I asked. I p;ud him the mon~y. after which he left and proceed d 
to the next town. e 

St~b-Chief Zebo. - From ~arten the Superintendent and his soldiers came to my t~wn. 
I was not at home !hen he arnved, I was on the farm with my workmen, but he refuSt•d to 
come down from his hammock ; and remained in the hammocks on the boys' heads till I 
was sent for from the farm and he was still on their heads when I arrived. Upon m arrival 
he told J?le that he would not come but '?-5 ~ng right to Kpalapo to sleep. He to1d me to 
follow him the n~xt day, but I was to brmg his chop; he left two soldiers to sleep with me as 
to escort f!le to hun. When day broke I took three men and went to see him. I carrit•d £1.o.o 
cash for hlS food. . 

When we were nea.r th~ town where be was, the soldiers put a rope around the waist 
of one o_f the men and bed him. I asked what was the trouble ; they said it was the Superin· 
tendent s ~rder they were carrying out. The rope was around his waist when we reached 
the Supenntendent's quart~rs. I asked him why he permitted the soldiers to tie the man. 
After long talk be turned him loose as he could not show any reason for the punishing of the 
man, but he told J?le to fay £8.o.o. I told _him unless he gave good reasons for the punishment 
my man had rece1ved, would not pay h1m a cent. I returned to my town and did not pay 
the money. _Two or three days afterwards the Supt. followed me to my town for the money. 
When be arnved be a~ked me where was the £8. I told him that I would not pay it, whe-reupon 
he threatened me sa)'lng that he would make things hot for me and my people and we would 
not be able to make farms this year. He left and went away. 

When Chief Broh was arrested and carried to Cape Palmas there was great confusion 
everywhere in the country, so when his messengers and sub-chiefs wt're running to Monrovia, 
I sent three men along with them to hear directly from Your Excellency just what the Govern· 
ment was decided to do to free us from the Fernando Po labour oppression, so that we could 
rest and sleep better in our country. When the news reached Cape Palmas that I had sent 

. three messengers to the President V. P. Yancy sent Lieut. Phillips with sollliers into my 
country. When the Lieutenant entered Sub-Chief Zebo's town, Zcbo sent for seats for the 
soldiers but they said why he did not go for the seats himself, so they seized him and flogged 
him mercilessly. This was done by the guard. Ueut. Phillips was behind and not pre!lt'nt. 
But when he arrived on the scene, instead of rebuking the soldiers for their actions he said. 
"Look here, Zebo, I want one goat, one big cow, and one bag of rice for our chop." Zebo 
gave these things immediately, but he turned right on the same spot and demanded £10 
cash ; Zebo paid this amount to Lieut. Phillip§. While the soldiers were flogging Zebo all the 
women and children from his town scattered in all directions, crying to the top of their voicea 
and ran to my town. One of Zebo's boys who had made up his mind to remain to see what 
would become of his father, while the soldiers were flogging him, was also seized and flogged 
by the soldiers and IO/- was paid for him before they would let him go. 

From Zebo's place Lieut. P~illips proceeded to M~rtin's town. When he arrived he ~dered 
Martin to gather all the people m one place to meet h1m. When the men had ~athered 10 fro~t 
of Martin's house, the soldiers jumped into the crowd and began to flog and he them, l'tlartm 
said to him, " Lieut. Phillips, you told me to call the men together a_nd you !.ook them out ?f 
my hands and tied them ; it would be my trouble to-morrow so unt1e them. He told l'tlarttn 
to pay £10.0.0. The money was immediately paid and he untied all the men e~cept 21. After 
Ueut. Phillips demanded 6 cows and :z large bags of rice, which were given to btm on the same 
spot. 

After all thls Ueut. Phillips turned his soldiers loose and they began to break into houses, 
break boxes open, and began to plunder the whole town. Th_ey took away cash, clothes, and 
everything the people had · the town has been completely rwned. After they had plundered 
the town, Lieut. Phillips t:Wk the 21 men as prisoners, proceeded to Cape Palmas and gave 
them V. P. Yancy who sent them to prison at his farm. 

I sent two messengers to the Vice President with ts.o.o to tell him that Lieut. l'h~lips 
had plundered one of my towns and ask why the 21 men wer~ arrested. When h.e recetved 
the. £s.o.o he asked the messengers where I was. They told htm th_at I was ~uffer!ng from a 
swollen knee He said to the men, " Go tell Jeh, I want to see him, even 1f be II not able 
to walk fast ·he must walk slowly and come to me." When this message reached me I waa 
greatly worr'ied in mind so my people gave me l:zo.o.o and told me to w~lk slowly to ~o to 
him. 1 took the £:zo.o.o and handed it to him, he looked ~t my knee an.d satd ~hat he. beheved 
I was really sick." "But", said he to me. " Jeh, I see this £:zo.o.o I will.put 1t one stele. The 
old town your people vacated and came to your town, the tax is not pa1d, so you must ;nd 
for 4 0 0 0 more " I told him the people left the town six years ago and that we made arm 
on the ~~ry site ·where the town was and ate the rice two years, how then could I pay such 
money ? He refused to listen to this explanation and deman.ded the monel. I se'!t the he!!Vn; 
gers to my country, my people collected .£4o.o.o and sent 1t to me and gave It to t e 1C 

President. 

The following morning after I had paid the above amounts, I wen! tobtell t~de Vice P_r~ideJ:ht 
P'nnilhv.. :o.nil to tell him that I was going home. Much to my surpnse e sa• to me · • 
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I am sorry to tell you that you can not go home yet, you must stay here and pay !1oo.o.o 
before you go anywhere." I asked what this money must be paid for. He said he heard that 
I had sent messengers to Monrovia to report him to the Presid.ent, theref.ore I must pay !1oo.o.o 
fine I told him that it is true I sent messengers to the Prestdent and if he wanted me to pay 
£1~.0.0 for that, what could I do ? I have it to pay. So I agreed to pay it. But I asked 
him to allow me to return home and to give me time to look for the money ; he agreed but 
gave me one week only. I left Harper and went home. When I reached home I called my 
people together and placed the matter before them, t~ey coll.ected £4o.~.o at o~ce and ~a~e 
it to me, and I took it to Cape Palmas myself and dehvered 1t to the V1ce Pres1dent Within 
the one week he gave me, remaining a balance of £6o.o.o. 

Sub-Chief Zebo:- At this point of the matter Supt. Brooks examined the two Wedabo 
men in prison at the Vice President's farm and found out that I was not among them. He 
sent message by Bellor, a Kpalagbo man, that the Superintendent said I mus~ go to Cape 
Palmas to be jailed by him. On hearing this I was greatly alarmed and upset m my mind, 
the women and children of my town were crying but I coUld not leav': my country and my 
children and run away. So on the next day I took £8.0.0 cash and one btg bullock and started 
to Cape Palmas ready to be jailed by the Superintendent but for what reason I did not know 
Mr. President, the sad story of the cruel treatment that we, the natives of Maryland County 
are constantly receiving from the officials there is nothing but a fraction of a great tale. 

When I arrived I went to the Vice President and reported my arrival. I gave him the 
bullock and the £8.o.o. He thanked me and said that Brooks sent for me to put me in jail, 
but since I saw him first, he would not allow me to go to jail, but I must bring £xoo.o.o. I 
told the Vice President that Lieut. Phillips, when he sent him to my town, had taken everything 
I had and left me dry and poor, therefore I was unable to get £1oo.o.o. After all this begging 
and explanation I paid £5o.o.o any how, and I was released and returned home. 

Sub-Chief Marlin : - I went to the Vice President and told him that the 21 men who 
were arrested and brought to Cape Palmas by Lieut. Phillips came from my town and begged 
him to release them from prison and give them to me. He told me that he was very sorry 
for me ; he heard the soldiers had plundered my town and broke it up, so I must bring £6o.o.o 
and he would release the men. I paid him £4o.o.o cash and £20.0.0 in piassava. He gave me 
the 21 men and I took them home. . . 

Sub-Chief Zebo. - I come now to relate one of the most serious cases in Wedabo, which 
the people particularly instructed me to place before Your Excellency. 

The first Paramount Chief that God gave the country was" Tuweley ". He was ordained 
and blessed by God himself, for during his reign women bore plenty children, rice grew in 
abundance, and the country was full of food, sickness and death was less, above all the Wedabo 
country was never defeated in any of the wars waged against our enemies. From the time 
of the death of the old man, when we have a chief who is kind and good to the people and 
knows how to hold the country, we always meet and formally change his name to that of the 
old man. This is the highest respect we can pay to any chief in our country. 

The name of our/resent Paramount Chief is Tuweley Jeh. From the above explanation 
you can clearly see an understand that we love and hold him in the highest esteem. According 
to .our customs he placed one Wonplu as a Sub-Chief of the Wedabo town on the beach. 
T~1s man. Wonplu subsequently became a trader for Vice President Yancy from the time of 
hts Supenntendency up to the present. The killing of the Pool River people for which Chief 
Jeh was carried to Cape Palmas by Supt. Yancy, subsequently sent to Monrovia and fined 
£Joo.o.o by Yo'l!r E.xcellency was done by Wonplu's people in Wonplu's town, while Chief 
Jeh was way up m hts town. He was arrested and held responsible for the actions of Wonplu's 
people because they are Wedabo men and Jeh is Paramount Chief of the whole country. 

But much to th~ disappointment and regret of the whole country, soon after the settlement 
o~ the ma~te.r menhone.d above Supt. Yancy dismissed the Paramount Chief and took away 
hts Commtsston from htm-the commission he received from you-and gave it to Sub-Chief 
Wonplu and mad~ him Paramo~m~ Chief of Wedabo. Worst of all Supt. Yancy fined Jeh 
£~40:0.0 after taktng the comrmsston away from him. Just for what cause the Chief was 
dtsmJs~e~ and fined such a large sum has never been explained to us. The £140 was paid thru 
Commtsstoner J. B. Delaney . 

. Mr. President, I. am instru?ted by the people of Wedabo to inform you that they want 
the1r. :t:aramoul_lt Ch1ef to be giVen back to them. They are not satisfied with the resent 
co1npd1hon of thm&&. The c~mntry.has been and is still disorganized since the abrupt r~moval 
o aramount Ch1ef Jeh Without Just cause. 

We appeal to you therefore to take up this matter and settle it once for all. 

W~np~u is among the '?eople that you instructed to go home but to re ort 
Monrov1a m September. \\hen we were ready to come to your call, Wo~plu back at 

went to 
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V. P. Yancy. Just what they talked and wh t d · h · 
home and sat down and refused to come~ aM V1Ce ~ recetved I do not know, but be returned 
Wonplu so that we can sit face to face befo~ yo~U:~rda as tyou habdl ordered. Plea~ send for 

er o ena e you to settle thts matter. 

(SigtUJ) Tuweley JEH (his cro_-<..,), 
Para•u~""' Cltitf. 

Toa Zno (his em."'-"), 
Sd-Citit/. 

jEH MARTIN (his cross), 
Sd-Citi•f. 

Witness to Signatures, GBADE YEEN (his cross). 

s. K. J. N'YEPAN. 

Appendix X. 

STATEMENT OP PARAMOUNT CHIEF BROB OP FRENROPo-MARYLAND COUNTY. 

When Vice. Pr~si~ent Yancy returned from Monrovia, last year, he ordered the chief!l 
a~d people. of P1c~mm-Cess, Grand Cess and Wedabo, including myself and people to meet 
him 1!-t a b1g meetmg at the Wedabo town on the Beach. I was not feeling well to attend this 
~eet~~· so I sent my representatives. When they returned they told me that the big men of 
PicanlDI-Cess, Gran~ CesS and Wedabo were all at the meeting ; the men also reported to me 
that af~er the meetmg had been .convened, Vice President Yancy said to the people that 
he h!ld JUSt !eturned fro!ll Mon~ovta and brought a message from President for us. The Vice 
Prestdent saJd that Prestdent Kmg had asked him to say to us that we must give him men to 
send to Fernando Po and thereupon made the following appointment among the representative 
towns. 

Picanini-Cess 
Grand Cess . 
Wedabo ••• 

6o men. 
6o men. 
6o men. 

But when he got to my people he divided my country town into four sections, requiring 
6o men from each section. He went on further to say that be will not force me to aend the 
men, but if I do not give them I will have to pay the sum of Ten pounds (.£1o.o.o) 1terllng 
for each man I refuse to send, or else he would send soldiers, in case I refuse to pay the money. 

At this stage of the meeting this question was put to Vice President Yancy: It that all 
that President King told you to tell us ? He answered in the affirmative, and said further 
that if the people did not believe him they could send to Monrovia to lind out from the President 
for themselves. AU of this was told to me by my representative which I had aent to attend 
the meeting. 

Upon hearing this, I called my people together and put the matter before them ; they 
finally objected to supply the boys for two reasons; namely, (I) Because 10me yean a~o 
thirty (30) _boys were sent to Fernando Po from our country and not one returned, and (<~) 
once I was ordered to send men to work on the road and a portion of these men were aent to 
Firestone Plantation to work. After working there for several weeks, and not receiving any 
renumeration for their services, they complained to the Manager for their pay. The Manager 
of the Plantation immediately discharged the men, when he found out that they were not 
being paid:· this gang of men returned home without a cent of money. In the face of these 
objections which were very pertinent, I could not consistently insist on the people 1upplying 
men to be sent to Fernando Po. 

Subsequently I sent two messengers to Monrovia to President King, explaining ~hat 
Vice President Yancy bad said, and also to ask whether same was true or not. The Prestdent 
replied me saying that he never sent any order for us to give men to be aent to Fernando Po, 
but anybody who wanted to go could. d_o so of his own free will; this reJ>?rl brought joy to 
my people and the other tribes also reJOiced, when they heard the news which my messengers 
had brought from Monrovia. · . 

When the news reached Cape Palmas that I had sent to President King and that my 
messengers had returned bringing the above news to all the people concerned, Supt. Brookl, 
Hon. W. V. S. Tubman and McBorough came to Picanini Cess. Upon their arrival they sent 
for me. When I arrived there, Supt. Brooks asked me whether or not I ha~ sent m.essengers 
to Monrovia ? I replied in the affirmative saying that I had sent t~ Prestdent Kmg. as I 
consider him the father of us all, and before I could get throug~ Wlth my statement I was 
seized and put under arrest and sent aboard the steam launch, whtch they bJ:ought from Cape 
Palmas. On our way from Picanini Cess to Cape Palmas Supt. Brooks and his fellows stopped 
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at Grand Cess and went ashore to sleep, leaving me on board of the launch. At midnight 
the sea became very rough, so much that the launch was thrown en the bank. Receiving no 
injury, I got out of the launch and got on a rock. where I remained until daylight. The next 
morning we proceeded on to Cape Palmas. While at Cape Palm~ I '!as kept_ at the home 
of Supt. Brooks, not being allowed to walk about at large. While bemg detamed at Cape 
Palmas Supt. Brooks sent Lieut. Phillips of the L.F.F. with soldiers to guard me and the others 
sections to arrest people and bring them to Cape Palmas. ~ey arrested forty (~o) men from 
my section and more or less a number from the other sections, but I cannot g~ve the exact 
number. 

The men who were arrested in my section were laid down and ftogged severely by 
Lt. Phillips and the soldiers. Of my men those ftogged one died from the effect. One or two others 
died also, but they did not belong to my section. In addition to this cruel treatment given 
the men, the towns were plundered by the soldiers. Some of the men who were among those 
arrested are here with me, who can give first hand information, if necessary. 

When Lt. Phillips and the soldiers returned to Cape Palmas with a large crowd of men 
they had arrested, it was late in the night ; but before daylight the next morning all of the 
prisoners together with myself were sent to Vice President Yancy's farm. I, whom the 
Government of Liberia through its chief Executive had recognized and commissioned as a 
Paramount Chief of my people, was here humiliated to the extent of beingftogged in the presence 
of my people whom I have authority to rule, as well as in the presence of my colleagues. 

While there on the farm, Vice President and Supt. Brooks ordered us before them. The 
Vice President then said to me, inter alia: " Broh, is it you who sent to Monrovia to report 
me ? What is the President to you, is he a relative of yours ? Do you know what is the secret 
understanding between the President and myself? You are now in my hands. Let President 
King come and take you out. President King belongs to Monrovia and rules there, but I 
rule Cape Pal mas ; if I want to ship you to Fernando Po, now I can do so, who can stop me ? 
I can turn you over to the soldiers to take you to the barracks in the interior, and then give 
them order to kill you on the way, and when the report gets to Monrovia, I will simply write 
and tell the President that you died from sickness, and whatever reason I give for the cause 
of your death will be accepted by him." The Vice President then said to the other people, 
"You have allowed Broh to fool you to send complaint to Monrovia against me, and now 
you all will receive the same punishment which I will give him. I will require each section 
to pay the following fine : 

Frenropo , 
Kpalagbo . 
Topo .•. 

. ' . 

Suehn . . . . . . 
Wedabo (fine not -stated). 

l 
200 

394 
IOO 
IOO 

I paid my fine in full and also did the Topo and Suehn people, but I cannot say anything 
possibly as to whether Kpalagbo and Wedabo people paid their fine. After having paid this 
illegal fine, the Vice President told me that the steam launch which he sent down to Picanini 
Cess for me costing him £72.10.0 and that I must pay this amount before myself and my people 
could be released ; this necessitated me having to send back home the second time, for the 
several towns to be in order to raise the amount required by Vice President Yancy, the amount 
having been paid in full he ordered the release of myself and people. 

The Kpalagbo joined me in sending the first complaint to the President ; but after we 
had been punished and fined at the Vice President's farm and returned home, they blamed 
me for the treatment received and the money they paid. Seeing that to send complaint to 
Monrovia meant trouble, they decided to make up with Vice President Yancy in order to be 
permitted to blow a little bit ; by my holding out to my complaint which I had made to the 
P~:esident is why the Kpalagbo people, who are living with me on my land which I permitted . 
them to build on quite seventeen years ago, were bitter against me. 

. One day some of my people met some Kpalagbo big men going to Cape Palmas and upon 
bemg asked by my people what was their errand, they replied saying that the Vice President 
had sent for them ; just what they talked there and what instruction was given them, I do 
not know because they did not break word this time as they usually do but I noticed that 
their attitude was completely changed, and they commenced to find pal~va on us for nearly 
every little thing. · 

. The site which I gave Kpalagbo people to build on is very close to my town, the two towns 
bemg separated by a small mud stream in which the children of both towns used to go 
to catch small fish and frogs during the rains. One day while the children were catching frogs 
I heard loud talking betwee? them. I then told one of the town men to go there and find out 
th~ cause of the trouble. Th1s man met some of the Kpalagbo people cutting down some plain­
tam trees plan~ed on the edge of the stream, known as Kbo at the foot of my town. The men 
were armed With cutlasses and spears. The men from my town being unarmed quietly asked 
the people from the other town to stop cutting down the trees, in the meanwhile endeavoured 
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to. enquire into the matter. Without making any ~xpl~ation, one of the men of the Kpalagbo 
tnbe came up to the man. from, my to~ and ~ut him wtth his cutlass. This caused the children 
to scatter and run ~outing \\ ar I \\ ar I which created a great excitement. Other men from 
my town who had Just returned from their farms ran to the scene. They too being unarmed 
were attacke_d and some _wo~nded, one ?f them died subsequently from the 'I'I'Ound received 
and was buned of the Distnct CommissiOner who witnessed the same in Picanini Cess. 
. The man whc_> wounded deceased was arres~ed and handcu~ed by the District Commis­

siOner. The culpnt escaped and went back, to h1s town, and dunng the investigation at Cape 
PaJmas and Gra~d ~ess he w~ _present, but no further attempt was made to rearrest him. 

. When the D1stnct Comm1ss1oner heard of th~ fight which had gone on between the two 
tnbes, he sent u~ and ordered all of us down, saymg that we should bring all the wounded 
and d~ad men ~1th us. The KpaJagbo peoJ!le ~aimed that one of my men had wounded one 
of the1r men w1th a spear, but when the D1stnct Commissioner ordered them to produce the 
wounded man they could not ; but for four days afterwards they claimed that the men who 
had been wounded by my people had died. Subsequently the report of the fight reached 
Cape PaJmas. Supt. Brooks accompanied by Senator Tubman and Representative McBorough 
came to Grand Cess where we were. The Supt. ordered us down to an investigation. When 
we went down, for an investigation the next day, I went to see Supt. Brooks on the matter. 
During the course of our conver~at!on h~ said to me, " I am sorry to hear of the way your 
people have been wounded, but 1t 1s a b1g Court matter and so I would advise you to get a 
lawyer. He then recommended Counsellor Tubman who was present. Upon approaching 
the Counsellor he agreed to make a representation and asked that I retain him with the amount 
of Ten Pounds sterling, which I paid. On the following morning the Superintendent called 
up the case. After both sides had been allowed to give their statements, the Superintendent 
said that he hold word. He afterwards announced that the case had to be taken down to 
Cape PaJmas and he exacted the amount of [25 (Twenty-five pounds) sterling from both 
sides to cover their expenses at Grand Cess. We were ordered to be in Cape Palmas within 
one week's time. Counsellor Tubman, my lawyer, told my clerk to tell me that he charged 
me fioo sterling to represent me in Cape PaJmas, and ordered that I hand this amount over 
to Commissioner Diggs, who was to accompany us to Cape Palmas. On our way to Cape l'almas 
I handed the Commissioner the one hundred pounds sterling at Garraway for Counsellor 
Tubman, my lawyer. 

Two days after reaching Cape PaJmas the matter was called up by the Superintendent. 
Both sides made their statement before the Supt. and Council. In my statement I claimed 
and explained that the Kpalagbo people crossed the branch of the atream Kpo, that run• 
near their town and came over that part of the stream lying immediately before my town. 
(The stream Kpo has two branches running like the letter "Y" between the two towns, 
leaving a small piece of land between the two arms of the stream. 

The KpaJagbo people claimed that we were the first to attack them. I then requeated 
the Supt. to send some one to see the spot. The request was granted, and Vice President 
Yancy, Senator Dossen. Hon. D. B. Cooper and County Attorney Shannon and Com'!lissioner 
Diggs were appointed to go up there. Both sides were requested to pa_y £75 eterhng ea~h 
and furnish thirty carriers each to defray the expenses and transportation of the Commte­
sioners. My amount was fully paid as well as the carriers furnished. 

Some of the men of the Commissioners told me that from the situation of the place where 
the fight took place, the Kpalagbo people evidently ~ere the aggressors .. However, when 
we got back to Cape PaJmas, much to my surprise, thmgs .were t~rned agamst me, f~r. what 
reason I do not know, excepting that it was the same feehng agamst me for comp~ammg or 
asking the President in Monrovia about supplying boys for Fernando Po .. The Supermtendent 
in deciding the matter adjudged that I pay a fine of One Thousand F1v~ Hundred DoUar1. 
(I,soo.oo). To said judgment I took exception and appealed to Monrov1a, at I felt that I 
had not been justly dealt with. . 

The Kpalagbo clan belongs to the left bank of the river Hargba. (The large nver 
lying near to and on the Piccanini Cess side of the town of Grand Cess.) We belong on the 
right bank of Piccanini .cess, side of the same ri~er. V(e gave the Kp~agbo pe?ple a 1pot 
to build on on our side of the river, where they build thetr own ~e~e~ whtch to~n ~ ~ow con­
cerned in the present case. The rest of the Kpalagbo clan are etilllivmg on the1r ong&naJ land 
on the left bank of the river Hargba. . B 

(S1gned) ROH, 
Pt~Tilm011nl Chie/ o/ FTenTopo Secli01J, 

Mt~rylt~11d C011nly, R.L. 
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Appendix XI, 

DECISION OF HIS EXCELLENCY, THE PRESIDENT OF LIBERIA ON THE MATlER OP THE WEDABO 

PEOPLE KILLING THREE MEN OF THE Po RIVER PEOPLE, RENDERED AT THE EXECUTIVE 

MANSION, MONROVIA, ON OCTOBER 23, 1924. 

The President having named Mr. John Delaney to interpret, proceeded to deliver the 
following decision in the matter of the Po River p~ople's complaint against the Wedabo 
people for the alleged killing of Three of their Countrymen : 

" Tell the Po River people first that we are glad that they took the step of appealing 
to the Central Government in this matter. This is what we have been trying to get every­
body to understand, that in any case of difficulty the parties should appeal to the Central 
Government in the last resort. 

" Tell the Wedabo people too, that we thank them for c~ming to Monrovia at the 
call of the Government. Of course they are a little late coming, and the other side was 
ur here waiting for me a long time. I however received a letter from the Superintendent 
o Maryland County, stating that the steamer which was to bring them to Monrovia 
had the small pox case on board, and so that excuse is acceptable. 

"This is now my decision in the matter after hearing from both parties. I said 
to you all the first day that the case came, that the old Liberia is passed away and a 
new Liberia is in existence. Things that used to happen on the Liberia Kroo Coast in 
former days cannot happen now. Those were dark days. In those days when a man owed 
a debt to another and the debtor happed to be passing thru the country of the creditor, 
the latter would catch the former ; and afterwards the people in the town of the debtor 
would catch some men or other coming from the town of the Creditor and would say that 
• you people did so and so to our men ' by way of justification. All this is now passed. 

" From what we have heard in this case from the side of the Wedabo people, it would 
be as if they had this same old idea. Now when we called them up for killing the people 
from the Po River side, they began thanking us for having given them an opportunity 
to state their side ; and they went as far back as fifteen years ago and told how the Po 
River feople at that time killed of their people, and again in 1918 they killed another. 
Then asked them why they went so far back-was that the reason why they also had 
killed the Po River people which is the cause of this investigation. Their answer was, 
• Yes'. This is why I said the Wedabo people still have that old time idea, that is, that 
when any tribe does anything you consider wrong, you wait until you have a chance 
and then you do what you like with their people. 

" They stated that the Po River people killed three of their people ; they took the 
matter to the Cape at the various time this happen, and at each time nothing came of the 
matter. When this finish palaver came up now, then they said,' We will satisfy ourselves', 
and they have not killed 4 persons, not 10, not 20, not IS, but Three, the same number 
of persons that they say the Po River people had killed of their people. This shows that 
the same number of persons that the Po River are said to have killed is what they also 
meant to kill of the Po River people. 

"Now, we cannot permit this sort of thing. When the Po River people killed their 
people and they took the matter to Cape Palmas and they were not satisfied, they should 
have done as the Po River have done in this instance and brought the matter to Monrovia. 
When this matter came up it was taken first to the Commissioner and then on to Cape 
Palmas ; and as the case did not satisfy them, they wrote to us and so we sent for the 
people and had them to come up to Monrovia to talk the matter. You, the Wedabo 
people, did not do so. 

"Now, we are not going back to matters of IS years ago, but we are going to confine 
ourselves to the matter of the three Po River people killed by the Wedabo people. The 
Wedabo people themselves admit killing two persons, altho the Po River people state 
it is three; and the Wedabo people have admitted also that these men were killed in 
their town, and they were messengers sent to them, who was so killed. According to 
the custom of their Country, they know that even when war is going on messengers 
are not killed, much less when there is no war on. The Wedabo people have therefore 
committed two series of offenses. The first is that they have broken one of the fundamental 
laws not only of the civilized people, but of their own country custom-that is, not 
recognize the sanctity of messengers even in war. This is a law not only among us but is 
thruout the whole world.' You cannot even put such a messenger in sticks much less 
kill him. . ' 

"The second offense is that they have killed these people, which is against the law 
of the country. The Wedabo people are therefore wrong altogether. 

"We ask them to show us the people that committed this act of killing and they 
said they do not know them. We cannot let the matter rest at that. We asked the Wedabo 
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people's c!llef why he did not find the people and tum them over to the Government 
and he 5ald he could not find them. Now t,he Government cannot permit any tribe or 
set of people on the highways to be catching people and killing them. 

" THEREFORE THE GOVEJIN!IIENT'S DECISION IS : 

'' I. The Wedabo people must produce the persons who killed the three men 
of the Po River Tribe. 

• "_2. That the Wedabo people also pay, for allowing the act to be committed 
an thell' towns, a fine of Tltru H ndrell Potusds SlnliNf. 

" 3· That on failure to produce the men who killed the persona in question 
by the Wedabo people, their towns on the beach in which the act was committed 
will be broken up by the Government, and their inhabitants sent back Into the 
~terior to som~ s~t selected by the Government. This congency [sic] will happen 
if after the expll'ation of Two l\1 o11llts the parties are not produced, who killed the 
three Po River people. 

"The Government will hold the Paramount Chief of the Wedabo people up here 
until the persons who killed the Po River people have been produced. lf these people 
are not produced within 20 years, 40 years, or indefinitely, he will remain in the hand 
of the Government for such period of time; but if they find the persona within two 
months or so, he will be 5et at liberty. It must be understood that whether or not the 
persons are produced, the fine of Three Hundred Pounds is to be paid by the Wedabo 
Tribe; but they must produce the people, their Paramount Chief remaining here until 
they are produced, and that failing the production the Towns on the beach will be destroyed. 

" We have to make the people of that Coast know that the Government means to 
have law and order and peace and we cannot suffer anybody, even the Po River people 
themselves, to kill or do any body harm. We will do the aame thing to any one who 
does these things, as we are doing to the Wedabo. people. AU are our children, and we 
can not like one more than we do the others. 

"We will hold the Chief up here until the Actual Murderns of these men are produced; 
and the Government gives the Wedabo people t111o motlllts in which to produce them, 
failing which, their towns on the beach will be destroyed.'" 

(SigNed) C. D. B. KING, 
PmideNI, R.L. 

" This is to certify a true and correct copy from the original. 

{Sig11ed} M. G. W. YANCY, 

Departme11tal Clerk, MarylaNd Coutlly. 

Appendix XII. 

CoMPLAINT oP PARAMOUNT CHIEF GoPA oP ToPo, MARYLAND CouNTY. 

Presented to His Excellency 
the President of Liberia. 

s/XII/29· 

Not long before farm time this year, when Vice President Yancy returned from Monrovia, 
he came to Wonplu's place, the Wedabo town on the beach and ordered the Paramount 
Chiefs, Sub-Chiefs and people of Gra~d Cess, Picanini Cess, Wedabo, and all the four Kpalapo 
sections of which my country, Topo, IS one. . "d 

The Vice President said that he had just returned fro~ Monrovia and that th~ Pres1 ent . 
said we must give him men to ship to Fernando Po. He aa1d all the towns must giVe 6o me_n 
a ieee On hearing this my people refused to comply with the order; they gave as the1r 
re!'son for refusal the statement that not long ago the large number of Wedabo_den t~e V.P. 
shi d to Fernando Po, when he was Superintendent of Maryl~nd Cou.nty, d•e. an ~any 
di/!:t return. In reply to this objection of !"Y people, the V1ce Pres1dent sa1d, all r1ght~ 
if the o le refuse to go then we must give him £Io.o.o per man or £6oo.o.o per tow~. H 
furthefst~ted that this ~as the President's order, and if any of the chiefs doubted h1m let 
them send to Monrovia to ask the President. M · 

On hearing this Paramount Chief Broh, of Frenropo sent tw~ messe~gers to _onrov1a 
to get the facts of the Fernando Po question directly from the _Pres1dent h1mself. ;.h~ef r~h: 
did not tell us that he was sending the messengers to MonroVJa, so we knew not mg o 



matter. But, when the messenger returned with the President's m~age that he did not send 
the Vice President to collect labourers for Fernando Po nor tell him to fin~ the people as 
re orted but that His Excellency would soon send the Secretary of the Intenor to make our 
co~ntry good, Chief Broh sent for all of us _and the messenger told 11:s what the President said 
to him. The President's messenger to ~hief Broh caused a _gr~at JOY all ov~r the country; 
as a result the people stopped everythi~~ !lnd there was singing and dancmg everywhere. 
Women and children were happy and reJOicing. 

When the news reached Harper that Chief Broh's messengers had returned from Monrovia 
and that he had gathered all the people and told them what the P~eside~t said about the 
.Fernando Po labour question, and that as. a result the people of_Broh s sec~10n as well as the 
people of other sections were all beating drums and dancing, Supenntendent Brooks 
accompanied by Senator Tubman Representativ~s McBorough and John Dunham went to 
Picanini Cess and arrested Chief Broh and took him to Harper. 

On the following day _it was reported that t~e Superintendent would. send s?ldiers to 
catch all the Chiefs and big men of the other sections, who dou~ted the VIc~ President and 
were dancing and rejoicing because of the message from Monrovia. On heanng thiS report, 
some of the chiefs and big men of the other sections, including myself, ran away and carne to 
Monrovia to the President. We jumped in the bush in our country in the rear of Grand Cess 
and walked for 15 days till we reached Grand Bassa, from there we took boat and carne to 
Monrovia by sea. 

Speaker Boryono Doco. - I will now relate what happened in the absence of Paramount 
Chief Gofa after he left the country and ran to Monrovia to see the President. 

After Chief Broh reached Harper and was confined as a prisoner, as we were told, Vice 
President Yancy sent Lieutenant Phillips of the Liberian Frontier Force with a large number 
of soldiers into our country. When he arrived at Chief Gofa's town he called all of us together 
and said to us, " Bring chop for my soldiers ". In complying with the order we gave him 5 
bags of clean rice first. He further ordered us to bring the soup to go with the rice before he 
sat down. We immediately gave one large bull, but he said the bull has stones (nuts) and he 
Lieutenant Phillips has stones (nuts) therefore he refused to accept the bull and demanded a 
cow. We gave h1m one cow with young one. He took the cow horne and did not kill it for 
the soldiers. 

After this Lt. Phillips dismissed us ; he said he was going in to bathe and see about chop 
and ordered us to return to his quarters two o'clock after breakfast. At the appointed time 
all the men of the town gathered in front of the zinc house he occupied, he ordered his soldiers 
to surround us on all sides ; and when he was satisfied that all the men were completely 
surrounded, he put this question to us : " Where is your Paramount Chief Gofa ? " I arose 
and answered him that Gofa went to Monrovia. He asked me, " What is your name ? " 

· I said to him, ''My name is Boryono Doco." Lieutenant Phillips then said he liked the man who 
would tell the truth. He raised his big rubber whip and began to flog me as hard as he could 
and when he was tired, he ordered the soldiers to throw me down. The soldiers seized me, 
threw me down and began to beat me. After this severe beating, the soldiers put my foot 
between two pieces of hard wood and then tied the ends of the stick together, the tighter the 
ropes were drawn, the more the stick pressed into my flesh. I suffered awfully from this cruel 
treatment, the scar of the sore cut into my flesh by one of the sticks is right on my foot and 
I can show it to any person. I am not the only one who was flogged. The soldiers jumped 
into the crowd and beat the other men right and left and tied as many as they could and put 
them thru the same torture. Afterward the Lieutenant put all of us into one house and locked 
us up at sunset. Yanfor and Magbe, the two oldest men of the tribe who are even older than 
Paramount Chief Gofa, were amongst the crowd; in fact, the two men are owners of the country. 
We did not want them to sleep in confinement, so we went to Lieut. Phillips and begged him 
to release them. He asked us to give him flo, if we did not want the old men to sleep in the 
guard hou.se. The people g~ve Chie~ ~ofa's speaker, M'rna Doe £xo for the old men's release 
and he paid the money to Lieut. Phillips. Upon the receipt of the £xo.o.o he released the two 
men. 

A.fter the r.elease of th~ old me~ •. we who are in the guard house are 24 men. On the 
follo":mg rnormng, when L1eut. Ph.1llips and the soldiers were about to take us all to Harper 
as pnsoners, the people begged h~rn to rele~se me~ they poi!lted out t~ him ~hat being sick 
from t~e results of the severe floggmg from hiS solrl1ers and himself, I might die on the way if 
he earned me to Harper, because the soldiers were most liable to beat me again on the journey. 
H~ agreed to .release me, but asked the people to take me out of his hands, that is, they must 
brmg somethmg to pay !or my release. They gave him £4 but he refused to accept it, and 
demanded a cow, and said that he would carry me if it is not forthcoming. On hearing this the 
W?rnen began to cry and there was a great cry in the town. My family caught a grown cow 
w1th young one and gave it to Lieut. Phillips and I was released. 

He took the ~maini~g 23 persons and moved off to Harper. The Lieutenant reached 
~arper v~ry late m the mght and gave the men to Vice President Yancy who sent them to 
h1s farm Just before daybreak the next morning. The men were so severely flogged by the 
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soldiers on ~he two day journey from ou~ town to Harper that one of them Kohkoh Jehleh 
by name, died from the effect of the beating two days after they reached the prison house at 
the Vice President's farm. 

Whe_n the news of Je~eh's death reached us, my people, the Topo tribe, sent M'ma Doe 
as a speclall!lesseng~r .to V1ce President Yancy to find our what was the reason for the arrest 
of the.men Lieut. Phillips took to Harper and treated so cruelly that one was killed by beating. 
He !laid he .sent and arres.ted the men because P.C. Gofa of the Topo tribe went to Monrovia 
to report him to the Pres!dent and he would not release the remaining u men unless we sent 
him £xoo.o.o. W~ collected the £xoo and gave it to the same M'ma Doe and Gebo Chea ; 
the two men .c&rrled the money ;!nd paid .to the Vice President. After the receipt of this 
money, he sa1~ to t~e two men, . I see this £xoo. I accept this amount as a fine for your 
Paramou":lt Chief gomg to Monrov1a to report me, but I like to know what got in the heads 
of your b1g men to allow Gofa to go to Monrovia. For this reason you must go and tell your 
people to send me another £xoo, before I release the prisoners." The two messengers returned 
to us with the news of the additional demand for money. We collected the second £xoo.o.o 
and sent it to the Vice President by the same messengers. They paid the money to him and he 
released the men and sent them home by our messengers. 

We work on the Government road without pay, tools or food, we do the work freely 
and willingly, yet every year we are required to pay £6o.o.o when we want the boys to leave 
the road to come home to attend to their farms during farming season. In keeping with this 
practice, when the released 22 men were about to leave Harper, the Vice President lined 
them up and said to me : "Your men are here working on the government road and this is 
farm time, but when you go home tell your people if they want me to release them to come to 
work their farms, they must send me £8o.o.o, if not I will not let them go." The men told him 
that considering the large amounts already paid, where the people would get money from to 
pay the £8o.o.o? To this he replied and said to the men: "Your people have money to send 
their Paramount Chief to Monrovia to report me, but they have no money to pay for the 
release of the men on the road ; all right : I will not let them go till I see the money." We 
collected [4o.o.o and sent it to him and asked him for time to pay the balance. He agreed, 
accepted the money and sent them home and gave us time. In order to raise these large 
amounts of money, we were compelled to sell all of our seed rice this year and as a result a 
large number of our farms remained unplanted this year which condition of affairs caused 
hungry and hardship throughout the country. We collected our hut tax for 19:19 anddaid 
the money to Commissioner Diggs at Grand Cess, but for the remaining £40.0.0 we owe for 
the release of the road laborers, Vice President Yancy went to Grand Cess and took £4o.o.o 
out of the tax money we had paid to the Commissioner and then ordered him to recollect 
£4o.o.o from us to put in the place of the £4o.o.o he took. We had to collect the second 
[40.0.0 to fill up our tax money before we were permitted by Commissioner Diggs to leave 
our country. This accounts for our being late to reach Monrovia at the time appointed by Your 
Excellency. . 

From Vice President Yancy's Superintendency up to the present we never rece1ve a cent 
as commission on all taxes we have been paying, though we are told that the law of the 
country·allows Paramount Chiefs commission on all taxes paid by them. . 

Mr President from all that we have related you can clearly see that we are suffermg 
awfully: we appeai to your Excellency therefore to remedy t~e sad condi~if!n we are in. As 
to the accuracy of your complaints we are prepared to face L1eutenant Phillips and the other 
persons whose names have been mentioned to thrash the matter out before you. 

Witness lo signatures: 
GoFA SuNDAY (his cross). 
TANOYENIPO (his cross). 
s. K. J. N'YEPAN. 
TOPO MARNOR. 

SARLE Gou (his cross), 
Paramlltfm Chief. 

BoRYONO Doco, (his mark) 
Speaker. 
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DocUMENT FROM CHIEF YARN OF SUEHN. 

His Excellency, 
Charles D. B. King, 
President of Liberia. 
Executive Mansion, 
Monrovia. 

Excellency : 

Monrovia, Liberia, 

Dec. 6, 1929. 

I beg most humbly to submit to Your Excellency a written statement of the grievances 
of the people of my country, which Paramount Chief Yarn sent me as his special representative 
to place before the Government. I do not come here as an ordinary messenger, I am one of 
the (sic] near the chief, and I possess personal knowledge of most of the matters now placed 
before you, in fact, I am one of the sufferers. 

Mr. President, the condition in which we are in Maryland County is awful, when you read 
our complaints thru and see the large sums of money we are constantly forced to pay without 
just cause, you cannot but see that we are really oppressed. We have been reduced to the 
worst state of poverty by these heavy fines. As our conditions grow worse and worse every 
year, we sent messengers to report these things to you at the beginning of the year, but the 
fact that we took this step has caused us large sums of money and made things worse for us 
than before. If we are punished and fined simply because we run to Monrovia, when we are 
hard pressed, then what shall we do and to whom shall we go ? 

We are here at your command to verify our complaint, and to appeal to you as the father 
of all of us and final source of justice, believing with utmost confidence that Your Excellency 
will give us a sympathetic and fatherly hearing. Finally we appeal to you to advise the Cape 
Palmas Officials to stop the constant sending of soldiers into our country in the way they 
have been doing it. This keeps the whole country in a state of constant terror. 

We beg of you to stop the Kpalagbo people from crossing the river Doe, the boundary 
struck between us by Commissioner John Dunham, to our side of the river to cut our bush. 
We beg of Your Excellency to finish these matters once for all. 

A statement of our complaint is enclosed herewith for Your Excellency's information. 

Witnesses to Signatures: 
GoFA, SUNDAY (his cross), 

BoRYNO Doco (his cross). 
S.K.G. N'Yepan. 

[Copy.] 

Your Excellency's most obedient servants, 

TANO FERIPO (his mark), 
For Paramount Chief Yarn. 

TOCH MARNOR, 
Representative of Townsmen. 

COMPLAINT OF PARAMOUNT CHIEF YARN OF SUEHN COUNTY, MARYLAND COUNTY, 
THROUGH ,HIS SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE YENIPO. 

When Vice President Yancy returned from Monrovia at the beginning of this year, he 
called us at the Wedabo t?wn on the ~each and told us that we must give him men to send 
to ~ernando Po. He reqUired us to g1ve 6o men per town, but if any tribe did not want to 
go, 1t ~ust pay £Io p~r m~n and the matter would be finished at that. We were told by him 
that th1s was the PreSidents order. We positively told the Vice President that we did not want 
to go to Fernand.o Po, b~cause many of the Wedabo men who went there died and a very few 
returned. He srud that If a~y one doubted him that the order came from the President the 
person could go to Monrovia and ask the President. ' 

~hen we heard ~his, Chief Broh sent messengers to Monrovia to find out somethin 
de.fimte from t.he Pre~dent. When t~e. messengers returned with the news that the Presidenf 
sa1d t~at he d1d not Issue order requlflng people to go to Fernando Po nor im se fine u on 
them 1f they refused to go, we were all glad and we played and danced for a nJ!ber of df s 
When.the news of the return of the messengers reached Cape Palmas and th t 1 .Y • 
Supenntendent Brooks came to Picanini and arrested Chief Broh ad we w~rde ph~ymg, 
Cape Palmas. an carne 1m to 

While Chief Broh was in prison in Cape .Palmas, Chief Yarn sent Sun n alon with the 
{!~ ~~ni:f~~.::tio~w:r :U~d ;e~~fe~o Monrovia to get the truth of matter t>om thegPresident 
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While the chiefs were in Mo~ovia, ~eutenant Phillips came to our country with soldiers 

and t~ld us that h~ was sent by\ Ice President Yancy. The lieutenant and soldiers reached our 
tOWJ? m the.mo~ng, but they entered the town in such a fury that women and children 
ran m ~ direct~ons wh~n t~ey_saw them. Chief Yam asked him what he had done which 
cause~ him t~ bnng soldiers 1D h1s town ; the Lieutenant said he did not know b t h . t 
by V1ce President Yancy. • u e \\as sen 

. Lieutenant ':hilli~s said tha~ before he sat down the Paramount Chief Yarn must give 
hii_D £4o.o.o_for his drink otherwtse he would set town on fire. The Chief was frightened by 
t~1s expression: ~ ~e collec_ted ~he money and gave it to me and 1 myself put the £-4o.o.o in 
!;-Ieu!enant Phillips hand nght m front ~f the Chief's house. After th1s the Lieutenant said : 
~hief Yam, I see the money for my dnnk, but I want four cows for my chop." The Chit•f 

said h~ coul~ not get four cows but gave two cows ; but after the receipt of the two cows he 
sent his soldit;rs ove~ the to":n to catch any cow they might see, they went out and caught one 
and brought .1t t? him, makm~ .three _cows .. in all that the Lieutenant got from our town. 

After this L~eut~?ant Phillips. said: I see my drink and chop, but you all must bring 
chop for my soldiers. We gave h1m 6 large bags of cleaned rice, but the matter did not rest 
at that. He dt;ma!lded 9_goats for the soldiers' soup and I ram for himself which we collected 
and gave to him Immediately to save our town from being burnt. All of these things were 
collected and passed from the Paramount Chief thru me to Lieutenant Phillips I am ready 
to face him at any time. · 

After all this Lieutenant Phillips arrested twelve of our big men and carried them to 
Cape Palmas. I must say that he did not tie nor beat any of the old men on the way from 
our town to Harper. The people arrived at night and upon the receipt of the information 
of their arrival at the waterside, Vice President Yancy went down there and when he got 
there whether by his order or not I cannot say, but just upon his arrival, the soldiers jumped 
into the people and began to flog them in his presence. This was the report brought back by 
the men who received the beating. 

At daybreak the Vice President sent all the men to his farm, where they were locked up. 
Two days after the old men were taken away as prisoners, Chief Yarn sent his special 

messengers, Doe Geeray and Chea Wreh Muna to ask the Vice President, what was the trouble 
that caused the arrest of the men. He said to the messengers: "Chief Yarn says he does not 
know what he has done ? Was it not he who sent to Monrovia to report me ? Go and tell 
him that I will not let the men go unless he sends me {Ioo." When the messengers returned 
we collected the {Ioo.o.o and sent it by the same messengers and he released the men upon 
receipt of the money. 

He further sent to tell us by the same men who carried the money that, if we wanted him 
to allow our labourers on the Government road to come to see about their farms, then we 
must send him £8o.o.o. Otherwise he would not release them. Of this amount we paid £4o.o.o 
down and he released the men and gave us time to pay the balance. The first {4o.o.o was paid 
when we were planting rice, the second {40.0.0 we paid when we were cutting the same rice. 

We hear that the Chiefs in Montserrado County and in other parts of the country, receive 
commissions from the Government on all taxes paid by them, but Paramount Chief Yarn 
never received a cent as commission on all the hut taxes we have paid from time to time. 

Sometime ago Commissioner John Dunham settled a land dispute between Chief Yarn · 
and the K palagbo people, in which a river called Doe was decided upon as the boundary bet ween 
the two peoples. This adjustment of the question was all right (sic) and there was peac~ in 
the country because there was no dispute between us after that. The people on both 11des 
went home and sat quiet. , 

But this year the Kpalagbo people informed Chief Yarn that Vice President Ya~cy sa1d 
they could cross the river and come over on our side to cut farm, 10 they say they will cross 
next farm season, that is after Christmas this year. . . 

We appeal to your Excellency to adjus.t t.his and the other matter~ ~enhoned herem as 
speedily as you can, because my country IS m a very unsettled condition and we are not 
resting in peace as we should. . 

To satisfy yourself that our complaints are true, you can send a man from Monro_v1a to 
my country to see and to hear from dozens of other people who cannot come to Monrovia and 
to bring back to you a confirming report that our statements are true. 

Witnesses ro Signature: 
GoFA SuNDAY (his cross). 
BoRYONO Doco (his cross). 
s. K. J. N'YEPAN. 

T ANO YENIPO (his cross), 
For Paramount Chief. 

TocR MAaNoR, 
Representative of T0111n1men. 
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Appendix XIV. 

HEADMEN'S COMPLAINT OF NON-PAYMENT IN THE MASSAQUOI INCIDENT. 

His Excellency C. D. B. King, 
President of the Republic of Liberia, 
Executive Mansion, 
Monrovia, Liberia. 

Dear Mr. President, 

Bassa Community Heights, Monrovia, Liberia, 

july I, 1930. 

We are writing this letter to lay a very grave complaint before you: 

We were shipped on board the S.S. Loke, a Norwegian steamer, by the Atalanta Steamship 
Company for coastal work and were promised, on the return of the steamer to be paid our dues 
forty-eight hours thereafter. We returned to Monrovia over three months ago and up to the 
pre~ent we have not been paid. 

The history of the whole situation is this : These Norwegian Steamers are understood 
to be charted by Messrs E. & H. Nissen of Norway and their representatives here are responsible 
to supply boys and to see that they are paid promptly upon the return of the steamer. It 
happened that these steamers have different owners. On the particular outward trip of the 
S.S. Loke she was consigned to Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi instead of Mr. J aiah Massaquoi, who is now 
representing the Atalanta Steamship Company. The cable however got into the hands of 
Mr. Jaiah Massaquoi, his brother Alhaj Massaquoi being at Cape Palmas then, and we were 
selected to work the steamer down to Libreville and back. On the return of the steamer 
Mr. Alhaj Massaquoi had arrived in Monrovia and boarded the steamer. It is well known that 
the money for our wages had been cabled to him and was then laying in the Bank. 

Now when it comes to our being paid, Alhaj Massaquoi raised a contention that the boys 
had been advanced by Dr. Lee and that his brother Jaiah had given him written instructions 
to return the advance to Dr. Lee. To save all dispute, the money so advanced was paid over 
to the Bureau of , . . • , • by Jaiah Massaquoi, as Alhaj Massaquoi alleged he had paid 
Dr. Lee the sum involved. It now remained for Alhaj Massaquoi, to pay the balance of the 
money over to the Bureau for our wages to be paid us. Up to the present this has not been done. 

Now we have used all the means at our command to see that Alhaj Massaquoi pay this 
money over to the Bureau, but to no avail. We have written the Attorney General, through 
the Shore Headman ; we have complained to the Secretary of Interior, but there seems to 
be no relief. , 

Now the reply of the Attorney General is that we should seek relief through civil process 
in the Courts. Our contention is this : Since the Government has established a Bureau for 
the protection of labourers in the Republic of Liberia, we feel that the Bureau should use 
the legal Department of the Republic to relieve us. Again it is understood that Alhaj 
Massaquoi has declared that, if we go to Court with him, he will use such influence as will 
drag the case along for an indefinite period. . 

In the circumstances, therefore, we approach you to see what aid you can give us in the 
matter. We are attempted to feel now that the Bureau of Labour is no protection to us, and 
also that we are not properly protected in this matter by the Government. We as loyal citizens 
~o not wish to take the law into our ?W~ hands, which would be unpatriotic, but we feel that 
If we supp.ort our Govern!'len.t the~ m like manner should afford. us the protection desirable. 

Trustmg that you Wlll a1d us m some way as early as posstble, We are, Your obedient 
servants, 

David BROWN, Alias Zodeh gar (his cross), 
Headman. 

Whea BESTMAN (his cross), 
2nd Headman. 

A letter like this is also to be written to : 
Hon. D. E. Howard, 

" F. E. R. Johnson, 
" Arthur Barclay, 
" E. J. Barclay. 
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Lisl of (34) Tlairly-/()tlr Crn. Sltippd hy S.S. "Lt~kc .. As D'(k/tflrtds. 

:1. David Brown - Headman 
2. Wbea Best man - 2nd Headman 
3· Two Cents 
4· Tinway 
S· Beer Case 
6. Frank • 
7· Nyarmee 
8. Barwen Freeman 
9· Barhn 

:10. jim 
II. Tarngbor 
xz. Gborwiaye 

· :13. W ehnyou 
:14. Karwoh 
IS. Zoryouway 
x6. Willie 
17. Karngar 

Total34 (Thirty-four) boys. 

18. Menyorgar 
19. Dieh 
20. Boaryou 
u. Toe 
u. Weakpee 
2J. Doe 
24. Kaiser 
25. Johnny Faulkner 
26. Ba!-Gebsey (Mormor) 
27. Bwma . 
28. Boima·Kpenah 
29. Gblor 
30. Wruah 
31. Fronwoe 
32. John Davis 
33. ohnny 
34· oegar 

This is to certify that I have today medically examined the above named 34 (thirt ·four) 
deckhands, and that I find no signs of infectious disease whatsoever. They are aU vaccrnated. 

Monrovia, Liberia, February s. I9JO. 

Appendix XV. 

COMPLAINT OF THE NEMIAH PEOPLE REGARDING THE flSHTOWN-GARROWAY INCIDENTS. 

H on. CommiUee, 
Nemlah, May x6th, I9JO. 

W~ your humble sen:ants ~ng an~ Chiefs of Nemiah or Half Garroway come to lay a 
complamt before you agamst VIce President Allen N. Yancy during the time he was superin­
tendent for the Maryland County. The subject is : He took our land from us and give it to 
the people of Fishtown 1909 February. 25 these people call Fishtown people went to one 
Superintendent call Supt. Thomes and asked him to called us, in order that we might give 
them a portion of forest land. This we agreed to. So Superintendent Thornes sent out a 
committee from various tribes. Three men from Fishtown people, namely, Heayude Dowe, 
Gbenohne, and H. Too Wesley. Klebo people sent out 6 men, namely, Dano Dowe, Dowedo 
Hodo, Nmaanypo, Sobodenyema, Nwanesie, Nemletia. Ourself we sent three men, Gbododicbe, 
Negbe Yue, and Gyidetoo. And Supt. Thomes himself sent one surveyor name Mr. Hyes. 
Now when this .committee went, we took a portion of forest land and gave it to the Fi~htown 
people for which they said were sufficient. Since from that they never come to us to beg us 
for any land. Now 1921 when Superintendent Allen N. Yancy got in that office as Supt. he 
called us that Fishtown people made a complaint against us that we crossed to the boundary 
and cut their part of land. Then we answered him not 10. And we explained to him as new 
Governor how we gave them a portion of land during the time of Supt. Thornes administration. 
But he didn't agreed to us and say I will make another new boundary. This new boundary 
he say he going to make is not a boundary. But the hold land, which we have, he took from us 
and gave to the people both our low land and our high bush. Since from 1921. AI you white 
people know we Kroo people live upon the farms we making. Our food il rice and casava. 
Since from that we never cut farms. We buy before we eat. We dont have enough to use, 10 
hungry scattered, so many ·of us. So now we went to him to change il discition. So he told 
us all right go and bring me 4o.o. because the Fishtown people pay me money. And we pay 
that money, but he did not give it to us. When that year finished then he again called our 
King and say that he had our lands receipt only he must bring to him t4o.o.o to sign it, and 
we payed that money again, but ~e did not change. Again 1928 he called ~ur King, and say 
I am tired of your land matter brmg me !40.0.0 I am now gomg to MonrOVIa : when I come 
back, I will give it to you. When he returned he told us that we made one man Inspector 
Mr. Mars when" he come from Monrovia he will return your land back. When that man 
arrived at Cape Palmas, then we went to him. But the man did not give us our land. Then 
last year he say it will be good for you to survey the land. So he ask us to pay £71.0.0 to the 
Surveyor and we payed that amount. So he sent to us to send down 36 carriers and asked 
us to send along with the carriers £xo.o.o. But when the carriers returned they report to us 
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that Yancy say he is not able to come. This was this ye!lr Jan.uary 27, 1930. The next 
following week we and Fish town people have a fight. For thiS. fightmg case Government called 
us and we explained to them the matter. 

But the Government put our King jail and five other chiefs. . 
And Government people charge us to pay £I56.4.6 before our people will free from the 

jail. Well we dont know how to pay that money. All this !s done by Hon. A. N. Yancy who 
sold our land and give it to the Fishtown people. . . . . 

So we come to lay our bad conditions before you to ~nsider and mveshgahon by you. 
Because a tree without root cannot live. . 

So we cannot live without food. 
So we ask you as a Committee from abroad to take us out from this danger. 
We have the honor to be, Sirs, your obedient Servants, 

King ana Chiefs, Nemiah. 

Appendix XVI. 

FEAR OF THE AFTER. 

" Paramount Chief says he thank you and be s~ys that he is m?~e than glad to see you, 
but thing for true as you sitting down here •. ther~ 1s a steame~ waiting to carry y~u hom~. 
He will express himself but power around him wlll consume h1m tomorrow for which he IS 
afraid." · 

"It is good for others to tell grievance. You who come here to find our trouble we are 
glad you are here. We are sorry that the man is not here himself to see it. We will explain 
all, but today or tomorrow you are off. Then we afraid the lion will jump upon us. Where shall 
we flY,, our women and children and us ? Where go ? To what land ? " · 

' You will be far away. . . They will blame us and bring war. No help for us." 
" The Paramount Chief says there is something that troubles his soul. When you go away 

they will press him down for testifying." 
" I have stated what I know. I have got nothing more to say. I ask your behalf when you 

go away, for Yancy and his officials will punish us. We have got nothing. Yancy says he is 
going to be President after C. D. B. King." 

" Mr. Yancy doing all these things to us hurt us, but one thing he always tell us make us 
sorry : ' When I tell you something you try to cheat, refuse. Have you wings to fly in the air 
so I can't catch you, or is there anybody above me who can say, no ? ' This thing make us 
very sorry." 

" I thank you very much. I born in this country In the land of Picanini Cess. As the 
League of Nations come here now, we going to talk and explain whatever is in our hearts, 
but they are going to kill we again when you leave." 

" They say now when you go Liberian people will send army here and mistreat us. Wha'll 
we do?" 

" Paramount Chief says be thank you and he says that he is more than glad to see you, 
but thing for true as you sitting down here, there is a steamer waiting to carry you home. 
He will express himself but power around him will consume him tomorrow for which he is 
afraid." 

" You say you have come and the grievances of the natives you want to know. Yes. I 
can express myself what has been happening but I am afraid. Paramount Chief says he could 
express himself but you will be going tomorrow and he will be between three fires. Having 
e~pressed himself as being afraid. and having relate~ all circumstances he is over-joyed. He 
will talk. People by whom he IS surrounded, the1r treatment of the authority of the 
Government of Liberia he will now tell." 

"We thank God there seem to us to be some hope. You are now the one who is confidence 
of soul and body to rescue them from slavery. Give us protection, else when you come back 
you will find the country vacant." · 

"The Barrobo people say you are leaving them in the fire. They are afraid. There is the 
Barracks where lou have been yesterday, there is the District Commissioner and the 
Superintendent o the County. These three you are leaving them between. You must give 
them some words of comfort. They are afraid that their houses will be burned. We ought 
to be afraid, knowing the activity of the people." 

" Although the Paramount Chief spoke truth, they may say : ' Now your white people 
have gone, what are you going to do ? ' " . 

. "We hear all you say. but we are more afraid than other tribes because we are in the 
section where the barracks are located." 

. " T~is is part of our ~~vances, and there are more, but we are afraid to tell it, for we 
will be bed after the CommiSSioners leave." · 

"We have come to tell you all, because when you shall have left these shores and we are 
sent on the road again, the trouble we will see will be worse than what we have akeady seen." 
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.. Ca;pt~ G~t said all t~e people who carried reports to the Comml'<Sion must be caught 
and put 1n Jail. It~ already tul?e for us to pay hut tax, but there is no chance for us to come 
down and sell our nee to get our tax money. I heard this from Captain Grant himself and he 
has some of our people now in prison." 

" If I were to say all what has been done there would not be space for you to sit down. 
We have sworn but we are afraid that if somejhing is not done to fix the country what these 
people will do to us we do not know." 

Monrovia, Liberia, August 17, 19,30. 

The Internati011al Commissi011 oflrtquiry, Alortrovia. 

Sirs: 

With reference to my summons of April the 24th wishing me to appear before you on 
the 25th of the same month I beg to call your attention to the jeopardy which it has brought 
upon me by the under scribe lines : 

(1) Mr. S. V. Parker, the district commissioner of my section has told the President 
of Liberia that I was not call, but I voluntarily came before you without your lmowled~e 
to tell you of the existence of force labor in Liberia which they say it is not, and m 
particular t9 tell you of the unlawful fine that was imposed on me by the President. 

(2) That I am not accepting any orders passed by the Government, but only 
listen to your dictation. However, he says that I shall be dealt with as soon as you leave 
Liberia. 

Now, under these false reports of Mr. Parker, I am sent for, compelling me to resign 
from office. Although the office may be taken from me, but I am appealing to ;ou at this 
moment, most respectfully requesting you to call Mr. Parker, so that you, he and may mtoet 
face to face and let him report the very words. 

I hope this letter will meet your kmd consideration and immediate attendance. 

Believe me to be sir, yours truly, (Sigrted) NJOLA CARMO 
Paramoutll Cltief of Dry-Sert, 
] elt Sectiort Gola, Li ben a. 

Note. - Chief Njola was called by the Commission. Information w~s received by the 
Commission on September 6, 1930, that his commission as Para!'lount Clue( was taken from 
him by the President, and that he has been deported follow1ng the protest of District 
Commissioner Parker. 

To the Chieftains of Yerpo. Little Kru, Settra Kur, 

Greenville, Sinoe County, 

gth day of July A.D. 19JO. 

Krobah Nwah Point Nana Krw and allies, Kirtg Willi11m Towrt 11nd alli11, Nimr~lt, 
Ca", Tatay: Soboe, Wesepo, Du, Butrah Boroh and allies Nigu, Getu, Sautowrt 1111d 11ll111. 

Sirs : 
As a consequence to the purported rebellion muttered by you to our kno~ledge .against 

the Government you are hereby commanded immediately to appear and bnng. With you 
three of your important men before Messrs. Z. B. Russ and W. R. Draper, Justices of t.he 
Peace for Sinoe County not later than Monday the 14th day of July A.D. I9J.o.at the rr~CIH 
hour of eight o'clock in the morning to exonerate yourselves before the Citizens o ~moe 
County as to your disloyalty disobedience, and threats of war to the Government. Fatl not 

at your peril. (Signed) Thos. E. Cess PELHANE, 

Attest : (Signed) Z. B. Russ, 
(Signed) William R. DllAPER, 
Justices of the Peace for Sirtoe County. 

Secretary, Citizetf' 1 M eeti11g, 
Sinoe County. 
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SIGNED. 

Monrovia, Liberia, September 8th, 1930. 

(Signed) Cuthbert CHRISTY, Chairman, 
League of Nations. 

Charles Spurgeon JoHNSON, 
America. 

Arthur BARCLAY, 
LIBERIA. 



[Distributed to the llerubt>r.l 
of the League, the Assembly 

and the Council.} 
01/icial No.: A. 77. 1930. Yl. 

GeneYa, September 29th, 1930. 

LE,\Gt.:E OF lUTIOXS 

SLAVERY. 

REPORT SUBMITTED BY THE SIXTH COMMITTEE TO THE 

ASSEMBLY. 

Rapporteur: Jonkheer J. LouooN (Netherlands). 

The Sb~.th Committee had before it ~his year two separate reports on the qut•sliun uf 
slavery. ~ust, there was ~he report wh1ch, under the resolution of St•pll•mbt•r 25th, 1\1:.!11, 
t~e Counc1l regularly subm1ts to the Assembly, and which embodies the m£um1nliun commu­
mcated by the Governments of the States signatories of the Convention of 1\1:.!6 n•jlnrtlin~ 
the progressive abolition of slavery and conditions analogous thereto. The infnrmntiun 
forwarded by the Council this year came from the Governments of Abyssinia, l'ersiu, l'ortu~nl 
and the Sudan. 

Secondly, the Committee has considered the Secretary-General's report, drawn up in 
accordance with its resolution of September 21st, 1929, on the basis of the comrnnnknliuns 
received from forty-eight Governments. This Assembly resolution of St•ptembcr 2ht, 1\1:.!!1, 
was as follows : · 

" The Assembly : 

"Being extremely anxious to achieve the complete and final abolition of sluvt·ry 
and of the slave trade ; 

"Considering the importance, in order to attain these results, of the general ratifi­
cation of the Convention on Slavery ; 

" Having considered the British Government's proposal for the creation of a new 
Temporary Commission on Slavery ; 

" Being of opinion that an urgent appeal should first be addressed to the Stalt•JI 
which have not already done so to ratify or accede to the Convention on Slavt•ry, and 
that it is necessary, above all, to collect intormation on the present position of the qut·stlun; 

" Postpones, therefore, further consideration of the British Government's propoAnl ; 
" Urgently requests the States which have not already done so to ratify or accede 

to the Convention of September 25th, 1926, relative to slavery; 
" Instructs the Secretary-General to collect from the States Members of the LeaJ.:UI', 

and from those non-Member States which are parties to the Convention, all f,"~8ible 
information on the present position of slavery, and to report to the next AsliCmh y. " 

The Sixth Committee noted that the number of ratifications or definite acces8iona to the 
Slavery Convention of September 25th, 1926, had increased aince the la8t aeR~ion of tht! 
Assembly from twenty-nine to thirty-four. It also placed on record the declaratiun11 of 
several Governments, which, although they have not yet actually ratified or acceded, are 
taking the necessary steps to do so shortly. 

The Committee was asked by the British delegation to consider a propo8nl for the 
establishment of a Permanent Slavery Commission, with a permanent office. In the vit•w 
of the British delegation, the difficulties which atillatand in the way of the abolition of ala very 
and the slave trade would be considerably reduced by the establishment of a _permancut 
organisation, placed under the autho!itY _of the League, for the purpose of c~Jl~ctJnl! ~t·lw!Jic 
information as to the present position m regard to ·~avery. The Cf?mrJ_JJS81on ~luch the 
British delegation desired to have esta~lished was~ examme the c~mmun~catwns rece1ved from 
the States signatories of the Convention of 1926, m accordance w1th Art1cl~ 7 of that Conven· 
tion, together with confidential reports drawn up by t~e permanent of!Jc~ to be at.~chcd 
to it. _The Commission was to be empowered to requ_est States, whet~er p~rt1e~ to the ~lavery 
Convention or not, to furnish it with any information and explanat1o~~ 1t m1ght des1re and, 
with the consent of the Governments concerned, to conduct local enqu~nes. 

11. d. H. 1.766 (F J 1.~ (A.) t,30. Imp . .leo&, 8. .L 
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The British delegation justified its proposal. on the groun~ that the methods hitherto 
followed _more especially the procedure on. which t~e resolutJ~n of September 21st, 1929, 

based _ have neither yielded adequate mformatwn regardmg slavery nor enabled any 
lu~~mcnt to be formed af the value of the information collec~ed. 

This rroposal encountered objections from sever~~:! delegatwns. Som~ of t.hem a~va~ced 
reasons 0 principle based on the idea of t~e sovereignty of States, ":h1ch, m the1r VIew, 
precluded the establish!D~nt of any s~p.ervJsory body. Other del~gatwns preferred not to 
express any definite opmwn on the Bnt1sh proposal, b~t thought 1t premature. They t~ok 
the view that it was too early to condemn the procedure mtroduced by the Assembly resolutwn 
of September 21st, 1929. 

The Liberian delegation put forward a counter-proposal that the Ass~mbly shoul~ make 
a recommendation calling upon the Governments concerned to examme, 01_1 the1r own 
initiative and by their own decision, the possibili_ty o_f laying the matter _before an mternational 
commission of enquiry, as was done by the L1benan Government With the support of the 
Council of the League of Nations. 

In view of the differences of opinion which wer~ revealed in regard to th_e proposa.l l~id 
before it by the British delegation, the Sixth ~?mm1tte~ set up a Sub-~omm1ttee ~on~1stmg 
of the delegates of Abyssinia, Belgium, the BntJsh Emp1re, Fra~ce, India, Italy, Libena, the 
Netherlands, Portugal, Siam and Spain, to find an agreed solutwn. _ 

In its report to the Committee, the Sub-C?mmi~tee of Experts explained t~at it had, in 
the first place, examined the proposal contamed m the memorandum subm1tted to the 
Committee by the delegation of the Britis~ Empire. That prop?sal was rejec~ed by the 
majority of the members of the Sub-Committee. The Sub-Comm1ttee then considered two 
fresh alternative proposals from it~ British member- one to th~ effect that. the Temporary 
Slavery CommissiOn should be revived, and the other that an Advisory Comm1ttee of Experts 
should he established, which could report to the Council. The first of these proposals was 
supported by the representatives of Spain and India, and the second by those of Siam and 
India. The Italian delegate, on the other hand, had suggested that the Council should 
arpoint a Committee of three of its members, who would deal more specially with the question 
o slavery. The member for Liberia proposed the appointment of a special committee of 
the Sixth Committee, which should be instructed each year to examine the results obtained 
by the enforcement of the Anti-Slavery Convention. The member for Abyssinia was opposed 
to any new mode of procedure, and desired the enforcement pure and simple of the Anti­
Slavery Convention. The Sub-Committee also examined a proposal put forward by its 
French member, arising, as did the Italian proposal, from the desire to meet the views of the 

' British member, to the effect that the Council should be requested, in the event of the official 
information collected proving insufficient, to appoint three experts, nationals of colonial 
Powers, to go through and examine on their own responsibility the information referred to 
them. The conclusions - which would be confidential - of the report of the experts could 
be consulted by the Members of the League of Nations, who would have the option of referring 
them on their resronsibility to the Council, and that body would itself discuss these conclu­

-sions at the end o sixth months from the date of notification to the States concerned. 
Lastly, the Portuguese member of the Sub-Committee, supported by his Italian and 

Belgian colleagues, suggested that the results of the present procedure should not be judged 
for another year ; that the consideration of any changes in this procedure should be postponed; 
and that the States Members of the League and non-Member States should be invited to 
supplement the information they have already given by furnishing all such particulars as 
may assist the Assembly to form an idea, not only of the conditions that prevail in their own 
territories, but also on the present general position in regard to slavery. 

The French and British members of the Sub-Committee for a long time endeavoured to 
bring their points of view into harmony ; but, these efforts having failed, the Sub-Committee 
voted in turn on the last proposal of the British member and on the proposals submitted by 
the French and Portuguese members respectively . 

. T~e d1·aft resolution submitted by ~h.e Port~guese member was e~entually adopted by a 
maJority vote. The deleg~tcs of Abyssm!a, BelgiUm, France, Italy, Liberia, the Netherlands 
and Portu~nl voted for this draft resolution; the delegates of the British Empire India and 
Spain voted against ; the delegate of Siam abstained. ' 

'Yhen the tex~ of tho re~olution adop!ed by the majority of the Sub-Committee was 
submitted to the S1xth Committee, the Br1bsh delegate expressed his disappointment at the 
f1~ilure of his pr?posal, and reserve~ the righ.t to reopen the question in the Assembly. The 
Smmese d~le.gutJon state~ that, hnvm~ ab~tamed from voting in the Sub-Committee, it would 
also absta1.n m the ~?mm1ttee. The Spamsh delegation expressed the hope that the Assembly 
would be m a pos1t10n !lext year to take m?re effective steps for the abolition of slave • 
The Portugue~e dclega.tio~ ~ailed t~1~ ~om.m!ttee's attention to the fact that the Asseu11y 
would e~pose 1tsel~ ~o ) ustJfmble critiCISm if 1t altered a procedure which it had itself intro­
d~ced ~1thout wmting to see the results, and also observed that the Assembly would cast 
lhscred1t on the .work of the League if it implicitly condemned the Slavery Convention only 
four years after It had been. drawn up. T~~ French delegation pointed out that it had made 
every effort to meet the VIews of the Bntlsh delegation. The reason why it had agreed to 
the P.roposal for a temporary postpo~e!llen~ was th!lt it attached great importance to the 
questu~n, and _feared that a hasty deciSion mtroducmg an insufficiently definite procedure 
would Jeopardise the success of the work. 
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The draft re~olution submitted by the ;'llajority of the S11~ommitt1-e wus adoph••l by 
the Sixth Commtttee by eleYen Yotes to stx and one abstention. Al'l.'onlinnlv, the Sixth 
Committee has the honour to submit to the Assembly the ,following draft n•sohttion : 

' 
" The Assembly : \ 

" lla,;ng taken note of the communitations n•ceived from a lnr~:e numbt•r t>f 
GoYernments in pursuance of the resolution of the Ttlllh Ass.•mblv ; 

" Observing that the number of ratificntiQns of the Convention"or St•ph•mbt•r 25th, 
1926, has risen in one year from twenty-nine to thirty'-four, but that tht• informntiun 
furnished by the States Members of the League has not so far bt•o::n such as to ~:iv~ Ill\ 
accurate idea of the present general situation in n·gard to sla\·cry; 

" Desiring, however, to wait until next y~r fur the n•sults of the rroct'dure now in 
force : I : 

" Postpones, provisionally, consideration of any po~ible chnngt•s in this pron·dure i 
and / 1 

" Invites the States Members of the League and Stnh·• nua-llt-mbt•rs to amplify 
the information they have already given by furnishing all such partit-ulnrs as mny nssist 
the Assembly to form an idea, not ot~l¥ of_lhe coadil.iuns that l!!·tvnil in thl'ir own h•rri-
tories, but of the present general postlton Ill regard to slavery. . 


